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LIFE OF

CHEISTOPHEE COLUMBUS.

CHAPTEE I.

THE HOME AT GENOA.

The city of Genoa was still a mighty power in the

Mediterranean when the great discoverer, Christopher

Columbus, was born, towards the middle of the fifteenth

century. Its highest state of prosperity passed away

with the fall of Constantinople, when its factories in

the Crimea, at Pera, and in the Levant were lost or

weakened. But the Republic, though forced to seek

protection alternately from France and Milan, continued

to be powerful by reason of the enterprise and maritime

skill of her sailors, the ability of her merchants, and

the credit of her bank of St. George. Less formidable

and less independent than in the previous two centuries,

the beautiful city was still the chief centre of Mediter-

ranean trade, and was never more full of intellectual

activity. But since 142 1 the Republic had been under

the protection of the Duke of Milan. The Genoese were

thus drawn into the contest for the succession of Naples,

Milan and the Pope supporting Louis of Anjou against
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Kin,"; AltV.n,-o of Ar.-igon. (Jeiiou frin^jes the sea. and

the ,i;reen Liirurian Alp-, i-left by narrow- fertih;- valleys,

lise vip beliiud the palace^ ami clmrrlie- of the city.

The Ecpuhlic ilerived its stren.c'th not only froni the

citizens, ami the sailors whose home- \Yerp in the sea-

ports of the P.iviera, hut also from the ,~turd}- farmers

and artisans in the valleys of the maritime Alp.-~.

In one of tliesi- \alleys, ti. the eastward of (Tenoa,

H n [ ni I I o t LI II 1 I 1 u 1

called Fontanabnona, thei'e lived a farmer named (lio-

vanni Colombo, with his son Drmienieo, in the hamlet

of Terrarossa, near Moconesi. They muved to a little

fishing village, called Quinto al I\[are, about four miles

east of (lenoa, where Domenico adopted the trade of

a cloth-weaver. He had a brother. Antonio, and a

sister, Eattistina, married to one Fritalhi ; all settled

at Quintii. Antonio had three sons, named (drivanni
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Antonio, Mateo, and Amighetto, of whom we shall hear

again in the course of the story. Domenico throve so

well that in the year 1439 we find him established as

a citizen of Genoa, and engaging an apprentice named
Antonio de Levei'ono. A few years afterwards he was
in a position to marry and support a family.

Domenico Colombo sought a wife in the valley of the

Bisagno, a stream which finds its way to the sea close

to the eastern wall of the city. The long valley through

which the Bisagno flows is very fertile, and is gemmed
with hamlets, villas, and gardens. The peasantry of

the Val di Bisagno were loyal subjects of Genoa, but

they clung to their local liberties. Every year, on

Christmas Eve, they elected their new " Abbot " or

Governor. The people assembled on the banks of the

river, and two large stones were placed close to one

another. The retiring Abbot, attired in his toga and

beretta, stood on one, the newly-appointed Abbot on the

the other. Then the latter received from his prede-

cessor the standard of St. George. In the evening the

Abbot and people proceeded to Genoa to pay their

respects to the Doge in his palace. In the midst of

the procession was a cart dragged by a yoke of oxen,

containing a huge tree hung with wreaths of flowers.

The tree was dragged into the courtyard of the palace,

and the Abbot of Bisagno went up to pay his respects to

the Doge, and make this customary offering. He and his

people went home rejoicing, with a present of money

;

and in the night the Doge and his courtiers made a

bonfire of the tree, and poured wine into the flames.*

Among these inhabitants of the Val di Bisagno, there

was a silk-weaver living in the village of Quezzi, named

* Bent's Genoa, p. 12.
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Giacomo di Fontanarossa, who had two sons, Goagnino

and Guglielmo, and a daughter, Susanna. Thither came

the young cloth-weaver, Domenico Colombo ; and in due

time Susanna became his wife, with a dowry consisting

of money, and some land in the neighbouring hamlet

of Ginestrato.

The young couple naturally took up their abode in

the weavers' quarter at Genoa, outside the old gate of

San Andrea, The monks of San Stefano held a consider-

able extent of land outside this gate, divided into lots,

which were let out to weavers, carders, and fullers.

Domenico held two small houses under them, one near

the Porto dell Olivella, and the other, where he lived

with his wife, between the gate of San Andrea and the

lane or Vico di Mulcento. The walls of Genoa were

built in 1 1 5 5 as a defence against the Emperor Frederick

Barbaxossa, and the gate of San Andrea was flanked by

two round towers. Thence a street called Vico Dritto di

Ponticello led to the church of San Stefano, and the Vico

di Mulcento branched from it, parallel to the city walls.

The house of Domenico Colombo was in the Vico Dritto,

between the gate of San Andrea and the Vico di Mul-

cento, on the left hand side, coming from the gate. It

is now No. 37, and was bought by the municipality of

Genoa in 1887, who have placed an inscription on its

wall. The neighbours were Antonio Bondi on one side,

and Giovanni Pallavonia on the other. The ground

floor was occupied by the loom where Domenico and his

apprentices worked, and behind there was a garden

extending to the city walls.

The first child of Domenico Colombo and Susanna

Fontanarossa was born at Genoa,(i) almost certainly in

this house, in the year 1446 or early in 1447,(2) when
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RafEaele Adorno was Doge of Genoa. He was named

Oristoforo. The next child was probably born in 1448,

--ff—-F ,- 7t

HOUSE OF COLUMBCS AT GENOA.

and was named Giovanni Pellegrino. Bartolomeo was

bom in 1450. Then there was an interval. The only
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sister, Blancliineta, was born in 1464, and the youngest

child, Giacomo, in 1468. The place of baptism of the

children of Domenico Colombo was the church of San

Stefano, at the end of the Vico Dritto, where the weavers

had their special altar. Founded in 1258, it had a

picturesque campanile, and a marble fagade in alternate

white and black courses, a mode of building only per-

mitted for churches, and for the palaces of a few of the

chief noble families.

The Vico Dritto ending near the church of San

Stefano, the old gate of San A-ndrea with its flanking

towers, and the garden bounded by the city walls, were

the first things that became familiar to the eyes of little

Cristoforo Colombo and his brothers. The weavers

established special schools for their children in the San

Andrea quarter, and in one of these Cristoforo received

his first lessons in writing, arithmetic, and geography.

He was then apprenticed to his father, and his chief

work for many years was the carding of wool and the

weaving of cloth. But the boy from a very early age

indulged in day dreams, and his young mind was filled

with thoughts which took him far from the work of his

trade. His aspirations could not be restrained. He
first went to sea at the age of fourteen, and voyages to

all parts of the Mediterranean broke the course of his

ordinary life as a cloth-weaver in his father's workshop.

When Cristoforo passed into the city, through the

gate of San Andrea, he was within a few minutes' walk

of the busy harbour. Standing under the shadow of the

stately edifice occupied by the bank of St. George, he

feasted his eyes on the ships and war galleys in the har-

bour ; and if he ascended the heights of Sarzano or

Carignano, he could watch them until they became tiny
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white specks oh the horizon. When he was ten years

old, Genoa was placed under the protection of the King
of France, and the expedition of the gallant young John
of Calabria, son of King Rene, was fitted out in the

harbour, and sailed for the recovery of Naples on the

4th of October 1459. Oristoforo was then a red-haired

boy of twelve, with bright blue eyes and florid complexion.

How eagerly he must have gazed at the ten stately war
galleys, forming the fleet of the French adventurer, as

they lay at anchor with all their flags and pennons

fluttering in the breeze. How he must have longed to be

taken on board one of them, and how his young heart

must have beat with excitement, as he saw them sail

away. We may still, with the aid of Sanutus and

Colonel Yule, picture to ourselves what Cristoforo saw.

These war galleys were 120 feet long and very narrow,

not more than 15^- feet beam, but the width was in-

creased by an outrigger deck projecting beyond the ship's

.side, and supported by timber brackets, to give room for

the fighting men. A castle rose up amidships, and the

battery was in the bows. There were from twenty-two to

twenty-eight benches for rowers on each side, placed dia-

gonally, so that each rower could handle a separate oar,

while using the same portella or rowlock; and along the

centre line of the deck, fore and aft, there was a raised

gangway, called corsia, to afford a passage clear of the

oars. The galleys were built for war purposes and for

speed, but they were very low and could not keep the

sea in rough weather. Even with a smooth sea the toil

of rowing was excessive, yet the work was performed by

freely enlisted men, galeotti assoldati, and it was not until

the following century that slaves were employed, several

tugging at a single large oar. The Genoese merchant
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ships were of a very different build, with much more

beam in proportion to their length, and supplied with

masts and sails.

Columbus himself tells us that he first went to sea at

the age of fourteen, that is in the year 1461, but whether

in a- merchant ship or in a war galley is left to conjecture.

In March of the same year the Genoese rose against the

French, killed many in the streets, and forced the rest to

take refuge in the castle of Oasteletto, which was sur-

rendered in the following July. The Doge, Prospero

Adorno, defeated a French invasion ; but the Fregosi,

who succeeded, found that the Republic was too weak to

stand alone, and placed it under the protection of Fran-

cesco Sforza, Duke of Milan, in 1464. It was during

these stirring times that the future discoverer made his

first voyage out of Genoa, and he continued to lead a

seafaring life until he became a thorough sailor, while

he worked at his father's trade during the intervals on

shore. We have scarcely any details of these voyages,

but he must have visited all parts of the Mediterranean,

and we know that he was at the island of Chios, and in

Sicily.*

Young Cristoforo did not content himself with a know-

ledge of practical seamanship. He must have been a

zealous student of cosmography and history, for it is

certain that he acquired his knowledge in these early

years, as well as his remarkable skill as a penman and a

draughtsman. In those days there was no better place in

the world for such studies than Genoa. Forzio had written

the history of the Chioggian war with Venice, Bracelli

had narrated the naval victory over Alfonso of Aragon
in a style whicli was compared with Sallust, and at

* Navarrete, i. 41.
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least two members of the ducal family of Fregoso were

authors and poets as well as statesmen. Above all,

Andalone di Negro, the poet, mathematician, and astro-

nomer, and the master of Boccaccio, lived well into the

fifteenth century, and wrote a treatise on the use of the

astrolabe, which was printed at the very time when

Columbus was completing his studies, before finally

leaving his home. Genoa also rivalled Venice and

Ancona at this time in the production of portolani, or

beautifully executed sea-charts of the Mediterranean and

western coasts of Europe and Africa. The Portolano

Mediceo, now at Florence, was executed a century

earlier ; but Grazioso Benincasa was in the height of

his fame as a draughtsman at Genoa during the youth

of Columbus. He was a native of Ancona, but he was

working at Genoa when Columbus began his sea life,

and it is more than probable that the quick-witted and

talented boy found employment in the workroom of the

great draughtsman. There he would see delineated the

"Insula del legnana," Antilla and Brasill far out in the

western ocean, and thus the first germ of his mighty

thought would be implanted in his young mind. The

planisphere of Bartolomeo Pareto, drawn at Genoa in

.1455, which shows St. Brandan, Antilla, and Royllo on

the verge of the unknown, might also have been familiar

to him. Over a score of the maps of Benincasa are still

in existence, two or three in the British Museum; and,

as we admire their beautiful workmanship, we may reflect

that the boy Cristoforo may well have gazed upon them

too, while his teeming brain indulged in a day dream

which the maturity of his genius would convert into a

reality.

These conjectures respecting the training of Columbus
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cannot be far from the truth, because we find in him

such matured knowledge so soon after his departure

from Italy, that it can only have been acquired by long

study, and in Genoa. Las Casas tells us that Columbxis

received part of his education at the university of Pavia. (^)

He would not have gone there to study any subject

bearing on the seaman's art, for Genoa would be the

place for that; but a knowledge of Latin was needful

for him in the perusal of works on the sphere, and it is

not at all unlikely that, as a young man, he may have

gone to Pavia to acquire latinity. It is ^clear from the

knowledge shown by Bartolomeo afterwards, that his

younger brother was the companion of Cristoforo in his

studies. It is most probable that the grand idea of

Columbus had found a birth in his mind, and impelled

him onwards to his destiny, before he finally left his

home.

In 1470, when Cristoforo had attained the age of

twenty-three years, the affairs of home called for a

closer attention to business on the part of all the sons

of Domenico Colombo. The industrious weaver had

thriven and become a substantial citizen. He resolved

to move to Savona, and to extend his business in various

ways, while still retaining his house in the Vico Dritto.

He was evidently a man of an enterprising spirit and

more than average capacity. In order to provide capital

for his new venture, he sold the little property at Gine-

strato in September 1470. The consent of his wife

Susanna to this sale was necessary, and as all the sons

were under age, her brothers and other relations were

summoned to give formal sanction to her consent,

which was registered in the following May. Meanwhile

Domenico Colombo had established himself at Savona,
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not only as a weaver ("Textor pannorum "), but also as

a tavern-keeper (" Tabernarius"); and in March 1470 he

engaged an apprentice from his native valley of Fontana-

buona, named Bartolomeo Castagneti. In this under-

taking Domenico needed all the help that his three

grown up sons could give him. Many and many a time

must Cristoforo and his two brothers, now stalwart

young men almost of legal age, have walked over the

distance of twenty-six miles from Genoa to Savona
while the change of abode was proceeding. The road

skirts the seashore, and Cristoforo must have cast

many a longing glance over the deep blue sea to the

white sails on the distant horizon, while engaged on this

work of piety. In 1469 he was witness to the will of a

young comrade named Nicolo Monleone at Genoa. In

1472 and 1473 ^is father was buying wool on credit,

and by a deed dated Savona, August 16, 1472, Cristoforo

guaranteed one of his father's debts. More capital was

needed, and Domenico Colombo sold his house at Genoa,

near the Porta dell Olivella. The consent of his wife

Susanna was again necessary, to be given with the

sanction of her nearest relations of legal age. Her
two eldest sons had now attained their majority, and

the document was signed by Cristoforo and Giovanni

Pellegrino Colombo, on the 7th of August 1473. ^^i^

is the last time that Cristoforo Colombo appears as a

wool-weaver (" Lanerio "), and the last piece of evidence

of his presence in Italy.

Cristoforo had seen his family comfortably established

at Savona. He had zealously and efficiently assisted his

father in all the business involved in the change. He was

now free to follow his own great destiny. By his own

exertions and talent he had become not only an ex-
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cellent practical seaman, but also a cosmographer and a

draughtsman. He had acquired this knowledge subject

to long interruptions, and while following the trade of a

weaver. The difficulties in his way must have been such

as only a youth of extraordinary genius and strength

of will could have overcome. He was deeply imbued

with the religious spirit of his age and country. From
a child he had belonged to one of the religious guilds,

and all the acts of his life were tinged with devotional

feeling. I cannot doubt that, even at this early period,

he had the germs in his mind of the great enterprise of

his life. He had reached the age of twenty-eight when
he left his native land and the home of his youth, and

made his way to the country which, of all others, seemed

to him most likely to afford the means of fulfilling his

destiny. Columbus left Genoa and went to Portugal

in i474.('')

Soon after the departure of Cristoforo, his next brother,

Giovanni Pellegrino, died. The last documentary evi-

dence of the presence of Bartolomeo at Savona is dated

June i6, 1480. He probably joined his brother at

Lisbon in the latter part of that year. The only sister,

Blanchineta, married a cheesemonger named Giacomo

Bavarello. The father of Bavarello had a house near

the San Andrea gate, and Giacomo had probably known
the young Oolombos, and played with them in the Vico

Dritto from infancy. The only child of the Bavarelli,

named Pantaleone, was born in 1490. The mother of the

great discoverer, Susanna Fontanarossa, died at Savona

in about 1483. Then the business of Domenico began

to fail. He no longer had grown up sons to help him.

So he resolved to abandon the enterprise at Savona, and

to return to Genoa. His youngest child, Giacomo, was six-
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teen, and hisfather apprenticedhim to aweaver at Savona,

named Luchino Cademartoni, for twenty-two months.

When he had served his time he joined his father at

Genoa, and remained with him until the wonderful news

of his brother's great achievement reached him, when he

hurried to Spain to share the prosperity of his family.

The old father was left alone. On the 31st of March

1492 he gave up the old home in the Vico Dritto to his

son-in-law Bavarello, and his last years were probably

passed with his daughter Blanchineta. He lived to ex-

treme old age, long enough to be gladdened by the news

of the great discovery, to receive help from his illustrious

son, and letters from his grandsons. Domenico Colombo

was a man of enterprise, and of great physical activity.

The formation of the establishment at Savona is a proof

of his spirit of enterprise ; and his frequent journeys

to Savona, down to the year 1492, are evidence of his

activity. Domenico Colombo and Susanna Fontanarossa

were good types of the Ligurian peasantry, and their

fine qualities helped to form the character of their illus-

trious son. They were worthy to be the parents of the

greatest maritime genius of the fifteenth century.

NOTES.

(i| Date of the Birth of Columbus.

Columtus was certainly born in the city of Genoa, for he

himself said, " De la ciudad de Geneva sali, y en ella naci "—

"I came from the city of Genoa, and in it I was born."

(2) The date of the birth of Columbus is fixed by various

statements incidentally made by himself in his letters, which

all harmonise with each other, and by legal documents at

Genoa. The first statement was that when he first went to
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sea lie was fourteen, and that when he came to Spain in 1485

he had led a saUoi's life for twenty-three years. This makes

1447 the year of his birth. The next is in a letter dated 1501,

where he says that it is forty years since he first went to sea.

He went to sea at the age of fourteen, and was therefore

fifty-four in 1501. This again makes 1447 the year of his

birth. The third is iu a letter dated July 7, 1503 (Navarrete,

i. 311), where he says, "Yo vine a servir a veiiite y ocho

alios"—"I came to serve at twenty-eight years of age." He
refers to the time when he first devoted his services to the great

discovery, and came to Portugal in 1474. Once more 1447 is

shown to be the year of his birth.

The evidence at Genoa consists of two documents in

which the mother of Columbus consented to the sale of

property by her husband. For the first deed, dated May
25, 1471, the judge summoned her brothers and other rela-

tions to authorise her consent. The second, dated ^Vugust 7,

1473, is signed by her son Cristoforo. This shows that he at-

tained the legal age of twenty-five between the two dates, and
makes 1447 the year of his birth. There is another document,

dated loth September 1484, binding the youngest brother, Gia-

como, apprentice at the age of sixteen. Giacomo was therefore

born in 1468. If, as some authorities contend, Columbus had
been born in 1436, the mother would be over fifty when Giacomo
was born, which is impossible.

The only ground for the contention that Columbus was born

in 1436 is the statement of Andres Bernaldez, a Spanish priest,

who knew the Admiral in his later years (Historia de los Reyes
Catolicos, cap. cxxxi.), that he was seventy years of age, a little

more or less, when he died. Bernaldez had no knowledge of

the date of his birth, and merely judged from his worn and
aged appearance.

The reason that the authorities who advocate the earlier date
wish to make Columbus older than he was, is that a passage in

Las Casas, and in the '

' Historie " of Fernando Columbus, trans-

lated by Ulloa, may be reconciled with facts. In a letter to

King Ferdinand, dated January 1501, not now in existence,

Columbus is alleged by Las Casas, and in the " Historie," to

have made the following statement with reference to the use
of the compass :

" It happened to me that King R^n^ whom
God has taken to Himself, sent me to Tunis to take the galley
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Fernandina, and being off the island of San Pedro in Sardinia,

I heard from a despatch boat that there were two ships and a
carrack with the said galley. On this the people who were
with me determined not to go on, but to return to Marseilles

for another ship and more men. I saw that, without some
artihce, I could not force their wishes, so I consented to their

demand. Changing the compass card, I weighed at dusk, and
next day at sunrise we were oil the Cape of Carthagena, when
they all made certain that we were at Marseilles."

In 1461 the Genoese rose against the French, and from that

time King R^ne was the enemy of Genoa ; but he never at-

tempted any expedition in the Mediterranean after the failure

of his son in 1460. The event must, therefore, have taken place

before 1461. If Columbus was born in 1447, he was thirteen in

1460, and could not have commanded one of King R^n^'s ships

of war. If he was born in 1436, he was a young weaver of

twenty-four, and the conferring of such a, command upon him

would be almost as improbable. A captain of a war galley

would be an officer of rank and experience. But as late as

1473, in legal documents, Columbus is called " Lanerio di

Janua " (weaver of Genoa), not " Capitano di Galea."

The .statement, as it stands, cannot therefore be true. Fer-

nando Columbus, from whose notes Ulloa and Las Casas copied,

quoted the passage from memory, attributing to Columbus

himself an incident which he doubtless referred to, as having

happened to one of R^n^'s officers. Fernando (cap. iv. of " His-

torie") fully admits his liability to error owing to inattention to

such matters in his youth.

Munoz, Robertson, Spotorno, Harrisse, D'Avezac, and Major

rely upon the statements of Columbus himself, and adopt the

date of 1446 or 1447. Navarrete, Humboldt, Lamartine, Wash-

ington Irving, Roselly de Lorgues, and Asensio rely upon the

vague guess of Bernaldez that Columbus was about seventy

when he died, and place his birth in 1436.

1^1 Student at Pavia.

Fernando Columbus, as rendered both by Las Casas and

by Ulloa in the " Historic," states that his father was at the

university of Pavia. "Dico adunque che nella sua piccola

eta imparo lettere e studio in Pavia tanto che gli bastare

per intendere i cosmografia." Mr. Harrisse doubts the story.
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Pavia taught pliilosophy and medicine, not cosmography, and

a weaver apprentice would not be sent to cross the Apennines

alone, in the fifteenth century, to learn cosmography, which was

better taught at Genoa. There is nothing in the archives of

the Pavia univevsitjr on the subject ; and Nicolo Scillacio, a

Professor of Pavia, who published an account of the second

voyage of Columbus, dedicated to Ludovico il Moro, says not a

word about Columbus having been there. If he had been,

Scillacio would almost certainly have mentioned it on such an

occasion.

<'' Story of Colnmbus having swam on shore in Portugal.

Las Casas has a story (i. p. 51) that there was a famous

corsair named Columbo Junior, who commanded a great fleet

against Venetians, infidels, and other enemies of his nation.

Cristopher Columbus determined to join him, and serve under

him for a long time. This Columbo Junior, hearing that four

Venetian galleys had gone to Flanders, waited for their return

between Lisbon and Cape St. Vincent. A desperate naval action

followed, the vessel on which Christopher Columbus served,

was burnt, and with the help of an oar he reached the shore.

Las Casas quotes as his authority for this event the chronicle

of Sabellico (Lib. 8, Dec. 10, p. 168). This is the way in which
Columbus is said to have found his way to Lisbon. Unfortu-

nately for this story, the naval action in question is known to

have taken place on August 22, 1485, more than ten years

after the arrival of Columbus in Portugal. The "Columbo
Junior" was really a French corsair named Casaneuve. The
story must be rejected as apocryphal.



CHAPTEE IT.

COLUMBUS IN PORTUGAL.

San Stepano, at the end of the Vico Dritto, was the

parish church of the Colombo family. On one of the

marble courses of its faoade were inscribed the names
of the Admirals of Portugal of the Genoese family of

Pessagni. Cristoforo had seen them. He had also seen

the flag of St. George marked on the porfoJani, where

Genoese had made discoveries in command of Portuguese

ships. It was quite natural that, in seeking to work out

his destiny, he should make his way to Portugal.

In truth, the Genoese had been closely connected with

Portuguese maritime afFairs for more than a century.

In 131 7 King Dinis secured the services of Emanuele

Pessagno of Genoa to fill the post of hereditary Admiral

of the Portuguese fleet, with the undertaking that he

would find twenty experienced Genoese captains to com-

mand the ships. Portuguese ships, with Genoese com-

manders, rediscovered the Canary Islands in 1341. The

Isle of Lanzarote was discovered by Lanzarote Melocello.

On the Portolano M&liceo at Florence, which was drawn

in 1 35 1, the shield of Genoa is painted by the side of

the island of Lanzarote, and a legend also records the

discovery on the planisphere (1455) of Pareto. Lancelot

Pessagno succeeded his father Emanuele in 1357, and

the office of Admiral of Portugal continued to be held
17 p,
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by members of this Genoese family until 1448. The

enterprises of their captains were not confined to the

voyage to the Fortunate Islands, which is mentioned by

Petrarch. They also discovered the Azores early in the

fourteenth century, although those islands were not

colonised until long afterwards. They are shown on the

Laurentian map of 1351.

Prince Henry of Portugal was despatching vessels to

discover the coast of Africa, from 1420 to 1460; and

one of the explorers of his time was a Genoese, named

Antonio Uso di Mare, who sailed beyond the Gambia

with Cadamosto in 1457. Another Genoese, named

Antonio di Noli, was with Diogo Gomez when the Cape

Verde Islands were discovered in 1460 ; and Noli ob-

tained the captaincy of the Island of Santiago, which he

held until his death.

The disappearance of the name of Cristoforo Colombo

from the notarial records of Genoa and Savona in the

autumn of 1473, points to 1474 as the year of his arrival

in Portugal. At this time he and his brother Bartho-

lomew were known as Colombo di Terrarossa, from the

birthplace and original home of their father. When
Cristoforo reached Lisbon, Prince Henry the Navigator

had been dead fourteen years. The state of geographical

knowledge was represented by the map which the

Prince's nephew, Aflonso V., had caused to be con-

structed, so that all the new discoveries might be placed

on recoi'd. The King intrusted the commission to Fra

Mauro, of the Camaldolese Convent of San Miguel di

Murano at Venice, assisted by a well-known draughtsman,

several of whose portolani axa still preserved, named
Andrea Bianco. The completed work, which was an ela-

borate planisphere, was sent to Portugal in April 1459.
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The west coast of Africa had been explored from Cape
Bojador to the Cape of St. Catherine, which is over a

hundred miles south of the equator. But all to the

westward of the Azores and the Canaries was so utterly

WESTERN PART OF THE CATALAN MAP OF THE WORLD, T275.

dark and unknown, and progress to the west seemed so

impossible, that the idea of penetrating in that direction

had not even entered into men's minds. One youthful

genius had alone conceived a settled plan. It had been

bom in his gifted brain befoi'e he left his home at
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Genoa,. For its sake he had come to Portugal, and

while eagerly acquiring all the new knowledge respect-

ing the African coast, it was to the western limit of the

charts that he most frequently turned his anxious gaze.

The fabulous western islands of the Atlantic almost

seem to have been put on the old charts to lure mariners

to the unknown west. The largest was called " Antilia,"

and first appeared on a portolano of 1425. It is placed

on the chart of Andrea Bianco of Venice, bearing date

1436, in 25° 35'. W. But Ruysch, in his important map,

which was engraved after the death of Columbus, re-

moved it further west. "Antilia" here appears in 17°

W. and 40° N., and the legend informs us that it was

discovered long ago by Roderick, the last of the Gothic

Kings of Spain, who took refuge there after his defeat

by the Moors. Another tale was that two archbishops

and five bishops escaped to Antilia, after the fall of Don
Roderick, and that they built seven cities there. Hence

it was sometimes called the Isle of the Seven Cities.

Another fabulous island of the Atlantic was called Brazil.

It is shown on the Catalan chart of 1375, which was

drawn for Charles Y. of France, as one of the Azores.

Andrea Bianco has it on his chart of 1436. On the

chart of Benincasa, dated 1469, which Columbus may
have seen at Genoa, the isle of Brazil is placed to the

westward of Limerick, and it has the same position

on the chart of 1476 by the same draughtsman. The

name may be derived from the Genoese word "braxe"

for wood, converted by the Portuguese into brazil. The
position of this island on the charts, away to the westward

of the British Isles, attracted the attention of English

mariners ; and William of Worcester, in his Chronicle,

relates that in July 1480 some ships sailed from Bristol
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in search of the island of Brazil, under the command of

a scientific master-mariner named Thlyde. After being

battered by the storms of the Atlantic for nine months,

they returned to an Irish port without having seen any

signs of Brazil. The legend of St. Brandan, derived

from an Irish source, caused the appearance of another

mythical island in the western Atlantic. Uso di Mare,

in his journal, tells how, in the sixth century, St. Bran-

dan, Abbot of Ailech, who had 3000 monks under him,

went to sea in company with St. Malo, in search of an

island which always moved away from him. It appeared

on the planisphere drawn at Genoa by Pareto in 1455,

far away to the westward of the Canaries, and continued

to retain its place on maps and charts throughout the

two following centuries. Other fabulous islands occur

on ancient charts, which were probably due to the fer-

tile imaginations of the draughtsmen. " La Gapraria "

figures on the famous Herefoi'd mappe-monde, which

was drawn in the end of the thirteenth century, and
'' L'Oro " is on the Laurentian portolano. The island of

" Royllo " has a place with Antilia and St. Brandan on

the planisphere of Pareto; and Benincasa, in 1476, has

" Isola iJi Mam " and " San Giorgio."

The mythical islands of the western Atlantic, Antilia,

Brazil, St. Brandan, Royllo, San Giorgio, were realities

to Columbus and his contemporaries. A mystery hung

round them, but there they were on the portolani and

planispheres of the most learned cosmographers, deline-

ated as lands which might be reached through the daring

and skill of resolute explorers. They were of special

importance to the genius who had conceived the grand

idea of a western voyage to India, for they appeared

as stepping-stones on his route. The predecessors of
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Columbus had made known to him and his contem-

poraries the whole eastern side of the Atlantic, from

the Equator to the Arctic Circle, with the gi-oups of

islands ; and the map-makers seemed to lure the illus-

trious Genoese on his destined path, by strewing the

unknown ocean with the isles of legend and fable.

Columbus had heard of these things. He came to

Portugal with the object of acquiring a personal know-

ledge of all that had been discovered. He was to pass

through a long and hard apprenticeship, to become the

foremost of living seamen in experience and knowledge,

before he could secure acceptance for the mighty scheme

which was already fermenting in his mind. Very little

is known of the events of his life during the years that

he spent in Portugal. It is believed that he earned a

livelihood at first by drawing maps and charts. He
made voyages along the African coast, and was at

Madeira and Porto Santo. The first certain date is

1477, when he made a voyage to England and Iceland.

The passage respecting the visit of Columbus to

Iceland is in the " History of the Indies," by Las Casas,

and also in the "Historic'' of Fernando Columbus. It

professes to be a quotation from a letter of Columbus,

but it bears evidence of, at least, two explanatory inter-

polations of later date. " In the month of February,

and in the year 1477, I navigated as far as the island

of Tile [ThuleJ, a hundred leagues (whose southern part

is 73° from the equator, and not 63°, as some say; and
it is not within the line which includes the west, as

Ptolemy says, but much further to the west), and to

this island, which is as large as England, the English,

especially those of Bristol, go with merchandise, and
at the time that I was there the sea was not frozen
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over, although there were very high tides, so much so

that in some parts the sea rose twenty-five bra::as, and
went down as much, twice during the day. (It is quite

true that the Tile of Ptolemy is where he says it is,

and this land is called Frislandia by the moderns)."

The passages in brackets are clearly interpolations.

Las Casas began his work in 1527, and finished it in

156 1. In the interval the map of Nicolo Zeno had

been published in 1558, on which he placed an island

which he called Frislandia, in 63°. This accounts for

the second bracketed passage, which contradicts the

first. Both must be omitted, in reading what Columbus

really wrote, which was that he sailed a hundred leagues

to the island of Thule in February 1477 ; ^^^^ t^e island

is as large as England ; that the English, especially those

of Bristol, traded there ; that the sea was not frozen

over when he was there, and that the rise and fall of

the tide was twenty-five irazas.

It is very improbable that Columbus, during a short

visit, should have heard of the discoveries of Norsemen

sailing from Greenland more than three centuries before,

and if he did, such information would not have furnished

him with any argument for his proposed voyage west-

ward to the Indies. In the time of Columbus, Green-

land was believed to be a peninsula of the continent

of Europe, and it is so delineated on every map of that

period without exception. If the great navigator did

hear of Greenland, and of the wooded isles of jMarkland

and Wineland, to the south of that promontory, he

would think of them as a European peninsula, and as

off-lying European islands. They would not appear to

him to be of any significance with reference to the west-

ward voyage to the Indies. His arguments are all
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recorded, and the existence of wooded islands soutli

of Greenland is not among them.

In the course of these three years, from 1474 to 1477,

the talents of the young Genoese must have been recog-

nised. No doubt he had become known as a cosmo-

grapher and a seaman of distinguished ability, and had

won a certain position in Lisbon, when he made his

Iceland voyage. On his return he was a man of some

distinction, with courteous manners and noble bearing.

He was above the middle height, with well-knit and

vigorous limbs. Las Casas remembered him well, and

described his face as oval, with a pleasant expression,

the nose aquiline, the eyes blue, the complexion fair

and inclined to ruddiness. Oviedo calls it somewhat

fiery red and freckly. It was a fair complexion that

turned red, rather than bronze, from exposure to the

sun. The hair was red. Las Casas adds that he was

agreeable and cheerful, and a good speaker. It must

have been very soon after his return from Iceland, in

the spring of 1477, that the handsome Genoese won
the heart of Filippa Moniz. This noble lady was
attached to the convent of All Souls at Lisbon, where

Columbus was accustomed to hear mass. They met.

Friendship ripened into love, and they were married.

The date of the marriage is indicated by the birth of

their son Diego. He was about the same age as Don
Juan, the son of the Catholic sovereigns, who was born

on June 30, 1478. If Diego was born at about that

time, his parents were probably married towards the

end of 1477. Filippa ^Sloniz was a granddaughter of

Gil Ayres Moniz, secretary to the famous Constable

Pereira, in the days of Joao I., who founded the chapel

of "Piedad," in the monastery of Carmen at Li.sbon.
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In this chapel the Moniz family had an exclusive right

of interment.

Isabel, a daughter of Gil Ayres Moniz, and aunt of

Pilippa, was the second wife of Bartolomeu Perestrello,

who received a grant of Porto Santo in 1425, and died

in 1457. Isabel had an only child, also named Bar-

tolomeu, who was too young to assume the captaincy of

the island at the time of his father's death. But the

widow was tii'ed of living in such a lonely place. She

therefore ceded the captaincy of Porto Santo to Pedro

Correa da Cunha (who had married a daughter of her

husband by his first wife) in 1458, and returned to Lis-

bon. The younger Bartolomeu succeeded his brother-

in-law in command of Porto Santo in 1473. It is likely

enough, as is stated by Las Casas, that this connection

of his wife with the widow of such a man as Perestrello

may have led to the acquisition of much valuable infor-

mation relating to maritime discovery, which would be

useful to Columbus in his study of arguments for the

western voyage.

It is an interesting and curious coincidence that the

lives of Christopher Columbus and Martin Behaim al-

most exactly coincide. Born in the same decade, they

achieved the great work of their respective lives in the

same year, and died in the same year. Behaim was a

learned young Nuremburger, who, after passing some

time in Portugal, found his way to Fayal in i486, lived

there for several years, and married a daughter of Jobst

van Hueter, the Flemish governor of that island. The

great services performed by Behaim to nautical science

connect his career somewhat closely with the labours

and studies of Columbus. Behaim devoted his talents

to the improvement of that science of navigation, on the
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development of which the success of the scheme of Colum-

bus depended. The former was born at Nuremburg in

1436, and was a pupil of Regiomontanus, the great Ger-

man astronomer, who died at Rome in 1475. Behaim

was a merchant as well as a learned cosmographer and

maker of instruments. Arriving at Lisbon in 1479, he

was employed during the following year in adapting the

complicated astrolabe of astronomers for use at sea. Two

learned natives of Portugal were associated with him in

this service, named Master Eodrigo and Master Joseph,

a Jew. There is no record of the fact, but it can scarcely

be doubted that Columbus, who was settled at Lisbon,

was also consulted on a subject of which he had such

special knowledge. It was at this time that he was

joined by his brother Bartolome, as we gather from the

fact that the last notarial record of Bartolomfe at Genoa

bears the date of June 16, 1480. The two brothers had

studied together, and there was the warmest attachment

between them, which remained unshaken through Ufe.

Cristoforo was not only a cartographer, but, as Las

Casas tells us, he wrote so good and legible a hand that

he might, and probably did, earn his bread by it. Barto-

lome possessed the same accomplishments in a scarcely

less degree, and was an invaluable assistant to his brother.

The need for an instrument by which the latitude

could be ascertained began to be felt as soon as naviga-

tors ceased to creep along the coast, and stood awav out

of sight of land. Diogo Gomez rightly attached much
importance to his observations with a quadrant, when he

discovered the Cape Verde Islands in 1460. The quad-

rant was a copper or brass triangle, one side being an

arc graduated to 90°. The other two sides met at an

apex where there was a ring, and whence a plumb line
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hung across the arc. Two sights were fixed on one side,

and the observer held the instrument loosely by the ring.

As soon as the two sights were on with the sun, the are

was read off at the point where it was intersected by the

plummet line, which gave the altitude. This simple in-

strument differed from the astrolabe which was adapted

by Martin Behaim and his coadjutors in 1480. The

astrolabe used by astronomers was a complicated instru-

ment, covered with confusing circles crossing each other

and indicating points not required by plain seamen. A
treatise on its use, which needs a good deal of close study

for its mastery, was written by our own Chaucer. The

problem referred to Behaim was the simplification of the

astrolabe for use at sea. The sea astrolabe was a metal

circle from 8 to 9 inches in diameter, and of some thick-

ness in order to give it weight, for, like the quadrant,

it was necessary to hold it by a ring in order that it

might hang perpendicular to the horizon, when used for

observing. It was crossed by two metal lines, one from

the ring to the opposite side of the circle, called the

zenith line, and the other crossing it, and called the

horizon line. The circle was graduated to go° from the

horizon line to the zenith. A movable limb, called the

alidada, worked over the circle, and a line was drawn

down its centre—the "Unea fiducia." Two sights were

fixed on the alidarl.a, which was moved until the sights

were on with the sun. The point where the "Unea

fiducia'' cut the arc showed the altitude. The observer

was instructed to sit down and place himself with his

back against the mainmast, hold the astrolabe by the

ring hanging on the second finger of his left hand, and

move the alidada up and down with his right, until the

sun was on with both sights.
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The adaptation of instruments for observing the

meridian altitudes of heavenly bodies, for use at sea,

was a very important event in the history of maritime

discovery. It brought the great scheme of Columbus

nearer to maturity, for he knew that a long voyage

across the ocean could not be undertaken without such

aid. The arduous task of guiding a ship over the

ocean, when nothing is seen but sky and sea for many

days, would not be possible, unless astronomical ob-

servations could be taken. As old Cortes wrote in

his art of navigation, the guidance of a ship makes it

necessary to keep the eyes on the heavens—" poner los

ojos en el cielo." The improvement of navigation was,

as Columbus well knew, an essential part of the pre-

paration for his great achievement. Expert in every

department of his profession, he constructed his own

instruments, as well as his nautical charts.

To find the latitude, the meridian altitude is only one

element in the calculation. It is also necessary to have

the sun's declination for each day of the year. The

publication, for the first time, of tables of declination

was contemporaneous with the adaptation of the astrolabe

by Behaim. His master, Regiomontanus, completed his

" Calendarium ISTovum " in 1475, "»'hich contained tables

of the sun's declination calculated for the years from

1475 to 1566 inclusive.

The mariner's compass had been long in use, and the

properties of the load-stone were well known to the learned

as early as the thirteenth century. Roger Bacon was

acquainted with them, although he nowhere mentions

the use to which they might be put, and, indeed, super-

stition and fear of witchcraft probably delayed and

hindered the first use of the compass. Flavio Gioja of
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Amalfi, early in the fourteenth century, appears to have

made some great improvement in the practical arrange-

ments connected with the use of the magnet, if he did

not, as is asserted, actually introduce it on board ship. (2)

Further improvements were adopted, and in the time

of Columbus the magnetic needle had become a service-

able instrument. A card was painted with the thirty-two

points, a fleur-de-lys for the north, and a cross for the

east. A steel pin was fastened to the back of the card,

of the same length as its diameter, and touched at each

end with the iman, or load-stone. The centre of the

card was made to work on a pyramid of brass, fixed in

a circular box covered with glass ; and the box rested

on the metal circles, which swung with the ship, and kept

the card steady.

The sea chart was the fifth, and not the least important

aid to navigation. Although the charts were drawn as if

the world was a plane and a centuiy would elapse befoi-e

an improved projection would be invented, still they had

been brought to great perfection ; they were more accu-

rate in outline than the maps produced at the same

period by learned professors, and the execution of the

portolani of Benincasa and Pareto, the probable masters

of Columbus, is exceedingly beautiful.

Columbus had acquired a profound knowledge of

the construction and manufacture of all the scientific

machinery of a navigator—the astrolabe, quadrant, com-

pass, and plane chart ; and he was expert in the use of

the declination tables, as well as in all calculations for

the solution of problems in navigation, as they were

understood in his time. He found his longitudes by

observing eclipses of the moon. He also studied with

enthusiastic interest the few works on the sphere, and
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on the Ptolemaic system of the universe, which were

then in existence. The " Opusculum Sphericum," by

Johannes de Sacrobosco, was the most popular manual

of the principles of astronomy and cosmography in those

days, and it was well known to Columbus. But the

work to which he devoted his closest attention, and from

which he derived his knowledge of Aristotle and Strabo,

was the "Imago Mundi," written by Cardinal Pierre

d'Ailly. The book was so familiar to him that his own

copy, still preserved in the Colombian Library at Seville,

has the margins annotated in his handwriting. Here

he entered many things he had collected and read else-

where. The "Imago Mundi" was finished in 1410, but

not printed until seventy years afterwards ; so that it

can only just have reached the hands of Columbus

during his residence at Lisbon, and perhaps it is more

likely that he first obtained it in Spain. D'Aillj- quotes

largely from the "Opus Majus " of Roger Bacon and

other authors, and fully discusses all the cosmographical

theories of the time. Some of these, such as the unin-

habitability of the torrid zone, Columbus was able to

refute from his own experience, and he did so in the

marginal notes.

The studies of Columbus confirmed him in his great

idea that India might be reached by sailing westward.

His mind was made up on this point, after years of

study and reflection ; but he left no stone unturned, and

his inquiries were directed to every quarter. For he

not only had to satisfy his own reason, but also to con-

vince others. In the very year of his arrival in Portugal

he had addressed a letter to a learned Florentine seeking

for information. Paolo ToscanelU was bom in 1397, and

was the most celebrated astronomer of that age. He is
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specially known for the gnomon which he constructed in

the Church of Santa Maria Novella at Florence. As a

reply to the request of his Genoese correspondent, whom
he evidently took to be a Portuguese, from the Lisbon

address, Toscanelli sent him a copy of a letter and of a

chart which he had previously despatched to a Canon of

Lisbon who had made similar inquiries.

Toscanelli held that the way to the spice-yielding

Indies by sailing westward was the shortest, and he
demonstrated his conclusion on the chart which formed
an enclosure to the letter. On this chart he showed,

on one side, all the coasts from Ireland to Guinea, with

the islands; and on the other side, the continent and
islands of the Indies, with the distance that must be

traversed to reach them. He then referred to the great

trade of the Indies. In the port of Zaiton alone, which

is one of the most beautiful and famous in the east, he

said that there were a hundred ships laden with pepper

at one time, without counting those laden with other

spices. Zaiton was a famous seaport of the Chinese

province of Fokien (Chwanchau-Fu), between Fuchow
and Amoy, and Toscanelli took this statement about

the pepper trade from the eighty-second chapter of

Marco Polo. He went on to say that the country was

large and populous, and that it was under the dominion

of a prince called the Grand Khan, whose usual residence

was Catay. In the time of Pope Bugenius IV. (143 1-

1447), Toscanelli said that the Grand Khan sent an

ambassador to Rome, with whom he had conversations
;

and that this ambassador dilated upon the greatness

of his country, where two hundred cities might be seen

with marble bridges built over the same river. Tos-

canelli then referred to his map again, where there were
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twenty-six spaces divided by meridional lines, between

Lisbon and the famous city of Quisay, and he said that

each space measures 150 miles. He thus only allowed

a distance of less than 4000 miles. The Quisay of Tos-

canelli is the Kinsay of Marco Polo, fully described in

his chapters Ixxvi. and Ixxvii., and now called Hang-

chau, south of Shanghai. He said that it was in the

province of Mango near Catay, and that it was twenty-five

leagues round, the name, as Marco Polo said, meaning

" City of Heaven." Toscanelli went on to say that from

the island of Antilla to that of Cipango there were ten

spaces, equal to 225 leagues, and that Cipango so

abounded in gems and gold that the temples and palaces

were covered with golden plates. The letter is dated

June 25, 1474.

In another letter to Columbus the Florentine astro-

nomer encouraged his design of sailing westward, and

felt sure that his former letter had demonstrated that

the voyage was not so difficult as was supposed. He
assured his correspondent that he would find populous

and wealthy cities, and provinces abounding in riches,

and that the princes who leign in those distant parts

would welcome the opening of communication with

them.

The original of the Toscanelli letter, in Latin, was

found in i860, in the Colombian Library at Seville, in

the fly-leaf of a book which had belonged to Columbus,

entitled, " Historia rerum ubique gestarum," by Eneas

Silvius. Previously it had only been known in the

Spanish translation of Las Casas, and in the Italian of

ITlloa. The map is unhappily lost.

The letters from Toscanelli made a deep impression

on Columbus, and confirmed him in the ideas he had
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formed from a detailed examination of charts and books,

and from an investigation of the geographical bearings

of the question. But his studies did not interrupt those

voyages by means of which he sought to increase his

knowledge of maritime affairs. It is certain that he

visited the Cape Verde Islands and Sierra Leone. We
also know that he was at San Giorgio da Mina, the

most remote settlement on the Guinea coast. He could

not have been there before 1482, as in that year the

settlement was first founded by order of King Joao II.

It seems probable that he actually accompanied the

expedition which sailed in December 1481, under the

command of Diogo d'Azambuja. It consisted of nine

caravels, and two merchant ships with stores and build-

ing materials. Arriving in January 1482, the troops

were landed, and the fort of La Mina was immediately

commenced. In twenty days the walls and tower were

completed, and the fort was dedicated to St. George.

This settlement was very successful, and considerable

sums of gold were annually collected and sent to Portugal.

On his return from the coast of Guinea, Columbus

resolved to submit his matured scheme to Joao II.,

King of Portugal, and to propose to him the despatch

of an expedition westward.

The arguments he put forward were explained long

afterwards by his son Fernando, in an essay which was

inserted by Las Casas in his History of the Indies.

The first argument was that as all the earth and water

in the world constitutes a sphere, and is consequently

round, according to the opinions of several philosophical

authorities, it was possible to go round it until men

on one side stood foot to foot with those on the other.

The second argument was that, as the greater part of
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this globe has been navigated and travelled over, the

whole was now discovered except the space between

the eastern end of India, of which Ptolemy * and

Marinus had notices, and the isles of Cape Verde and

the Azores. The third argument dealt with the distance.

Columbus maintained that the untraversed portion could

not be more than a third of the whole circumference.

For Marinus had described fifteen hours out of the

twenty-four in the eastern parts ; but as he did not

commence his description so far west as the Cape Verdes,

there could not be more than eight hours between those

islands and India. His fourth argument was a con-

tinuation of the third. He urged that Marinus had

not included the most eastern part of the lands of India

in his fifteen hours, and that, therefore, the distance

was even less than eight hours from Portugal westward

to the Indies, which might easily be sailed across .in a

short time. He fortified this last argument by the

testimony of Ctesias in Strabo, of Nearchus, and Pliny,

respecting the vast extent of Asia. He relied also on

the authority of the learned Arab astronomer, Alfra-

gafius, who held the length of a degree to be not more
than 56I miles, which was his fifth argument. This

was the origin of the cardinal error of Columbus re-

specting the earth's circumference ; and his conclusions

may have been unconsciously influenced by the wish

to shorten the distance. The early Greek astronomers

rather exaggerated the true circumference, and Ptolemy
was not very far from the truth. But the later Arab
writers, including Alfraganus, held the circumference

of the earth to be only 20,400 miles, which would give

56 miles to a degree. According to Abulfeda this con-

* See Plate for Ptolemy's map.
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elusion is derived from the careful measurement of a

degree on the plain of Lingar, by order of the Khalifah

Almamun, in about A.d. 800. It was adopted by

Columbus, and was the main cause of the error in his

calculations.

The principal arguments were carefully drawn up by

Columbus, and submitted to Joao II., who referred the

question for decision to Dr. Diogo Ortiz Castellano,

Bishop of Ceuta, Dr. Calzadilla, Bishop of Viseu, and

the two physicians, Rodrigo and Joseph the Jew, who
had been joined with Behaim in his work connected

with the adaptation of the astrolabe. They unanimously

reported against Columbus, and his proposal was rejected.

The Bishop of Ceuta, however, advised that the illus-

trious Genoese should be amused with negotiations,

while a caravel was secretly despatched to test the cor-

rectness of his arguments. She encountered a gale and

gave up the attempt, returning to report that the voyage

was impossible. This treachery came to the ears of

Columbus, and he resolved to break off all correspond-

ence with the Portuguese Government, and to seek for

sympathy and countenance elsewhere.

Columbus, alike in his voyages and his studies, had

been wrapped up in the work of maturing his great idea.

He had the two gifts which constitute geniiis, a vivid and

brilhant imagination and the power of taking trouble.

But gain was indifferent to him. He was as poor when

he left Portugal in 1484 as when he arrived in 1474.

Indeed he was poorer, for he had contracted debts to

some of his countrymen at Lisbon, debts which were all

honourably paid in after years. His wife had died, and

was buried in the chapel of Piedad, a place of interment

exclusively reserved for the Moniz family. Columbus



36 DEPARTURE FROM PORTUGAL.

was left with his little son Diego. (^) He resolved to turn

his steps to Spain, and begin the whole labour of per-

suasion over again, with the same ardour and enthu-

siasm. His wife's sister, Violante, or Brigulaga, was

married to a certain inhabitant of Huelva named Don

Miguel Mnliarte. He would place Diego in safe keeping

with his aunt, while he went forth to renew his battle

with the woild. Leaving his affairs at Lisbon in charge

of his faithful friend and brother Bartolome, he set

out on the long journey with his little son, penniless and

on foot. He was about to present the priceless gift of

his genius and his discovery to the crowns of Castille

and Leon.

XOTES.

''' The Marriage of Columbus in Portugal, and the Fahles

based on it.

There is much confusion in the reference to tlie marriage

of Cohimlius by his son, Fernando Columbus, as quoted in the

"Historie," and by Las Casas. They say that Filippa iloniz

was a daughter of Bartolome Moniz Perestrelo, who was then
deail, and that Columbus went to live with his mother-in-law,

who furnished him with charts and other sources of information

from the effects of her late husband. Diego, the sou and heir

of Columbus, also told Las Casas some further particulars,

which he wrote down from memory many years afterwards.

These were that Columbus inherited propeiiy in Porto Santo,

and went there to live with his wife ; and that as Madeira and
Porto Santo were jjlaces to which all the Portuguese discoveiy
ships resorted, he thus collected much information.

In the will of Diego his mother is called Moniz onlv, and
the name Perestrelo is not mentioned. Fernando Columbus
had a confused idea about the Perestrelo relationship, takin"-

the wife of Perestrelo to be the mother, whereas she was the

a\int of the wife of Columbus. Fructuoso, and the Portuguese
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genealogists, tell us that Bartolome Perestrelo had an only
child by Isabel Moniz, named BartoIom(5, and that, far from
living at Porto Santo, she gave up her rights and left the island
thirty years before the maniage of Columbus. This is strong
evidence against the wife of Columbus having been a daughter
of Bartolom(5 Perestrelo, and in favour of her Moniz parentage.
Filippa, the wife of Columbus, was buried in the chapel of

Piedad, a place of interment reserved exclusively for the Moniz
family. She could not have been buried tliere if she had been
a Perestrelo. \Yith the assumed Perestrelo connection all the

stories about the inheritance and the residence at Porto Santo
fall to the ground, together with a growth of fable that had
gathered round them. The memory of Las Casas, taxed to

record events of which he had been told many years before, no
doubt played him false. The fable, first noticed by Oviedo as

a rumour without foundation, that a pilot had been driven

across the ocean to an island of the new world, who gave
Columbus the information that enabled him to make the

voyage, rests on the other fable that he lived at Porto Santo

or Madeira. Gomara copied the story from Oviedo, omitting

the important fact that Oviedo believed it to be false. He
asserts that .the pilot died at the house of Columbus in Madeira,

leaving him a chart, a journal, and observations. As soon as

the pilot and his companions were dead, Columbus proposed to

go in search of the land they had discovered, but concealed the

source of his information. If Columbus was silent, liow, it may
be asked, did Gomara obtain his information, if not from his

own inventive brain ? For Oviedo only alluded to the story

as a rumour, while Gomara states it as a fact. Gomara, how-

ever, admits that the name of the pilot was unknown. Acosta

and Mariana refer to the story, but without the name of the

pilot. Acosta indeed remarks that the name continued un-

known in order that God miglit have all the honour. Benzoni

alluded to the tale as an envious fabrication of Gomara. Gar-

cilasso de la Vega, writing 120 years after the event, gives the

most circumstantial version. Such fables usually grow and

thrive as the distance from the time increases. Garcilasso even

gives the name of the pilot, which was unknown to all the con-

temporaries and to all writers of the next generation. According

to him it was Alonzo Sanchez of Huelva. Invented to detract

from the merit of Columbus, the fable took shape under the
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en\-iou3 hand of Gomaia, and grew until the anonymous pilot

received a name more than a century afterwards. It is inex-

pressibly the most absurd tale that got into circulation among

the detractors of the great Genoese, and the most unworthy. It

may safely be assumed that no such person as Alonzo Sanchez

ever existed, although a modern street has heen named after

him at Huelva.

l-> The Comiiass.

Two passages relating to the introduction of the use of

the compass by Flavio Gioja have been quoted from Antonio

Beccadelli, .surnamed " II Panormita " (1374-1471), who was a

Latin versifier, and author of a life of Alfonso of Aragon. One

of these passages is given by Henricus Brenemannus in his

Dissertatio dc Ecpnhlica Amalfitana, and is to the following

effect: "Prima dedit nautis usum magnetis Amalphis." The

other is cited by Klaproth :
" Inventiix prteclara fuit magnetis

Amalphis." But Mr. Major says that he has sought through

the pages of BeccadelU for these passages in vain ("Prince

Henr}'," P- 59. ")•

('' Mentwn of Wife and Children hy Colurabus.

In one of his letters. Columhus makes use of the follow-

ing expression: " Yo deje ntuger y fjos que jamas vi ; por

ello"—"I left wife and children whom I never saw, for it,"

i.e., for this service. This might he interpreted that he had at

least two children besides Diego, and that they and his wife

were not dead when he left Lisbon, but died in his ahsence.

There is, however, a more probable explauation. He may
allude to a, second wife, namely, to Beatriz Enriquez, and to

his two sons, Diego and Fernando, whom he never, or scarcely

ever, saw owing to his long absences. He does not say that

he never saw them agctin. He uses the woiA.jamas (never), but

his knowledge of Spanish was imperfect, at least not that of a

native, and he probably intended to say, hardly ever.
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COLUMBUS IN SPAIN.

Half way between the Guadalquivir and the Guadiana

there is an estuary formed by the two rivers Odiel and
Tinto, which drain the Andalusian province of Huelva.

The town of Huelva is on the Odiel, Moguer and the

port of Palos on the Tinto. On the promontory to the

east of the Tinto rose the old Franciscan monastery of

Santa Maria de la Eabida. It was an irregularly-built

pile, with no architectural pretensions, consisting of two

cloisters with upper stories, a refectory, and a small

church. But it is a conspicuous landmark out at sea,

and is in a commanding position. The rocky promon-

tory on which it stands is half covered with a gloomy

pine forest, and a few cypress trees appeared over the wall

of the convent garden.

On an evening of January 1485 a wayfarer was seated

at the foot of the stone cross in front of the convent

gate, which is still preserved, and a little boy rested on

his knee. Columbus had toiled across the mountains of

Aracena, and down the valley of the Rio Tinto, only to

find that the Muliartes were not known at Palos. They

appear to have moved to Seville. Without friends or

resources, Columbus wandered up the sandy road from

Palos to the lonely convent of La Piabida, sometimes

leading the child by the hand, sometimes caiTying him
3D
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in his arms. After resting for a little while on the

steps of the cross, he rang the convent bell, and asked

for a glass of water and a little bread for his son.

When the doors were thrown open the monks were

struck by the noble presence of the wayfarer, and

invited him to bring the child into the convent. Among

I^mihmljiilf.<!

MAP FEOM HrELTA TO CADIZ.

the brotherhood there was a young monk named Fray

Antonio de Marchena, who took a special interest in

the stranger, and entered into conversation with him.

Columbus afterwards spoke of this newly-found friend

in most grateful terms. He was induced, by the kindly

interest the young monk took in his affairs, and the un-

usual knowledge he displayed of astronomy and kindred
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sciences, to explain to him the great project of the

western voyage. Marchena listened with the closest

attention, fully accepted the conclusions of Columbus,

and entered warmly into all his hopes and aspirations.

" He alone," declared the great discoverer in after years,

" never treated my ideas with ridicule." Marchena even

appears to have imparted a higher tone to his aspira-

tions, and to have filled his mind with the grand thought

of conveying Christianity across the ocean, and of saving

millions from pei-dition. Henceforward this religious

aspect of the enterprise ever held a leading place in the

mind of Columbus.

The brotherhood of La Rabida gladly took charge of

little Diego until other arrangements could be made for

him ; and the father, relieved of anxiety for his child,

prepared to face the ridicule and contempt of the world,

and to urge his scheme on the acceptance of the Spanish

authorities. But he first had to find the means of earn-

ing his daily bread.

Taking a hopeful farewell of his little son, and of the

kind-hearted monks of La Rabida, Columbus set out for

the city of Seville. Assuming a Spanish form for his

name, he henceforward called himself Oristoval Colon.

^Ve are told by Father Bernaldez * that Columbus got a

living at Seville by the sale of printed books. But he

soon formed the acquaintance of men of learning, such

as his countrymen Antonio and Alessandro Geraldini.

They probably obtained for him an introduction to the

Count of Medina Celi, one of the greatest noblemen

of Spain.

The foundei- of the house of Medina Celi was a gallant

knight who came to the help of Henry of Trastamara

* Historia de los Reyes Catolicos, cap. cxviii.
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with 250 lances, and was rewarded with the title of

Medina Celi in 137 1, and with the hand of the Princess

IsabeUa de la Cerda. The fifth Count of Medina Celi*

was Don Luis de la Cerda, whose mother was a Men-

doza, and heiress of Cogolludo, and whose wife was a

princess of Aragon. He entertained the illustrious

Genoese with generous hospitality at his lordship of

the port of Santa Maria, near Cadiz, and warmly en-

couraged him in his project. Indeed, this enlightened

nobleman was ready to fit out an expedition himself;

but he considered that so great an enterprise ought not

to be undertaken by a subject. He therefore resolved to

introduce Columbus to persons at court who could pro-

cure for him an interview with the Queen, and an

opportunity of explaining his scheme to their Catholic

majesties. When Columbus returned after his first

voyage, the Duke of Medina Celi wrote to the Cardinal

Mendoza, his uncle, on the 19th of March 1493, ex-

plaining the part he had taken in befriending the

Admiral at a time when he most needed friends. He
said that he entertained Columbus for a long time in

his house when he first came from Portugal, and when

he was meditating an appeal to the King of France.

The Duke wished to undertake the enterprise himself,

despatching Columbus froru the port of Santa Maria with

three or four caravels. But he felt that such a busines^s

was one for the Queen, and not for him. He therefore

wrote to her from Rota, a little town at the north en-

trance of the bay of Cadiz, submitting the matter for

her judgment, but offering to take part in it. She

replied that she wished Columbus to be sent to court,

where he was to be placed in charge of Alonzo de Quin-

* The Dukedom of Medina Celi was not created until December 1491.
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tanilla. In another communication she caused the Count
of Medina Celi to be informed that she did not look upon
the matter as very certain, but that if anything came of

it he should take part in the enterprise.

This was the occasion of the first arrival of Columbus
at the court, which was then at Cordova, and of his pre-

sentation to Queen Isabella in the spring of i486. The

Queen was in the meridian of her life and of her reign

when she first met the great seaman with whom she

was destined to share the glory of the discovery of the

new world. There can be no doubt that she was a

woman of more than ordinary cleverness and force of

character. She had passed through a long period in her

brother's lifetime during which she had been exposed to

extraordinary risks and dangers. She had avoided the

one and overcome the others by the exercise of her own

judgment, frequently acting against the advice of her

councillors. She had not only maintained her position,

but had dethroned her own niece, and had ascended the

throne of Castille with the consent of the people. Her

sole right was the will of the nation expressed by its

representatives in Cortes. Her marriage with her

cousin of Aragon was another serious risk, and their

married life reflects great credit on the judgment and

wisdom both of Ferdinand and Isabella. Their positions

were most difficult, yet they succeeded in making the

arrangement work harmoniously and without friction

throughout their married lives. Isabella took for her

share of the work the civil administration of Castille,

and the provision of men and supplies in time of war.

She conducted these affairs with remarkable ability.

In her war with Portugal, from 1475 to 1479, she was

completely successful; and since 1481 the joint sove-
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reigns had been engaged in successive campaigns against

the Moors in Granada, which were only to close with

the expulsion of the ^yijaslim fi-om the Peninsula. In

i486 Isabella was in her thirty-seventh year, and she

had been twelve years on the throne. Her descent was

not wholly Spanish. Her grandmother on her father's

side, and her great-grandmother on her mother's side,

were Englishwomen. Hence she inherited a fair com-

plexion, auburn hair, and blue eyes. She was above

the middle height, with a countenance full of animation

and intelligence, and an impulsive disposition kept under

control by the long practice of self-restraint.

Columbus, when he arrived at Cordova, was at once

befriended by Alonzo de Quintanilla, a knight of an

ancient family in Asturias, who held the high official

post of Minister of Finance for the kingdom of Castille.

Quintanilla relieved the Genoese stranger's needs, and

supplied him with meals from his own table. He also

introduced him to the Archbishop of Toledo, the great

Cardinal Mendoza, under whose powerful auspices an

interview with the Queen was arranged.

Isabella liked the illustrious Genoese from the first

time they met. His candour and obvious sincerity, his

earnestness, and the interesting character of his conver-

sation touched her heart while it riveted her attention.

She at once decided that his extraordinary project at

least deserved careful investigation. The sovereigns

ordered that a committee, presided over by the Queen's

confessor. Fray Hernando de Talavera, the Prior of the

monastery of Santa Maria del Prado, near Talladolid,

should examine and report upon the arguments of Co-

lumbus. The sittings of the committee were held at

Cordova, while Ferdinand and Isabella were occupied
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with the Moorish campaign, which in that summer com-
prised the siege of Loja.

The Prior of Prado was a man whose virtues had
raised him from the humblest condition. He was an
ecclesiastic of exemplary piety and the strictest probity,

and had acquired great influence over the Queen. In
any matter relating to the doctrine and discipline of the

Church his judgment was sound, and his advice was
always sure to be honest ; but he was about as fit to

give an opinion on the arguments of Columbus as the

mule on which he rode. He was learned, pious, and

amiable; and in after years, when he became Arch-

bishop of Granada, he endeavoured to convert the Moors
by argument and exhortation rather than by violence.

He had read many a tome full of theological lore, but

his narrow mind could not comprehend the novel ideas,

so far outside the sphere of his thoughts, on which he

was to sit in judgment. They would seem to him no

better than the ravings of a madman. Dr. Rodrigo

Maldonado, of the royal council, and other learned per-

sons, including some versed in marine affairs, were

joined with Talavera, but they could not enlighten him,

and it was a case of the blind leading the blind.

Talavera's committee reported against Columbus. His

arguments, they thought, were absurd in themselves, and

were unsupported by any high authority. They were

at variance with the expressed views of some of the

Fathers of the Church, and the good Prior was not

quite sure whether some of them had not a taint of

heresy. Columbus was bitterly disappointed. He paced

the streets of Cordova absorbed in thought, finding

sympathy from very few, and exposed to the ridicule

of the crowd, who thought he was mad. Boys in the
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streets ran after him, witli their fin.rrers pointed to their

foreheads.

In this time of sadness and depression he found a

most valued friend. Diego de Deza was Prior of the

Dominican convent of San Estevan at Salamanca, Pro-

fessor of Theology in the University, and tutor to Prince

Juan. He was a man of the world, and was struck by

the earnestness and intelligence of the Genoese, to whom
he took a great liking. He resolved to befriend him,

and he shrewdly foresaw that the most effectual way of

doing so would be by affording opportunities of discuss-

ing the questions raised by the stranger, and of thus

ventilating them and making them known to men who

were more capable of forming a judgment than Talavera

and his colleagues. Ferdinand and Isabella had been

called into Gralicia to suppress a disturbance raised by

the Count of Lemos, and they intended to pass the

winter of 1486-87 at Salamanca. Deza arranged that

Columbus should also pass the winter at Salamanca.

At that time the famous Spanish university was an

important centre of learning. "With its walls overlook-

ing the river Tormes, a tributary of the Douro, its

ancient bridge of many arches, and its numerous towers,

the Spanish Oxford is a grand place even in its decay.

The colleges and convents clustered round the solid

romanesque cathedral of the twelfth century, with its

beautiful central dome. The later renaissance cathedral

by its side had not then been begun. The cloister on

the south side was the place where the schools were held

until the fifteenth contury, and on one side of it is

the ancient chapter-house. Within a very short walk

from the cathedral was the convent of San Estevan with

its richly-ornamented facade and great hall of " De Pro-
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fundis," while other conventual and collegiate buildings

gave an academical tone to the old city, thronged as it

then was with professors and students. The professorial

chairs were not devoted exclusively to theology and other

priestly learning. Mathematics, physics, natural philo-

sophy, and astronomy were also studied ; nor were

Strabo, Pliny, and Ptolemy exclusively taught. The

works of Alfraganus and Regiomontanus were included

in the course, and Pedro Oiruelo, a graduate of Sala-

manca, had written a commentary on the Spliuira Mumli
of Sacrobosco. Aguilera, another graduate, had com-

posed a work on the astrolabe. So that Columbus was

coming to a place where his reasoning would have some

chance of being appreciated.

The Prior of San Bstevan determined not to lodge his

guest within the city, but in a country farm or grange

called Valcuebo, which belonged to the Dominicans, and

was at a short distance from the walls. It is described

as having been situated on a slight eminence, surrounded

by pretty rural scenery, and as well adapted for study

and meditation.* Hither the Dominican brethren came

to converse with their guest on the great deductions he

had drawn from a study of scientific books, and on the

reconciliation of his views with orthodox theology.

Sometimes the monks were accompanied in their walks

to Valcuebo by learned professors, and even by persons

of distinction attached to the court. Later in the winter

Deza and his monks received company in the hall of

their convent, called " De Profundis," when Columbus

would come into the city and hold conferences with men

of learning, at which numerous courtiers were present.

These assemblages for discussion, sometimes in the quiet

* Asonsio, i. p. 117.
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shades of Valciiebo, at others in the gi-eat hall of the

convent, excited much interest both among the students

and at court. The kindly object of Deza was secured.

The question was thoroughly ventilated, and even those

who withhelil their assent admitted that it was a fitting

subject for discussion. Ferdinand and Isabella left

Salamanca for Cordova on the 29th of January 1487,

and by that time Columbus could count among his

friends and advocates the Cardinal Mendoza, the Count

of Tendilla ; Alonzo Quintanilla the treasurer of Castille

;

Luis Santangel who held the same office in Aragon

;

Gabriel Sanchez, the King's Treasurer ; Diego Deza, the

Prior of San Estevan ; Don Andres Cabrera, and, perhaps

most important of all, his wife, Beatriz Fernandez de

Bobadilla, the Marquesa de Moya, and the Queen's

oldest and dearest friend. Thus it was that accounts

of the conferences held in the convent of San Estevan

reached the ears of the King and Queen, and when they

left Salamanca the ill effects of the report of Talavera

were quite removed from their minds. Columbus fol-

lowed the court to Cordova in March 1487, having

during the winter made a great step towards the fulfil-

ment of his aspirations. Thanks were chiefly due to the

unfailing kindness and sagacious management of Diego

Deza, the future Bishop of Palencia and Archbishop of

Seville. It is difficult to realise that this very man was also

the successor of Torquemada as Grand Inquisitor of Spain.

^Ve, however, need only know him as the generous and

enlightened friend of the great Genoese. "When this

peaceful oasis in his stormy Kfe came to an end, Columbus
must have felt regret at leaving his quiet home at

Yalcuebo. The humble grange still stands at a distance

of about three miles to the westward of Salamanca.
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The country people have a tradition that, on the crest

of a small hill near the house, now called " Tero de

Colon," the future discoverer used to pass long houis

conferring with his visitors or reading the Holy Scrip-

tures in solitude. The present proprietor, Don Martin

de Solis, has erected a monument on this site, consisting

of a stone pyramid rising from a masonry substructure,

and surmounted by a globe.

In the spring of 1487 Ferdinand commenced the siege

of Malaga, while the Queen remained at Cordova to

superintend the transmission of stores and provisions

to the army. She had not forgotten Columbus, but

caused it to be intimated to him that, as soon as the

exigencies of the public service permitted it, she would

give detailed attention to his representations. Mean-

while he was to consider himself to be attached to her

court, and he received a payment of 3000 maravedis* on

May 5th, and a similar sum on July 3rd. He was

ordered to join the camp, and was present at the sur-

render of Malaga on the i8th of August. In October

he received a third royal donation of 4000 maravedis.

But no further progress was made. The sovereigns

went to pass the winter at Zaragoza, and Columbus

was left inactive at Cordova, where he found some con-

solation for his numerous disappointments and his long

and weary waiting.

The noble family of Arana was established in the city

of the Khalifahs, but, although of ancient lineage and

highly connected, its members were not rich in this

* 34 maravedis = i real.

8 reals = i duro (dollar), i ounce of silver 4s. 6d.),

490 maravedis = i castellano (of gold).

101 TYinTn.vp.His = T dnnado
490 maraveais = i casteua

393 maravedis = i ducado.
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world's goods. Columbus was hospitably received in

the house of the Aranas at Cordova, having probably-

brought introductions to them when he first airived

from Seville in i486. They were delighted with their

guest, were interested in his story, and the male mem-

bers of the family formed for him a lasting friendship.

Diego de Arana was one of the officers in his fir>t voy-

age, and Don Pedro commanded a ship in the third.

Another member of the family was a beautiful sister of

Don Pedro, named Beatriz. Her sympathies were at

once excited by the history of the illustrious Genoese.

She conceived a passion for the great man, who was

many years older than herself ; she keenly felt his dis-

appointments, and had an enthusiastic belief in his

genius. When the disheartening judgment of the Prior

of Prado became known, she animated her lover in his

despondency, sustained his drooping spirits by words of

comfort and hope, and at length aroused a corresponding

feeling in his heart. During the whole winter of 1487-

88 they were thrown together, and in the course of the

long months she consoled and encouraged him, and was

his constant companion. It is still a disputed point

whether the love of Columbus and Beatriz was ever

sanctioned by the benediction of the Church.W On the

15th of August 1488 a son was bom, and named Fer-

nando. There was a difference of ten years between

the ages of the two sons ; but Diego, who had probably

been entrusted to the Muhartes at Seville, now found

a second mother in Beatriz at Cordova, and remained

there until he became a royal page in 1492.

The patience of Columbus was nearly exhausted. Year

after year sKpped away. He had found many kind and

sympathising friends, but no progress was made. He
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began to think that his sole reliance must not be on
Spain, and that if his great aspirations were ever to be

fulfilled it behoved him to seek aid elsewhere. We have

no exact information, but it seems probable that his

brother Bartolome had remained at Lisbon. If so,

Columbiis would naturally turn to him for counsel in

his difficulties. This would explain the reason for his

having obtained a safe conduct from the King of Por-

tugal, dated at Avis on the 20th of March 1488, which

is otherwise inexplicable. Early in the autumn of 1488,

after the birth of Fernando, the two brothers conferred

together at Lisbon. It is probable that Cristoforo

made a final overture to the King of Portugal at this

time ; for, in one of his letters, he speaks of having

urged the matter on that sovereign's attention for four-

teen years—that would be from 1474 to 1488.* Cris-

toforo had made so many powerful friends in Spain, and

the Queen had shown such favour to him on several

occasions, that it was decided to be unwise to abandon

all hope from that source. Cristoforo was therefore to

return to Spain, while Bartolome proceeded to London,

and endeavoured to induce the King of England to

undertake the project. Failing him, similar help was to

be solicited from the Regent of France.

Bartolome Columbus is described by Las Casas as

a man of great valour, combined with prudence, more

astute, and not so simple-minded as his brother Cris-

toforo. He was experienced in the affairs of the sea, and

he had studied cosmography, and acquired the art of a

draughtsman. The two brothers read and worked to-

gether. Bartolome had less genius and more worldly

wisdom than Cristoforo. He embarked for England,

* Letter to King Ferdinand, May 1505. Navarrete, iii. p. 526.
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but his ship was captured by Easterling pirates, and he

was detained for weeks and reduced to great poverty.

At length he reached London, where he prepared a

mappe-monde with the intention of presenting it, when

he should obtain an audience of King Henry VII. It was

accompanied by a copy of Latin verses, also said to have

been composed by Bartolome, for it is signed by " the

Genoese named Bartholomeus Columbus de Terrarossa,

who executed this work in London on the loth of Feb-

ruary 1489.'' Oviedo* tells us that Henry ridiculed

all that Columbus said, and looked upon his words as

foolish. This is exactly what might be expected from

that shrewd and clever, but narrow-minded and unima-

ginative usurper. Bartolomfe consequently left Eng-

land, and endeavoured to secure his brother's interests

at the court of Anne of Beaujeu,! who then governed

France for her young brother Charles VIII. There he

remained until he was summoned to Spain in 1493.

Cristoforo was still at Lisbon in December 1488,

for he saw the retui-n of the expedition of Bartolomeu

Diaz in that month, from the discovery of the Cape of

Good Hope, and witnessed the reception of Diaz by the

King of Portugal He referred to these events in a

marginal note in his copy of the Imago Mundi by

Pierre d' Ailly.(2) The note concludes with these words
'• in quibus omnibus interfui :

" referring to the arrival

of Diaz and bis presentation to the King. But he

appears to have returned to Spain soon afterwards, and

to have been at Cordova again, in the spring of 1489.

For an order was given by the Queen on the 1 2th of

May that Columbus should receive board and lodging

* Lib. i. cap. iv. i. p. 19.

t Harrisse, "Colomb.," ii. p. 194.
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in the towns through which he passed in his journeys.

In the same month Ferdinand revived the war against

the Moors, and began the siege of Eazaj a difficult

and tedious operation, involving much hard fighting.

Columbus served in the besieging army, but the place

did not surrender until December.

Early in 1490 the court arrived at Seville, where
the sovereigns took up their residence for several

months. But Columbus failed to obtain attention to

his plans. The Queen was busily engaged in making
arrangements for the marriage of her daughter Isabella

with Afifonso, the son of Joao II. of Portugal, and could

attend to nothing else, Then followed festivities and

tournaments which lasted until May. Columbus not

only continued to retain the friends he had made at

Salamanca, but he had secured many more. Never-

theless, he could not obtain another interview with the

Queen. In November she bade farewell to lier daughter,

and at the opening of 149 1 nothing was heard of but

preparations' for the siege of Granada. At length the

patience of Columbus was exhausted. Years had been

wasted in Spain, and he seemed to be no nearer the

goal of his wishes than when he crossed the frontier.

He resolved to join his brother in France, and quitted

the court of Seville without communicating his intention

to a soul. But he would first bid farewell to his warm

hearted friends in the convent of La Rabida. Sadly

and wearily he set out on the road to Huelva, and he

rang the convent bell with a feeling of despondency,

almost of despair. His young son Diego was again his

companion. It was neai-ly seven years since he left

those gates, buoyant with hope, and confident that his

great destiny would be fulfilled. He stood before them
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again with all his hopes crushed, and his plans frustrated

—almost broken-hearted.

La Rabida proved the turning-point of his life story.

Here lived the men who had been true to him, through

good report and evil report, who had never doubted

him, never ridiculed his idea. He found Fray Antonio

de Marchena as full of enthusiasm as ever, and re-

fusing to entertain the idea of failure. Hope revived as

the weary traveller crossed the threshold. The aged

Guardian of the convent, Fray Juan Perez, was as

cordial as the younger monk; and, moreover, he had

the power as well as the will to help. Perez had been

an accountant of the royal revenues in his youth, and,

before he retired to La Rabida, he had preceded Talavera

in the important and confidential post of confessor to

the Queen. The conversations of Marchena had im-

pressed him very favourably, and he was strongly inclined

to give Columbus his cordial support. But before finalh-

deciding, he resolved to give the extraordinary proposal

of the great Genoese his full consideration. He there-

fore summoned to his counsels a learned physician of

Palos, named Dr. Garci Hernandez. (3)

There was a very full discussion of all the arguments

put forward by Columbus, and the old Guardian was

convinced of the correctness of the calculations, and of

the vast importance of the proposed enterprise. Perez

resolved to write a letter to his old friend Queen Isa-

bella, in which he urged her, in the strongest possible

terms, not to abandon the grand project by which not

only her kingdom would be aggrandised but her God
would be served, through the agency of the learned

stranger who was about to leave the country, but whom
he detained at La Rabida until her answer arrived.
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The letter was entrusted to a pilot of the little port of

Lepe, to the west of Palos, named Sebastian Rodriguez.

Ferdinand and Isabella were besieging Granada, and

they were so resolved never to raise the siege until the

Moors surrendered that they had converted their camp
into a town, which was named Santa Ffe. Rodriguez

did not let the grass grow under his feet. He returned

with a I'eply from the Queen within fourteen days of

his leaving La Rabida.

Isabella ordered her old confessor, Juan Perez, to

come to her at once. The Guardian lost no time. He
borrowed a mule from one Juan Rodriguez Cabezudo

of Moguer, and set out alone that very night, without

regard either for the difficulties of the road or the

rigours of the season. The Queen had never forgotten

the favourable impression made upon her by Columbus,

and his numerous friends at court had kept his project

in her mind. It really only needed a strong stimulus,

such as was supplied by the impressive letter of her

old confessor, to re-awaken her interest, even when

engaged in such absorbing work as the final destruction

of Muslim power in Spain. The presence and per-

suasions of Juan Perez clinched the matter. Columbus

had not long to wait for the result of his friend's mission.

In a few days Diego Prieto, one of the chief magistrates

of Palos, I'ode up to the convent door. He brought

orders from the Queen that Columbus was to proceed

at once to Santa Fe, and a sum of money, 20,000

maravedis in florins, with which he was to buy a mule

and a suitable outfit to enable him to appear at court.

There was also a letter from Perez to the physician

Garci Hernandez, and another to Columbus, which was

as follows :

—
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"Our Lord lias listened to the prayers of His servant.

The wLse and virtuous Isabella, touched by the grace of

heaven, gave a favourable hearing to the words of this poor

monk. All has turned out well. Far from despising your

project, she has adopted it from this time, and she has sum-

moned you to court to propose the means which seem best to

you for the execution of the designs of Providence. My heart

swims in a sea of comfort, and my spirit leaps with joy in

the Lord. Start at once, for the Queen waits for you, and I

much more than she. Commend me to the prayers of my
brethren, and of your little Diego. The grace of God be with

j'ou, and may our Lady of La Kabida accompany you."

On the arrival of Columbus at Santa Fe he found that

Perez and his other friends had been very active, and

he had several encouraging interviews with the Queen.

He learnt from her that she was determined to under-

take the enterprise, and she was not deteiTed by the

concessions he demanded. They must have appeared

enormous to ordinary men when coming from a poor

stranger. But they represented, from the point of view

of Columbus, the greatness and importance of the enter-

prise, and he firmly refused to abate them. Satisfied

with the assurances of Isabella, he readily consented to

the reasonable delay rendered necessary by the exigencies

of the siege, and he himself took part in the various

combats outside the walls, gi^ang proofs of the valour

which was the accompaniment of his prudence and of

his lofty aspirations. At last Granada fell on the 2nd

of January 1492.

The concessions demanded by Columbus then came

before the royal council ; and their acceptance was

strongly opposed by Talavera and others, who looked

upon such demands from a penniless adventurer as ex-

travagant, and indeed preposterous. They reported that
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it was impossible for the Crown to surrender prerogatives

and rights of such importance in perpetuity. Columbus
could not be induced to recede from his position. When
he was informed of the decision, he mounted his mule
and left Granada by the Cordova road, intending to join

his brother, and submit his project for the acceptance of

the King of France.

This famous act in the life of Columbus needs careful

study. To the Talaveras of all time there only appears

an arrogant adventurer, without modesty or modera-

tion, who was making extravagant demands for his own
personal advantage in payment of services the value of

which he presimiptuously exaggerated, and which he

had not performed. But to the careful historian, who
tries to gauge the motives which actuate great men
in critical moments of their lives, this is a superficial

and an erroneous view. Columbus had been working

with untiring enthusiasm for many years to secure

the realisation of his ideas. His studies and his ex-

perience taught him that those ideas were based on

solid facts. He knew that his project would lead to

results of supreme importance affecting the whole world.

He not only did not exaggerate those results, but his

measurement of them fell far short of the truth. He
knew that they would be great, but he did not know
how great. He had faced ridicule, poverty, and hard-

ships for the sake of his grand convictions, and he was

ready to do so again. Poverty or riches were nothing

to him, and could be nothing. But he saw, with the

unerring prevision of genius, that the enterprise must

be undertaken with a full acknowledgment of its supreme

importance. The government or the sovereign that

refused so to recognise its significance was imworthy
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to undertake it. The privileges and the dignities he

demanded -were not for himself but for the achievement

he represented ; and that achievement would not be

worthily done, if it was not done in this spirit. It

cannot be doubted that he had pondered the matter long

and deeply, and that his conduct in leaving Granada

was the result of a resolution taken long before, and

from which nothing would divert him. His was the

master-mind. He worked for his fellow-men and for

his God, and the instrument he used must either be

fashioned by his hand, or give place to one of better and

truer metal. Some such view as this was, no doubt,

the one taken by Columbus. He believed that he was

called to a great work by the Divine ^Yill, and that the

full recognition of its greatness was incumbent on those

who were to assist him. His conduct was not that of

an adventurer seeking paltry gain for himself. It was

that of a great man, destined to be one of the lights

of the world, acting from a supreme sense of duty.

The departure of Columbus caused the greatest con-

sternation among all the true friends of their country.

The Marquesa de ^loya immediately sought an interview

with the Queen, and entreated her to recall the great

navigator and concede his demands. Her entreaties

were seconded by those of Luis de Santangel. Isabella

had not thought the demands excessive. This noble

woman was able to appreciate the lofty motives of her

petitioner, and in some measure to comprehend the

workings of his mind. The work, she decided, should

be the work of CastUle alone. But the great difficulty

was to find the means of despatching an expedition.

The exhaustiog war had been a terrible drain on the

treasury. When her mind was made up she was re-
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solved that no difficulty in raising the funds should form

an obstacle. She declared that she would give up her

own jewels, but Santangel obviated this sacrifice by
finding the needful supplies from another source. To
the great joy of his friends, Isabella announced her

resolution that the expedition should be despatched,

and that the concessions demanded by Columbus should

be granted.

A messenger was despatched to recall Columbus. He
was overtaken near a bridge called "Pinos," which was

celebrated for the many chivalrous feats of arms per-

formed by Moors and Christians round its approaches

during the recent war. It is six miles from Granada.

He turned his mule's head, rode back to Santa Fe, and

immediately had an interview with the Queen. In con-

cert with her husband she gave the necessai-y orders,

and the capitulation, prepared by the secretary, Juan

de Coloma, was signed at Santa Fe by their Highnesses

on the 1 7th of April 1492. In return for his discoveries,

Columbus was created Admiral of the Ocean in all those

islands and continents that he might discover. The title

was granted to him for his life, and to his heirs for ever,

with the same rights and prerogatives as were enjoyed

by the Admiral of Castillo. Columbus was also appointed

Viceroy and Governor-General of all the lands he might

discover. He was also to have a tenth of all the precious

metals discovered within the jurisdiction of his Admiralty,

and he had the privilege of receiving an eighth part

of the profits made by any ship to the equipment of

which he had contributed an eighth share. On the 30th

Columbus received the grant of his titles, inscribed on

parchment, with a leaden seal pendant from silken

threads, and signed by the King and Queen. On the
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same day the citizens of Palos were ordered to supply

the two caravels, which they had been condemned to

furnish for tlie Queen's use without pay during twelve

months, as a punishment for certain acts of theirs com-

mitted at some former period to the injury of the royal

service. Columbus hastened to La Eabida to make pre-

parations for the equipment of his expedition, kissing

hands and taking leave of their Highnesses at Granada

on the 12th of May 1492.

XOTES.

W Question of the. Marriage of Beedriz Enriquez.

Some of the biographers of Columbus believe that his

intercourse with Beatrix Enriquez was unauthorised by the

Church. Others maintain that they were married.

The arguments against the mai-riage are as follows. It is

alleged that there is no mention of a \rd& in the transactions of

the Admiral's life after he left PortugaL In his will he recom-

mended Beatriz to his son Diego not as his wife, but as a

person to whom he had been under great obligations, and

respecting whom his conscience was burdened, for a reason

which he did not think it light to explain. Las Casas said

that Columbus "instituted his son Diego his heir-general, and
if Diego had no children, then his heir was to be Don Fernando,

his natural son" (iii. 194). In a letter dated 1500 Columbus
said, "I left my wife and children whom I never saw," and it

is assumed that he referred to his Portuguese wife. Also, when
he was expecting to be lost in the storm, on his return from

his first voyage, he expressed his anguish at lea\'ing his sons

orphans "both of father and mother."

On the side of the marriage it is urged that Beatriz was of

noble birth, and that an improper connection would have been

resented by her family. This was so far from being the case

that her male relations continued to be among the Admiral's

most steady friends. Her cousin, Diego de Arana, was in the
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first voyage of Columbus ; and her brother, Pedro de Arana,
commanded one of the Admiral's ships in the third voyage.

The boy Fernando became a page of the Queen, an honour
which would not have been conferred on a bastard. When
Columbus wrote, in 1500, "I left my wife and sons for this

service, whom I never {jamas) saw," he could not have referred

to his Portuguese wife, because she only bore him one child.

He must have referred to Beatriz Enriquez as bis wife, and to

his sons Diego and Fernando. So that there is mention of her

by the Admiral as his wife. He uses the word jamas, which
would mean never if taken literally ; but Columbus, as a
foreigner, may well have used the word in the sense of hardly

ever. The sentence written during the storm that he would ] eave

his sons orphans of fatlier and mother would have been true as

regards Diego, but not as regards Fernando. Beatriz was the

motlier of Fernando whethenshe was married or not. To imply

that Fernando had no mother was a slip of the pen, either on

the part of Columbus when writing in a gale of wind, or of

Las Casas, who made the abstract from his journal. If Beatriz

had not been his wife, he would have charged her own son,

Fernando, who was well off, with her maintenance ; but he

imposed this duty on his eldest son as heir-general, because

the maintenance of his widow ought to come out of his entailed

estate as Admiral. In his instructions to his son Diego before

he sailed on his third voyage, the Admiral charged the young

man to look upon Beatriz Enriquez as his mother (Asensio,

i. 105). In his instructions to Diego before he sailed on his

last voyage in 1502, he again charged his son to treat Beatriz

as his motlrer. Las Casas did not necessarily use the word

"natural" in the sense of illegitimate. In those days it was used

for sons of the body, whether illegitimate or not, in contra-

distinction to sons-in-law or step-sons. Pantaleone Bavarello

is officially called "fillius legitimus et naturalis" in a deed

dated in 1517, contemporary with Las Casas.

All the arguments against the marriage are thus disposed of,

except the curious wording of the Admiral's will, which is per-

plexing. The explanation may be that Columbus- was maixied

to Beatriz Enriquez, but that some ecclesiastical obstacle sub-

sequently caused the marriage to be dissolved. The obstacle

may have been a pre-contract to a person named Enriquez, for

tlie maiden name of Beatriz was Arana. This would explain
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everything. The Admiral's conscience may have been uneasy

because he did not sufficiently assure himself before marriage

that no obstacle existed.

'-' Question respecting the Voyage of BaHolome Liaz.

The marginal note is on folio 13 of the copy of the Imof/o

iluadi in the Columbine Library at Seville, as follows :
" Nota

quod hoc anno de 88 in mense descambii apulit in ulixbona

bartolomeus didacus capitaneus trium caravelaruni quern

miserat serenissimus rex portugalie in guinea ad tentandum

terram et renunciavit ipso serenisimo regi prout navigaverat

ultra quan na%Tgatam leuch 600 "\-idelicet 450 ad austnim et

150 ad aquilonem usque uno promontorium per ipsum nomina-

tum cabo de boa esperanja quern in agesinba estimamus

quodque in eo loco invenit se distare per astrolabium ultra

linea equinociali gradus 45 quern ultimum locum distat ab

ulixbona leuche 3100 quem viagiam pictavit et scrijisit de

leucha in leucha in una carta navigacionis ut occuU visui

Oitenderet ipso serenissimo regi in quibus omnibus interfui."

Las Casas declared that this note -was in the handwriting of

Bartholomeiv Columbus, which he knew well, and he therefore

assumed that Bartholomew was in the expedition of Diaz.

But this is not possible. Diaz returned in December. Bar-

tholomew Columbus finished his great map in London early

in the following February. This gives little over a month for

him to land at Lisbon, embark for England, be captured by
pirates, be detained several weeks, find his way to London,

and complete the drawing of an elaborate mappe-monde. It

is impossible.

Vamhagen, who was well acquainted with the handwritings,

declared that Las Casas was mistaken, and that the marginal

note is in the hand of Christopher Columbus. Asensio, another

expert, came to the same conclusion. It can be proved that

Christopher was in Spain during part of the time occupied by
the voyage of Diaz. But the words "'in quibus omnibus inter-

fui" do not imply that the writer was in the voyage with

Diaz, but merely that he took part in his reception and was
present at his landing. Christopher Columbus was probably

in Lisbon at that time. Bartholomew Columbus could not

have been there.
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<^' The Visits to La Babida.

The aiitliority for the visits of Columbus to La Kabida,

and for the story of his asking for bread and water for his

little boy, is Garei Hernandez, the physician of Palos. He
gave evidence at the trial instituted, with permission from
the Crown, by Diego Columbus to recover the viceroyalty in-

herited from his father. The evidence reads as if there had
only been one visit to La Rabida. This led Mr. Harrisse to

think that there was only one visit, namely, that in 1491. But
the evidence is given as a statement, whereas it was really a

series of replies to questions. Closer scrutiny shows that some
sentences refer to the first and others to the second visit. One
proof that the first visit is also referred to appears in the fact

that Hernandez calls young Diego a little child {nirdco). Tliis

would be a correct description of him in 1484, but not in 1491.

Las Casas mentions the hrst visit to La Kabida with the child

(i. p. 227).

A curious confusion has also arisen between Antonio de

Alarchena, the monk who received Columbus on his first visit,

and the guardian, Juan Perez, who befriended him in 1491.

JNIany authors have mixed them together, and made them inln

one monk named Perez de Marchena. Marchena was a young

monk versed in science, Perez was the aged guardian of the

convent. Columbus speaks of them as distinct individuals.



CHAPTEE IV.

THE FIRST VOYAGE.

Columbus was forty-six yeais of age when lie at length

obtained the fulfilment of his life-long aspirations. HLs

hair had become prematurely gi'ey. Xaturally quick-

tempered, he had subdued this feeling by the practice of

self-restraint. He was a man acquainted with adversity,

and his countenance wore a somewhat melancholy ex-

pression when at rest ; but he was eloquent in discourse,

engaging and affable with strangers. His magnanimity

and inborn courtesy, joined to long intimacy with courts,

gave him a noble and dignified bearing. Yet there was

still much in common between the enthusiastic yotmg

wool-comber of Genoa and the venerated Admiral of the

Ocean Sea ; the same love of kindred and of home, the

same industry and close attention to details, the same

kindliness of heart and consideration for comrades.

During the third week of May, Columbus remained at

La Eabida in close consultation with his friends Mar-

chena and Perez, and with the good physician Garci

Hernandez. They sat in the courtyard, under the shade

of fig-trees, and discussed measures for obtaining ships,

and the still more diificult task of obtaining men.

The little town of Palos Hes in a hollow among hills,

a quarter a of mile from the right bank of the Rio

Tinto. It consists of two streets of humble white-washed

hou>e=:. and there is a ruin of a large house which once
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belonged to the Pinzons. Just above, on the crest of

the hill, are the ruins of an old Moorish castle. On
Wednesday, the 23rd of May, it was publicly notified in

the church of St. George at Palos that the town was to

furnish the Admiral with two caravels. This old church,

which was originally a mosque, stands on the brow of a

hill outside the town, with a view along a little valley to

the river. The same image of St. George and the Dragon

stands over the high altar as was there in the time of

Columbus, when the people crowded out of the church

on that Wednesday in May. They must find the two

caravels in obedience to the royal order, but no man was

forced to sail on board of them. This was a mad voyage,

sailing away into the mysterious unknown never to be

seen again ; and as the sailors of Palos and Moguer dis-

cussed the matter the terrors of the undertaking seemed

to increase, and they became more and more reluctant

to ship with Columbus. This difiiculty in persuading

men to join the expedition was fortunately overcome

owing to the Admiral having secured the good will of

the most influential family in Palos.

The Pinzon family was highly esteemed in the dis-

trict, owing to the enterprise its members had shown

in commercial ventures, to their credit and wealth, and

to their probity. The three brothers—Martin Alonzo,

Vicente Yanez, and Francisco Martin Pinzon—were

pilots and shipowners. The guardian of La Rabida, Fray

Juan Perez, applied to Martin Alonzo, the elder and

most influential of the three. While he appealed to his

patriotism, he also stimulated him by the hope of gain,

and as soon as he was duly impressed he introduced the

pilot to Fray ilarchena and Columbus. After a few

conferences in the old cloister, Pinzon was convinced
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by the eloquence of the Admiral. He and his brothers

entered heart and soul into the enterprise. They proved

to be excellent recruiting agents, and, by their powers

of persuasion and coercion, they soon altered the aspect

of affairs. Provisions and stores were collected, two

caravels were fitted out, and men were entered from

Pales, Moguer, and Huelva, as well as from the little

port of Lepe to the westward, and from Ayamonte, still

farther west on the Portuguese frontier. A third vessel

was at length secured, much larger than the other two,

appai-ently called the Santa Maria or Marujalante, but

Columbus himself only mentions her as the Gapitana.

Her owner, who was to go in her as master, was a young

pilot named Juan de la Cosa, a native of Santofia, on the

north coast of Spain.

The Santa Maria was called a "nao" or ship, and

she was of about loo tons burden. She was built with a

deck, a high poop, and a forecastle. Two of her masts

had square sails, but the mizzen was lateen rigged. On
the mainmast was the mainsail {maestro) and a main-

topsail (gahia). The foremast had a foresail (called

trinquete), and there was a spritsail (cebadera). The

courses were enlarged in fair weather by lacing canvas

to their leeches, called boiietas. The mizzen lateen sail

was called mezana. The armament consisted of the

small guns used on board ship in those days, called

lombards. The crew numbered fifty-two men all told,

including the Admiral and the principal officers of the

expedition. But while the crews of the two caravels

were all natives of Palos and the neighbouring towns,

the Admiral's ship's company came from various parts

of the Peninsula. Two were natives of Santona, fol-

lowers of Juan de la Cosa, and all those who hailed
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Friiin Leandrii de Cosco's Latin rentimi of the Admiral's letter (Borne, 1493).
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from the north of Spain were probably known to him,

and attracted by his presence.

Among these it is very interesting to find an English-

man from Lajes, a small place in Galicia, not far from

Ooruna. He is entered in the Ust as Tallarte de Lajes

{Ingles). An English mariner trading to Corufia may
well have married there and settled down at Lajes until

his love of adventure was aroused by the news from

Palos. Tallarte would be the Spanish form of Allard or

Alard, a corruption of Aethelwald. The first English

admiral was Gervase Alard of Winohelsea in 1306, and

there were Alards for several generations, afterwards,

who were sailors of Winchelsea. It is not improbable

that one of them was among the first discoverers of the

new world, and a companion of Columbus. There was

also an Irishman among the crew, one William of Galway.

The chief magistrate, or master-at-arms, was Diego

de Arana, a near relation of the lady, whether wife or

not, at Cordova, with whom the Admiral left his sons.

Young Diego had been nominated as page to Prince

Juan, the heir-apparent of Castille and Aragon, on the

8th of May, with a salary of 9400 maravedis a year,

but he remained at Cordova for a time with Beatriz

Bnriquez to complete his education. The complement

of the Santa Maria, officers and men, was as follows :—

Admiral . Cristoya! Colon.

Master and \ Juan de la Cosa of

Owner

Pilot . .

Boatswam

Surgeon .

Assistant

Surgeon

) Santona.

Sancho Ruiz.

Maestre Diego.

( Maestre Alonso of

( Moguer.

f Maestre Juan.

Overseer . .

Secretary .

Master at

Arms .

Volunteer

t Rodrigo Sanchez of

( Segovia.

(
*Rodrigo de Esco-

( bedo.

f *Diego de Arana

I of Cordova.

*Pedro Gutierrez.

(A gentleman of

the King's bed-

chamber. )
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Voluntcc-

Steward .

Admiral's

Servant

Page . .

Interpreter

.

Seamen .

/Baohiller Bernar-

^ do de Tapia of

^ Ledesma.

Pedro Terreros.

f
Diego de Salcedo.

Pedro de A^evedo.

Luis de Torres. (A

converted Jew,
]

Rodrigo de Jerez.

Garcia Ruiz of

Santona.

Pedro de Villa of

Santoiia.

Rodrigo Escobar.

Francisco of Hu-
elva.

Ruy Fernandez of

Huelva.

Pedro Bilbao of

Larrabezua.

*Alonzo Velez of

Seville.

*Alonzo Perez
Osorio.

^^«'*2'«' '""^
I ^Castillo of Seville.

Silversmith >

Seamen *Antonio of Jaen.

*Alvaro Perez Osorio.

^^Cristoval de Alamo of

Niebla.

*Diego Garcia of Jerez.

*Diego de Tordoya of

Cabeza de Vaoa.

*Diego de Capilla of

Almeden.

Seamen *Diego ofMambles.

,

,

*Diego de Mendoza.

„ *Diego de Mentalvan

of Jaen.

,

*Domingo de Bermeo.

,

.

*Franoisco de Godoy of

Seville.

*Francisoo de Vergara

of Seville.

*Francisco of

Aranda.

*Francisco Henao of

Avila.

*Francisco Jimenes of

Seville.

*Gabriel Baraona of

Belmonte.

*Gonzalo Fernandez of

Segovia.

*Gonzalo Fernandez of

Leon.

*Guinermo Ires (of

Galway).

*Jorge Gonzalez of

Trigueros.

*Juan de Cueva,

*Juan Patifio of La
Serena.

*Juan del Baroo of

Avila.

*Pedro Carbacho of

Caceres.

*Pedro of Talavera.

*Sebastian of Majorca.

*Tallarte de Lajes

(Ingles.)

The second vessel was commanded by Martin Alonzo

Pinzon, who had done so much towards the equipment of

the expedition. Seiior Asensio truly observes that if

" Colon was the head, Pinzon was the right arm." His

caravel of about fifty tons was named the Pinta, and

was owned by Gomez Rascon and Cristoval Quintero,
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who wei-e on board as seamen. Another seaman was

Juan Bermudez, the future discoverer of Bermuda.

One of Pinzon's brothers was with him as master. The

Pinta was strongly built, and was originally lateen

rigged on all three masts. She was the fastest sailer

in the little squadron. Her complement numbered

eighteen, as follows :

—

Captain . Martin AlonzoPinzon.

Master . Francisco Martin Pin-
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Total of the three ships eighty-eight souls. {Tlwse

'With an asterisk were left behind at Navidad.)

Throughout the months of June and July the greatest

activity was displayed, and Palos had never seen so busy

a time. The funds supplied to the Queen by Santangel

were altogether insufficient, but the necessary sums were

obtained through friends of the Admiral, or well-wishers

of the expedition, on the personal guarantee of Colum-

bus. It has been suggested that Pinzon advanced what

was needed. On this point there is no reliable informa-

tion ; but one thing is certain, all loans were honourably

repaid.

Columbus held many consultations with his friends at

La Rabida, and with Pinzon, respecting the route. He
relied for guidance chiefly on the chart that had been

sent to him by Toscanelli. But he was about to enter

a new and unknown world, where no existing chart

would be of any avail. All that was known of the old

world could be of no use to him there. It is fortunate,

however, that in this very year stock should have been

taken of geographical knowledge up to 1492. Then

Columbus began the great work of his life, the dis-

covery of the new world ; and in the same year Martin

Behaim completed the great work of his life, his terres-

trial globe.

The globe of Martin Behaim, still preserved at Nurem-

burg, is now the oldest terrestrial globe in existence.

It is drawn on parchment, beautifully illuminated and

ornamented, and stretched on a sphere 20 inches in

diameter. Its great importance consists in the fact

that it is an exact representation of the geographical

knowledge of the period immediately preceding the first

voyage of Columbus. As the map of Toscanelli is lost.
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the Behaim globe is tlie only extant document which
does this. For the first time the two hemispheres are

clearly shown, with the route round the Cape to India,

and the discoveries of Marco Polo. The western edge

of the Western Hemisphere is fringed by the Azores,

Canary Isles, and Cape Verdes. West of Ireland is the

island of Brazil, and west of the Cape Verde Isles is the

fabulous Isle of St. Brandon, bordering on the equator.

Then, with no very great width of ocean between,

Zipangu and a labyrinth of smaller islands stretches

across the torrid zone and far into the temperate zones

on either side, occupying the centre of the hemisphere.

The ea.stern side is occupied with a continental mass,

having Cathay marked on it, and other names made
known by Marco Polo. Behaim's globe should be well

imprinted on the reader's mind before accompanying

Columbus across the Atlantic; for it represents the

state of geographical knowledge when he sailed, and

shows exactly the nature of his expectations. The map
of Toscanelli must have closely resembled that of Behaim,

with the addition of the island of Antilla in mid ocean

;

and the names of Zaiton, Quisay, Mango, Catay, con-

spicuously shown on the eastern continent. With the

map of Toscanelli, Columbus took with him the materials

for drawing plane charts, the declination tables of Regio-

montanus, and the work of Pierre d'Ailly. The quad-

rants, astrolabes, and compasses were prepared under

the personal supervision of the Admiral, who paid close

attention to every detail

At length everything was ready. It was the 2nd of

August. Columbus and all his men assembled in the

little church of St. George, at Palos, and received the

Holy Communion. Fray Juan Perez exhorted them to
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trust in God and in their Admiral, and dismissed them

with his benediction, and a solemn prayer for success

and prosperity to the expedition. The majority were

natives of the district, and these went from the church

to bid a last farewell to their families. On the same

day vessels of the State passed down the river, laden

with all the Jews in the province of Huelva, to be taken

across and landed on the coast of Africa. Cruel bigotry

and scientific research were brought, as it were, face to

face.

Half an hour before sunrise, on Friday the 3rd of

August, a great crowd was assembled along the banks

of the Odiel. As the sun appeared over La Rabida the

three little vessels weighed their anchors. The Admiral

displayed the standard of OastiUe, and let fall his main-

sail, on which was painted the sign of the redemption.

Fetching way, the squadron sailed over the bar of

Saltes, men waving their caps and women their hand-

kerchiefs until the white lateen sails looked like the

wings of gulls hovering over the sea. Few ever ex-

pected to see them again. The adventurers seemed to

be going to certain death. It was a memorable event,

and it was felt to be so, but none knew how great.

Looking back at all that has grown out of it in the four

centuries that have since elapsed, we now know that

the sailing of those three little boats over the bar of

Saltes was, since the fall of Rome, the most momentous

event in the world's history.

The Admiral shaped a course for the Canaries—the

Pinta leading, the Santa Maria next ; but the Niiia

proved a bad sailer, owing to the defective cut of her

lateen sails. Columbus reckoned his distances run in

Italian miles, of which there were four to a league ; and
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lie calculated that on the first day he ran sixty miles

before sunset with a fresh breeze from the land. On
the 6th, when there was a chopping sea, the rudder of

the Pinta came unshipped without any apparent cause,

suspicion falling on Rascon and Quintero, the owners,

who were serving on board, and are supposed to have

repented of the agreement they had made. Pinzon

managed to rig a temporary makeshift, and in that

plight they reached Grand Canary. Here the Pinta

received a thorough overhaul, the rudder was repaired,

and her rig was altered from lateen to square sails on

the fore and main masts. The little squadron then pro-

ceeded to the island of Gomera, anchoring there on the

2nd of September. In passing Teneriffe they observed

a great column of flame issuing from the peak—a mag-

nificent sight, which might have been considered as a

commemoration of the voyage, but which the sailors

rather perversely looked upon as a bad omen.

Gomera is the most westerly of the Canary Islands,

and the little squadron found a sheltered anchorage in

the bay on the north-east side, off the town of Palmas.

Some days were occupied in getting the ships ready for

sea, and filling them up with water and provisions.

In the morning of the 6th of September Columbus sailed

from Gomera, but for two days he was becalmed between

that island and Teneriffe, and on the 8th there was a

head sea ; but on Sunday the 9th the ships were fairly

on their voyage. The men at the helm, however, steered

badly from want of experience, and the Admiral had

occasion to reprimand them several times for letting

the ship's head fall off. The people were fearful of the

unheard of character of the voyage. Many were timid

and credulous ; so the Admiral arranged that the reckon-
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iny for their inspection shovild make the ship's runs

shorter than the real estimate entered in his own journal.

If the voyage proved to be a long one, they would have

so much less cause for alarm and panic. This was a pre-

caution fully justified by the circumstances.

On the 13th of September Columbus first observed

that the variation was westerly. He had crossed the

line of no variation, which was then in about the longi-

tude of Flores, the westernmost of the Azores. By the

17th the variation had increased to a point westerly,

and the strange phenomenon excited and alarmed the

sailors

—

" The compass, like an old friend, false at la;r,

In our most need, appalled them."

The Admiral, with unwearied patience and kindness

of manner, laboured to allay their fears. After think-

ing the matter over in his own mind, he hit upon a

probable cause, which he carefully explained to his

people. The conduct of the needle had been detected

by observing the bearing of the pole star. It was not,

however, the needle, but the pole star that was in an

abnormal state. It was describing a circle in the

heavens, while the compass was as true as ever. This

satisfied the men. The proposition was correct. The

pole star really does move in a circle ; but this move-

ment was very far from being equal to the change

observed in the direction of the needle. Columbus did

not discover the variation of the compass on this occa-

sion. It is scarcely credible that variation had not

been remarked by the numerous intelligent seamen who

had long used the compass in navigating the Mediter-

ranean from end to end. ^Yhat Columbus did discover
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was far more important. This was the change of varia-

tion from easterly to westerly after crossing a point of

no variation.

Columbus was now in the region of the trade-wind,

always blowing his ships westward in exquisite weather,

and a smooth sea, generally like the river at Seville, so

that the men often bathed alongside. The sunrises and

sunsets were indescribably lovely, and sometimes the

clouds on the horizon formed themselves into such close

resemblance to islands that the most experienced eye

might have been deceived. The lonely adventurers

watched every sign with eagerness and anxiety. Antilla

or St. Brandan might rise above the horizon at any

moment. Many birds were seen, and sometimes a ship's

boy knocked one down with a stone. The direction of

their flight was carefully noted. Columbus mentions a

garajao, the name for a tern in the Canary Islands, and

rahia de junco, which means literally "tail of a rush."

This is the boatswain -bird, which breeds at Bermuda and

in the Bahamas. The two long projecting central tail

feathers are never seen separated and seem to form one,

like a marHn-spike, whence the name. Anothei' bird

frequently seen is called an alcatraz by Columbus. The

word means a pelican, and was also applied to the largest

bird in the southern seas, our word albatross being a

corruption of it. But the alcatraz of Columbus was a

dark-brown gannet very common in the tropics, called a

booiy by sailors. They also saw the rabiforcado, " which

makes the alcatraz throw up what it has swallowed and

eats it itself, living on nothing else. There are many at

the Cape de Verde Islands." Rabiforcado is the frigate

or man-o'-war bird, which breeds on the Bahamas and

woes far out to sea ; but this robber gull must be the
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long-tailed skua of tlie Canaries, which ranges over the

Atlantic as far as the Cape of Good Hope. Par/Tales, or

sandpipers, were also seen. In the sea, playing round

the ship, there were many fish, and they caught toninas

and (hji-aJo^.

Soon after the panic about the conduct of the needle

had been appeased, the ships began to pass quantities of

weed, and soon the sea seemed to be covered with it. A
fresh alarm arose. They were saiUng into a sea of weed,

which would get denser and denser untU the ships would

become immovable, and they would all perish. Colum-

bus reasoned with them, and explained away this ima-

ginary danger also. Yet it was a strange sight even to

himself. He examined the gulf weed, which looked so

golden and beautiful as it floated in masses on the deep

blue sea, and noticed that it was covered with small

balls like berries. This Sargasso Sea, first described by

Columbus, is midway in the Atlantic, between the

Azores, Canaries, and Cape X^erdes. Andrea Bianco, in

his map of 1436, gave it the name of " Mar de Baga,"

from the vesicles on the gulf weed (Fucus natans), like

berries, or bar/as in Portuguese. The northern border of

the weedy sea is near the Azores, and its existence must

have been reported to Bianco through some of the early

Genoese discoverers of that group. Columbus was being

introduced to the mighty oceanic phenomena which his

acute intellect would enable him to grasp in part, but it

would be centuries before they would be pieced together

and understood as one harmonious whole. Maury likens

the Atlantic, with its Gulf Stream, to a basin of water

to which a circular motion has been given. Any float-

ing substances put into the basin will be found crowding

together near its centre where there is the least motion.
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" Just sucli a Vjasin is the Atlantic Ocean to the Gulf

Stream, and the Sargasso Sea is the centre of the whirl."

A great cause of alarm to the sailors was the constant

easterly wind, always blowing day after day, a source

of anxiety which increased as day succeeded day. It

made them think that they would never be able to

return home. Fortunately there was a contrary wind

on the 22nd of September. The Admiral observed that

"this foul wind was very necessary for me, for my
people had become much excited, thinking that no winds

blew in those seas that would carry the ships back to

Spain." He doubtless made much capital out of that

one day of westerly breezes.

After they had been three weeks at sea, the Admiral

began to think that Antilla should be near at hand.

He closed with the Pinta to compare notes with Martin

Alonzo Pinzon on the 23rd, and to converse about certain

islands on the chart of Toscanelli, and the chart was

sent from one ship to the other on a line. Both agreed

that they must be very near Antilla. At sunset Martin

Alonzo hailed the Santa Maria, and with great joy an-

nounced that he saw land. He turned the hands up,

and I'epeated the " Gloria in excelsis Deo." Columbus

did the same. The crews manned the rigging in all

three ships, and declared that it was land. A course

was shaped towards it over a smooth sea, but it was

soon found that they had been deceived by the fantastic

shape of clouds on the horizon. For the next few days

the air was soft and mild, and the sea smooth as a river,

with much weed floating on its surface. On the 4th of

October the best rim was made during the voyage, up-

wards of 200 miles. But the great length of the passage

across was telling upon the spirits of the men, and the
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frequent false alarms made them doubt whether land

would ever appear, and caused irritation. A mutinous

spirit became more and more manifest. The Admiral

tried to encourage them by assurances that land was

close at hand ; but he added that '• whether they com-

plained or not, he would go on until he found the Indies,

with the help of God.'' This was on the loth of October.

The standing order was that the Pirda and Nina should

close the Admiral at sunrise and sunset.

On the nth the sea was rougher than at any other

time during the voyage, but there were several signs

that land was close at hand. A green rush floated past;

and the Pinta saw a cane and a pole, and picked up a

small stick with marks of having been cut. The Nina

reported having seen a small branch with berries on it.

Sunset was at 5.41 p.m., when the course was altered

from W.S.W. to west. Orders were given to keep a very

sharp look-out; and the Pinta, being the best sailer,

went ahead.

At 10 P.M. the Admiral was on the poop of the flag-

ship with other oificers, gazing intently into the dark-

ness, the moon not having yet risen. Suddenly he saw

a light with an uncertain motion, and he called to Pedro
Gutierrez, who also saw it. He asked the overseer,

Rodrigo Sanchez, whether he saw it ; but he did not

make it out, owing to his not being in a position whence
it could be visible. The Admiral saw £he light again

once or twice, like a was taper raised and lowered. He
made certain that land was in sight, but determined to

keep the same course until daylight, under very easy

saO. While the Admiral was conversing with his oflicers

about the light, a seaman on the forecastle, a native of

Lepe. saw it al.so. and cried out, "A light! land! ''
Sal-
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eedo, the Admiral's servant, told him that the Admiral

had seen the light ; and Columbus himself replied that

he had seen the light on shore already, (i)

It had been full moon on the 5th of October. On the

night of the nth the moon rose at 11 p.m., and at 2 A.M.

on the morning of the 1 2th the look-out man on board

the Pinta, whose name was Eodrigo de Triana, reported

land in sight. At that hour the moon was 39° above

the horizon on the 12th of October 1492, and would

have been shining brightly on the sandy shores of an

island some miles ahead—the moon being in its third

quarter, and a little behind the look-out man. The ships

clewed up all the sails, except the courses, and hove-to

until daylight. They then anchored at the eastern end

of the south shore of a moderate-sized island.

Columbus went on shore in an armed boat, with

Eodrigo de Escovedo, the secretary, and Rodrigo Sanchez,

the overseer, followed by Martin Alonzo and Vicente

Yanez Pinzon, the captains of the two other ships.

The Admiral sprang on the beach, bearing the royal

standard of Spain, knelt down and returned thanks,

solemnly taking possession of the land in the name of

the King and Queen. The two captains each carried a

banner with a green cross, and on either side of it the

letters F and Y, surmounted by crowns. A crowd of

natives stood round as spectators, and the Admiral

presented them with caps and strings of beads. After-

wards many of them swam off to the ships with parrots

and skeins of cotton, which they bartered for hawks'

bells and beads. They wore no clothing, and had fine

well-shaped bodies, good faces, and coarse hair like a

horse's mane, cut short. Their only arms were spears

tipped with fish bone, and, seeing some with the marks
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of wounds, the Admiral concluded that parties from the

mainland came to hunt and captui-e them. Xo women

were visible. They had dug out canoes, some very large

and capable of carrying forty or forty-five men, others

LiSIlFAlL OF COLI'MBC?.

Frmn "La lettera delle Uole che ha trovato noramente il lie di Spngna"
(Florence, 1493).

smaller, which they managed very skilfully with a

paddle. The island was a good size (Men grande) and

very level, bright with green trees, with plenty of water,

and a very large lagoon in the centre.
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Thus was the mighty enterprise achieved, mighty in

its conception, still more important in its results.

Columbus believed that he had discovered a new route

to the Indies. He had done infinitely more. He had

discovered another continent, and the consequences of

his discovery would be vast beyond what it was possible

for the greatest genius of the fifteenth century even to

conceive. The probable distance run, between Gomera
and the newly discovered island, was 3105 miles, or an

average of 105 miles a day in thirty-five days, the course

W. 5° S. The longest run was 200 miles, or eight knots

an hour, the average rate four knots. The difference

of latitude between Gomera and the new land was 235

miles, and Columbus noticed that the colour of the skins

of his islanders was the same as that of the natives of

the Canary Islands, which he attributed to their abode

on nearly the same parallels.

The Admiral supposed that he was near the Zipangu

of Toscanelli's chart, and was anxious to continue his

voyage. He determined to remain at anchor until the

afternoon of the second day, and then to steer to the

south-west, for he had seen some small gold ornaments

worn by the islanders, and had understood their signs to

mean that there was a king to the south who possessed

much gold. At dawn on the 14th the boats were sent to

explore the eastern coast of the island by rounding the

south-east point. It was found to trend N.N.E., and the

people came out to the boats swimming and in canoes,

bringing them food and fresh water, and saying that

they had come from heaven. A reef was found to

encircle the island, with perfectly smooth water between

it and the shore. The Admiral, looking for strategic

points, observed a peninsula which could easily be con-
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verted into an island, where a strong fort might be

built.

Returning from this boat expedition, the Admiral got

under weigh the same afternoon and resumed the

voyage, taking with him six of the natives to learn

Spanish and act as guides. The native name of the

island was Guanahanf, with the accent on the last

syllable, as Las Casas informs us. The Admiral gave it

the name of San Salvador. It is identical with the

modern TTatling Island, one of the Bahamas, as I pro-

pose to demonstrate in the next chapter.

On leaving San Salvador the cloud appearances on the

horizon so closely resembled land that Columbus be-

Heved he was in sight of a great number of islands, and

he even hesitated towards which he should shape his

course. The wind was light from the eastward, and

soon carried his ships across to the only real island,

about five to seven leagues distant. He found it to be

five miles long on the side facing San Salvador, and ten

miles * east and west. He sailed along the south side to

the westward until night, and, observing another larger

island to the westward, he clewed up the sails and

anchored off the western point. As he was resolved not

to pass any island without taking possession, he landed

at dawn on the i6th of October, and gave the island the

name of Santa Maria de la Concepcion. It is the Rum
Cay of modem maps. The wind came round to south-east

while he was on shore, so he hurried on board again,

and the squadron was under weigh by lo a.m. Two of

the natives of Guanahani, who had been carried off,

here effected their escape from the Nina by swimming

* Las Casas has leagues, an obTious clerical error.
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to a large canoe. When another native came with skeins

of cotton to barter, the Admiral gave him several pre-

sents and allowed him to depart with his canoe, that

his favourable report might counteract the contrary

accounts of the fugitives.

The island seen from Santa Maria appeared to be very

long, and its northern end bore west about nine leagues.

It was low, and trended north-west and south-east for

about twenty-eight leagues. The Admiral named it Fer-

nandina. Navigating all that day, with calms and light

winds, he succeeded in edging away to the south, and at

dawn on the 1 7th he anchored at its southern end, near

a village. Fernandina is the Long Island of modern

charts. Having taken in water, the Admiral weighed

at noon, with the intention of sailing round Fernandina,

the wind being south. He came off a remarkable har-

bour with two entrances divided by a rocky islet, both

very narrow. Within there was ample room for a

hundred ships if there ha,d been sufficient depth. He
sent the water-casks to be filled, and occupied the time

in strolling among the trees and observing their differ-

ences, how some resembled palms, while many others

were different from any he had ever seen. Shaping a

course north-west, he came to a part of the coast where

it trended more to the west, but here the wind shifted

and blew from north-west. The Admiral therefore aban-

doned his plan of circumnavigating Fernandina, and

sailed south during the night, anchoring again at the

south-east end of the island.

Columbus had been told by the natives of an island

called Samoete to the southward, where there was said

to be much gold. At dawn on the 19th he made sail in

search of it, scattering the ships to make more certain
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of sighting the land. Sailing south-east, he ordered the

Pinta to hold an east, and the NiPia a south-south-east

course until noon, and then to close. After three hours

an island was sighted, and all three ships arrived at its

northern point before noon, where there is a rocky islet

and a reef of rocks outside. The men from Guanahani

called this new island Samoete, and Columbus named it

Isabella. It bore east from Femandina, and is the

modem Crooked Island. The coast trended from the

islet westward for twelve leagues to a promontory named

Cabo Hermoso. Here he anchored, and found the

land to be the most beautiful he had yet seen, while a

delicious scent of flowers was wafted from the shore.

He landed and saw many natives, who brought balls of

cotton and small spears to barter, but he could find no

king, and the gold appeared to be a delusion. Tidings

were received of countries called Cuba and Bohio, and

on October 24th the Admiral weighed, with the inten-

tion of proceeding to Cuba. It came on to blow very

hard with rain, and the squadron was obliged to lie to,

but on the 25th a good run was made with a west-south-

west and west course, until a group of islets was sighted

and named "Las Islas de Arenas." This is now called

Ragged Isles. Here they anchored, and on the 27th

they ran fifty-eight miles south-south-west until land

was sighted. On Sunday, the 28th of October, Columbus

entered the mouth of a fine river where there was safe

anchorage, and gazed upon a land the most lovely his

eyes had ever rested on. It was a river in Cuba, which

he named San Salvador, now known as Puerto Naranjo.

He gave the name of Juana to the island of Cuba, in

honour of the young Prince of Spain.
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(^) Reiuardfor Sighting the Land.

The Queen had intimated her intention of giving a reward
to the man who first sighted land. No one doubted that the
light was on shore, nor was any such doubt expressed for the
next three centuries. This having been universally accepted,

the Admiral himself was undoubtedly the first who saw it. He
pointed it out to Pedro Gutierrez. The story of a sailor from
Lepe having seen it from the forecastle is told by Oviedo, who
adds that Salcedo, the Admiral's servant, told the man at once
that Columbus had already seen it. There was no question

about the look-out man of the Pinta, who reported land four

hours afterwards, because all believed that the light was on
shore. The name of the look-out man is doubtful. It was
reported to the Admiral at the time that his name was Rodrigo
de Triana. Oviedo gives the same name ; but one of the sailors

of the Pinta, named Francisco Garcia Vallejo of Moguer, in a
deposition taken on ist October 1515, speaking from memory
twenty-two years after the event, gave evidence that the look-

out man's name was Juan Rodriguez Bermejo of Molinos. Two
witnesses who were not in the expedition, and who spoke from
hearsay, probably from what they had heard from Vallejo, also

said that the name was Juan Bermejo. Navarrete has sug-

gested (iv. p. 613) that Rodrigo de Triana and Juan Rodriguez

Bennejo of Molinos were one and the same name, Columbus,

as a foreigner, mistaking Rodrigo for Rodriguez, and that he

put Triana because the man was known there, though a native

of Molinos. This conjecture is scarcely admissible, and is dis-

posed of by the fact that both names occur in the list of the

Pinta!s crew. The Admiral, making the entry at the time, was
no doubt right.

When the narrative of the voyage, including these facts

about sighting the land, came before the Queen, she could

have no doubt that her reward belonged to the Admiral. The
appearance in the form of a light kindled her religious enthu-

siasm, for she held it to be a sign of the Gospel's light accom-

panying the ships across the ocean. Under such circum.stances

it would have been verj' difficult and most ungracious for the
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Admiral to have declined her reward, in order that it miglit

be given to a man who had not earned it. It consi^teil

of a pension of io,cx)o maravedis, iecnred on dues from the

shambles at Cordova, and he at once transfeiTed it to Beatrix

Enriqnez. Oviedo says (lib. ii. cap. 5) that the seaman from

Lepe, who saw the light after the Admiral and Gutierrez, was

so disgusted at not receiving the reward that he went over to

Africa and became a renegade. Oviedo got this gossip years

afterwards from Vicente Yanez Pinzon and Heman Perez

^Matheos. The latter was not in the expedition. The stoiy

was probably untrue. If the man became an apostate lus not

getting the reward certainly could not have been the pretext,

for he had no ground whatever for expecting it, and no right

to it. Xavurrete, in referring to Oviedo. assumes that it was
the look-out man of the Pinta, and not the man from Lepe who
saw the light, that turned renegade. And other writers have

followed him. But the words of Oviedo are quite clear :
" Aquel

marinero que dixo primero que veia linnhre en tierra, tornado

despues en E>pana, porque do .se le dieron las albricias, despe-

chado de aquesto, se paso en Africa y renego de la fe.'

A charge of uniaimess has been made against Columbus in

this matter. Such a charge is unfounded and absurd. It is

true that, with our later geographical knowledge, many of us

are now convinced that the light mu.st have been in a canoe

and not on shore. But this does not affect the fact that, at the

time, the light was universally believed to be on the land, and
that the Queen, in that belief, decided with perfect fairness.



CHAPTER V.

THE LANDFALL.

It is an interesting point to ascertain, without doubt,

the landfall of Columbus by the identification of the

island of Guanahani or San Salvador. The materials

for a decision are to be found in the description of the

island, and in the course taken thence to Cuba, which

are given in the full abstract of the journal of Columbus
by Las Casas, as well as in the authoritative maps of the

pilot, Juan de la Cosa, and of Herrera. If the course is

traced back from Cuba with close attention to the words

of the journal, an island will be reached which will

agree with the desciiption, and which must needs be

Guanahani. The maps of La Cosa and Herrera will

afford corroborative testimony. Yet, in spite of these

uneiring guides, the highest authorities have differed on

the subject ; the controversy has extended over a hundred

years, and the landfall has been claimed for at least five

different islands. Discussion has at least cleared the

ground, the disputants have ably exposed each other's

fallacies, and to such an extent that an inquirer is now
able to investigate the question with an assurance of

ascertaining the .-ictual landfall of Columbus.

The journal of Columbus kept during his first voyage

is lost ; but a full abstract, in the handwriting of Las

Casas, was found among the archives of the Duke of
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Infantado in 1791. It is written on parchment in a

small folio volume of seventy-six leaves. It was exa-

mined by the learned Don Juan Bautista Mufioz, the

cosmographer of the Indies, and author of the Historia

del Nuevo Mundo, and was published by Navarrete in

1825.* This is the sole authority for the position

of the landfall, and all arguments must be based

on it.

But some side light is thrown on the question by

early maps with details derived from the great navi-

gator's original charts. jSTo charts under his own hand

have come down to us, but a map drawn by Juan de la

Cosa, the pilot and owner of the Santa Maria, is still

in existence. It was drawn in 1500 by that very able

draughtsman, who was the companion of the Admiral on

his first and second voyages. After having been lost

for centuries, the map of La Cosa was found and identi-

fied by Baron A. von Humboldt in 1832, in the library

of Baron Walchenaer at Paris. At the sale of that

library in 1853 it was bought by the Queen of Spain,

and is now in the Naval Museum at Madrid. It is

drawn on ox hide, 5 feet 9 inches long by 3 feet 2

inches, and is illustrated by a pictiu'e of St. Christopher

bearing the infant Christ across a river, in allusion to

the achievement of Columbus. The Bahama Islands

are shown as discovered in 1492, with one or two addi-

tions derived from information collected afterwards.

On the map of Juan de la Cosa the complete Bahama
group is not shown, Guanahani being the most northern

* The journal of Columbus was translated into English and pub-

lished by Samuel Kettell {Boston, 1827) at the suggestion of Mr.

Tiokaor. It was also translated in part by Admiral Becker, and
published in his "Landfall of Columbus," London, 1856.
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of the outer islands. Samana and Mainana (Mariguana)

appear as islands to the south of, and distinct from,

Guanahani.

In 1600 a more complete and accurate map of the

Bahamas was published by Antonio de Herrera, the

official historian of the Indies. Herrera had access to

every available source of information. He had the

charts drawn by Columbus himself, the map of Juan de

la Cosa, and all the results of subsequent visits to the

group. He was thus able to correct the La Cosa map,

and to add the islands to the north of Guanahani. The

map of Herrera retains the old native names, most of

which have disappeared from modern maps, Guanahani,

Yumay (for Long Island or Fernandina), Someto or

Xumeto, Samana, and Mayaguana, occur both on the

map of Juan de la Cosa and on that of Herrera.

A comparison between the map of Herrera and a

modern chart will show that Herrera gives all the

islands, and that the relative positions are correct.

Consequently it is quite clear that no other island can

be Guanahani (the landfall) which appears on Herrera's

map, where Guanahani also appears. Neither Samana

nor Mayaguana can be themselves and Guanahani at

the same time. It is also clear that the landfall must

be in the same relative position with reference to the

other islands as is given to Guanahani by Herrera.

The shapes of the islands are distorted, but their rela-

tive positions are correct on his map. An inspection

of it shows that Guanahani is the fifth of the outer

islands of the Bahamas, counting from the north.

Then turning to a modern chart, it will be found

that the fifth island is the one now called Watling

Island.
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I r. The third island in sight from the second.

12. Third island eight leagues from the second, bearing west.

13. Trend of the third island N.N.W. and S.S.E., twenty
leagues long.

14. A large shallow harbour on the south-west side of the

third island, with two entrances.

15. Part of the west coast of the third island trending east

and west.

16. The native name of the fourth island must be Samoete.

17. Fourth island not in sight from the third.

18. Fourth island east of the third.

19. A rocky islet at the north end of the fourth island.

20. Fourth island higher than the others.

21. Coast of fourth island makes an angle, and seemed to

form two islands with an islet between them.

22. Twelve leagues from the rocky islet at the north and of

the fourth island to the South Cape.

23. Fourth island fifty-seven miles north-east from the

" Islas de Arena."

24. Cuba in sight after sailing fifty-one miles S.S.W. from
" Islas de Arena.''

Navarrete, Kettell (the translator of the Journal of

Columbus), Mr. G. Gibbs, who had resided some years

on Turks Island, and Mr. Major, in the first edition of

his " Select Letters of Columbus," contend that Turks

Island was the landfall. Turks Island is the tenth of

the outer Bahama Islands on Herrera's map, vrhile

Guanahani is the fifth, so that the authority of Herrera

is against them. This little island is indeed the most

southern of the Bahama group. It is true that it pos-

sesses two of the requirements. It has large lagoons,

and is surrounded by a reef. Navarrete was induced to

fix upon Turks Island because he erroneously assumed

that Columbus always shaped a westerly course in sail-

ing from island to island. He therefore thought tha,t
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Guanahani must be the most easterly of the Bahamas,

in order to make room for sufficient westing in the rest

of the voyage to Cuba. He thought that the second

island was Caicos, the third Inagua Grande, the fourth

Inagua Chica. But the course from Turks Island to

Caicos would be north of west, while the course of

Columbus to the second island was south-west. The

third island of Columbus was in sight from the second.

Inagua Chica is not in sight from Caicos. The third

island of Columbus was sixty miles long. Inagua Chica

is only twelve miles long. The fourth island of Columbus

bore east from the third. Inagua Grande bears south-

west from Inagua Chica. For these reasons Turks Island

cannot be Guanahani.

Washington Irving, Humboldt, De la Roquette in a

voluminous note to his French translation of Xavarrete,

and Jose Maria Asensio, the latest biogropher of Colum^-

bus, maintain that Cat Island (called San Salvador on

some maps of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries)

was the landfall of Columbus. Irving and Humboldt

satisfactorily disprove the theory of Xavarrete, but their

own is still more untenable.

Cat Island is the fourth of the outer Bahama Islands

on Herrera's map. Guanahani is the fifth. The princi-

pal argument rehed upon in support of Cat Island is

that it was named San Salvador on maps of the seven-

teenth century. "Washington Irving says :
" Established

opinions should not be lightly molested. It is a good

old rule that ought to be kept in mind in curious re-

search as well as in territorial dealings. Do not dis-

turb the ancient landmarks.'' But Cat Island is not an

ancient landmark. It was first called San Salvador on

the West India map in Blaeu's Dutch Atlas of 1635
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for no earthly reason but the caprice of the draughtsman.

The same map was published at Leyden by Joannes de

Laet. D'Anville copied in 1746, and so the name got

into some later maps. It represents no tradition, and

has no title whatevei' to be called an ancient landmark.

Cat Island does not meet a single one of the require-

ments of the case. Guanahani had a very large lagoon

in the centre ; Cat Island has none. Guanahani was

low ; Cat Island is the loftiest in the Bahamas. Guana-

hani had a reef round it ; Cat Island has none. The

south part of the east side of Guanahani trended N.N.B.
;

on Cat Island it trends N.N.W., and there is no penin-

sula forming a harbour as on Guanahani. The two

islands could not be more different.

It is suggested by Washington Irving that the numer-

ous islands which Columbus thought he saw when he

sailed from Guanahani were the " Cadena " or chain of

rocks extending northwards from Exuma Island. But

these rocks are not in sight from Cat Island, the nearest

being thirty-six miles away.

Columbus makes his second island south-west twenty-

one milesfrom Guanahani. Irving makes him steer S.S.E.

to Concepcion Cay, which he adopts as the second island

;

but it is much too small, only sf miles long by if wide.

Irving's third island is Exuma, but it is not in sight

from Concepcion Cay, while Columbus says that the

third island was in sight from the second. The fourth

island, according to Irving, is Long Island ; but there is

no navigable route from Exuma to Long Island south

of the north point. From Long Island, Washington

Irving takes Columbus across all the mass of reefs and

rocks awash on the Great Bahama Bank to the Mucarras

Beef, an impossible piece of navigation. He makes the
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Mucarras Eeef to be the Islas de Arena of Columbus.

But Mucarras is only twenty-six miles from the coast of

Cuba, while Columbus sailed fifty-four miles from the

Islas de Arena before he even sighted Cuba. For these

reasons it is impossible that Cat Island can be the

landfall.

Unsatisfied with the theories of Navarrete and Wash-

ington Irving, Don Francisco A. de Varnhagen sought

for a landfall elsewhere. He published his theory in

favour of the island of Mariguana, or Mayaguana, at

Santiago de Chile in 1864.*

Mayaguana cannot be the landfall, because it is shown

with that name both on the maps of Juan de la Cosa

and Herrera, with Guanahani, the real landfall, far to

the north.

The starting-point in the argument of Varnhagen is

that the fourth island of Columbus, which he called

Isabella, and the native name of which was Samoete,

is Crooked Island, because Crooked Island retains the

name of Samoete. On this point he is undoubtedly

correct, and with this true departure he tries to work

back, and he properly identifies Long Island with Fer-

nandina, or the third island of Columbus. But then

he runs off the track of Columbus, who came from the

north. Varnhagen takes him east to Acklin for the

second island, and he chooses Mayaguana for Guana-

hani. This island is twenty-three miles long, east and

west, and from two to six broad. It has no large lagoon

in the centre, and is not surrounded by a reef. A

* La, rei'dada-a Guanahani de Colon. Memoria por Don Francisco

A. de Varnhafjen y impresa en el tomo xxvi. de los anales de Chile

(Enero, 1864), with the text of the Journal of Columbus and map,

pp. 107.
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narrow peninsula forms a shallow harbour, but it is on

the north, not the east coast. The many islands said to

have been seen by Columbus on leaving Guanahani are

proposed by Varnhagen to have been Oaicos, Planas,

and Samana. But none of these are in sight from

Mayaguana. Acklin cannot be the second island, because

the course and distance to it is W.N.W. forty miles,

while the course of Columbus from Guanahani to his

second island was south-west twenty miles. The third

island of Columbus was in sight from his second, but

Long Island is not in sight from AckUn Island. Maya-

guana meets none of the requirements, and therefore

cannot be the landfall.

The most careful and elaborate monograph on the

landfall of Columbus was written by the late Captain

G. V. Fox, Assistant Secretary of the United States

Navy.* He had himself visited the Bahamas, and his

memoir bears evidence of deep and scholarly research.

Captain Fox selected the small islet of Samana, called

also Attwood's Cay, for the landfall of Columbus.

It is impossible that Samana can be Guanahani, be-

cause both appear as separate islands alike on the maps

of Juan de la Cosa and Herrera. Captain Fox tries

hard to escape from the evidence of the maps. He
appeals to map-makers of the seventeenth century and

later, whose evidence is of no value against Juan de la

Cosa and Herrera. He suggests that the Samana on

Herrera's map was an inside island, one of the Crooked

* Report of the Superintendent of the United States Geodetic

Survey, Appendix No. i8. "An Attempt to Solve the Problem of

the First Landing-place of Columbus in the New World," by Captain

G. V. Fox, Assistant Secretary of the Navy, 1861-66 ("Washington,

1882), pp. 346-411. Republished in an epitomised form in the

"Magazine of American History."

G
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Island group, while the present Samana was Guanahani.

But Crooked Island is called Someto by Juan de la Cosa,

Xumeto by Herrera, evidently the same as Samoete,

while Samana appears outside, in its present place.

Then he attempts to identify the rocks east of Samana,

called Triangula on the map of Herrera, with Watling

Island. He has found " Triangulo or Watling " on a

map of 1730 in Charlevoix, by D'Anville, and on

Jeffery's Atlas of 1794. But Triangulo, as the name
implies, means three islets or rocks, not one island like

Watling. It clearly represents the rocks to the east-

ward of Samana.

Samana is 8^ miles long by i^ broad, with no lagoon

in the centre, and the eastern end terminates in a long

point, so that there was no east side to explore. This

is extremely unlike the description of Guanahani by
Columbus. Samana, however, has a reef. Fox makes
Crooked Island the second island of Columbus, and

Long Island the third. But Long Island is not visible

from Crooked Island, while the third island of Columbus
was visible from the second. Approaching the south

end of Long Island from Crooked Island, Columbus

could not see that the former was twenty leagues

long. But he approached the south end of Long
Island from the north. Indeed, none of the require-

ments of the case are met, with Samana as the land-

fall

Watling Island is identified as Guanahani by the

learned Mufloz, by Admiral Becher in his " Landfall of

Columbus," by Professor Oscar Peschel of Augsburg,

by Mr. Major in the second edition of his "Select

Letters of Columbus," by Lieutenant J. B. Murdoch of

the United States Js'avy, and by Don Juan Ignacio de
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Armas in his elaborate article published in El Pais,

a periodical of Havanna, in 1889.

On the map of Hei-rera the fifth outer island of the

Bahama group, counting from the north, is Guanahani.

On a modern chart the fifth outer island, counting from

the north, is Watling Island, which, on the evidence of

Herrera's map, is thus identified as the landfall of

Columbus.

The Bahama Islands, or several of them, received

names from the buccaneers of the seventeenth century,

some of which found their way into our charts. That

of "Watling, no doubt, came from a famous buccaneer of

that name, when the Bahamas were frequented by those

worthies. In 1681 John Watling was elected a leader

of the buccaneers in the Pacific, and he was killed in

the same year, while leading an attack on Arica in Peru.

His connection with the Bahamas must have been at an

earlier period of his career.

Watling Island is in 74° 28' W. longitude, and the

south-east point is in 23° 55' S. It is thirteen miles long

and from five to seven broad, so that it may be called a

pretty good size (" bien grande "), and at the same time

only an "Isleta." Guanahani was flat, so is Watling

Island, except that there is a hill 140 feet high, which

would not, however, be visible from the anchorage of

Columbus. Guanahani had a large lagoon in the centre,

so has Watling Island. Watling Island also has several

smaller lagoons and ponds, " muchas aguas," as Colum-

bus says. But the water is brackish, and Columbus

could not fill up with water until he reached Fernandina,

the third island. Guanahani was surrounded with a

reef; so is Watling Island. The southern part of the

east side of Guanahani trended N.N.E. ; so does the



100 THE LANDFALL.

southern part of the east side of Watling Island. On

this eastern side Guanahani had a narrow spit of land,

like an island, but not one, forming a harbour ; so has

\Vatling Island. There is no requirement in the descrip-

tion of Guanahani or San Salvador which is not fully

met by Watling Island.

The Journal tells us that the Admiral took the boats

to see the side of the island round the east point, where

the coast trended X.X.E. To have done this he must

have started from a point on the south coast to the

westward of the east point. His anchorage must, there-

fore, have been on the south coast of the island, sheltered

from the north-east trade, which was blowing fresh, by

the south-east point. This is Mr. Major's argument,

and it seems conclusive. Mr. Major was thus the first

to indicate with accuracy the first anchorage of Colum-

bus in the New World.

Columbus sailed twenty miles south-west from Guana-

hani to his second island, which he named Santa Maria

de la Concepcion. Rum Cay is twenty miles south-west

from Watling Island. Rum Cay is therefore Santa

Maria de la Concepcion. The third island was in sight

from the second. Long Island is in sight from Rum
Cay, consequently the third island, or Fernandina, must

be Long Island. Admiral Becher and Mr. Major follow

Columbus quite correctly to Rum Cay, but here thev

lose the track through a mistranslation. Columbus

said :
" As I saw another island to the west I clewed

up the sails, having gone all that day until night, for I

could not otherwise have reached the west point, where

I anchored at sunset."* Becher's translation is, "As

* " Y como desta isla vide otra mayor al Oueste, cargue las velas por
andar todo aquel dia hasta la noche, porque aun no pudicre haber
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from the island I saw another to the westward, I made
nail, continuing on until niijlit, for as yet I had not arrived

at the western cape." This interpretation caused great

confusion in Admiral Becher's theory. Instead of re-

maining with sails clewed up at the second island, Colum-

bus is sent westward all night, until he reaches Exuma
Island. Having got him so many miles off his course,

Becher and Major, at the cost of some violent treatment

of the text of the journal, get Columbus back on his

course again at the south end of Long Island, and then

continue on the right route to Cuba.

One of the most recent essays on the landfall of Colum-

bus and on his route through the Bahamas was written

by Lieutenant J. B. Murdoch of the United States Navy,

and was published in 1884.* Lieutenant Murdoch had

the advantage of all the research and argument which

had been devoted to the subject by his predecessors. If

they did not establish their own theories they were quite

successful in confuting those of their opponents. Lieu-

tenant Murdoch made good use of his advantage, and in

tracing out the route he alone has succeeded in meeting

all the requirements of the journal of Columbus.

The method of Lieutenant Murdoch is to trace the

route of Columbus backwards from Cuba. Columbus

left the Islas de Arena at sunrise on the 27th of Octo-

ber, and saw the land of Cuba before nightfall, having

then run seventeen leagues S.S.W. In making this

andado al cabo de Oueste, y cuasi al poner del sol sorgi acerca del

dicho oabo " (Navarrete, i. p. 25).

" Cargue las velas" is a technical expression for clewing up the

sails (Diccionario Maritimo Espanol por Lorenzo, Madrid, 1864).

Becher thought " Cargue las velas" meant " I made sail."

* " Proceedins-s of the Naval Institute," Annapolis, April 1884, pp.

449-486.
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run he was crossing a strong current that sets to the

W.N.W. along the north coast of Cuba. Allowing it an

average strength of two milas an hour, the bearing of

his anchorage at sunrise would have been north-east,

and the distance at sunset fifty-eight miles. The coast

of Cuba was then in sight, and not more than twenty

miles off. This would make the point reached in Cuba

seventy-five miles north-east from the anchorage at sun-

rise. Columbus says that this anchorage was on the

south side of his Islas de Arena, which were seven or

eight islets extending north and south, while the water

was shallow for five or six leagues on the southern side

of the islands. The Ragged Island chain answers to

this description, and is seventy-five miles from the Cuban

coast. This places Columbus at anchor south of the

Eagged Island chain, which he named Islas de Arena,

on the morning of the 27th of October.

The course from Isabella, the fourth island, to Islas

de Arena is stated to have been "W.S.W., and the dis-

tance from Cape Verde, the southern end of Long

Island, to the point at which the Islas de Arena were

sighted, was fifty-sis miles W. 1 S. The distance of the

islands, when first seen, is given as five leagues. The

position at sunset on the 24th was, therefore, about

sixty-five miles E. ^ X. from Isabella. This position

would be south-east from Cape Verde, and "W.S.W.

from the rocky islet at the northern end of Isabella.

These bearings point to Long Island as the second island,

or Femandina, and to Bird Exxjk at the north end of

Crooked Island as the rocky islet at the north end of

Isabella. Crooked and Fortune Islands are thus identi-

fied as the Isabella of Columbus and the Samoete of the

natives.
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Long Island meets all the requirements of Fernandina.

It trends N.N.W. and S.S.E., and is twenty leagues

long. It has a shallow harbour on the east coast, called

Clarence Harbour, with two entrances, and part of its

east coast trends nearly east and west.

Both the fourth island, Isabella, and the second island,

Santa Maria de la Concepcion, are described as being

some leagues east of Ferna,ndina, Isabella being east

of its southern, and Santa Maria of its northern end.

Isabella has been shown to be Crooked Island, which

is some leagues east of the south end of Long Island.

Rum Cay must, therefore, be Santa Maria de la Concep-

cion, which is some leagues east of the northern end of

Long Island.

The second island of Columbus is said to be five

leagues (a misprint for miles) long north and south,

and ten leagues (miles) east and west.* Rum Cay is

Jive miles by ten miles. Columbus teUs us twice that

the third island was in sight from the second. Long

island is in sight from Rum Cay. This is not the case,

as regards the second and third islands, in any of the

other theories.

Santa Maria de la Concepcion was twenty-one miles

south-east from San Salvador. Rum Cay is twenty-one

miles south-east from the anchorage at the south-east

point of Watling Island, which is thus identified as the

San Salvador of Columbus, or Guanahani.

The landfall is thus found by tracing the route of

Columbus backwards from Cuba, and we are conducted

* The same error in putting leagues for miles occurs in the journal

on December 21, 1492. Columbus was at the bay of Acul on the

north side of Hayti. The statement is. there made—"the distance

from the entrance to the l)ottom is about Ato leagues." It is really

about five miles.
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to Watling Island, which resembles the description given

of Guanahani by Columbus in every particular, and

answers the requirement for Guanahani on the map of

Herrera.

WatHng Island is proved to be Guanahani, and is the

true departure from which alone the requirements of

the journal of Columbus are fully complied with. On
leaving San Salvador (Guanahani), Columbus sailed south-

west seven leagues to the second island. This course

and distance brought him to Rum Cay. As it was dark

before the island was reached, he stood off and on, and

was carried some distance by the current. It took him

all next day to reach the west point of Rum Cay, where

he clewed up his sails and anchored at sunset. The

third island of Columbus was in sight from the seeond.

Long Island is in sight from Rum Cay. The course

steered after leaving the second island is not precisely

mentioned, but it is clearly indicated. He had heard

of an island called Samoete where there was gold, and

that it was some distance to the south. He therefore

shaped a southerly course (" tocaba de sur "), making as

much southing as light variable winds would permit.

He sailed down the east side of Long Island during all

the afternoon of the i6th, and all night. This is quite

clear, as he could not otherwise have ascertained that it

was twenty leagues in length, which is correct. On the

morning of the 17th he anchored about two leagues

south of Clarence Harbour. Ijong Island is therefore

Pemandina, the third island of Columbus. The Admiral

weighed at noon on the 1 7th, and as there was a foul

wind for Samoete, he went north for two leagues to

Clarence Harbour, which he describes correctly as a
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shallow harbour with two entrances. Later in the

afternoon he examined the part of Long Island coast

beyond Clarence Harbour, which trends east and west

for a few miles. The wind then veered to the north,

and he steered E.S.B. and south-east during the night,

anchoring at Cape Verde, the south point of Long
Island, on the morning of the i8th.

On the igth Columbus steered easterly in search of

Samoete, there being no land in sight. The ships made
the land at about noon at a rocky islet oil the northern

extremity. The Admiral describes it so accurately as to

leave no doubt that his rocky islet is Bird Island, off

Crooked Island. The Cabo Hermoso of Columbus is

the present Fortune Hill. The remark of the Admiral

that Cabo Hermoso appeared to be on a separate island

from Samoete, with another small island between, ex-

actly coincides with the modern chart. The fourth

island of Columbus, or Isabella, is identified with Crooked

and Fortune Islands. Islas de Arena are identified with

the Ragged Group by the bearings and distances from

Cuba as well as from Crooked Island.

It will be seen that the evidence for Watling Island

having been the landfall of Columbus is overwhelming.

It answers to every requirement and every test, whether

based on the Admiral's description of the island itself,

on the courses and distances thence to Cuba, or on the

evidence of early maps. Out of the twenty-four require-

ments taken from the Journal of Columbus, Watling

Island fully complies with all, Turks Island complies

with two—the lagoon and the reef, Samana with one

—the reef, Mayaguana with none, Cat Island (wrongly

called San Salvador) with none.
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The question of the first landfall of Columbus in the

New World is so interesting that a full discussion of

the various theories respecting it is worth the needful

attention. For we are able to reach a final and satis-

factory conclusion, and our time is not therefore wasted.
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OOtJKSE OF COLUMBUS FROM GUAXAHANI TO CUBA.

We have the satisfaction of being able to look back on

that momentous event in the world's history with the

certainty that we know the exact spot. When the great

discoverer sprang from the boat, with the standard wav-

ing over his head, it was the shore at the .south-east
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CHAPTER VI.

DISCOVERY OF THE NEW WORLD.

Ox Sunday, the 28tli of October, the Admiral entered a

river of Cuba, where there was good anchorage, clear of

all dangers. It was a land of enchantment. The shores

were lined with beautiful trees, with flowers and fruit,

and all different from anything they had ever seen be-

fore, while birds of all kinds sang sweetly among the

branches. Columbus observed a great number of palm-

trees, which were different from those he had seen on

the coast of Guinea. The leaves were very large, and

were used for thatching the houses, two of which were

visited by the Admiral. The inhabitants fled, and he

allowed nothing to be taken away. There were fishing

nets and lines and various ornaments. Proceeding up

the river in his boat, he was enchanted with the beauty

of the scenery. The interior appeared to contain high

mountains, and he compared it to Sicily. The vessels

were anchored under a height which reminded the Ad-

miral of the " Pena de los Enamorados," near Granada.

He described it as two hills, and on the summit of one

there was a rock, which looked like a mosque at a dis-

tance. The depth of the river at its mouth was twelve

hra::as, and it was wide enough for a vessel to beat out.

Puerto Naranjo is the only port on this part of the

coast of Cuba which answers to the description. It
ins
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has a depth of twelve fathoms at the entrance, is wide

enough for a small vessel to beat out under sail, and

there are two hills rising from the shore, one of which

is called " Loma del Templo," because another rock rises

up on its summit. Puerto Naranjo is then the first

anchorage of Columbus on the coast of Cuba, to which

he gave the name of San Salvador.

On the 29th the expedition weighed, and proceeded

along the coast to the westward, passing the mouth of a

river which was named " Rio de la Luna." The Admiral

understood from the Guanahani guides that there was a

city ruled over by a king to the westward, and he judged,

from the description in the letter of Toscanelli, that he

was approaching the dominions of the Grand Khan.

Sailing westward the Admiral came to the largest

river he had yet seen, which he named " Rio de Mares."

Here he communicated with the land, and found it to

be fertile and well wooded. Houses of considerable size

were scattered about, which contained small birds kept

as pets, and many figures carved in wood. After pro-

ceeding on the same course for fifteen leagues, Columbus

named a point of land covered with palm-trees the " Cabo

de Palmas." At this juncture Pinzon reported that the

Guanahani guide on board the Pinta was understood to

say that there was a river beyond the point, and thence

to the city called Cuba was four days' journey; also that

the king of that city was at war with another king

named Garni, whose city was called Para. Pinzon fur-

ther suggested that Cami was really the Grand Khan

mentioned in the letter of Toscanelli. The squadron

beat up against a foul wind for some time, but on

the ist of November the Admiral returned to " Rio de

Mares."
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Two of the observations for latitude, taken by Colum-

bus with, his quadrant, are recorded by Las Casas in his

abstract on the 30th of October and the 2nd of Novem-

ber. Las Casas gives the result at 42° N. ; but he adds

that there must have been an error in copying from the

original manuscript. For the latitude found by Colum-

bus must have been about 22° N. Navarrete offers a

strange and quite inadmissible explanation of the mis-

take. He says that the quadrants of those days mea-

sured the altitude double, and that therefore the latitude

came out double. The quadrants of those days certainly

did nothing of the kind, and if they had made the alti-

tude double the resulting latitude would not have been

double. The explanation is much more simple. The

clerk who copied the document mistook 2 for 4.

When the people got accustomed to the ships, and

found that one of their number had been on board and

had returned without hurt, several canoes came round

the Santa Maria with balls and skeins of cotton. The

Admiral ordered them to be given to understand that

what he sought was gold, the word for which was thought

to be nucay in their language. He believed that he was

now about a hundred leagues from the cities of Zaiton

and Quinsay, mentioned in the letter of ToscanellL He
resolved to send an embassy to the city called Cuba to

gather more intelligence from the king respecting the

dominions of the Grand Khan. According to Las Casas

the name given to Martin Pinzon was not that of a city,

but of a province called Cubanacan, near the centre of

the island, which was rich in gold mines. Nacan is a

word in the language of the islanders meaning the middle,

and Guha is territory or province— "the central pro-

vince." The Admiral selected for the duty of attempting
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to reach the supposed city a seaman named Rodrigo de

Jerez, a native of Ayamonte, who had been on the coast

of Guinea, together with a converted Jew named Luis

de Torres, who had been a servant of the Governor of

Murcia, and could speak Arabic and other Eastern

tongues. They were to be absent for six days. They

were accompanied by two Indians, one of whom had

been brought from Guanahani, and the other was a

native of Rio de Mares.

The anchorage was in a large basin formed by the

mouth of the river, with deep water and a good beach

clear of rocks and stones. The Admiral therefore took

this opportunity for careening his ships and cleaning

their bottoms, heaving them down one at a time so as

to guard against treachery. But the people were very

gentle and friendly, and numberless questions were asked

them respecting the country and its products, the exist-

ence of spices, and the locality of gold mines. Their

answers were very imperfectly understood, as there had

been no time to acquire any knowledge of the language
;

and the stories about men with one eye, and others with

dogs' noses were, no doubt, the imaginative interpreta-

tions of unintelligible signs.

On the 6th of N"ovember the envoys returned, and

reported that they had marched twelve leagues and had

reached a place where there were fifty houses and about

a thousand inhabitants, for a large number lived in one

house. The Spaniards were received with great cere-

mony, and were very hospitably treated. They saw many

people on the road, and observed that the men always

had a half-burnt roll of leaves in their mouths which they

smoked. These rolls were made of the dried leaves of a

certain plant. They lighted it at one end, and drew the
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smoke into their mouths at the other, which caused a

drowsy feeling, and prevented the smoker from becoming

fatigued. They called these rolls of dried leaves tabacos.

This was the first occasion on which Eiu'opeans became

acquainted with the fragrant weed. We are not told

whether Eodrigo de Jerez and the converted Jew tried

an experiment and smoked cigars themselves, or whether

the habit was not acquired by Europeans until after-

wards. But the discovery of tobacco was one of the

direct results of the first voya^re of Columbus.

From his own observations, as well as from the

reports of the envoys, the Admiral came to the conclu-

sion that the land was exceedingly fertile, producing a

great number of fruits and vegetables previously un-

known, and that the people were innocent and well

disposed, and ready to be converted to Christianity.

They wore no clothing of any kind, but had great quan-

tities of cotton, and slept in nets suspended from the

trees called liamaeas.

On the 12th of November the Admiral sailed from

Rio de Mares to find an island where he understood

there was much gold, called Babeque, to reach which the

course was supposed to be E.S.E.

In reporting on the products of Cuba, Columbus

mentions a quantity of mastiche at the Rio de Mares,

the trees being like those described by Pliny. The

Admiral had seen them in the island of Chios, hitherto

the only source of supply, where they yielded, if bis

memory did not mislead him, a sum of 50,000 ducats at

9s. 2d. He was probably correct, for in the next century

the value of the mastiche exported from Chios was

30,000 ducats. The resin ducts are in the bark of the

stems and branches, and Columbus caused many trees
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to be tapped in Cuba to ascei'tain whether they exuded

in the same way as at Chios. This is one out of many
examples of the closeness with which the great dis-

coverer observed all natural objects which surrounded

him in his new discovery, of his attention to details, and

of the readiness with which he brought the knowledge

he had acquired in his numerous voyages to bear on the

matter before him. It was at Rio de Mares that the

Admiral detained six Indian youths on board with the

object of taking them home with him, teaching them
the Spanish language, and instructing them in the

Christian faith. After working to the eastward for

two days against light winds, the exploring squadron

approached the western end of Cuba, having passed a

great number of islands covered with trees. On the

17th two of the captive youths made their escape. The

foul wind obliged the Admiral to keep his ships on a

bowline, and to make long stretches to the northward, in

order to gain any headway to the east. At this time

Martin Pinzon, being on board the Pinta, and being

able to outsail the Admiral, parted company in order

to visit the island yielding gold, of which his native

guides had told him, thus basely deserting his com-

rades.

The Santa Maria bore up and anchored in a harbour

which was named Santa Catalina, now called Cayo

Moa, near the east end of Cuba. Here the trees grew

straight and to a great height, which enabled the Nina

to be supplied with a new mizen-mast. The Admiral

reported the country to be exceedingly beautiful, with

rich vegetation and abundant supplies of pure and

excellent water. On the 5 th of December he reached

Punta de Maise, the eastern extremity of Cuba, and
H
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standing across the channel, the explorers soon sighted

the high land of Haiti.

The iVi/7a was sent ahead, and anchored in the harbour

of St. Nicholas Mole, at the north-western extremity of

Haiti. The mountains in the background were lofty

and rugged, but the intervening land seemed to be less

thickly wooded than in Cuba ; small clumps and single

trees were scattered over the green open slopes, and it

reminded them more of their own homes than any land

they had yet seen. The Santa Maria followed the

Nina, but it was late next day before she came to an

anchor. The present harbour of St. !JNicholas Mole at

first received the name of Puerto Maria from Columbus,

which he changed to St. Xicholas. Points of land to

the east were named " Cabo del Estrella," " Cabo del

Elefante," and " Cabo del Cinquin ;
" and the island off

the north coast received the name of Tortuga. All the

natives concealed themselves, so the Admiral left St.

Nicholas on the 7th of December, and encountering a

northerly gale, be took refuge in a bay sheltered by the

island of Tortuga, which he named " Puerto de la Con-

cepcion." Here the open plains still more reminded

them of home, and the island received the name of

Espanola. At this place some Spaniards, who were

taking a stroll on shore, ran down a native girl after a

long chase and brought her on board. The Admiral

caused her to be treated with kindness, loaded with

presents, and returned to her people. In this way
communication was established with the Indians, and
they soon took courage to surround the ship with their

canoes and come on board.

The two little vessels had moved to a port a short

distance to the eastward, and in consequence of the
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friendly intercourse with the people, the Admiral named

it Puerto de la Paz. He was delighted alike with the

beauty of the scenery and with the innocence and gentle-

ness of the natives. The i8th of December was the

Annunciation, and was celebrated by a salute from the

lombards and a display of flags. At dinner-time the

chief of that part of the island came on board with

many attendants, and seated himself at the table under

the poop where the Admiral was dining. He received

several presents, and departed with demonstrations of

pleasure and friendship. It was found that the name

for a chief or king, in the native language, was cacique.

In an anchorage, now called " Bahia de Acul," a little

further to the east, the natives came in crowds and

presented provisions of all kinds, treating their visitors

with the greatest frankness and cordiality. Columbus

was filled with joy and delight at his new discoveries.

He exclaimed, " I had navigated the sea for twenty-

three years, and had seen all the east and west, and

from England in the north to Guinea in the south, but

in all those parts I had never found so perfect a land as

this, nor such harbours."

Understanding from the natives that there was much

gold on islands to the eastward, the Admiral continued

to shape a course in that direction, and on the 22nd a

large canoe came alongside with an invitation from a

chief named Guacanagari to visit his country. The

ships were soon surrounded by 120 canoes, all loaded

with bread, fish, and fresh water in earthen jars, and

over 500 natives swam off, although the ships were

nearly a league from the shore. The Admiral was in-

formed that there was a great quantity of gold at a

place called Cibao, which he mistook for Cipango.
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Proceeding with little wind on December the 24th

from the harbour of Santo Tomas, or Acul, towards

Punta Santa, the Admiral kept a look out on deck until

1 1 o'clock in the first watch. He had had no sleep for

two days and a night, so he went below, leaving the

deck in charge of the man at the helm. As it was quite

calm the man intrusted the tiller to a boy and went to

sleep, a proceeding which the Admiral had strictly for-

bidden throughout the voyage, whether it was calm or

not. The orders were that the helm was not to be

intrusted to the boys on any pretence whatever. A
current carried the Santa Jilaria on to a sandbank at

about two in the morning, and she touched so lightly

that it was scarcely perceptible. The boy felt the rud-

der touch and heard the rush of the sea along the ship's

side. He cried out, and the Admiral was on deck in a

moment. Columbus had piloted the ship past many
dangers from rocks and sandbanks during the previous

daj-s and nights, and if he had not been fairly worn out

with fatigue and want of sleep the disaster would not

have happened. The current continued to force the

.ship further on to the bank, and she gradually heeled

over. She became deeply imbedded in the sand. It

was the master's watch and he ought to have been on

deck. When he came up the Admiral ordered him to

lay out an anchor to haul the ship off. The boat was

launched over the stern, and the master and others got

into her. Columbus thought they were going to obey

his orders, instead of which they pulled off to the NiPia,

which was half a league away. They were not allowed

on board, and came back ; but meanwhile the oppor-

tunity was lost. The Admiral tried every other plan.

Masts were cut away and the ship was lightened, but all
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was of no avail. If the anchor had been laid out ac-

cording to the Admiral's orders, the ship would probably

have been saved. Diego de Arana and Pedro Gutierrez

were sent to the chief, Guacanagari, whose settlement

was a few miles distant, to ask for help. Large canoes

were immediately despatched, which assisted in landing

the stores and provisions and everything of value during

the following day. The warm-hearted chief placed two

large houses at the Admiral's disposal, and was anxious

to assist him in every way in his power. It was clear

that the little Nina could not possibly take the crew of

the Santa Maria as well as her own across the Atlantic,

and the necessity for forming a settlement became ap-

parent. The Admiral resolved to build a fort, store it

with a year's provisions, and leave in it some artificers

and as many of the men as desired to stay, with the

ship's boat. As the wreck took place on Christmas Day,

the fort was to be called "La Navidad." Guacanagari

promised that plenty of gold should be brought from

Cibao, and that more should be collected .during the

Admiral's absence and given to the Spaniards in the

fort.

Columbus wrote of the chief and his people with warm
gratitude. "He and all his people wept for us. They

are a loving race and without covetousness, well disposed

in all things ; and I assure your Highnesses that I do

not believe there is a better people or a better land in

the world. They love their neighbours as themselves,

and their conversation is gentle and kindly and always

cheerful. They go as naked as they were born, both

men and women, yet they have very good customs.

Their chief keeps marvellous state, and has a manner so

composed that it is pleasant to see it. They have good
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memories, like to see everything, and inquire what each

article is, and for what it is used." Columbus under-

stood that the province was called Caribata, and that

the native name of the island, which he had called

Espanola, was Bohio. According to Las Casas, the name

of the province was Marien.

On the 26th Guacanagari visited the Admiral on board

the Nina, and afterwards entertained him at dinner on

shore with cassava bread, yams, game, and other viands.

The meal was not hurried ; and Columbus was surprised at

the cleanHness and good manners of the chief while at

table, and at the way in which he carefully wiped his

hands afterwards with certain herbs. They exchanged

many presents, and the native chief proved himself to

be a true and faithful friend. He ruled over a happy

and contented people, and the only drawbacks to their

existence were the attacks of a cruel race of savages

called Caribas. The Admiral promised that the sove-

reigns of Spain would order him to subdue and punish

these invaders.

The fort of Navidad was completed, and it was arranged

that forty-four souls should remain behind—thirty-four

belonging to the Santa Maria, and ten to the Nina.

Diego de Arana, the cousin of the Admiral's wife, Beatriz

Enriquez, and his steadfast friend, was to be Governor

;

with Rodrigo de Escobedo, the secretary, and Diego

Gutierrez, as his lieutenants. They were introduced to

the cacique Guacanagari, who undertook to supply all

their wants. All the articles for barter were left with

them, biscuits to last for a year, wine, ammunition, and

the ship's boat. Among those who remained at Navidad

were the Englishman Alard (Tallarte de Lajes), and the

Irishman from Galway.
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The Admiral, master, pilot, and fifteen of the crew of

the Santa Maria, returned home in the Nina. Out of

her own crew of eighteen ten remained at Navidad, so

that twenty-six people were crowded on board this little

caravel of forty tons, besides several natives. Columbus

bade farewell to those who remained behind, strongly

enjoining friendly treatment of the natives, and the pre-

servation of discipline, and promising to return in the

following year. Guacanagari parted with the Admiral

most unwillingly.

The Nina sailed on the 4th of January 1493, and pro-

ceeded along the coast to the eastward, giving the name of

" Monte Cristi " to a high mountain on the coast having

the form of a tent; and a point twenty-four miles further

east was named " Cabo del Becerro. " There were beautiful

undulating plains along the coast, and behind the ranges

of mountains rose one above the other into the clouds. In

the afternoon of the 6th the mast-head man, who was

keeping a sharp look-out for rocks, reported the Pinta

coming down to them, with the wind aft, and all sail set.

The Admiral returned to Monte Cristi with the Pinta in

company, and anchored. Martin Alonzo Pinzon then

came on board the Niiia to pay his respects. He excused

his desertion by saying that it was caused by reasons

over which he had no control, and that it was not inten-

tional. The Admiral was not deceived. He knew that

Pinzon had parted company in order to obtain the gold

of which he had heard, and then return home first. He
had utterly failed, and now came back to his chief, who

could no longer trust him. But for the good of the

expedition Columbus refrained from fully expressing his

thoughts. On the 7th the men were sent on shore for

wood and water, and the vessels were caulked and refitted.
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The Pinta and Nina, once more in company, weighed

from Monte Oristi on the 9th of January ; and, when

sailing eastward, three syrens or mermaids were seen,

which rose well out of the sea, but the Admiral remarked

that they were not so beautiful as they are described,

though in other respects they had a human form. He
added that he had seen others on the coast of Manegueta,

in Guinea. The syrens of Columbus are the dugongs

which are found on the west coast of Africa ; but their

cogeners, the manatis, though still met with in the great

South Amei'ican rivers, have disappeared from the sea

that surrounds Espanola. Their resemblance to human

beings, when rising in the water, must have been very

striking. They have small rounded heads, and cervical

vertebrae which form a neck, enabling the animal to

turn its head about. The fore-limbs also, instead of

being pectoral fins, have the character of the arm and

hand of the higher mammalia. These peculiarities, and

their very human way of suckling their young, holding

it by the fore-arm, which is movable at the elbow-joint,

suggested the idea of mermaids or syrens.*

Still sailing eastward they reached the mouth of a

river to which the Admiral gave the name of " Rio de

Gracia," where the Pinta had already been, while sepa-

rated from her consorts, Pinzon hoping to collect gold.

He had seized four men and two girls from among the

natives by force ; but the Admiral ordered them to be

clothed, released, and sent back to their homes. He
had himself caused some natives to be taken, because he

considered it to be necessary for the King's service, but

* See supplementary note on the dugong, by Mr. Delmar Morgan,
in the "Voyage of Leguat," edited by Captain P. OUver (Hakluyt
Society, 1891, ii. p. 379).
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he would not allow this to be done indiscriminately and

without urgent cause. Leaving this anchorage at mid-

night on the I ith they passed a high mountain, and as

its summit was hidden by fleecy clouds, the Admiral

named it " Monte de Plata." It was here that a monas-

tery of Dominicans was afterwards built, in which Las

Casas began to write his " History of the Indies," in

the year 1527.* Columbus had now resolved to make

the best of his way back to Spain, to report the unpre-

cedented results of his memorable expedition.

On the 12th they were saihng along the north coast

of the peninsula of Samana, at the eastern end of

Espanola. Reaching the eastern point, it received the

name of " Cabo del Enamorado," while a loftier and

grander headland beyond reminded the Admiral of Cape

St. Vincent in Portugal. Between them there was a

magnificent bay, the Gulf of Samana, where the Ad-

miral, who carefully studied all the prognostications of

the almanacs, prudently anchored his two little vessels.

An eclipse of the sun was expected on the 17th, and the

opposition of Jupiter with the conjunction of Mercury

was believed in the old world to betoken heavy gales.

With such small vessels he thought it well to be cautious,

and to remain in port until these planetary movements

and their supposed consequences had passed away.

Sending a boat on shore, commimication was opened

with a very different people to those that had hitherto

been encountered. The men at Samana were armed

with bows and arrows, their faces stained black, and

their hair adorned with parrots' feathers. The Admiral

judged them to be the Caribs of whom he had heard,

who harassed and plundered the more peaceful race of

* Las Casas, iv. p. 254.
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islanders, and were said to be eaters of human flesh.

One of these Caribs came on board, and told the Admiral

that there was much tuoh, which was supposed to mean

gold, in islands to the eastward, called Matinino and

Goanin, but the man was very imperfectly understood.

Las Casas says that there were never any Caribs in

Espanola. A boat's crew went on shore afterwards to

barter, and, owing to some misunderstanding, there was

a collision, resulting in the wounding of two natives and

the flight of the rest. When the boat came off the Ad-

miral said that it was well that these people should know

the power of the white men, still the collision caused

him some anxiety, lest it should give rise to a feeling

of hostility against the settlers at Navidad. Next day

some chiefs came on board, and received presents from

the Admiral.

Both the caravels had been very indifferently caulked

at Palos, and were making much water. The Admiral

therefore abandoned his intention of discovering the

islands to the south-east, and resolved, in accordance

with the wishes of his people, to shape a direct course

for Spain. He calculated this course to be N.E. \ E.,

and weighing on the i6th of January he proceeded in

that direction, continuing on the same course day after

day. The Pinta now delayed the Nina owing to her

mizen-mast being sprung, and it was said that if Martin

Pinzon had been as diligent in getting himself a new
mizen-mast as he had been in his insubordinate and

useless search after gold, they would have made a better

passage home. The temperature soon became cooler,

and in the fine weather they succeeded in catching some

fish, including an enormous shark. These additions to

the larder were important, for the ordinary provisions
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were reduced to biscuits and wine. On the 3rd of

February the Admiral observed that the pole star was

as high in the heavens as it is at Cape St. Vincent, but

owing to the motion caused by the waves he could not

take an altitude either with his quadrant or astrolabe.

On the 7th the reckoning of the Admiral made them

seventy-five leagues south of the island of Flores, those

of the pilots being much further to the north and east.

On the 1 2th the wind rose to a gale, with a heavy sea,

and if the little caravel had not been very carefully

repaired, throvigh the Admiral's diligence, when on the

coast of Espanola, she would probably have been lost.

Next day there was a fearful sea, and the Nina lay to

under bare poles until evening, when she began to run

before it, showing the smallest rag of a sail. On the

14th the wind increased in violence, there was a terrific

sea, and the frail boat was in great danger. Columbus

ordered that lots should be prepared, consisting of beans

shaken up in a cap, on one of which a cross was cut.

All were to draw, and he who got the crossed bean was

to vow a pilgrimage to Santa Maria de Guadaloupe, and

to present a wax candle of five pounds weight to her

shrine. Columbus himself was the first, and he drew

the bean with a cross. They drew again for a pilgrim

-

a.ge to Santa Maria de Loreto, near Ancona in Italy,

and the lot fell on a sailor of the port of Santa Maria,

near Cadiz, named Pedro de Villa. The Admiral

promised to provide money for his journey if they were

spared. Next they drew lots for who should watch

for a night and have a mass said in the church of Santa

Clara at Moguer. The lot again fell on the Admiral.

Then the Admiral and all the crew made a joint vow

that, at the first place where they landed, they would all
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march in procession, in their shirts, to offer up thanks-

giving prayers in a church under the invocation of our

Lady.

They had given themselves up for lost. Owing to the

provisions being nearly consumed, the boat was very

crank; but the Admiral obviated this danger to some

extent by causing the empty casks to be filled with salt

water so as to serve as ballast, and he paid the closest

attention to the helm. Still every moment seemed

likely to be their last. Those who have seen a gale of

wind with a heavy sea in the latitude of the Azores,

can imagine the critical position of a leaky little boat

of forty tons like the Nina rising on the top of a huge

Atlantic wave, then plunging into the trough, with the

mountainous billows foaming around higher than her

mast-head, then rising and plunging down again, the

slightest inattention to the helm making destruction

certain, while green seas washed over her fore and aft.

Columbus was filled with anxiety lest his great work

should perish with him. The violent motion of the little

vessel rendered it almost impossible to write, but he

took a piece of parchment and noted down a brief ac-

count of his discoveries, earnestly praying that any

one who found it would take it to the sovereigns of

Spain. He wrapped the parchment in a waxed cloth,

fastening it well, and headed the packet up in an empty

cask. Xo one knew what was inside the cloth. All

believed that their leader was performing some religious

vow or act of devotion, which they did not understand.

The cask was then thrown overboard. Columbus passed

some time during the fury of the gale communing with

his God, who had beforetime saved him in so many
perils, and had allowed his loftiest aspiration to be ivl-
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filled. He strove to persuade himself that it was the

Lord's will that he should be saved, believing that, in

this great achievement of his life, he was an instrument

in the hands of God. Still his heart sank within him

when he reflected on the extreme danger of his position.

He thought with anguish of his two little boys at school

in Cordova, who would be left fatherless. But as he

prayed hope prevailed over despondency, and when the

wind changed to the west during the night he allowed

himself to regain confidence in his destiny.

On the 15th of February the gale abated, but the sea

still ran very high, and towards sunset land was sighted

on the horizon. The pilots believed it to be the coast of

Spain ; but Columbus knew, from his careful reckoning,

that it was one of the Azores, At sunset it was obscured

by mist, but they hoped to reach it the next day. That

night the Admiral, who had been on deck and without

sleep since the 13th, took a little rest. He was suffer-

ing a good deal from his legs, which had been so long

exposed to cold and wet, and from want of food, in

common with the rest of the crew. On the i8th the

Nina was anchored, and a boat being sent on shore, it

was found that they had reached the island of Santa

Maria, the most easterly of the Azores. The governor,

who was named Juan de Castafieda, sent a friendly

message to the Admiral, with a present of fresh provi-

sions. Trusting implicitly in his good faith, the Admiral

arranged that half the crew should go on shore, to per-

form their vow of marching in procession, in their shirts,

to a chapel of our Lady. On their return he intended

to go himself with the other half. But while the first

half was engaged in prayer at a small chapel on shore,

they were treacherously surrounded by an armed body
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of Portuguese and taken prisoners. As the Admiral

could not see the chapel from the point where the Nina

was at anchor, he got under \Yeigh when he found that

the boat did not return, and came opposite to the chapeL

Then he saw his people surrounded, and armed men

coming off in a boat to attack him. The governor was

in the boat, but he would not come on board. Columbus

told him who he was, that he held a commission from

the sovereigns of Spain as their Admiral and Viceroy,

that they were at peace with the Kin;; of Portugal, that

the seizure of his people would not prevent him from

proceeding on his voyage to Spain, and that the gover-

nor would surely be punished for his misconduct.

Castaneda insolently replied that they were Portuguese,

and knew nothing of the sovereigns of Spain or their

commissions. The weather was very threatening, and

Columbus decided upon seeking better shelter at St.

ilichael's. He put to sea, but was imable to fetch St.

Michael's, and returned to his former anchorage in the

evening. Then some Portuguese came on board, includ-

ing two priests. They were shown the royal commis-

sions, and eventually the Admiral's people were released,

and allowed to come on board. On the 24th the Niiia

departed from this inhospitable island, and, after encoun-

tering very severe weather, she reached the Tagus on

the 4th of March, and anchored at the entrance, off the

village of Eastelo. A large Portuguese man-of-war was

there, and the captain, named Bartolome Diaz, went on

board the Nina in an armed boat, and demanded that

the Admiral should come with him and give an account

of himself. The Admiral replied that he was the officer

of the sovereigns of CastiUe, that he would give no

accoimt of himself, and that he would not leave his ship
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except by force. Diaz then said that he might send the

master of the Nina, but Columbus refused to allow either

the master or any one on board to leave his ship in

obedience to a Portuguese order. Diaz then moderated

his tone, requested to be allowed to see the Admiral's

commission, and offered any help in his power. Crowds

of visitors came from Lisbon to see the ship during the

two following days, and on the 8th Don Martin de

Noronha arri\'ed with an invitation from the Kinsr of

Portugal. Columbus proceeded to the Valle del Paraiso,

nine leagues from Lisbon, where the court then was,

and had an interview with Joao II., who received him
very courteously. He was the guest of the Prior of

Crato, and remained at court until the 12th, when he

took leave of the King, and returned on board the NiFia.

On the 13th the Admiral got under weigh, and left the

Tagus. He rounded Cape St. Vincent before sunset on

the 14th, and at sunrise on the isth of March he was

off the bar of Saltes. At noon he reached the port of

Palos, from which he had sailed on the 3rd of August in

the previous year, having been absent seven months and

twelve days. The Pinta had made the port of Bayona,

on the west coast of Galioia, after the gale abated, and

proceeded thence to Palos, where she arrived on the

same day as the Nina. Martin Alonzo Pinzon is said

to have died a few weeks after he landed.

The Niiia must have been seen off the bar of Saltes

for some hours before she anchored in the river. All

the inhabitants were on the bank to receive the great

discoverer when he landed. We may be sure that in

front of the crowd were his constant friends from La

Eabida, Juan Perez and Alonzo de Marchena. Amidst

the ringing of bells, salutes from the lombai'ds, and the
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cheers of the people, the Admiral went straight to the

old church of St. George, the patron saint of his native

city, to offer up thanks for his delivery from so many

dangers. Afterwards the friars conducted him to La

Rabida, where Te Deum was sung by the brotherhood

in presence of the Admiral, his pilots and officers, and

the principal inhabitants of Palos. 'Se.sk day the ten

Indians were landed, six from Guanahani and four from

Cuba; together with the animals, plants, and curious

objects of all kinds that had been brought home. One

Indian had died on the very day that the Nina arrived,

and three others were too ill to travel further than

Palos. The Admiral, after resting for a few days with

his good friends at La Eabida, proceeded to >Seville to-

wards the end of !Marcb.

The discoverj- of Ameiica was one of the most impor-

tant events in the world's history, and the deepest inter-

est will always be felt in the conduct of the discoverer,

and in the details of the voyage. Columbus had pre-

pared himself for his great work during twenty years of

study and of practical labour. He had known poverty

and adversity, and had learnt patience and prudence,

forethought and consideration for others, in a severe

school; while at the same time he acquired knowledge

and experience. During the voyage he displayed the

highest qualities of a commander. He alone was capa-

ble of conducting the ships across the Atlantic for the

tirst time, of guiding their course, and of calming the

anxieties of their crews. To him alone is due the credit

of having steered the little vessels clear of a thousand

dangers, and of having brought two of them safel}' back.

Having run down the trades on the way out, Columbus

reflected that it would probably be impracticable to re-
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tm-n on the same parallels. With wonderful prevision

he assumed that there must be a complement to the

trades in higher latitudes. He therefore adopted a

northerly course, and discovered the region of westerlies.

He not only found the New World, but also pointed out

the way to go and the way to return. To achieve all

this a man was needed who was possessed of profound

knowledge acquired by years of study and experience, of

untiring watchfulness, and of those unerring previsions

which genius of a high order alone produces. There was

only one such man in that age.

The first account of the voyage was contained in the

letter written to his friend Luis de Santangel, the

treasurer of Aragon, by the Admiral himself for the

information of Ferdinand and Isabella. It is dated on

board the Nina on the i8th of February, off the island

of Santa Maria, and a postscript announces her arrival

in the Tagus on the 4th of March. The letter was

despatched from Lisbon, or possibly from Palos. It

contains a brief account of the principal events of the

voyage. (^)

The journal of the voyage is an abstract, probably

prepared by Las Casas ; as the only copy in existence,

which was published by Navarrete, is said to be in the

bishop's handwriting. Unfortunately the original jour

nal and the original charts are lost. The abstract is

full, and the very words of the Admiral are occasionally

quoted. Still the composition is not that of the Admiral,

except where the quotations are specified, and he cannot

be held responsible for any obvious errors, especially as

regards figures. There is reason for the opinion that

Las Casas made his abstract from a copy, and he com-

plains of the illegible handwriting more than once. We
I
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must be thankful even for this abstract. It supplies us

with a full and minute account of all the events of the

voyage. It shows with what conscientious care the

great discoverer recorded his proceedings, and with what
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intelligence and interest he observed the natural objects

that surrounded him in his Xew World. All were new
to him, but he could compare them with analogous pro-

ducts seen in his numerous voyages, and draw useful
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inferences. The fulness of his entries was due to the

rapid working of a vivid imagination, as one thought

followed another in quick succession through his well-

stored brain. So that the journal is a mirror of the

man. It shows his failings and his virtues. It records

his lofty aims, his unswerving loyalty, his deep religious

feeling, his kindliness and gratitude. It impresses us

with his knowledge and genius as a leader, with his

watchful care for his people, and with the redundancy

of his imagination. Pew can read the journal without

a feeling of admiration for the marvellous ability and

simple faith of the great genius whose mission it was to

reveal the mighty secret of the ages.

NOTE.

''• The First Letter announcing the Discovery of the

New World.

Two manuscripts are in existence of the letter written by

Columbus on board the Nifui. One is at Simancas, and was

lirst published by Navarrete from a copy prepared by the

archivist Don Tomas Gonzalez in 1818. The other manuscript

was found by Varnhagen at Valencia, and published there in

1858. The first is addressed to the " Escribano de Kacion,''

the second to Gabriel Sanchez. The Valencia maiuiscript gives

the date correctly :

'

' Fecha en la carabela sobre la isla de Santa

Maria 18 de Febrero 1493." The Simancas manuscript has

:

"Fecha en la carabela sobre las islas de Canaria 15 de Febrero

1493." This proves that the Simancas document is a careless copy.

Santa Maria, written " Stamaria," was read by the copyist as

" Canaria,'' and 18 for 15. Detractors of Columbus have seized

upon this date "Canaria" to suggest that he was either com-

pletely out in his reckoning, or that he was always careless.

The journal proves that he was correct in his reckoning, and

expected to make a landfall at the Azores ; and the Valeufia
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manuscript proves that he did not date the letter " Canaria,"

but "Santa !Maria." So that this attempt to discredit the

accuracy of the Admiral utterly fails.

The letter to the " Escribano de Racion " was printed at

Seville in 1493, as has been proved by Asensio (i. 435), and

this edition is of special interest, because it is the first printed

account of the discovery of the new world. Only one copy is

known to exi.^t, now in the Ambrosian Library at MOan. A
Latin version of the letter to .Sanchez, by a Catalan named
Leander de Cosco, was printed at Rome in 1493 by Stephen

Plaimck—four leaves in Gothic type. Another version was
printed at Rome in the same year by Silber.

The "Escribano de Racion" was Luis de SantangeL But
I incline to think that there was only one letter addressed to

the " Escribano de Racion " without a name, and that the name
of Sanchez got inserted by mistake, by some one who thought

that he was "Escribano de Racion."



CHAPTEE VII.

RECEPTION OF THE NEWS.

The arrival of Columbus created a great sensation in

Spain. One year had wrought a marvellous change.

The needy enthusiast, ridiculed and insulted, was now
Admiral of the Ocean Sea, Viceroy of the Western

Indies, the observed of all observers. When he entered

Seville by the populous suburb of Triana, on Palm Sun-

day, 1493, ^^ ^^s preceded by a well-equipped squadron

of cavalry, which the Count of Cifuentes, who was the

Queen's "Asistente" of Seville, had sent out to meet

him. A procession was formed of servants carrying

parrots and paroquets of beautiful plumage, spears and

other arms, plumes and girdles, and many other wonder-

ful curiosities, followed by the Indians, who attracted

more attention than anything else. The Admiral was

accompanied by Juan Niiio, the master and part-owner

of the Nina, by the pilots and several seamen, and by

citizens who were old friends of the illustrious navigator,

and had come out to meet him. Dense crowds thronged

the streets ; there was no window unoccupied, nor was

there a place to be found vacant on the roofs as Columbus

passed through the streets of Seville to his lodging in

the house of the Count of Cifuentes. The Indians and

the curiosities were lodged in a house near the ai'ch-

133
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way called " of the Images," at St. jSTicholas, where some

favoured persons were allowed to examine them.

In that crowd theie was a young man, about twenty

years of age, to whose diligence, ability, and truthfulness

the Admiral's memory owes almost everything. Barto-

lome Las Casas was one of those who were admitted to

see the curiosities. In after life he was the courageous

defender of the poor Indians, an ardent ecclesiastic, and

the most conscientious and truthful historian of that

age. To Las Casas we owe the story of the early life

of Columbus, the journal of the first voyage, the letter of

Columbus describing the third voyage, and the account

of this famous entry into Seville, of which he was an

eyewitness.

Columbus had reported his arrival and the results of

his voyage to the sovereigns of Spain, and waited for

their reply at Seville. Nor did he omit to give an

account of his discoveries to the aged astronomer at

Florence, Paolo Toscanelli, to whose advice and sug-

gestions he owed so much. Toscanelli must then have

reached a great age, and it is pleasant to know that the

illustrious navigator, in the midst of his triumphant

reception, did not forget to gladden the heart of his

venerable correspondent with the news that his advice

had produced such glorious fruit. (i)

\\Tiile the excitement at Seville caused by the arrival

of Columbus was at its height, a special messenger

arrived with a letter addressed "from the Bang and

Queen to Don Cristoval Colon, their Admiral of the

Ocean Sea, and Viceroy and Governor of the islands dis-

covered in the Indies." It was dated from Barcelona on

the 30th of March, and expressed their sense of the great-

ness of his services to God, to themselves, and to the
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country. They told him that they considered it most

important that his work should be continued, and that

he should commence preparations for returning to his

newly-discovered government, and they desired that he

would come to their court with as much despatch as

possible. They were anxious to receive a full account of

his discoveries from his own lips.

Columbus set out from Seville in the middle of April,

and travelled by land to Barcelona, accompanied by

Pedro Niiio and the other members of the expedition,

and by six of the Indians. The others were not well

enough to leave Seville. Enormous crowds assembled to

see the Admiral pass through the towns on his road, and

a grand reception was prepared for him at Barcelona.

As he approached the famous old capital of the Counts,

a troop of splendidly-dressed cavaliers came out to meet

the great discoverer, and conduct him to the presence of

the sovereigns. Ferdinand and Isabella, with their only

son, were lodged, during their residence at Barcelona, in

the palace of the Bishop of Urgel, in the Calle Ancha.

The building has long since disappeared, but it is here

that the memorable reception probably took place. The

sovereigns were seated on thrones under a magnificent

canopy with the young Prince Juan in a chair b}' the

Queen's side, and were surrounded by nobles and minis-

ters of state. But the arrival of Columbus was delayed

by the dense crowd in the streets. He was preceded by

the Indians, and by sailors of the Nim, carrying tropi-

cal fruits and various species of vegetable products, par-

rots, and many other birds with gorgeous plumage, and

animals, including an enormous iguana five feet long,

with huge spines along its back. The six Indians car-

ried spears and aiTows, and wore golden ornaments.
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Columbus himself was distinguished by his stature, his

snow-white hair, and his dignified and courteous bearing.

Preceded by the mace-bearers of the city and the heralds

of Catalonia, he was conducted to the presence. Ferdi-

nand and Isabella, as if by a sudden and spontaneous

impulse, rose to receive their Admiral, an unprecedented

act of condescension. After kissing hands, he was in-

vited to sit on a chair under the canopy, and to narrate

the events of the voyage. ISTobles, prelates, ministers,

and pages stood around, and among the latter was Gon-

zalo Fernandez de Oviedo, the future historian. In

words of moving eloquence Columbus related the anxie-

ties of the voyage, the landing at Guanahani, and the

discovery of Cuba and Espanola, He described the

magnificent scenery, the new and varied products, and

the gentle character of the natives, and showed the

sovereigns how God might be served, and their realms

enriched, by a wise and judicious use of the new world

his genius had presented to them. When he ceased to

speak there was profound silence for some minutes.

Then the sovereigns threw themselves on their knees,

and returned thanks to Grod, the whole court following

their example. A number of priests and choristers of

the chapel royal entered the hall solemnly chanting the

Te Leum, while the vast crowd outside sent up rounds

and rounds of applause. It was a most impressive cere-

mony. At its conclusion the Cardinal Archbishop of

Toledo conducted the Admiral to his lodging, to be his

guest during his stay at Barcelona. On the following

and several successive days Columbus had interviews

with the sovereigns, lasting several hours. Active pre-

parations were ordered to be commenced for a second

expedition on a large scale, and negotiations were set
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on foot with the Pope to secure the new possessions of

Castile from molestation on the part of the King of

Portugal.

It was resolved that Dr. Bernardo de Carbajal, the

Bishop of Cartagena, should be despatched on an em-

bassy to the Pope, with a present of some of the first

gold brought from the Indies, and instructions to repre-

sent the vast consequences to Christianity that were

likely to accrue from the new discoveries. Pope Alex-

ander YI. was an Aragonese, and had been a subject of

Ferdinand. It was found that Pope Martin V. had

already conceded a Bull to the King of Portugal, giving

that country the sovereignty from Cape Boyador to the

East Indies ; and the concession had been recognised by

Spain in a treaty signed in 1479. Alexander VI., by a

Bull dated May 4, 1493, made a still greater conces-

sion to Spain. In order that the possessions of Spain

and Portugal might be clearly distinguished, the Pope

drew a line over the ocean from the Arctic to the An-

tartic Pole, situated as regards longitude at a distance of

one hundred leagues to the westward of the Azores. The

Pope granted all lands that had been or might be dis-

covered, to the westward of this line, to the sovereigns

of Spain and their heirs for ever.

Columbus was treated with the highest distinction

during his residence at Barcelona. He frequently rode

out with the sovereigns and Prince Juan, and was al-

ways greeted with loud acclamations by the people. On
the 3rd of May, when the Indians were baptized, the

King and Prince stood as sponsors ; and in many other

ways favour was shown to the Admiral, and to all that

concerned him. All the titles, honours, and precedence

granted in the capitulation of Santa Fe were confirmed.
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and he was further invested with the title of Captain-

General of the fleet which was to be fitted out at Seville

for the Indies, in accordance with a royal order of May
28, 1493. In recognition of his great and distin-

guished services, and for perpetual memory of his achieve-

AEMS OF COLUMBUS.

ment, he was granted a special coat-of-arms on the 20th

of May. The shield is quarterly : first, a castle on a field

veH ; second, a lion rampant purpure on a field argent;

third, islands of the sea or on a field azure ; and in the

fourth, the assumed family arms of Colombo. Subse-
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quently five anchors or on a field azure were placed in

the fourtli quarter, and the family arms were removed

to the middle base, in the same way as the pomegranate

appears in the royal arms of Spain. A motto was

allowed to encircle the shield as follows : "For Gastilla

e por Leon Nuevo Mundo hallo Colon" but this was

after the Admiral's death. Ferdinand also presented

the Admiral with a splendid suit of Milanese armour,

which is still preserved in the royal armoury at

Madrid.

The anecdote of the egg is said to have reference to

this period—" in Spain after he had discovered the

Indies "—and although it was first told fifty years after

the Admiral's death, it may quite possibly be founded

on fact. Benzoni * says :
" Columbus being at a party

with many noble Spaniards, where, as was customary,

the subject of conversation was the Indies, one of them

undertook to say, ' Signor Cristoforo, even if you had

not found the Indies, we should not have been devoid of

a man who would have attempted the same that you

did, here in our country of Spain, as it is full of great

men, clever in cosmography and literature.' Columbus

said nothing in answer to these words, but having de-

sired an egg to be brought to him, he placed it on the

table, saying, ' Gentlemen, I will lay a wager with any

of you that you will not make this egg stand up as I

will, naked, and without anything at all.' They all

* Girolamo Benzoni was born at Milan in 1519, and started for the

New World when he was twenty-two. After fourteen years he re-

turned home in 1556, and in 1565 he published his Historia del Moiido

Nuovo at Venice, dedicated to Pius IV., second edition 1572. It was

translated into English for the Hakluyt Society by Admiral Smyth,

in 1857. See p. 17 of this translation for the anecdote of the

egg.
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tried, and no one succeeded in making it stand up.

When the egg came round to the hands of Columbus,

by beating it down on the table he fixed it, crushing a

little of one end : wherefore all remained confused, un-

derstanding what he would have said, that after the

deed is done everybody knows how to do it, and that

they ought first to have sought for the Indies, and not

laugh at him who had sought for it first, while they for

some time had been laughing, and wondered at it as an

impossibility.''

No one was more deeply impressed with the greatness

of the achievement, and with its far-reaching conse-

quences, than Columbus himself. But far from giving

rise to any feeling of pride, it caused in him a deep

sense of his own unworthiness. He believed that he

was the chosen instrument in the hand of God to fulfil

His designs, and accomplish much that had been pre-

figured in the prophecies, His whole life was tinged

with devotional feeling, and his imaginative mind turned

to the prophetic books of the Old Testament and to the

Apocalypse for words that foreshadowed the great events

in which he was the chief actor. His heart overflowed

with gratitude at the thought that he, the humble

Genoese weaver, should be the chosen instrument of the

Almighty. He longed to signalise this feeling by some

act worthy of the favour he had received. Among other

aspirations Columbus conceived the idea of going on a

crusade to rescue the holy sepulchre from the power of

the infidels, when his work in the west was done. The

spirit of knight-errantry was closely interwoven with

the love of scientific speculation in the mind of this

extraordinary man. His thoughts were also full of

home, and of his kindred, and the old house in the Vico



FONSECA. 141

Dritto was never forgotten in the midst of all the

honours showered upon him at the Spanish court.

Oviedo tells us that he sent help to his aged father as

soon as he arrived at Lisbon, and from Barcelona he

wrote to ask his two brothers to join him. The letter

was long in reaching Bartolomfe, and he did not arrive

in Spain until after the departure of the Admiral. But

young Giacomo came at once from Genoa. He had just

reached the age of twenty- five, and was proud to follow

the fortunes of his illustrious brother. Adopting the

Spanish form of his name, he became Don Diego Colon,

and accompanied the Admiral on his second voyage.

Columbus took his leave of the sovereigns and arrived

at Seville early in June, and at Cadiz he selected the

vessels best adapted for the voyage to Bspaiiola. The

fleet was composed of three ships and fourteen caravels,

and the number of volunteers was far greater than the

vessels could hold. Ferdinand and Isabella determined

to create a department at Seville, charged with the duty

of superintending the manning and equipment of the

expeditions to the Indies, and with the guardianship of

the royal interests and rights. It all depended on the

character of the head of such a department whether it

would work harmoniously and without friction; and

unfortunately a worse selection could not have been

made. Juan Rodriguez de Fonseca, the Archdeacon of

Seville, was a man of noble family, and was known to

' the sovereigns as an administrator of considerable ability

in a subordinate position. But he was an official of the

worst type—proud, envious, and revengeful. Jealous of

the great man whom he was bound to help in every way

in his power, he gratified his jealousy by all the arts of

circumlocution so well known to the ofiicial who is bent
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on obstructive ways. The subordinates soon found that

insolence to the leaders of the expeditions, and the

practice of circumlocution, was the shortest way to favour.

Juan de Soria was appointed accountant and auditor,

while Francisco Pinedo was treasurer ; and with these

three officials the Admiral had to deal in fitting out his

expedition at Cadiz. On this first occasion their ob-

struction was not so bad as it afterwards became when

they were more firmly established in office. >Still the

accountant, Soria, appears to have been so insolent as to

call forth a severe reprimand from the sovereigns on the

5th of August, and Fonseca had to be reminded that he

was to further the wishes of the Admiral by all means

in his power.

A disastrous belief had spread abroad that rapid

fortunes were to be made in the New World ; and the

very worst class of men, spendthrifts of good family

who hated work, and speculators of all kinds, crowded to

Cadiz as volunteers. The men really required were

hard-working artizans and labourers, and the proportion

of these was insufficient. Over 1400 men were em-

barked, and it is said that, when the ships had got fairly

out to sea, as many as a hundred stowaways made their

appearance. About twenty horses were taken out, stores

of all kinds, seeds, and implements of husbandry.

The Admiral was accompanied by his brother Diego,

a virtuous and discreet young man, as Las Casas de-

scribes him, always very soberly dressed, almost like a

cleric. The other principal leaders in the expedition

were carefully selected. Don Antonio de Torres, a

brother of the nurse of Prince Juan, described as a

prudent and able commander, was to go out with the

Admiral, and return with some of the ships. The
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accountant of the colony was Bernal de Pisa, and the

overseer Don Diego Marque. The father of Las Casas

went out as a councillor, and his uncle, Francisco de

Penalosa, as one of the commanders of the troops.

The first priest who went to the New World was

Fray Bernardo Boil, a Catalonian, born in Tarragona,

who entered the Benedictine fraternity very early in

life as a monk of the monastery of Montserrat. He
was specially selected by King Ferdinand to accompany

the expedition, and his appointment was approved by

the Pope. His bearing towards the Admiral was at

first friendly and cordial, but afterwards he allowed feel-

ings of pride and jealousy to infiuence his conduct,

which resulted in open disloyalty to his chief. Three

friars accompanied him. Another siibject of King Fer-

dinand, who became one of the chief ofiicers of the expe-

dition, was Mosen Pedro Margarit, an Aragonese of good

family, who distinguished himself in the war of Granada

as an able and at the same time a cautious oflicer. But

Margarit and Boil, the two Aragonese specially chosen

by King Ferdinand, turned out to be disloyal and in-

subordinate.

Dr. Diego Alvarez Chanca, a physician of Seville, with

a, high reputation for skill and learning, was ordered to

join the expedition, not only to take medical charge, but

also to report upon the rare and unknown plants of tlie

Indies. The Admiral's journal is lost, and it is to Dr.

Chanca that we owe the only narrative of the voyage,

contained in a long letter addressed to the Chapter of

Seville. He also supplied information to the Cura of

Los Palacios, Dr. Bernaldez, which enabled him to give

many details of the expedition in his " Chronicle of the

Catholic Kings."
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But the most striking figure of the second voyage

was a young man about twenty years of age, whose ac-

quaintance the Admiral had first made in the house of

the Duke of Medina Celi. Alonzo de Ojeda came of a

good family in the city of Cuenca, and he passed his

boyhood as a page to the Duke. He excelled as a horse-

man and in the use of arms of all kinds, and he combined

a cool head with a fiery and dare-devil love of danger and

adventure. Ojeda was of short stature, but muscular

and well knit, with a handsome face and a penetrating

look in his eyes. In very early youth he performed

several acts of daring and valour in the war of Granada,

fighting by the side of the Duke his master. A story is

told of him when the Queen was at Seville in 149 1 which

illustrates his coolness and pluck. As the commence-

ment of a solid scaffold for effecting repairs, a large

beam had been run out from the top window of the

Giralda for ten yards, at a height of 250 feet from the

ground. Ojeda, in order to show off before the Queen,

walked out to the end of the beam fully armed and

accoutred. He then turned on one foot, threw an orange

over the top of the tower, and coolly walked back to the

window. The very thought of such a feat would turn

most people giddy, and the crowd beneath were astounded

at the youth's nerve and audacity. Alonzo de Ojeda was

destined to play a leading part in the early history of

the Western Indies.

Columbus took his brother-in-law, Pedro de Arana,

brother of Beatrix Enriquez, as captain of one of the

ships; and Juan de la Cosa, the expert draughtsman,

accompanied the Admiral again in the capacity of pilot.

Ferdinand and Isabella caused the second expedition

to be fitted out with the intention of establishing a per-



DIFFICULTIES OF COLONIZATION. 145

manent colony. It would have been wiser if, while im-

posing their sovereigntyon the newly-discovered countries,

they had been contented with establishing factories or

trading stations, and had prohibited the advent of a

shoal of useless adventurers thirsting for gold. Such

men came to a country wholly unprepared to receive

them, already occupied by a gentle and unwarlike people,

and destitute of any wealth that could be obtained

without hard and continuous toil. The great majority

of the emigrants were unaccustomed to work, and full of

wild expectations. That they should be useless as set-

tlers, that they should become discontented and insub-

ordinate, and that they should cruelly oppress the natives,

were inevitable results. No leader, be his administra-

tive talents how great soever, could have prevented or

obviated these evils. Columbus entered upon a task

which no administrator could have performed success-

fully. He had to see that the natives were converted to

Christianity, while they were forced to contribute to the

wealth of the colony ; he had to content the adventurers

and to put them in the way of accumulating riches ; he

had to increase the revenues of the mother countiy;

and, at the same time, he had to suppress insubordination

and silence discontent. He was a man of genius, of

warm sympathies, and of great resource. He was pru-

dent, conciliatory, and patient. If he partially failed, it

was because the circumstances rendered failure unavoid-

able.

But the clouds had not yet appeared on the horizon.

All were full of hope and unreasoning expectations when

the preparations were completed, and the order was

given for the expedition to get under weigh. His sons,'

Diego and little Fernando, had been with the Admiral
K
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at Cadiz, and thej were with him when he hoisted his

flag on board the Marigalante, a comparatively large

ship, but a slow sailer. He gazed long and anxiously

after the boys as the boat carried them to the shore,

and then turned cheerfully and hopefully to the business

of his high office.

When the Admiral sent for his brother and dearest

friend, he did not know for certain whither to despatch

the letter. In truth, Bartolome had been repulsed by

the English government, and had taken up his abode at

the French court, in the service of Anne de Beaujeu,

who governed the country during the absence of her

brother, Charles VIII., in Italy. Bartolome was pro-

bably employed to draw maps and to illustrate works

on cosmography and kindred subjects ; and when, after

long delay, he heard of his brother's return, he must

have obtained his dismissal and hastened to Spain. But

he was too late to take part in the second expedition,

which sailed in September 1493. Bartolome does not

appear to have reached Seville until January in the

following year. His first act was to seek out his nephew,

and he presented himself at the court of ValladoUd with

young Diego, who had by this time completed his edu-

cation. The brother and son of the Admiral were well

received by Ferdinand and Isabella. Diego entered

upon his duties as page to the young Prince Juan, with

whom he remained in close attendance until the mourn-

ful death of the only son of the Spanish sovereigns at

Salamanca, on the 4th of October 1497. The deaths of

princes are always referred to by courtiers as national

calamities. But the death of young Juan may really be

considered one, not only to Spain but to the whole of

Europa If he had lived the fatal inheritance of the
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Low Countries would have been avoided, which deluged

Europe in blood for half a century, and crippled Spain,

in men and treasure, beyond recovery.

On April 14, 1494, the sovereigns nominated Bar-

tolome Columbus to the command of a squadron of

three caravels about to sail for the New World. He
landed in Bspanola on the 24th of June, during the

absence of his brother Christopher on a voyage of dis-

covery ; but he found his young brother Diego at

Isabella, whom he had not seen for fourteen years.

NOTE.

(It Discovery that Columbus ivrote to Toscanelli on his Return.

The fact that Columbus wrote to Toscanelli from Seville was
recently discovered by Prospero PeragaUo. He purchased an
edition of Sacrobosco by Dante di Rinaldi, printed at Florence

in 1571, in which there is a note by the editor on the torrid and
frigid zones being habitable. He saj's that Cristoforo Colombo
discovered countries within the torrid zone and returned to

Spain, having found that they were perfectly habitable, adding,
" As I have seen from a copy of a letter from the said Colombo,

written from Seville to the very learneil and expert mathe-

matician, Messer Paolo Toscanelli, the Florentine, which was
sent to me through Messer Cornelio Randoli" [Ricoiifcrme

delV autentieitd delle Historie di Fernando Colombo per Pros-

pero PeragaUo, Genova, 1885). See Asensio, i. p. 428, note.



CHAPTEE VIII.

THE SECOXD VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY AND THE
SETTLEMENT OF ESPAXOLA.

Ox the 24th of September 1493 the 2Iari<ja/ante, with

Cohimbus on board, gave the signal to weigh anchor,

and the squadron of seventeen vessels sailed out of the

bay of Cadiz. The Admiral was now in a ship of 400

tons. He had with him his brother Diejjo and three

old comrades of the first voyage. These were the pUot,

Juan de la Cosa, who was now entered as chief draughts-

man (" Maestro de hacer cartas ";, Franci.-co Xino of

Moguer, who took his son Alonzo with him as a ship's

l)oy, and the Admiral'.s steward, Pedro de Terreros. On
the 5th of October the squadron anchored at Gomera,

where it remained two days to fiU up with water and

purchase live stock. The Admiral embarked eight pigs,

bulls and cows, sheep and goat.s, fowls and pigeons, seeds

of oranges, lemons, and other fruits, and all kinds of

vegetables. On the 13th the island of Ferro disap-

peared below the horizon, and a pleasant voyage was

commenced across the Atlantic. It was the intention of

Columbus to discover the islands of which he had heard

to the east of Espaiiola, and he therefore shaped a more

southerly course than on the first voyage. There was

a great contrast between that first voyage, when the

mind.~ of the sailors were constantly filled with suspicion
14:
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and terror, and the second, where all was joyful and

eager anticipation. Alonzo de Ojeda, Messer Pedro

Margarit, Father Boil, and Dr. Chanca, forming a suf-

ficiently agreeable party, were the messmates of the

Admiral and his young brother. The Marirjalante was

a slow sailer, and the rest of the squadron had frequently

to shorten sail in order to keep station. When, accord-

ing to his reckoning, the land was near at hand, the

Admiral made the ships and caravels follow in line, and

ordered a very sharp look out to be kept. Early in

the morning of the 3rd of November the look-out men
reported land ahead, and when the sun rose a lovely

island was in sight, clothed with trees to the summits

of its lofty peaked mountains. It was Sunday, so the

Admiral gave the name of Dominica to the island. He
sailed along its northern shore for a short distance in

search of a harbour, but seeing none, he stretched across

to a small well-wooded island that was in sight to the

northward, which received the name of " Marigalante,"

after the Admiral's ship. Here the squadron anchored.

If they had continued to stand on for a short distance

farther along the coast of Dominica, they would have

come to the beautiful anchorage at the north end of the

western coast, now called Prince Rupert's Bay. Colum-

bus, with all the principal officials, landed on the island

of Marigalante, and took formal possession in the name

of the Catholic sovereigns. They were all deeply im-

pressed by the magnificence of the vegetation, so different

from anything they had ever seen before, and almost

spontaneously they threw themselves on their knees

and offered up thanksgiving to God. There were no

signs of any inhabitants, so the voyage was resumed,

and a much larger island with lofty mountain peaks
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almost immediately came in sight. A magnificent cascade,

appearing to fall from the clouds, was seen to pour down

the side of a mountain and disappear in a mass of foliage.

Columbus named the island G-uadalupe, in memory of the

famous sanctuary of Our Lady in Estremadura.

The Admiral anchored the squadron in a convenient

bay, and sent several parties on shore to open communi-

cations with the natives. They came to large houses

amongst the trees, some of them built in squares round

open spaces. They found quantities of cotton in the

houses, and some large parrots kept as pets. All the

people fled at their approach, except some boys and

women, who were captured, and who said that they

were prisoners brought from other islands. This cir-

cumstance, and the sight of human limbs prepared for

food, led the Admiral to the conclusion that he had

reached one of the islands inhabited by the fierce man-

eating Caribs, of whom he had heard at Espanola. TTis

skill as a navigator is shown by his having .sailed

from Europe with the intention of discovering these

unknown islands of the Caribs, and having made the

landfall exactly.

One remarkable discovery made by the Spaniards at

Guadalupe was the pine-apple, the most dehcious fruit

they had ever tasted, and which excited their enthusiasm

for the !N^ew T\^orld and its vegetable as well as its mineral

treasures. There were other new fruits and multitudes

of trees and flowers quite unknown to them, but the

pine-apples were more pleasant to the taste and more

fragrant than anything else among the wonders of this

enchanting island. Six women and two boys, who were

prisoners to the Caribs, were allowed to come on board

as a refuge from their captors.
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When the other parties returned to their respective

vessels it was found that the overseer, Diego Marquez, who
also commanded one of the caravels, was missing, with

eight of his men. Trumpets were sounded and lombards

discharged, but the missing party did not return. At
last the Admiral sent Alonzo de Ojeda in search with

forty men, but they returned without finding any trace.

The Admiral was on the point of abandoning all hope,

when, on Friday the 8th of November, Marquez and his

men came down to the beach half dead with hunger and

fatigue. They had lost their way in the dense forest,

and had been wading streams, cutting their way through

dense foliage, and scrambling over rocks for four days,

always with the abiding terror that the ships would

have sailed if they ever reached the seashore again.

Abundant evidence was collected, that at least three

of the islands were inhabited by a ferocious race of

cannibals called Caribs, who made war on their peaceful

neighbours with the object of capturing prisoners for

the purpose of eating them, after having first treated

them with barbarous cruelty. The native names of

these islands were Ayay, Turuqueira,* and Ceyre, which

the Admiral named Guadalupe and Dominica.

Having filled up with water and fresh provisions, the

squadron got under weigh on Sunday the loth of No-

vember, and steered a north-east course in the direction

of Espanola. The Admiral was becoming very anxious

to reach Navidad, and learn the condition of the Settle-

ment, which he had left well stored with provisions nine

months before. But on the way he had to pass a great

number of islands, and the navigation called for all his

nautical skill and for incessant watchfulness. Dr. Chanca

* Ayay and Turuqueira being the two islands of Guadalupe,
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does not mention the names given to these islands, but

the names of some of them are to be found in Las Casas.

Unfortunately, the chart and journal of the Admiral,

where they would all be entered, is lost. After leaving

Guadalupe, a beautiful wooded island with lofty peaks

came in sight, which reminded Father Boil of his abode

in Catalonia. So it received the name of " Montserrat.''

A round islet was seen to the westward, so steep on all

sides that it seemed inaccessible without stairs or ropes

thrown from the top. It received the name of " Santa

Maria la Eedonda." The squadron rounded the eastern

end of Montserrat, and the comparatively low island to

the eastward received the name of " Santa Maria la

Antigua," In altering course to the north-westward

g, number of islands must have come in sight, including

St. Kitts and Xevis. They are not mentioned, but they

doubtless appeared on the Admiral's chart as ' San Cris-

toval " and " Xuestra Seiiora de las Nieves." The squad-

ron anchored off an island, which was named " San

Martin," and then altered its course to a little south of

west and reached ' Santa Cruz." Here a party was sent

on shore to capture some natives with a view to ascer-

taining the language. There was a fierce encounter with

some men in a canoe, and the people of Santa Cruz and

San Martin were judged to be Caribs. Passing a count-

less number of islands, to the largest of which Columbus

gave the name of " Santa Ursula,'' and to the others

" Las ii,ooo Virgenes," the modem Virgin Islands, they

came to a large and fertile island, where they remained

for two days. The Admiral named it " San Juan Bau-

tista," now known as Puerto Eico. The inhabitants

fled and concealed themselves, so the Admiral proceeded

on hi.? voyage, and arrived off the east end of Espafiola



DISASTER AT NAVIDAD. 153

on the evening of the 22nd of November. After stopping

two days oil Monte Oristi, during which several excur

sions were made np the Rio de Oro or Yaqui, to seek

for a good site for a new city, the squadron proceeded

to Navidad, eager to meet the settlers.

On Wednesday, the 27th of November, the ships an-

chored off the port of Navidad, and the Admiral ordered

some lombards to be discharged, expecting that they

would be answered from the fort. There was an ominous

silence on shore. It was late when they anchored, so

they remained on board until next morning. All feared

that some terrible disaster had befallen the settlers. At
last a canoe arrived with a relation of the cacique Gua-

canagari, bringing presents. When he was asked about

the settlers his replies appeared to be evasive and con-

fused. He said that many had died of disease, some in

brawls among themselves, and that there had been a

war with a powerful chief of the interior of the island

named Caonab6, in the course of which Guacanagari had

been wounded. It appeared that not one of the Spaniards

who had been left at Navidad in the previous January

was still alive. Next morning an armed boat was sent

on shore to reconnoitre. It was noticed that the natives

kept at a distance, and appeared shy and distrustful.

The palisade which encircled the fort of Navidad was

broken down and burnt. The buildings inside were all

destroyed. There was evidence of some great calamity.

At length a brother of Guacanagari, with some attend-

ants, ventured to approach the Spaniards, and it was

ascertained that all the settlers had perished at the

hands of the cacique Caonab6, who first attacked the

fort with a large force, destroying everything, and kill-

ing every soul within it, and then burnt the houses of
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Guacanagari iMany of that chief's followers had been

killed in trying to defend their guests, and he himself

was wounded.

iS'est day the Admiral landed with a large number of

men, and made a close examination of the site of Xavi-

dad and the neighbourhood. The result was that he

was forced to believe the worst. Xot a single one re-

mained alive of all the forty-four officers and .sailors whom
he had left there nine short months before. Such was the

melancholy end of the first settlement in the ZSTew ATorld.

Columbus, as soon as the place where Guacanagari re-

sided had been found, went to visit him with all his offi-

cers. He foimd the friendly chief lying in a hammock

and disabled by a wound. Guacanagari related all the

particulars of the disaster with tears in his eyes, and

showed the Admiral a number of his followers who had

been wounded in trying to defend the Christians.

Many of the Spanish officers disbelieved the chief's

story, and proposed to make an example of him and his

chief followers. Father Boil was among the number of

those who counselled violence—"the &Tst apostle of the

Xew World ! " as this truculent and disloyal monk has

been absurdly called. But the large and generous heart

of the Admiral at once rejected such advice. He felt no

suspicion, and fully acquitted Guacanagari and his people,

believing that they were teUing the simple truth.

After examining the coast for several days, the Ad-

miral selected a site for the settlement about thirty

miles to the eastward of Monte Cristi. It was a smooth

stretch of shore between the mouths of two streams, and

in rear there was a rocky bank suitable for the site of a

fort or citadel. The open space was surrounded by dense

forest, but at a short distance there was excellent build-
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ing stone. The people were delighted to land, after

having been so long cooped up in the small vessels, and

the work of unloading proceeded rapidly. Temporary

buildings were run up to house the stores and provi-

sions, while the Admiral traced out the plan of a city,

to which he gave the name of Isabella. The church,

govemtnent house, and royal warehouses were to be of

stone, and were commenced at once. In January 1494
the houses were so far completed that all the settlers

were able to sleep on shore ; and on Epiphany Sunday

the first mass was said by Father Boil, in a temporary

chapel.

Very soon after the foundation of Isabella, sickness

began to make its appearance, caused by hard work

under a tropical sun, and by the disgraceful character

of the provisions shipped by Fonseca and his ofiicials.

Much of the salt meat and biscuit was bad, and the wine

was still worse. Fever was very prevalent, and the

people became home-sick and discontented. The Ad-

miral had received intelligence that there were rich gold-

mines in the mountains of Cibao, a chain which traverses

the centre of the island. Hoping to arouse the people,

and draw their attention from their own miseries, he

organised some exploring parties, entrusting the com-

mand of the two first, consisting of fifteen men each, to

Alonzo de Ojeda and Gen& de GorbaMn, both young

and intrepid commanders. Crossing the coast-range of

Monte Cristi they descended into the beautiful valley of

the river Yaqui, where they were cordially received by

the natives, who brought them presents of food and

cotton. After marching about sixty miles they reached

the foot of the mountains of Cibao, and, assisted by the

natives, they obtained a considerable quantity of gold
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dust by washing the sands of the streams. Their return

to Isabella animated the hopes of the settlers, and there

was much less despondency when Antonio Torres, in

command of nine of the vessels, sailed on the return

voyage to Spain, with the first news of the settlement,

on the 2nd of February 1494. Gorbalan returned at the

same time ; and Torres was the bearer of an important

memorial to the sovereigns, in which the Admiral set

forth the needs of the colony.

In this memorial Columbus reported that the parties

under Ojeda and GorbaMn had found that the sands of

several rivers in the interior contained gold in consider-

able quantities, referring the sovereigns to the latter

commander for a fuller account of these discoveries.

Although there had been much sickness, owing to the

want of fresh and wholesome food, yet the work of

building the city and of surrounding it with suitable

defences was progressing. He represented that the

settlers ought to be supplied with wholesome food until

they were able to gather sufficient crops from seeds

sown in the colony. Some com and sugar cane had

already been sown, and had come up ; but he earnestly

requested that supplies of all kinds might be promptlv

despatched, so as to arrive in May.

The Admiral recommended that the savage cannibals

in the other islands should be captured in considerable

numbers and sent to Spain as slaves, for the good of

their own souls and to free the peaceable islanders from

the terror of their cruel invasions. His plan was that

a certain number of caravels shoidd annually be sent to

the Indies laden with cattle, and that the live stock

should be paid for with slaves taken from the Caribs.

The revenue might be benefited by fixing a duty on
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these slaves when they were landed in Spain. The
memorial concluded with commendations of the valuable

services of many of the officers under the Admiral's

command, especially mentioning JJr. Chanca, whose letter

to the Chapter of Seville was sent home by the same

opportunity, and Messer Pedro Margarit.

The practice of defraying expenses by the sale of

slaves was adopted by Prince Henry the Navigator,

whose captains established a regular traffic along the

coast of Africa. It was believed that, while the heavy

expenses of the expeditions were reduced by this means,

the slaves were not injured, and their spiritual and

temporal welfare was promoted. Columbus had seen

this traffic regularly established wherever the Portuguese

traders went on the African coast, and in those days,

and for centuries afterwards, public opinion looked upon

it with favour. Ferdinand and Isabella adopted the

same course, after the capture of Malaga and other

Moorish towns. Las Casas raised his voice against it,

and wrote eloquent denunciations nearly three centuries

in advance of his time. But that was after the death

of Columbus, and at the time when he was surrounded

by administrative difficulties at Isabella the impression

that slave traffic involved no moral wrong was universal.

Columbus, however, was desirous of modifying the Por-

tuguese system very materially. His proposal was con-

fined to the cannibals who devastated the islands of the

peaceably disposed Indians, and who, he considered,

had placed themselves beyond the pale, and to prisoners

taken in war.

The Admiral's activity had been marvellous. He

had personally attended to every administrative detail,

planned out the city, the fort, and the aqueduct for con-
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ducting wholesome water to the houses, had organised

the expeditions, and taken measures for clearing ground

for raising crops. At length, just as Torres was on the

point of sailing, he was himself prostrated by fever.

The loss of his guiding hand was felt at once. Taking

advantage of his illness, the most ill-conditioned and

discontented among the settlers, led by Bemal Diaz de

Pisa, the accountant, formed a plot to seize one of the

vessels and return home. The conspiracy was assuming

serious dimensions when the Admiral became convales-

cent towards the end of February. He at once stamped

it out ; but he proceeded cautiously, his sole object being

to establish lawful authority and prevent a repetition

of the offence. The discoverj- of slanderous documents

containing numerous false accusations on board one of

the ships established the guilt of the conspirators, whose

handwriting was identified. They were committed to

prison until an opportunity offered for sending them to

Spain with a statement of the charges against them.

Unfortunately discontent continued to smoulder among

those whose absurd dreams of immediate gain had been

disappointed, which was a serious element of danger.

The Admiral then turned his attention to the organisa-

tion of an expedition on an adequate scale to the gold-

yielding mountains of Oibao. Intending to establish a

fort, he took with him artificers and tools, and on the

12th of March he set out from Isabella with 400 soldiers

well armed, and all the horses. The government of the

rising city was entrusted in his absence to his brother

Diego and Father BoiL iluch difficulty was experienced

in crossing the first densely wooded range of mountains

with horses and heavy baggage. Several youths of good

family, who had seen something of pioneering work in
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the war of Granada, volunteered to make the road up

the rocky slopes matted with tropical vegetation, until

they conducted the expedition to a pass between the

hills which, from the rank of the pioneers, received the

name of "Puerto de los Hidalgos." The adventurers

were rewarded for their exertions by being able to feast

their eyes on one of the loveliest scenes in nature. A
glorious . view was spread out before them. A plain,

through which numerous streams were flowing like silver

threads on the bright expanse of green, was dotted in

all directions by masses of a darker shade, marking the

numerous groves and gardens. Beyond was the lofty

range of mountains of which they were in search ; but

the eyes of the explorers rested longer on the fertile

expanse, to which the Admiral gave the name of " Vega

Real."

The strictest discipline was maintained as the Spaniards

mai'ched across the beautiful plain, and crossed the river

Yaqui in canoes and rafts ; but the simple natives came

in crowds to offer presents of yams and fruit. The

ascent of the rocky mountains of Oibao was difficult,

and a halt was made on the banks of some gold-bearing

streams, where several small nuggets were obtained

from the natives. Here a fort was built on a hill almost

surrounded by a stream called Xantigue, and a small

force, under a young captain named Juan de Lujdn, was

detached to make a further exploration of the moun-

tains. The fort received the name of " Santo Tomas,''

and Pedro Margarit was appointed governor with a

garrison of fifty-six men. On the return of Luj4n with

a favourable report of the gold washings further west,

the Admiral began the construction of a road from Santo

Tomas to Isabella, a distance of about sixty miles. The
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expedition returned, after an absence of seventeen days,

on the 29tli of March.

At Isabella there was nothing but trouble and anxiety.

Illness was prevalent, and there had been several death.'^,

while the stock of flour was becoming very low. Luckily

a large supply of wheat had also been brought out, which

was still in excellent condition, and the Admiral set to

work constructing water-mills for grinding it. There

was so much sickness that it was necessary for all who

were well, of whatever rank, to work at the mills. The

Admiral verv properly ordered that those who would

not work could only receive half rations, without ex-

cepting priests. Father Boil maintained that ecclesi-

astics ought to be exempted from the order. He wanted

no work and a fuU belly. The Admiral refused to yield,

and the trucvdent monk from this time became disloyal

and insubordinate.

In order to give the men a more healthy mode of life,

and to save the provisions, Columbus organised a small

army of 400 men and sixteen horses under the vaUant

Alonzo de Ojeda. He was to march to the fort of San

Tomas and take the command there, while Margarit was

to place himself at the head of the troops and explore

the interior of the island, treating ^-ith the people, and

impressing the chiefs with an idea of Spanish power by

this display of force. Margarit was specially instructed

to visit the territories of Gaonabo and ascertain the

amount of influence possessed by that chief, whose hos-

tility had been so fatal to the settlers at Xavidad. He
was enjoineil to preserve the strictest discipline, to pre-

vent any injury being done to the natives, and to punish

all excesses with severity.

The instructions of the sovereigns enjoined the Ad-
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miral, after he had established the settlement, to under-

take a voyage for the purpose of further discovery. He
now, therefore, prepared three caravels, and set sail on

the 24th of April. A Commission, presided over by his

brother Diego, was nominated to govern the settlement

in his absence. The members were Father Boil, Juan

de Luj4n, Pedro Fernandez Ooronel, and Alonzo de

Carbajal.

Meanwhile Ojeda proceeded to the fort, received the

command from Margarit, and handed over the leader-

ship of the exploring force to that officer. But Margarit,

instead of advancing into the territories of Caonab6,

marched down into the Vega Real, and established his

soldiers in idleness among the natives, in direct disobedi-

ence of the written orders of the Admiral. He himself

indulged in every sort of excess, and encouraged his men
to do the same. The Commission at Isabella sent him

frequent orders to proceed on the service set forth in his

instructions drawn up by the Admiral, but he refused to

obey, and his troops became utterly demoralised, robbing

the natives, outraging their women, and exciting a feel-

ing of hatred and loathing against themselves.

In the midst of all this license and confusion Barto-

lome Columbus arrived at Isabella on the 24th of June,

in command of three caravels, well supplied with provi-

sions for the colony. His force of will, and the prestige

of his position as a commander sent out by the sove-

reigns, gave him influence which he used to strengthen

young Diego in his efforts to suppress the insubordina-

tion of Margarit. That officer, however, had gone too

far in his evil course to recede. He had already done

incalculable, probably irreparable, injury to the infant

colony. He feared to face the Admiral on his return.

L
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There were traitors on the Commission who were in

correspondence with him, and Father Boil was the ring-

leader. They arranged to desert their posts, return to

Spain, and spread cnlumnies against the Admiral Mar-

garit marched to Isabella with a force which the Admiral's

brothers were unable to resist, seized the three caravel >

brought out by Bartolome, and sailed for Spain in Sep-

tember, accompanied by Father Boil and other deserters.

These traitors had brought the colony to the very verge

of ruin, by arousing the just indignation of the natives,

and entirely destroying their original feeling of cor-

diality and goodwill. The Admiral had made the best

arrangements that an able administrator could devise,

and if his orders had been loyally obeyed all would have

been well. He could not foresee that an officer like

^Margarit, of high position and military experience, and

enjoying the favour of King Ferdinand, would, when

entrusted with an important duty, prove himself to be

not only a traitor and a deserter, but an abandoned

reprobate. He could not foresee that a priest, who had

been specially selected for his piety and devotion, and

appointed by the Pope himself to the spiritual charge

of the infant colony, would conspire with such a man
as Margarit after his true character was known, and

desert his post.

While the Admiral was on the spot all went well,

but the moment his guiding hand quitted the helm the

colonial ship was run upon the sands by its worthless

crew. The opportune arrival of Bartolome saved it;

and when the Admiral, worn out with toU and almost

at death's door, returned from his terrible voyage on

the 29th of September, his faithfid brother continued

to be a tower of strength.



CHAPTER IX.

THE THIRD VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY AND
TROUBLES IN ESPANOLA.

Columbus had scarcely recovered from a severe attack

of fever, and was almost v^orn out with the anxieties of

his government, when he prepared to sail on what may be

considered as his third voyage of discovery. He selected

three caravels out of the five that remained at Isabella.,

and caused them to be overhauled and provisioned for

six months. The first was the old NiiiM of the former

voyage, on board of which he hoisted his flag, with

Francisco Niiio as pilot, Alonzo Medel as master, Juan

de la Oosa to draw charts, one of the monks, ten seamen,

and six boys. Pedro de Terreros was with him as

steward, and the notary, Fernan Perez de Luna, accom-

panied him as secretary. The second caravel was the

San Juan, with Alonzo Perez Roldan as master, Barto-

lome Perez of Rota as pilot, a boatswain, cooper, sis

seamen, and five boys. The Oorclera was the third

vessel, having Cristoval Perez Nino as master, a Genoese

boatswain, seven seamen, and five boys. Including the

Admiral there were fifty-two souls in the expedition,

and it is remarkable that twenty-six came from the

Palos district, evidently a great nursery for seamen in

those days, while four were Genoese.

Sailing on the 24th of April 1494, Columbus pro-
les
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ceeded along the north coast of Espaiiola to San Xicolas,

and then shaped a course to the southern coast of the

island of Juana, as he had named Cuba in his first

voyage. He anchored in a good harbour on the south

coast, to which he gave the name of Puerto Grande

It is now called Guantanamo. Here he obtained a good

supply of fish from the natives, and weighing anchor on

the ist of May, he continued to sail along the southern

coast of Cuba, gazing on the lofty mountains, noting

the rivers and harbours, and receiving visits from

numerous Indians in their canoes, who brought presents

of cassava bread, fish, and fresh water. They asked for

nothing in return, but were given glass beads, hawks'

bells, and other trifles. The Guanahanl guide, who had

been to Spain and returned with the Admiral, advised

him to visit a large island of which he had heard from the

natives at some distance to the southward. Columbus

therefore shaped a southerly course, and the next day,

Monday, the 14th of May, he came in sight of the island

of Jamaica. He anchored in a bay surrounded by a

beautiful country, with clumps of lofty spreading trees,

and the houses of the natives scattered in all directions,

so that the island appeared to be very populous. The
Admiral named the harbour "Santa Gloria," the modem
St. Anne, and the island of Jamaica received the name
of "Santiago." The natives showed such hostility, dis-

charging showers of arrows from their canoes, that at

last an order was given to discharge some arquebuses

among them, on which they took to flight. The Admiral

landed with his ofiicers and took formal possession of

the island in the names of the Spanish sovereigns. The
natives then ventured to approach with signs of peace,

and being kindly received, they soon came in crowds



AND JAMAICA. 165

with supplies of all kinds. It had become necessary to

careen the vessels, and Columbus selected a port for this

operation, which he named " Puerto Bueno." The work

occupied three days, the Spanish sailors receiving assist-

ance from the natives. 8ome of the canoes were observed

to be ninety-six feet long, hollowed out of a single tree.

Having completed the repairs, the little squadron sailed

along the island to the western extremity, where a

southerly wind prevented further exploration in that

direction. They were accompanied by upwards of seventy

canoes of various sizes. The western promontory of

Jamaica received the name of " Cabo del Buen Tiempo,"

and thence the Admiral shaped a course to return to

the coast of Cuba.

On the 1 8th of May the squadron once more anchored

off the Cuba coast, near the Cape of Santa Cruz ; and

in proceeding westward the vessels found themselves

among an innumerable number of small islets and cays,

necessitating incessant watchfulness to avoid a disaster.

It was a perfect labyrinth, some of the islands being

mere sandbanks, others covered with trees interlaced

with lovely climbing plants brilliant with flowers. It

was impossible to give a separate name to each, so the

Admiral designated the whole archipelago " Jardin de la

Reyna"—the Garden of the Queen. He could have

avoided the dangers and anxieties of this intricate navi-

gation by keeping further out to sea, but he remembered

the description of the further India, that it terminated

with innumerable islands, and he did not wish to keep

at a distance from a country which he believed to be near

the territory of the Grand Khan.

For more than a month he continued to thread the

tortuous channels, on deck day and night. The strain
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on a system already sorely tried by a recent attack of

fever must have been tremendous. Having been told

by one cacique that there was a province far to the west-

ward called Mangon, he came to the conclusion that this

was Mango or Mangi, in the territory of the Grand

Khan, mentioned in the letter of Toscanelli, and by

Marco Polo. The great extent of the coast he had tra-

versed led Columbus to think that Cuba could not pos-

sibly be an island, but that it must needs be part of the

continent—perhaps the "Aureus Chersonesus " of Pto-

lemy. He could think of nothing else, and it preyed

upon his mind. But the provisions were running short,

and it was necessary to return to Espanola.

The mind of the Admiral was overwrought. It was

worn out by incessant watching and want of rest, and a

fever wa.s actually in his veins. The tension was greater

than his frame, enfeebled by his former iUness, could

endure, and for a time his usually sound judgment for-

sook him. This alone can account for the proceeding

recorded in a document preserved in the Seville archives.

It appears that Columbus caused the notary, Perez de

Luna, to take the opinions of all the officers, men, and

boys on board the three caravels as to whether a coast-

line of such immense length was likely to belong to an

island or a continent. Their unanimous conclusion waii

that it was a continent, and this was embodied in a sort

of affidavit with the whole of their names attached.

Penalties consisting of fines and slitting of tongues, with

whippings for the boys, were added if any of them recanted.

The document is dated June 12th, and is witnessed by

the Admiral's steward.* It shows that the Admiral was

not himself, owing to sleeplessness and fever, the pre-

* Navarrete, iL p. 143.
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monitory symptoms of a long and dangerous illness.

There is, however, no cause for regret that the document

was preserved. While it witnesses to the illness of the

Admiral, which relieved him of responsibility for a foolish

proceeding, it has, at the same time, preserved the names

of all his companions in this trying voyage.

They got in wood and water on the Isla de los Pinos,

which Columbus named the " Isla del Evangelista," but

their provisions wei-e at a very low ebb. They had only

biscuits and a little wine, and the daily rations had to be

much reduced, all, including the Admiral, sharing alike.

They, however, received yams and fruits from the natives,

besides doves, which were excellent, and occasionally

they secured a turtle. Returning westward to the Bay

of Santa Cruz, the caravels were anchored there on the

6th of July, and the Admiral landed with a large party

to attend mass, which was said at a temporary altar

among the trees. Great numbers of natives stood round

to witness the ceremony, with awe and veneration.

Among those who watched the service with closest at-

tention was an aged cacique, who afterwards came to the

Admiral and conversed with him through the Guana-

hani interpreter. The old man said : "You have come

to these countries, which you had never seen before,

with great power, and your coming has caused fear

among all the people. I would have you to know that,

according to our belief, there are two places to which

the departed go after death, one evil and the other good.

If you feel that you must die, and that such as your

deeds have been so will be your reward, do not do harm

here to those who have done no harm to you. What

you have now done is good, because you appeared to be

returning thanks to God." The Admiral was surprised
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at the grand simplicity of the old man's speech, and

could only reply that he had been sent by the rich and

powerful kings who were his lords to discover those lands,

with no other object than to seek out those who did evil

to their neighbours, that he had heard there were such

people called Caribs whom he would restrain and hinder,

but that he would honour and do good to all who lived

in peace. The answer appears to have satisfied the

chief, but the conduct of Margarit in the Vega Real

was even then belying the words of Columbus.

The caravels had to return to Espanola in the teeth

of the trade wind, which was blowing fresh. The

Admiral stretched across to Jamaica, and then tried to

beat up along the shore, finding it slow and tedious

work. But he was again enchanted with the beauty

of the scenery, and had very cordial relations with the

people, who followed the vessels in their canoes, and

brought out presents of fresh provisions. At length the

eastern extremity of Jamaica was reached, which was

named " Punta del Farol " (Cape Morant), and the vessels

succeeded in reaching the coast of Espanola on the 20th

of August. The western point, now Cape Tiburon, was

named by Columbus " San Miguel " Proceeding eastward

along the south coast, they were much retarded by the

frequent recurrence of sudden squalls of wind, which

exposed them to some danger, and called for a very close

look out for the sails. In one of these squalls the San

Juan and Cordera parted company with the Nina,

and were lost sight of for some days, owing to the thick

weather and the deluges of rain. Off the southern

extreme of Espanola a soUtarj- rock rises from the sea,

resembling, at a distance, a ship under sail The

Admiral called it " Alta Vela," a name which it still
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retains. Some birds and seals were obtained on the

opposite rooky shore, affording a welcome supply of fresh

food, and on reaching the month of the Neyva river the

two missing caravels again joined company. The valley

of the Neyva was very fertile and populous, and the

friendly people supplied the vessels with all they needed.

Nine men were landed here, with full instructions as to

their route, and with orders to march to the fort of San

Tomas and report the return of the Admiral. The

three vessels resumed their tedious voyage, still en-

countering sudden squalls of wind and rain, and beating

against the foul wind. They took shelter under the lee

of Saona or Adamanez Island, and on the 24th of

September anchored off Mona Isle, in the channel be-

tween Bspafiola and Puerto Rico.

Through all this perilous and harassing navigation,

with failing health and fevered brain, the Admiral had

continued to guide and pilot his little squadron. But

off Mona he completely broke down. The spirit had

fought manfully against the enfeebled body, but nature

at length avenged itself. He became prostrate and

insensible, at times delirious. His people believed that

the great seaman's last hour had come. They made all

possible haste to return, rounding the north-east point

of the island with a fair wind, and anchoring in the

bay of Isabella on the 29th of September 1494. The

Admiral was quite insensible, and so weak that it was

feared he would die before he could be landed. He was

borne on the shoulders of his crew to his house, where

he was tended with affectionate care by his brothers

;

but it was a long and anxious illness, and for some time

he was at death's door. It took five months for him to

reach a state of convalescence. As soon as he recovered
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consciousness he found his beloved brother, whom he

had not seen for six years, seated by his bed side, and

tenderly nursing him through his illness. The joyful

recognition must have conduced more than any other

remedial measure to his complete recovery.

Bartolome had come to devote the rest of his life

to the service of his brother. The Admiral would

no longer be alone when surrounded by envy and

treachery. This devoted brother, firm, valorous, and

stout-hearted, would now be at his side to counsel and

advise, and to carry out his instructions faithfully and

loyally. The one brother in some measure supplied

what was deficient in the other. Bartolome had no

genius, less imagination, was less impulsive, and was

less inclined to overlook the faults and shortcomings

of others. He was more practical, and perhaps better

fitted to deal with the unprincipled men who had come

to the Xew World to seek their fortunes. Another

source of satisfaction to the Admiral was the letter

which Bartolome had brought out with him from

Ferdinand and Isabella. It was dated the 13th of

April, and expressed the full approval of the sovereigns

of all that had been done, as reported by Antonio de

Torres. They expressed their sense of the importance

of the Admiral's services and of his high deserts.

But, on the other hand, Columbus had to be told of

the treachery and desertion of Father Boil and of

Margarit, men in whose honour and conduct he had a

full right to trust implicitly. Their misconduct was

not confined in its consequences to themselves. It

had probably done irremediable injury to the colony,

for the mischief was still at its height. The soldiers,

abandoned by their leader, were spreading dismay over
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the country by their licentiousness and exactions, while

not one single order of the Admiral had been executed.

He had to fa,ce this disastrous state of affairs when he

recovered from his illness.

The internal state of Espanola called for immediate

attention. This splendid island, 200 miles long by 100

broad, was endowed with the richest gifts that tropical

nature could bestow. A central ridge of mountains,

now known as the Sierra de Cibao, rises to considerable

heights. It sends down rivers which form fertile val-

leys to the southern shore, while to the north a coast

range, called the Sierra de Monte Oristi, bars the way

and turns the great rivers Yaqui and Yuma to west and

east. The magnificent plain called the " Vega Real" is

thus formed. The island was densely populated by a

handsome but gentle and peaceful race, whose only arms

were bows and arrows. They belonged to the earliest

and aboriginal people who first reached these islands

from the continent, and multiplied in peace for cen-

turies. But at some time, not perhaps a very long

time, before the arrival of the Spaniards, a second race

had appeared on the scene, whether coming from Florida

or from the Orinoco is uncertain. They were stronger

and better armed than the aborigines, and had occupied

several of the windward islands. Columbus found them

at Guadalupe and Santa Cruz. These Caribs were man-

stealing cannibals, and spread terror in all directions by

their fierce raids and their cruelty. Oaonabd, one of

the most powerful of the chiefs in Espanola, was said

to have been of Carib extraction.

The island was divided between five principal kings

or caciques, with several petty chiefs under each. Gua-

canagari, the first friend of Columbus, ruled a territory
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along the north coast. Guarionex, a chief of noble and

chivalrous character, held sway over the Yega Real, the

region between the two ranges of mountains. The

country of Xaragua, in the south-west, belonged to

Behechio, whose people appear to have been somewhat

more advanced in civilisation than the rest of the

islanders. The central part of the island, with the

mountains of Cibao, was called Mayaguana, and was

the territory of the fierce Carib named Caonab6, the

destroyer of Xavidad, who was married to Anacaona,

the sister of Behechio. The eastern district, called

Higuey, was under a brave chief named Cotabanama.

These five caciques seem to have exercised consider-

able power over their vassals and dependents. But the

nature of their government and religion is very im-

perfectly preserved to us. At their chief residence

there was always a large house forming one room,

with carved images; but this was probably a place of

assembly rather than a temple. Their language is lost,

though some Carib vocabularies exist.

The first event, after the convalescence of the Admiral,

was the arrival of Guacanagari at Isabella. He came

to report that the exactions and cruelties of the soldiers

in the Vega had driven the inhabitants to desperation,

and that the whole country had risen in arms. The

caciques headed the movement, and Caonabo was thirst-

ing to repeat his victory at Xavidad and exterminate

the invaders. One subordinate chief, named Guatiguana,

had taken vengeance on ten soldiers not far from Isa-

bella. Guacanagari offered to assist the Spaniards, and

thus gave an additional proof of his good faith. The

matter was very urgent. The Admiral was not yet suffi-

ciently recovered to take the field in person. By virtue
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of the authority he understood himself to possess as Vice-

roy, he created his brother Bartolomfe—Adelantado, or

Governor of the Indies. This title and dignity were

eventually confirmed by the sovereigns in a royal order

dated July 22, 1497, and Bartolome held them until

his death.

The work thus intrusted to Bartolome as Adelan-

tado was important and difficult. He worked incessantlj'

to prepare arms and accoutrements, to collect the scat-

tered and demoralised troops, and to restore discipline.

At this critical juncture Antonio de Torres arrived with

four caravels laden with welcome provisions and stores,

and having on board a number of useful artizans and

labourers, as well as domestic animals. The Admiral

received another letter from the sovereigns, repeating

their full confidence in him and their sense of the value

of his services. A royal letter was also addressed to

the colonists of Isabella, enjoining them to obey the

orders of their Admiral as if they had been issued by

themselves.

Columbus, much against his will, was dragged into

the necessity of making war upon the natives, owing to

the misconduct of Margarit. His first step was to inflict

chastisement on the chief Guatiguana and his people for

the murder of the Spanish soldiers. This brought the

over-lord Guarionex, chief of the Vega Heal, to Isabella,

where he was kindly received. The Admiral explained

to him the reason that his vassal had been punished,

assured him that the misconduct of Margarit and his

soldiers was contrary to the orders they had received,

and fully satisfied him. Guarionex was a simple and

honourable chief, only desirous of peace for his people.

Before his departure his beautiful daughter was married
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to the Admiral's Guanahani interpreter, who had been

baptized at Barcelona.

The next operation of the Admiral was to prepare for

an encounter with the powerful Caonabi'i, who was at

the head of a large force, including all the discontented

natives who had been ill-treated by the soldiers of Mar-

garit. The Admiral's plan was to establish a cliain of

forts along the road to Gibao, where the Spanish troops

could rest and take refuge. One called " Magdalena "

was built on the Yaqui, and another larger and more

important station, named " Concepcion,' was established

in the Vega Real, under the command of an officer

named Juan de Ayala, Offensive operations were com-

menced by Caonab6, who suddenly surrounded the fort

of " San Tomas," which was defended by Alonzo de

Ojeda. Guatiguana, who alHed himself with the fero-

cious Carib, besieged the fort of " ilagdalena," where

Luis de Arriaga was at the head of a small garrison.

Ojeda was in an impregnable position, and easily re-

pulsed the attacks of the besiegers by the use of fire-

arms. Caonabo therefore withdrew his forces beyond

range, and commenced a blockade in the hope of reduc-

ing the fort by famine. But Ojeda was not a man to

remain quietly behind the walls of his fort. He made
daily sallies with his men, protected by armour, and

each time caused fearful slaughter among the naked

Indians. His activity and valour spread terror among
them, and, after a siege of thirty days, Caonabo retreated.

Then Ojeda proceeded to Isabella and proposed a

stratagem of so audacious and desperate a character that

it could only have been conceived in the brain of this

extraordinary knight-errant. It was worthy of the

youth who performed the mad feat at the summit of



CAPTURE OF CAONABO. 175

the Giralda. He told the Admiral that he would seize

Caonabo in the midst of his warriors, and bring him
bound to Isabella. His plan had been suggested by the

awe with which the Indians listened to the bells of the

Christian church. They thought that the metal was

speaking, that it was a voice from heaven. They called

the bell tureij, and its fame spread over the island.

Caonabo was a believer in the virtues of turey, and in the

virtues of the metals brought by the Spaniards, especiallj'

of brass. Alon zo de jeda prepared some bright manacles,

beautifully polished, which he called turey de Viscaya. He
then set out for the residence of Caonab6, accompanied

by nine followers, all well mounted. On being presented

to the warlike chief, Ojeda said that he was the bearer

of presents from the chief of the Christians called turey

de Viscaya, which had come from heaven, and were of

marvellous virtue. He proposed to Caonab6 that he

should come down to the river at a short distance and

wash, and that then he should put on the turey de Viscaya,

get upon Ojeda's horse, and appear before his vassals

adorned aud mounted. Caonabo was delighted. Ojeda

put the chief on his horse, fitted the manacles on his

wrists, and sprang up behind him. First making a few

circles in view of the chief's followers, and gradually

increasing his distance, he suddenly galloped away at

full speed, followed by his men, carrying Caonab6 off in

the direction of Isabella. When they were safe away

they secured the captive with ropes, and after two or

three days of hard riding brought him into the presence

of the Admiral. The fierce Carib was put in prison, and

he confessed that he had killed Arana and twenty of the

other unfortunate Spaniards at Navidad, and set fire to

their houses with his own hands.
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The natives were at first stunned by this sudden blow.

But soon they began to form a new league against the

invaders, headed by the brother of Caonabo, and his

wife Anacoana, sister of Behechio, chief of Xaragua.

All the other chiefs joined it, with the exception of

Guacanagari. A vast army of natives was assembled in

the Vega Eeal. The Admiral could only muster about

200 infantry and twenty cavalry to oppose it. But

every ten men were provided with a trained mastiff.

The Admiral, accompanied by his brother and Alonzo

de Ojeda, left Isabella with this small force on the 24th

of March 1495. He was supported by a large number

of the vassals of Guacanagari from Marien. The natives,

led by Manicotex, the brother of Caonabo, were 100,000

strong. The Spanish infantry was divided into two

divisions, led respectively by the Admiral and the Ade-

lantado, who were to open fire on the flanks of the

unwieldy army, while Ojeda led the cavalry to an

attack in front. The fire from the arquebuses at once

threw the natives into confusion, and when the horse-

men galloped down upon them, they fled in all directions.

A horrible butchery followed. Without other arms than

arrows, clubs, and wooden spears, their bodies naked and

exposed, the unhappy Indians could make no defence.

The prisoners taken in open war were condemned to

slavery.

The Admiral had, in the previous Februarj', de-

spatched Antonio de Torres to Spain, with four caravels.

All the gold that could be collected was transmitted

direct to the sovereigns, and the cargo consisted of dye-

wood, cotton, and other products of the island. Diego

Columbus also went home, in order that, as a member

of the government during the Admiral's absence, he
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might expose the misstatements of Father Boil and
Margarit. As many as 500 of the prisoners of war
were also shipped, to be sold as slaves at Seville.

It was the anxious desire of Columbus to establish a

peaceful government as soon as possible. There was
complete submission on the part of the natives after the

battle of Vega Real, and the Admiral made a progress

through various parts of the island. A tribute was
imposed, consisting of a Flemish hawk's bell full of

GOLD WASHERS {from Oviedo).

gold from every adult native of the mining district of

Cibao, to be paid every three months, while the natives

of other districts were to pay their tribute in cotton.

This was a tentative measure. The tribute was found

to be too heavy, and it was subsequently reduced, its

character also being changed in some districts. Some

of those who had to pay the tribute in gold gave infor-

mation that the valley of the river Hayna, which falls

into the sea on the south coast, was richer in gold than

the Cibao district. The Admiral sent two Spaniards,

named Francisco de Garay and Miguel Diaz, to explore,
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and afterwards ordered a settlement to be formed on the

banks of the Hayna.

Ferdinand and Isabella retained their confidence in

the sound judgment and integrity of the Admiral, and

were anxious to promote the interests of the colony.

They selected the butler of the chapel royal, Juan de

Aguado, to proceed to the Indies with three caravels

laden with stores and provisions, and to report to them

fully on the state of affairs. He sailed towards the end

of August 1495, ^^^ arrived when the Admiral was

still absent in the interior. Diego Columbus returned

with him, having effectually dispelled any doubts which

might have arisen in the minds of the sovereigns, caused

by the misstatements of the discontented deserters who
had returned to Spain. Aguado was one of those men
whose heads are turned by a little authority. On land-

ing at Isabella he attempted to assume a position which

was quite contrary to his instructions, encouraged the

settlers to bring complaints to him, and gave colour to

the idea that he had come to supersede Coliombus. One

of the most striking features in the character of the

great discoverer was the patience and dignity with which

he endured the insolence of such men as Aguado. WhUe
firmly resisting any encroachment on his authority, he

treated the upstart with uniform courtesy and respect.

Aguado busily collected complaints against the Admiral,

and when he thought he had obtained sufficient evidence

to induce the sovereigns to supersede him and put their

butler of the royal chapel in his place, the informer

announced his intention of returning to Spain.

The Admiral held a long consultation with his

brothers. It was known that the calumnies of Aguado
would he backed by those of other men of a like stamp,
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and would be encouraged by the vindictive and envious

Fonseca. It was therefore decided that Columbus

should return with Aguado and plead his own cause.

There were now six caravels in the port, and they were

all prepared for the voyage home. Columbus was able

to ship 200 ounces of pure gold, including some nuggets

of considerable size, from the new diggings at Hayna.

He also collected numbers of birds of the most beautiful

plumage, and specimens of fruits and plants of all kinds,

including maize, yams, and other articles of food. The

Adelantado Bartolom^ was appointed governor and com-

mander of the forces during the Admiral's absence. A
servant of Columbus, an esquire from the neighbour-

hood of Jaen, who had shown ability on several occasions,

named Francisco Eoldan, was appointed chief magistrate

of Isabella.

"When the caravels were nearly ready to sail a fearful

hurricane burst over the island. Three of the vessels

sank at their anchors, two were dashed to pieces on the

rocks. It became necessary to construct a new caiavel

from the wrecks, which was named the Santa Cruz.

The Nina alone escaped the fury of the hurricane and

was fit for sea. The Admiral embarked in her, taking

Caonabo with him ; and about 220 sick and useless colon-

ists were sent home as passengers. Aguado was in the

other caravel. The two little vessels set sail from Isabella

on the loth of March 1496. For ten days they were

becalmed in sight of Cape San Theramo, now Engafio,

and it was not until the loth of April that they reached

Guadalupe, where they filled up with water and fresh

provisions, preparatory to the voyage across the ocean.

Columbus determined to take a route directly east, to

ascertain the kind of passage it was possible to make
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against the trades. It proved a long and tedious one.

A Carib woman of rank, who had been captured at

Guadalupe, would have been allowed to return to her

people; but she heard from Caonab6 the story of his

misfortunes, conceived a passion for the prisoner, and

resolved to share his captivity. The Admiral intended,

after the fierce chief had visited Spain and received

baptism, to restore him to his people. But Caonab6

abandoned himself to despondency. In spite of the care

and attendance of his new wife, he sickened and died

at sea, not long after the Nina sailed from Guadalupe.

The voyage was so long delayed by light and contrary

winds that it became necessary to reduce the scale of

provisions more and more, until the people began to

suffer from the pangs of hunger. But so accurate was

the Admiral's reckoning that, when still out of sight of

land, he ordered sail to be shortened one day, just before

sunset. The pilots had no idea of the position, but next

morning Cape St. Vincent was in sight. The two

caravels arrived at Cadiz on the i ith of June 1496.

^lost fortunately the Admiral found three caravels at

Cadiz under the command of the pilot, Pero Alonso Xino,

on the point of sailing, with suppKes, to Espanola. He
was thus enabled to announce his safe arrival to his

brother, and to send him further instructions. The

Admiral gave orders that a new town should be founded,

in a more healthy situation than Isabella, on the south

coast of the island, and that a fort should be built near

the gold mines of Hayna. On the 17th of June Xino

sailed for the Indies, and Columbus proceeded on his

way to Seville.

When the Admiral came to the small town of Los

Palacios, near the river Guadalquivir and about fifteen
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miles from Seville, the hospitable and learned Cura came

out to meet him, Columbus remained as the guest

of the good Cura, Dr. Andres Bemaldez, until he

received a reply to the letter he had addressed to the

sovereigns. A friendship was formed between them.

On his departure the Admiral left some of his most

important papers in the care of the Cara of Los Palacios.

Dr. Eernaldez, who was Cura of Los Palacios from 1488

to 1513, was also chaplain to Dr. Deza, Archbi.shop of

>Seville, the old and tried friend of Columbus; and this

probably led to his acquaintance with the Admiral, who

at that time was very deeply impressed ^vith the mercies

he had received, and passed many hours in devotional

e5eici>es. Eernaldez says that the Admiral wore a dress

resembling the habit of the Franciscans, with a cord of

St. Francis round his waist : for he had always affected

that order from gratitude to the brethren of La Rabida.

It is to this visit to Los Palacios that we owe many
interesting details respecting the Jamaica voyage and

other parts of the Admiral's life, which occupy several

chapters in the " Historia de los Reyes Catolicos,'' by

the BachUler Andres Bemaldez.

Ferdinand and Isabella wrote a most cordial letter of

welcome to the Admiral, and invited him to come to

their court at Burgos. The Queen had been to Laredo

on the north-coast, to take a last farewell of her daughter

Juana, who was proceeding to Flanders to be married to

the Archduke Philip. The King was returning from

the frontier at Girona, where he had been making de-

fensive arrangements in consequence of a war that had

broken out with France. They met at Buigos, and

received Columbus with the utmost cordiality. His

delightful conversation and convincing eloquence had



THE BNTAIL. 183

always had a great charm for the Queen, and he fully

and satisfactorily explained the nature and value of his

new discoveries, and the difficulties of the infant colony

in Espanola. The calumnies of Aguado received no cre-

dence whatever, and he was summarily dismissed. The

Admiral presented their Highnesses with the gold he

had brought home, and with many curiosities from the

Indies ; while they confirmed him in his titles and

honours, and granted a licence for him to create a

maijorazgo or entail in favour of his two sons and

their heirs for ever. They also confirmed Bartolom6 in

his title of Adelantado. The entail was created on

February 22,1498. Young Fernando, then barely ten

years of age, received the appointment of page to Queen

Isabella on the i8th of February 1498, and entered

upon his duties. Diego had been a page to Prince

Juan since 1494, and continued in his service until his

death in October 1497, when the Queen received both

the Admiral's sons into her own household.

Orders were given for the equipment of a fleet at Se-

ville, to be placed under the command of the Admiral,

both with the object of discovery and also to supply the

colony with reinforcements and provisions. This was

done in spite of the financial pressure caused by hostili-

ties with France ; and the diificulties of fitting out the

expedition were materially increased by the persistent

obstruction of Dr. Fonseca, who had become Bishop of

Badajos.

At this time Joao II., King of Portugal, died, and was

succeeded by King Emanuel, who reigned from 1495 to

15 2 1. One of the first acts of Emanuel was to equip an

expedition, under Vasco da Gama, to make the first voyage

to India by way of the Cape of Good Hope. Da Gama
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sailed from the Tagus on the 8th of July 1497, doubled

the Gape, and atrived at Calicut, on the coast of Malabar,

in May 1498, returning to Lisbon in September 1499.

In the following year a second expedition was despatched

to India under Pedro Alvarez Cabral, who reached the

coast of Brazil on his way out on the 22nd of April 1500,

and named it Santa Cruz. Proceeding on their way to

India a typhoon struck the ships off the Cape, in which

Bartholomeu Diaz, who commanded one of them,

perished; but Cabral eventually reached Quilon, and

returned safely to Lisbon in July 1501.



CHAPTER X.

THE FOURTH VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY AND
PACIFICATION OF THE COLONY.

The great navigator was no longer the powerful endur-

ing man of sis years before. Exposure, months of

sleepless watching, anxiety, and tropical fevers had at

length done their work. The bright intellect, the vivid

imagination, the gi-eat heart, the generous nature would

be the same until death, but the constitution was shat-

tered. The Admiral now suffered from ophthalmia, gout,

and a complication of diseases. The last six years of his

life was destined to be a time of much and cruel suffering,

aggravated by ingratitude, perfidy, and injustice.

In fitting out the third expedition every petty annoy-

ance and obstruction that the malice of Bishop Fonseca

could invent was used to thwart and delay the Admiral.

Each subordinate ofiicial knew that insolence to the

object of the Bishop's envy and dislike, and neglect of

his wishes, was the surest way to the favour of his chief.

One creature of Fonseca, named Jimeno de Briviesca,

carried his insolence beyond the bounds of the endurance

even of the dignified and long-suffering Admiral, who

very properly took him by the scruff of the neck on one

occasion and kicked him oft' the poop of the flagship.

The delays of Fonseca and his agents caused incalculable

injury to the pubhc service, as will presently appear.
185
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The sovereigns had ordered that six million maravedis,

about ;^2ooo, should be granted for the equipment

of the expedition, and that eight vessels should be

provided. The contractor for provisions was Jonato

Berardi, a Florentine merchant settled at Seville, and,

owing to his death, the contracting work fell upon his

assistant, who was very actively employed on this ser-

vice from April 1497 to May 1498. The dates should

be borne in mind. ^Ye are thus first introduced to

Amerigo Vespucci. Bom at Florence in 145 1, be was

the son of a notary named ZSTastugio Vespucci, and

received his education from a Dominican monk, who

was bis uncle. He claimed Pietro Soderini, afterwards

Gonfaloniere of Florence, as bis schoolfellow, and he

obtained emplojTnent under the Medici. In 1492 Ves-

pucci came to Spain, as a partner of an Italian trader at

Cadiz, named Donato Nicolini, and he afterwards became

the chief clerk or agent of Berardi. It was thus that

Columbus first became acquainted with Amerigo Ves-

pucci, when he had reached the ripe age of forty- five.

As for his provisions a good deal of the meat turned

bad on the voyage, and the contract was not very satis-

factorily carried out. It is strange that this beef and

biscuit contractor should have given his name to the

Xew World. But perhaps not more strange than that

a bacon contractor should be the patron saint of England

and of Genoa.*

The Admiral was most anxious to despatch supplies

and reinforcements to his brother, and he succeeded in

sending off two caravels in advance, under the command
of Hernandez Coronel, who had been appointed chief

" Gibbon's "Decline and Fall," ii. p. 321 (Milman's ed. Murray,

1846).
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magistrate of the colony. The other vessels consisted

of two 7iaos, or ships of a hundred tons, and four

caravels. After months of harassing and unnecessary-

delay they dropped down the Guadalquivir from Seville,

and the Admiral sailed from San Lucar on the 30th of

May 1498. He touched at Porto Santo and Madeira,

and reached Gomera on the 1 9th of May.

Columbus had become aware, through information

collected from the natives of the islands, that there was

extensive land, probably a continent, to the southward.

He had also received a letter from a skilled and learned

jeweller named Jaime Ferrer, dated the 5th of August

1495, in which it was laid down that the most valuable

things came from very hot countries, where the natives

are black or tawny. These and other considerations led

him to the determination of crossing the Atlantic on a

lower parallel than he had ever done before; and he

invoked the Holy Trinity for protection, intending to

name the first land that was sighted in their honour.

But he was impressed with the importance of sending

help to the colony without delay. He therefore detached

one ship and two caravels from Gomera to make the

voyage direct. The ship was commanded by Alonzo

Sanchez de Carbajal of Baeza. One caravel was in-

trusted to Pedro de Arana, brother of Beatriz Enriquez,

and brother-in-law of the Admiral. The other had for

her captain a Genoese cousin, Juan Antonio Colombo.

It will be remembered that Antonio, the brother of

Domenico Colombo and uncle of the Admiral, lived at

the little coast village of Quinto, near Genoa, and had

three sons— Juan Antonio, Mateo, and Amighetto.

When these cousins heard of the greatness and renown

of Oristoforo, they thought at least one of them might
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get some benefit from his prosperity. So the younger

ones gave all the little money they could scrape together

to enable the eldest to go to Spain. His illustrious kins-

man welcomed him with affection, and as he was a sailor

he received charge of a caravel, in which trust he proved

himself, as Las Casas tells us, to be careful, efficient,

and fit for command. The three vessels sailed from

Gomera direct for Espaiiola on the 21st of June.

Columbus continued his voyage of discovery with one

ship and two caravels. Pero Alonzo Xifio, the pilot of

the Ni'ila in the first voyage, was with him. Heman
Perez Matteos was another pUot, and there were a

few other old shipmates in the squadron. The Admiral

touched at Buena Vista, one of the Cape Verde Isles,

remaining at anchor for a few days, and on the 5th of

July he sailed away into the unknown ocean for many
days on a south-west course. His intention was to go

south as far as the latitude of Sierra Leone (8° 30' IS.),

and then to steer west until he reached land. After ten

days the vessels were in the region of calms, and the

people began to suffer from the intense heat. The sun

melted the tar of the rigging, and the seams of the decks

began to open. For days and days the scorching heat

continued, but at length there were some refreshing

showers, and light breezes sprang up from the west.

But their progress was very slow, and the stock of

water was nearly exhausted. So the Admiral ordered

the course to be altered to north-west, in hopes of

reaching Dominica. It was the 31st of July, the people

were parched with thirst, and yet no land had been

seen. In the afternoon of that day the Admiral's ser-

vant, Alonzo Perez of Huelva, went to the mast-head,

and reported land in the shape of three separate peaks.
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Columbus had declared his intention of naming the first

land sighted after the Holy Trinity, and the coincidence

of its appearing in the form of three peaks made a deep

impression on his mind. The island of Trinidad retains

the name to this day. The Admiral gave heartfelt

thanks to God, and all the crews chanted the Salve

Regina, and other hymns of prayer and praise. Mean-

GULF OP PARJA, OK " DE LA BALLENA."

while the little squadron glided through the water,

approaching the newly-discovered land, and Columbus

named the most eastern point " Cabo de la Gal^ra," by

reason of a great rock off it, which at a distance looked

like a galley under sail. All along the coast the trees

were seen to come down to the sea, the most lovely

sight that eyes could rest on ; and at last, on the ist of

August, an anchorage was found, and they were able to
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fill up with water from delicious streams and fountains.

The main continent of South America was seen to the

south, appearing like a long island, and it received the

name of " Isla Santa." The point near the watering-

place was called "Punta de la Playa."

The western end of the island was named " Punta del

Arenal," and here an extraordinary phenomenon pre-

sented itself. A violent current was rushing out,

through a channel or strait not more than two leagues

wide, causing great perturbation of the sea with such

an uproar of rushing water, that the crews were filled

with alarm for the safety of the vessels. The Admiral

named the channel " La Boca de la Sierpe." He piloted

his little squadron safely through it and reached the

Gulf of Paria, named by him "GoEo de la BaUena."

The land to the westward, forming the mainland of

Paria, received the name of " Isla de Gracia." Stand-

ing across to the we.stem side of the gulf, the Admiral

was delighted with the beauty of the country and with

the view of distant mountains. Xear a point named
" Aguja " the country was so fruitful and charming

that he called it " Jardines,'' and here he saw many
Indians, among them women wearing bracelets of pearls,

and when they were asked whence the pearls were

obtained they pointed to the westward. As many
pearls as could be bartered from the natives were col-

lected for transmission to the sovereigns, for here was

a new source of wealth, another precious commodity

from the Xew World.

Columbus was a.stonished at the vast mass of fresh

water that was pouring into the Gulf of Paria. He
correctly divined the cause, and made the deduction that

a river with such a volume of water must come from a
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great distance. His prescient mind showed him the

mighty river Orinoco, the wide savannas, and the lofty

range of the Andes ; bvit the trammels of the erroneous

measurements of astronomers bound them to Asia, and

prevented him from picturing them to himself in the

New World he had really discovered. That the land

must be continuous appeared to be proved, not only

from the deductions of science, but also from the Word
of God. For he believed it to be established from the

revealed word (2 Esdras. vi. 42) that the ocean only

covered one-seventh of the globe, and that the other

six-sevenths was dry land. Moreover, his splendid in-

tellect was united with a powerful imagination. When
he had grasped the facts with masterly intuition, his

fancy often raised upon them some strange theory de-

rived partly from his extensive reading, partly from his

own teeming brain. Thinking that a long and rapid

course was insufficient to account for the volume of

water and the violence of the currents, he conceived the

idea that the earth, though round, was not a perfect

sphere, and that it rose in one part of the equinoctial

line so as to be somewhat of a pear shape. Thus he

accounted for the exceptional volume of water by the

notion of rivers flowing down from the end of the pear.

One step further in the realms of fancy, and he indulged

in the dream that this centre and apex of the earth's

surface, with its mighty rivers, could be no other than

the terrestrial paradise. Writing as one thought coursed

after another in his teeming fancy, we find these passing

whims of a vivid imagination embodied in the journal

intended for the information of the sovereigns.

But time was passing on, and it was important that

be should convey the provisions with which his vessels
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were loaded to his infant colony. He had seen that

another narrow channel led from the northern side of

the gulf, and had named it "Boca del Dragon." On
the 1 2th of August he had piloted his vessels to the

Punta de Paria, and prepared to pass through the

channel. At that critical moment it fell calm, while

the two currents flowed violently towards the opening,

where they met and formed a broken, confused sea.

But the Admiral made use of the currents, and by the

exercise of consummate seamanship took his three ves-

sels clear of the danger and out into the open sea. The

islands of Tobago and Grenada were sighted, receiving

the names of "Asuncion" and " Concepcion." Then

the rocks and islets to the westward came in view, named

the "Testigos" and " Guardias," and the island "Mar-

garita." The latter name shows that the Admiral had

obtained correct information from the natives of Paria

respecting the locality of the pearl-fishery.

The Admiral now crowded all sail to reach Espaflola,

intending to make a landfall at the mouth of the river

Azuma, where he knew that his brother the Adelantado

had founded the new city, and named it San Domingo
in memory of their old father, Domenico Colombo. But

the current carried him far to the westward, and on the

19th of August he sighted the coast fifty leagues to lee-

ward of the new capital. On hearing of his arrival on

the coast, Bartolome got on board a caravel and

joined him; but it was not until the 31st that the two

brothers entered San Domingo together, the Admiral for

the first time. Young Diego, the third and youngest

brother, welcomed them on their arrival.

The Admiral had been absent for two years and a

half, during which time the Adelantado had conducted
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the govei'nment of the colony with remarkable vigour

and ability. Yet, owing to the mutinous conduct of the

worst of the settlers, there was a very disastrous report

to make.

When the Adelantado assumed the command on the

departure of the Admiral for Spain in March 1496, his

first step, in compliance with the instructions he had re-

ceived, was to proceed to the valley on the south side of

the island, in which the gold-mine of Hayna was situated,

and to build a fort which he named " San Cristoval." He
next, having I'eeeived supplies and reinforcements, to-

gether with letters from the Admiral, by the three cara-

vels under Nino, took steps for the foundation of the

now capital. Still following his brother's instructions,

he selected a site at the mouth of the river Azuma,

where there was good anchorage in the bay, and a fertile

valley along the banks of the river. On a bank com-

manding the harbour a fortress was erected and named

San Domingo, while the city was subsequently built on

the east bank of the river. It became the capital of

the colony. Before long Isabella, on the north coast,

was entirely abandoned. Trees soon grew up in the

streets and through the roofs of the houses. It pre-

sented a scene of wild desolation, and ghosts were be-

lieved to wander in crowds through the abandoned city.

Euins of the house of Columbus, of the church and the

fort, can still be traced out by those who penetrate into

the dense jungle which now covers that part of the coast.

The next proceeding of the indefatigable Adelantado

was the settlement of the beautiful province of Xaragua,

forming the south-western portion of the island. It was

ruled over by a chief named Behechio, with whom dwelt

the famous Anacaona, his sister, widow of Caonabo,
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but, unlike that fierce Carib, a constant friend of the

Spaniards. Behechio met the Adelantado in battle array

on the banks of the river Xeyva, the eastern boundary of

his dominions. But as soon as they were informed that

the eri-and of the Spanish governor was a peaceful one,

both Behechio and Anacaona, who was a princess of

great ability and of a most amiable disposition, received

him with cordial hospitaht)'. When, after a time, he

opened the subject of tribute to them, the}- showed

opposition. But Bartolome proved himself to be a

masterly diplomatist, and in the end Behechio not only

consented to impose a tribute, the details of which were

amicably arranged, but undertook to collect and deliver

it periodically to the Spanish authorities. These Indians

were quite ready to submit to beings who appeared to

be superior in power and intelligence to themselve-. If

the sovereigns of Spain had trusted Columbus and his

brothers fully and completely, had established trading

stations and imposed a moderate tribute, and had abso-

lutely prohibited the overrunning of the country by

penniless and worthless adventurers, they would have

had a rich and prosperous colony. The discontent and

rebellion of the natives was solely caused by the miscon-

duct of the Spaniards.

An insurrection broke out in the Vega Real, headed by

the chief Guarionex, who, after suffering innumerable

wrongs from the Spaniards, was at last driven to despera-

tion by an outrage on his wife. He assembled with a num-

ber of dependent caciques ; but the news was promptly

communicated to the garrison of Fort Concepcion, and

forwarded to San Domingo. The Adelantado stamped

out the rebellion with his accustomed vigour. He came

by forced marche.-' to Concepcion, and thence, without
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stopjiing, to the camp of the natives, who were com-

pletely taken by surprise. Guarionex and the other

caciques were captured, and their followers dispersed.

Always generous after victory, Bartolome Columbus re-

leased Guarionex at the prayer of his people—a measure

which was alike magnanimous and politic. But it was

impossible to rule over the natives satisfactorily unless

the Spanish settlers could be forced to submit to the laws,

and the Adelantado was not powerful enough to keep

the bad characters in subjection. The loyal and decent

men of the colony were in a small minority. The con-

sequence was that the unfortunate Guarionex was again

goaded into insurrection. On the approach of the Ade-

lantado he fled into the mountains of Ciguey on the

north-east coast, and took refuge with a dependent

cacique named Mayobanex, whose residence was near

Cape Cabron, the western extreme of the Samana penin-

sula. A difficult and arduous mountain campaign fol-

lowed, which Bartolome conducted with remarkable

military skill. It ended in the capture and imprisonment

of both the chiefs.

Behechio now announced that he had collected the

required tribute, consisting of a very large quantity of

cotton, and that it was ready for delivery. The Ade-

lantado therefore proceeded to Xaragua, and not only

found this great store of cotton, but received an offer

from the generous chief to supply him with as much

cassava bread as he needed for the use of the colony.

This was a most acceptable present, for the lazy, ill-

conditioned settlers had neglected to cultivate their

fields, and a famine was imminent. The Adelantado

ordered a caravel to be sent round to Xaragua to be

freighted with cotton and bread, and returned himself
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to Isabella after takinrr a cordial farewell of his native

friends. He had shown extraordinary talent in his

government of the native population, and his rule had

been a complete success. Always moderate in victory,

he had suppressed the insurrection.s without bloodshed,

and had conciliated the people by his moderation. He
had made long and difficult marches, had subdued

opposition by his readiness of resource and energy, and

had administered the native affairs with humanity and

excellent judgment.

Unfortunately his power was insufficient to cope suc-

cessfully with the insubordinate iSpaniards. The ring-

leader of the mutineers was Francisco Eoldan, a man
whom Columbus had raised from the dust. He had

been a servant, and the Admiral, noting his ability,

had intrusted him with some judicial fvinctions. When
he sailed for Spain he appointed Eoldan chief-justice

of the colony. This ungrateful miscreant fostered dis-

content and mutiny by every art of persuasion and

calumny at his command, and soon had a large band of

worthless and idle ruffians ready to follow his lead. His

first plan was to murder the Adelantado and seize the

government, but he lacked the courage or the oppor-

tunity to put it into execution. His next step was to

march into the A'ega Eeal with seventy armed mutineers,

and attempt to surprise Foi-t Concepcion. The garrison

was commanded by a loyal soldier named Miguel Ballester,

who closed the gates and defied the rebels, sending to the

Adelantado for help. Bartolome at once hastened to

his assistance, and on his arrival at Fort Concepcion he

sent a messenger to Eoldan, remonstrating with him,

and urging him to return to his duty. But Eoldan

found his force increasing by the adhesion of all the
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discontented men in the colony, and his insolence in-

creased with his power. All would probably have been

lost, but for the opportune arrival of Pedro Hernandez

Coronel in February 1498, who had been despatched from

San Lucar by the Admiral in the end of the previous

year with reinforcements. He also brought out the

confirmation of Bartolome's rank as Adelantado.

The Adelantado was thus enabled to leave Fort Con-

cepcion and establish his headquarters at San Domingo.

He sent Coronel as an envoy to Roldan, to endeavour

to persuade him to return to his duty ; but the mutineer

feared to submit, believing that he had gone too far for

forgiveness. He marched into the province of Xaragua,

where he allowed his dissolute followers to abandon

themselves to every kind of excess. The three caravels

which had been despatched from Gomera by the Admiral

unfortunately made a, bad landfall, and appeared off

Xaragua. Roldan concealed the fact that he was a

leader of mutineers, and receiving the captains in his

official capacity, induced them to supply him with stores

and provisions, while his followers busily endeavoured

to seduce the crews, and succeeded to some extent.

When Eoldan's true character was discovered, the cara-

vels put to sea with the loyal part of their crews, while

Alonzo Sanchez de Oarbajal, a loyal and thoroughly

honest man, who was zealous for the good of the colony,

remained behind to endeavour to persuade Roldan to

submit to the Admiral's authority. He only succeeded

in obtaining from him a promise to enter into negotia-

tions with a view to the termination of the deplorable

state of affairs he had created, and with this Oarbajal

proceeded to San Domingo.

Such was the state of affairs when Columbus arrived
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at the new seat of his government. His brother had

ruled with vigour and ability during his absence, had

administered native affairs very successfully, but his

power had been insufficient to subdue the band of

Spanish miscreants who were still in open mutiny.

The Admiral was filled with' grief and disappointment

at the turn affairs had taken. A thoroughly loyal man
himself, with no thought or desire but for the good of

the colony, he was thwarted by treacherous miscreants,

who cared for nothing but the accimiulation of riches

for themselves, and for a life of indulgence and licentious

ease. After long consideration he resolved upon a policy

of conciliation. The unsettled state of affairs was bring-

ing ruin on the island, and the restoration of peace was

an absolute necessity. The magnanimous Genoese wa.s

incapable of personal resentment. The men themselves

were indeed beneath his contempt ; but he felt bound to

treat with them, and even to make great concessions, if

nece.ssary, for the good of the public service. The wel-

fare of the colony was hi.s sole object, and he did not

h&sitate to sacrifice every personal feeling to his sen.se

of duty. It is with some impatience that one finds the

grand schemes of discovery and colonisation interrupted

by such contemptible means, and the course of the nar-

rative checked by the necessity for recording, however

briefly, the paltry dissensions of vile miscreants such as

Pioldan and his crew.

The mutineers were most unwilling to make any agree-

ment. They were leading the soi-t of lawless and licen-

tious life that exactly suited them, and were disinclinfid

to submit to any authority. The interest-s of their

leaders, however, were not quite the same, and the

acceptance of advantageous terms would suit them. Car-
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bajal was employed by the Admiral to conduct the

negotiations, while the veteran Ballester returned to

Spain in November 1498 with the news of the i-ebelHon,

and a request from the Admiral that a learned and im-

partial judge might be sent out to decide all disputes.

It was finally agreed that Roldan should return to his

duty, still retaining the office of chief justice ; that all

past offences should be condoned, and that he and liis

followers should receive grants of land, with the services

of tho Indians. The Admiral consented to these terms

most unwillingly, and under the conviction that this was

the only way to avoid the greater evil of civil dissension.

He resolved, however, that any future outbreak must be

firmly and vigorously suppressed by force. Although

Roldan had now resumed his position as a legitimate

official ready to maintain order, it could hardly be

expected that his fatal example would not be followed

by other unprincipled men of the same stamp, when

the opportunity offered.

Trouble arose owing to the conduct of a young Casti-

lian named Hernando de Guevara. Roldan was estab-

lished in Xaragua, when the youthful gallant arrived at

the house of his cousin, Adrian de Mujica, one of the

ringleaders in Roldan's mutiny, and fell in love with

Higueymota, the daughter of Anacaona. Guevara, for

some misconduct, had been ordered by the Admiral to

leave the island, but instead of obeying he had made

his way to Xaragua, and caused trouble by this love

passage, for he had a rival in Roldan himself, who

ordered him to desist from the pursuit of the daughter

of Anacaona, and to return to San Domingo. Guevara

refused to obey, but he was promptly arrested and sent

as a prisoner to the capital. When his cousin Mujica,
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who was then in the Vega Real, received the news, he

raised a mutiny, offering rewards to the soldiers if they

would follow him in an attempt to rescue Guevara.

The Admiral, though suffering from illness, showed

remarkable energy on this occasion. Marching verj'

rapidly at the head of eighteen chosen men, he surprised

the mutineers, captured the ringleader, and carried him

off to the fort of Concepcion. Some severity had now

become incumbent upon the authorities, and Mujica was

condemned to death. The Admiral regretted the neces-

sity, but in no other way could a motive be supplied to

deter others from keeping the country in a constant state

of lawless disorder. Guevara, Riquelme, and other dis-

orderly characters were imprisoned in the fort at San

Domingo, and by August 1500 peace was quite estab-

lished throughout the island.

Thus had Columbus restored tranquillity to the colony.

By prudent and conciliatory negotiation, during which

he had exercised the most wonderful self-abnegation and

patience, he had succeeded in averting the serious danger

caused by the formidable revolt of Pioldan. But as the

habit of disorder was threatening to become chronic, he

wisely took another way with the sedition of Mujica,

maintaining order by a resor<; to prompt and vigorous

action, and making a salutary example which was calcu-

lated to be deterrent in its effects.

With the restoration of peace trade revived and pros-

perity began to return. The receivers of grants of land

found that they had a stake in the country, and sought

to derive profit from their crops. Similar activity

appeared at the mines, and the building at San Domingo
progressed rapidly. The Admiral began to hope that

the first troubles incident to an infant colony were over,
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and that the time had arrived for Spain to feel the

advantages of his great achievement. He now looked

forward to further and more important discoveries fol-

lowed by colonization on the main continent.

Yet at this very time a blow was about to come from

a quarter whence it was least to be expected, which was

destined to shatter all the hopes of this long-suffering

man, and dissipate all his bright visions of the future.



CHAPTEE XL

COLUMBUS IN CHAINS.

Hitherto the Spanish sovereigns had kept their faith

with Columbus. They had supported him with generous

consistency, had fully acknowledged the greatness of his

services, and had understood and made allowances for

the extraordinary difficulties of his position. They had

steadily pursued this honourable and politic Kne of con-

duct in spite of the calumnies that had been poured into

their ears, at the instigation of Bishop Fonseca, by the

deserters from the colony. The change in their conduct,

after Columbus left Spain in 1498, is attributed to the

incessant repetition of new complaints against the Ad-

miral. Crowds of discontented adventurers returned by

every ship. At one time about fifty of these malcon-

tents frequented the court of the Alhambra, when the

sovereigns were at Granada. They declared that they

could afford to eat nothing but grapes, and brought

bunches with them, while they shouted for justice.

Their insolence rose to such a pitch that when the King

crossed the court they crowded round him, crying " Pay

us ! pay us !
" The two sons of the Admiral were then

Queen's pages, and if one of them was seen the trucu-

lent crowd called after him : " There goes the Admiral's

son, the spawn of the big mosquito who has discovered

countries of vanity and deceit for the misery and death
2(K
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of Castilians;" and added such insults that the lads

excused themselves from passing near the shameless

mendicants.

But all this neither explains nor excuses the conduct

of the sovereigns. They had heard the same or kindred

calumnies before, which had been disproved to their satis-

faction, and had not caused any change in their policy.

There must have been some other reason. The real

truth appears to have been that Ferdinand was deeply

impressed with the importance of the discovery, and the

vast and far-reaching consequences to which it was likely

to lead. When he consented to grant the concession to

Columbus he was sceptical of any result, and believed

he was granting nothing of any value. But when he

became convinced of the true greatness of the achieve-

ment, he at the same time became anxious to curtail,

and if possible to withdraw, the concession. Fonseca, in

the hope of gratifying his malignant spite, was only too

glad to represent this contemplated breach of faith as

wise and politic. He granted permission for voyages of

discovery to be undertaken without the knowledge or

consent of Columbus, and in direct contravention of his

rights as Admiral. But it was his position as Viceroy

that Ferdinand was most anxious to assail. His super-

session, without trial or previous hearing and judgment,

would be a very shameful and dishonourable breach of

faith, but it was one to which Isabella was at length

induced to consent. It is probable that she yielded to

the plausible representations of her husband.

Francisco Bobadilla, a Comendador of the Order of

Calatrava, was selected to supersede the Admiral, and

was appointed governor and judge of the island during

royal pleasure, with extraordinary powers to investigate
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complaints, and with a number of blank papers signed

by the sovereigns, which he was empowered to fill up

at his discretion. A curt letter was addressed to the

Admiral, desiring him to deliver up charge to Boba-

dilla, and to give faith and obedience to whatever that

official should impart. The appointment is dated Mav
21, 1499. ^o worse selection could possibly have been

made. Bobadilla had no single quality to recommend

him for such a post. His arrogance and insolence were

not more conspicuous than his incapacity. Two cara-

vels, called the Antu/ua and the Gorda, were fitted out

to convey him to Espanola, and he was furnished with a

guard of honour consisting of twentv-five picked soldiere.

He sailed from Cadiz in .June 1500.

On Sunday, the 23rd of Augu.^t 1500, when dawn

broke, two strange sail were reported off the harbovir

of San Domingo. The Admiral was in the Vega Real,

busily engaged in establishing order and settling the

affairs of the district. The Adelantado was absent in

Xaragua, occupied with .similar administrative work.

The youngest brother, Don Diego Columbus, was in

command at San Domingo, and sent out a canoe to the

caravels, which were waiting for the tide to take them

up the river. The men in the canoe returned with the

news that from one of the caravels a man had hailed

them, declaring that he was an examining judge ap-

pointed by the King and Queen to investigate all that

had happened in the island, and desiring them to report

his approach to Don Diego. Bobadilla did not land

until the nest morning. He then conducted himself in

the most extravagant manner. He first marched to the

church to hear mass, preceded by his bodyguard. He
then sent for Don Diego, and ordered him to deliver up
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the prisoners in the fort, including Riquelme and Guevara.

Don Diego, as well as Miguel Diaz, the governor of the

fort, represented that they could not act without orders

from the Admiral, and requested that they might be

allowed time to communicate with him. Bobadilla would

not wait. He and his bodyguard attacked the fort,

although there was no resistance, broke the door down,

liberated the criminals, and carried them in triumph

through the street of San Domingo. This outrageous

conduct was followed by further unjustifiable violence.

He broke open the Admiral's house and occupied it as

his own, appropriating all the private papers and other

property, and all the treasure it contained. The inso-

lent robber then seized upon Don Diego, loaded him

with irons, and confined him in the hold of one of the

caravels in the river.

The Admiral received the news of Bobadilla's arrival

from a messenger sent by his brother, and at once com-

menced his journey to San Domingo, forwarding a letter

of welcome in advance. Meanwhile the absurd creature,

who had seized the government, gave orders of all kinds,

and threw everything into confusion. Among other

decrees he issued one, in order to court popularity with

the mob, by which he reduced the royal fifth due from

the produce of mines to an eleventh, and granted free

leave for every one to use the mines and gold washings

as they pleased. He also devoted much time to the col-

lection of false accusations against the Admiral.

Columbus resolved to submit loyally and unresei-vedly

to the orders of the Queen, as interpreted by her chosen

representative. He proceeded to San Domingo almost

unattended. He was arrested outside the town, loaded

with irons, and imprisoned in the fort, with orders that
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no one was to be allowed to speak with him. He bore

all with silent dignity, not condescending to utter a

word of complaint. He had sent to Bartolome, who

was at the head of a large force in Xaragua, to come at

once to San Domingo. On his arrival he was treated in

the same way.

There could be no degradation to the Admiral. His

reputation was raised by the cowardly insults of the

wretch who had been so improperly clothed with a little

brief authority, for he received them with the calm dig-

nity of a noble nature. The disgrace and degradation

fell on the Queen, and through her on the Spanish nation,

and so it was generally felt. Bobadilla must have

thought that his outrageous conduct would please Fon-

seca, and be approved by Ferdinand ; so that there can

be no doubt that he had received hints, which he inter-

preted too literally. The intense stupidity and dulness

of the outrage is its most striking feature, for if Boba-

dilla had been gifted with a grain of common sense he

must have known that even Fonseca would repudiate

such coarse brutality. The conviction of his successor's

incapacity must have been the hardest thing for the

Admiral to bear. Just when peace had been secured,

when orderly government was established and prosperity

was reviving, it was heartrending to see the deUcate

machinery handed over to this wretched creature, with

the inevitable resialt that the colony would be thrown

back into confusion and ruin.

Alonso Vallejo, the captain of the caravel Gorda,

was ordered to receive Bartolome and Diego on board,

and then to proceed to the fort with some men-at-arms

to receive the custody of the Admiral. " Vallejo,

whither do you take me ? " asked Columbus, believing
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that he was about to be murdei'ed. " Sir, I am to take

you on board the ship." Still doubtful of his fate, he

said, " Vallejo, is it true ? " " By the life of our Lady,"

exclaimed the honest sailor, " it is true that I am to take

you on board." The Admiral was satisfied. He soon

found himself with his brothers, and early in October

1500 the caravel sailed from San Domingo. They were

scarcely out of sight of land when Vallejo and Andres

Martin, the owner of the vessel, presented themselves

before the Admiral. Though in the employment of

Ponseca they were gentlemen, and were filled with

shame and sorrow at the base treatment of so great a

man. Both threw themselves on their knees to remove

the irons. But the Admiral would not consent. He
warmly thanked his generous hosts, but he said that he

had been manacled by the Queen's representative, and

by the Queen's order alone should the irons be removed. (^)

The voyage was a quick and prosperous one, and the

Admiral was treated with the respect and attention due

to his high rank and to his mighty achievements.

While at sea he wrote a letter to Doria Juana de

Torres, formerly nurse of Prince Juan, and sister of the

Admiral's true and loyal friend, Antonio de Torres.

This lady was a great favourite of the Queen, and it was

probably intended that its contents should be made

known to Isabella. In reading this touching letter one

is surprised at the calmness with which he speaks of his

wrongs, and at his confident reliance on the justice of

the Queen after all that had passed, when she really

knew the truth. Columbus was firmly convinced that

he was a humble instrument chosen by God to carry out

His designs for the discovery of the New World. " God

made me the messenger of the new heaven and the new
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eai-th of which He spake in the Apocalypse of 8t. John,

after having spoken of it bv the mouth of Isaiah."

He had dreams and visions which impressed themselves

deeply on his mind. On one particular occasion, when

he was surrounded by difficulties, and without the means

of paying the troops, it was on Christmas Day 1499, he

was sitting alone and in deep dejection. Suddenly he

thought he heard a voice: "Take courage. Be not

afraid nor fear. I wiU provide for all." On that verj'

day the discovery of a rich gold-yielding district was

announced. The coincidence made so deep an impres-

sion that he mentioned it in more than one of hi^

letters.

In his letter to his lady friend he refers to the in-

numerable contests he had had with the ill-usage of the

world, and to his conquest in all of them until now,

when he finds that neither strength nor prudence will

avail, and he has been reduced to the lowest ebb. But

he takes courage. Hope in TTiTn who created us all is

his support. His help he has ever found near at hand

;

and he then mentions the words of encouragement he

thought he heard on that Christmas Day. He believed

in the special help of the Almighty because he was a

chosen instrument to work out the divine will.

He then speaks gratefully of the Queen. All were

incredulous when he explained his great idea, except

only his royal mistress, to whom the Lord gave the spirit

of intelligence and great courage, and made her the

heiress of all, as a dear and well-beloved daughter. He
now appeals to her for just judgment. He is judged,

he says, as if he was a governor who had been sent to

some province or city under regular government. He
ought to be judged as a captain sent from Spain to the
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Indies, where by divine will he subdued another world

to the dominion of the King and Queen, our sovereigns

;

in consequence of which Spain, that used to be poor, is

now the most wealthy of kingdoms. He ought to be

judged as a captain who for so many years has borne

arms, never quitting them for an instant. He ought

to be judged by cavaliers who have themselves won the

meed of victory—by knights of the sword, not by lawyers.

He then gives a temperate account of the recent

occurrences, dwelling on his discovery of the pearl-

fishery, on the disloyalty of the mutineers, on his un-

willingness to inflict the punishment of death on Mujica,

and on his final establishment of quiet when Bobadilla

arrived. " By that time everything was quiet, the land

was thriving, and the people at peace." He describes

the conduct of Bobadilla with marvellous calmness con-

sidering the provocation he had received, alludes to the

robbery of his papers and treasure, and complains of

the false accusations and cruel calumnies to which he

has been exposed. Finally, he speaks with simple

humility of his faults, and expresses confidence in the

justice of the sovereigns. "I know assuredly that the

errors which I may have fallen into have been com-

mitted without any intention of doing wrong, and I

think their Highnesses will believe me when I say so.

If I have been in error, it is innocently and under the

force of circumstances, as they will shortly understand

beyond all doubt."

This letter is the production of a large-hearted, simple-

minded man, bowed down by injustice and wrong, but

confident in the justice of his cause. It was sure to

make a deep impression on such a woman as Isabella,

who on many points was in sympathy with her illus-
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trious servant. Columbus had true friends in his noble-

minded jailers. Andres Martin, as soon as the caravel

was anchored in the bay of Cadiz, on the 20th of

Kovember 1500, sent a messenger ofE to Granada with

the letters written by the Admiral during the voyage.

He thus managed that they should arrive at court

before Fonseca would have time to transmit Bobadilla's

malicious calumnies.

The discoverer of the New World had arrived at Cadiz

a prisoner, and in chains. The disgraceful news spread

through the country, and excited the most lively indig-

nation and sympathy. The chivalrous nation was hurt

to the quick. The whole people felt shamed and humi-

liated at an outrage the perpetration of which was ^o

repugnant to the nature of a self-respecting and noble

race. Ferdinand, and even Fonseca, had to dissemble

and express the same feeling, if they had it not. The

Queen truly felt with her people. She shed tears over

the letter received by Dona Juana de Torres. Orders

were at once despatched to the Governor of Cadiz to set

the Admiral and his brothers at liberty, and to treat

them with all possible distinction. A sum of 2000

ducats was ordered to be paid to them for their equip-

ment, and they were invited to attend the court at

Granada. The sovereigns also addressed a most affec-

tionate letter of welcome to the Admiral After a short

stay at Seville, Columbus and his brothers arrived at

Granada on the 17th of December 1500.

When the grey-headed man, bowed down by hardships

and diseases contracted in their service, stood before the

sovereigns in the royal hall of the Alhambra, they were

embarrassed for a moment, as well they might be. Then

they both rose from their thrones as the Admiral threw



COLUMBUS. (From the old engravimj of the Pmihis Jovius portrait.)



212 APPOINTMENT OF OVANDO.

himself on his knees before them. Isabella shed tears,

and even Ferdinand was profoundly moved. It was

some time before Columbus could speak, so deep was his

emotion. At length he gave expression to his loyalty

and zeal, and protested the rectitude of his intentions in

all that he had done. But the Queen would not suffer

him to proceed. She assured him that the wrongs

inflicted upon him had been without the authority and

contrary to the wishes of the sovereigns, that they in-

jured the prestige of the throne, and that the Admiral's

innocence was already established. Fonseca and his

myrmidons had to keep out of sight, while the letters of

Bobadilla were not even read. The Admiral was treated

with great consideration, the restoration of all his rights

in due time was promised, and the King and Queen took

frequent opportunities of showing him favour.

The recall of Bobadilla was the first and most urgent

act of retributory justice. Fray Xicolas de Ovando, the

Comendador of Lares, of the order of C'alatrava, who was

appointed to succeed him, received orders to see that all

their papers, gold, and property of all kinds, were restored

to Columbus and his brothers. If anything was missing

it was ordered that Bobadilla should make it good.

Ovando was a man of strict integrity but narrow mind,

and with no administrative capacity. He is said to have

been respected, if not liked, by the Spaniards. Las

Casas, who was his friend, admitted that he was unfit to

govern Indians. His want of s^Tnpathy or imagination

made him callous to their sufferings, and his inhuman

cruelty equalled anything that has been recorded of any

conqueror in the Xew World. He went out in the larjrest

fleet that had yet left the shores of Spain, consisting of

thirty-two ships and caravels under the command of



COLUMBUS AT GRANADA. 213

Antonio de Torres. It conveyed 2500 men to the colony,

live stock, seeds and agricultural tools, and a large supply

of provisions. Bartolomfe de las Casas visited the New
World for the first time in this fleet. Ovando sailed

from San Lucar on the 13th of February 1502, and

arrived at San Domingo on the 15th of the following

April. Bobadilla and the mutineer Roldan were to be

sent home for trial when the ships returned.

Columbus protested against the appointment of

Ovando, as infringing his rights and privileges. It

was therefore limited to two years, and the Admiral was

assured that as soon as numerous pending questions

were settled, and the government was firmly established,

his suspended rights would be restored to him. He
remained for several months in attendance on the court

at Granada, enjoying the society of his two sons, and

the acquaintance of men of education and literary tastes.

Among his new friends was Angelo Trivigiano, the

secretary to the Venetian Embassy. Trivigiano had

previously been secretary to Dominico Malipieri, the

celebrated Admiral, who was anxious to obtain full

information respecting the discoveries and maps of

Columbus. Trivigiano addressed a letter to Malipieri

from Granada on August 21, 1501.* He said that he

had formed a great friendship for Columbus, who was then

deprived of his rights, not in favour with King Ferdinand,

and with little money. With the Admiral's help he had

arranged to have a map of the discoveries drawn at Palos,

for transmission to Malipieri. The Admiral also promised

to give his friend copies of all the reports he had sent to

Ferdinand and Isabella. Abstracts of two other letters

* Given by Cardinal Zurla in his edition of Marco Polo (1818), and

reprinted by Harrisse, ii. p. 119.
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of Trivigiano have been preserved, dated in September

1501 and early in 1502, on the same subject. They

show the eagerness with which information respecting

the work of the great discoverer was sought for, and

also throw a pleasant light on the society in which

Columbus mingled while at Granada.

The Admiral was relieved of the wearing anxieties of

administration ; but his active mind could have no rest.

During the residence of a year at Granada his thoughts

returned to the recovery of the Holy SepiJchre, and to

an examination of the prophecies. He studied the

latter subject with great ardour and enthusiasm, seek-

ing for references to the discovery of the Indies, and

to the expulsion of infidels from the holy places. His

ardent imagination fostered the illusion that the vast

riches derived from discoveries in the Indies would

enable him to lead a new crusade, rescue the Holy

Sepulchre from the infidels, and enable Christians to

realise the passion of the E^deemer on the spot where

He suffered, without fear of molestation. Such notions

were quite suited to the spirit of the age in which he

lived. Columbus devoted many hours of each day to the

study of the Holy Scriptures, and of the most noted com-

mentators among the early Fathers of the Church. He
was guided and assisted in his researches by a great

friend, who was a monk in the Carthusian monastery of

Santa ilaria de Las Cuevas at Seville, named Caspar

Gorricio. The result of these studies was a work which

he entitled

—

Manrjjulv.-s de auetoritatibus dictis ac serden-

tiis et projjhetiis circa materiara recuperandcB ianctcB civi-

tatis et moniis Dei Sion. This interesting manuscript

volume, now known as the Profecios. is still preserved

in the Columbian Library at Seville. It contains all the
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prophecies in the Bible which appear to have any bearing

on the matters in hand, and is preceded by a letter

addressed to the sovereigns, in which Columbus endea-

voured to stir their hearts in favour of an enterprise

which seemed to him to be for the good of Christendom.

Many thoughtful Christians of that age besides Colum-

bus believed with him that his discoveries were made
under divine guidance, and that he was, as Jaime Ferrer,

the lapidary, puts it in his letter of August 1495, ^^^^

"Ambassador of God." Nor was the recovery of the

holy places considered in any other light than as a

practical scheme that, in the opinions of many, pro-

bably the majority of Christians, ought some day to be

undertaken. Spaniards looked upon it almost as a con-

sequence of the fall of Granada. The Profecias, there-

fore, was no offspring of morbid fancies or hallucinations.

It was the practical work of an able and highly imagi-

native man, setting forth one important argument in

favour of a romantic enterprise which he had at heart,

as the complement of his western discoveries. Every

sentence written by the illustrious Genoese is valuable

to posterity ; and the Profecias are specially interesting,

from their recording the results of deep study at a mo-

mentous period of the Admiral's life, and because the

manuscript contains paragraphs and corrections in his

own handwriting. In a letter to the Pope, dated

February 1502, Columbus regretted that he should

be unable to visit Eome, and explain his scheme for

the recovery of the Holy Sepulchre personally to his

Holiness.

After the completion of his work on the prophecies,

the Admiral reviewed the general results of all his dis-

coveries, and was led to suspect the probability of the
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existence of a strait in the western sea beyond Jamaica,

leading between continental lands direct to the Indies.

He had observed the existence of a continuous ocean-

current always flowing westward through the channels

between the windward islands. He discovered the Gulf

stream. His speculations on this subject are shrewd,

and fully justified by his premises. He observed that

islands lying in the course of the current usually had

their length pointing east and west, and from this cir-

cumstance he inferred that the current was so constant

that it had worked them into their present shapes by

attrition on the north and south coasts. The continent,

a portion of which he had discovered at Paria, formed a

southern wall for the current, while on the north Cuba

was assumed to be a long promontory. Consequently,

as there was no current either to the north or the

south, it must flow through a strait to the westward.

The argument was invulnerable except at a single point.

The continental character of Cuba was a hypothesis

which might or might not be correct, and if not the

argument was vitiated. The insularity of Cuba was not

discovered until after the death of Columbus.

The indefatigable explorer, although shattered in

health, fixed his mind on the discovery of this hypotheti-

cal strait. When he submitted his plan to the sover-

eigns, it was received with more than complacency.

Isabella always had faith in the scientific insight of the

Admiral, and Ferdinand perceived the vast importance

of such a discovery. In spite of the opposition of Fon-

seca and some members of the Council, the sovereigns

granted the application of the Admiral for four ships, to

be provisioned for two years.

Before starting for his last voyage Columbus devoted
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much care and attention to his worldly affairs, as if he

believed it to be more than probable that he would never

return. He possessed a number of important title-deeds,

the concession of titles, rights, and privileges, and other

documents, which it was incumbent upon him to leave in

safe custody. These papers were thirty-six in number.

On the 5th of January 1502 the Admiral went before a

notary at Seville and obtained authorisation for a copy

to be made of them, which was duly attested. He after-

wards added a copy of the famous bull of Alexander VI.,

and his letter to Doiia Juana de Torres. Two copies of

these documents were sent to Nicolo Oderigo, the Genoese

ambassador, together with two missives addressed to

the Bank of St. George. A third copy was intrusted

to Alonzo Sanchez de Carbajal, who was the Admiral's

agent in Espanola. A fourth copy, on parchment, was

delivered to the care of the Carthusian monastery of

Santa Maria de las Cuevas, outside the Triana suburb

of Seville, where the Admiral's intimate friend. Father

Gaspar Gorricio, was one of the monks. The originals

were deposited in an iron box, and placed in the crypt of

the chapel of Santa Ana. They are now in the custody

of the Duke of Veragua, the heir and representative of

Columbus, at Madrid, and were published by Navarrete

in 1825. The copy intrusted to Carbajal is lost. The

two copies sent to the Genoese ambassador remained in

the family of Oderigo until 1670, when they were pre-

sented to the Republic of Genoa. One is now preserved

in a Custodia, let into the pedestal of a bust of the

Admiral, in the town hall of Genoa. It is a volume

beautifully written, with richly illuminated initial letters,

bound in red morocco and provided with a red morocco

case. The binding and the case are mentioned by
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Columbus in a letter to tlie Bank of St. George. The

documents of which the volume is composed were printed

by Spotomo in 1823. The other was recently discovered

by Mr. Harrisse in the archives of the Foreign Office

at Paris, having been carried off during the French

occupation of Genoa.

Having made this wise provision for the preservation

of documents establishing his rights and privileges, for

the benefit of his sons, the Admiral made a will, signed

on April i, 1502, and deposited in the monastery of Las

Cuevas, in the care of Father Gorricio. It has unfor-

tunately been lost. His mind then reverted to his

beloved old home at Genoa. He earnestly desired that

his countrymen should reap some benefit from his suc-

cess. He therefore directed that investments should be

made in the Bank of St. George at Genoa, with the

object of reducing the tases on wine, flour, and other

articles of food, so as to ease the burdens of the people.

The sum bequeathed was one-tenth of hLs entire revenues.

The letter to the governors of the bank was forwarded to

the Genoese ambassador, Oderigo. The answer of the

bank, dated December 10, 1502, gave expression to the

pleasure of his countrymen at the affection and good-

will thus shown by the Admiral for his native land.

There is some reason to fear that Columbus never

received this answer. The original letter of Columbus

to the bank was found among files of old papers in

1829, and is now preserved between two glass plates in

the town hall at Genoa, together with the reply.

On a blank sheet of the letter to Oderigo * there is

a spirited pen-and-ink sketch which is attributed to

* It is now fastened in tiie end of the volume containing the con-

cessions.
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Columbus himself. It represents a symbolical triumph

of the Admiral after his great achievement. Columbus

is seated in a car with Providence at his side holding a

sail up by the yard, while Columbus has the sheet in his

hand. The spokes of the wheels are paddles which send

up spray and foam from a sea in which Envy, Ignorance,

and other monstri superati are nearly submerged. In

front of the car are Constancy and Tolerance, behind it

Religion ; while Victory, Hope, and Fame are Hying in

the air. In one corner is the well-known signature of

the Admiral, and beside it an explanatory note, in a

later handwriting, that it is the sign with which Colum-

bus subscribed his letters.* The sketch may have been

drawn by Oderigo, but it is more likely that it was the

work of the Admiral himself. If so, it shows that he

had a bold, free touch, and some artistic feeling.

The last duty of the Admiral before sailing was the

despatch of a letter of advice to young Diego at court.

" I leave you," wrote Columbus to his eldest son, " in

my place, and I wish you to use all that is mine for your

own honour. All my privileges and writings are com-

mitted to the care of Father Caspar." He then charges

the young man to attend to his devotions, and to set

apart a tenth of all he possesses to the service of the

Lord for the necessitous poor. " If you do this you will

never want, because our Lord will provide for you."

He also enjoins him " to be kind and courteous to all

with whom he has to do, whether great or humble, for

as you do to them so will God do to you. Serve the

King and Queen with much love, and do not importune

respecting the memorials I have left with their High-

* "Segno con ohe Cristoforo Colombo segneva e sotoscriveva le sue

scritte,"
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nesses. Be attentive to Beatriz Enriquez for my sake
;

treat her as if she was your mother, and pay her 10,000

maravedis a year, besides her pension from the dues

on the shambles at Cordova. Pay your aunt, Violante

Moniz, 10,000 maravedis a year. Keep a careful account

of your household expenses, and do nothing without the

opinion and advice of Father Graspar Gorricio. Take

great care of my brother Don Diego, who remains at

Cadiz, out of the money that our Lord may give you,

for he is my brother, and has always been most dutifid.

Endeavour to obtain from their Highnesses some prefer-

ment in the Church for him.'' He then explains the

business on which he has sent Carbajal as his factor to

Espanola, to collect and send home his property and all

that is due to him, and to pay his debts. These final

instructions were sent to young Diego with a father's

blessing.

The elder Diego Columbus, the Admiral's youngest

brother, was desirous of taking priest's orders, and he

received letters of naturalisation in February 1504.

Having entered the Church, he lived at Seville, and

died there in the house of Francisco Gorricio, brother

of Father Caspar, in 1515.

On March 14, 1502, the sovereigns addres.sed a letter

to the Admiral from Valencia de Torre, assuring him

that in due time aU his rights would be restored. Mean-

while he was not to touch at Espanola on his way out,

lest his presence might cause complication.s. He was

given permission to touch there on his return voyage.

All his private affairs having been settled, Columbus

busily occupied himself in the equipment of his last

expedition. He was to be accompanied by his Httle son

Fernando, then aged fourteen, and by his faithful brother
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the Adelantado Bartolome, who was to be a tower of

strength and support in the days of trouble and danger

that were near at hand.

NOTE.

( I ) The Supposed Preservation of the Irons.

The story of the preservation of the chains by the Admiral,
and of their having been buried with him, is not mentioned by
Las Casas, Peter IMartyr, Oviedo, or Bernaldez. In the Italian

version of the life by Fernando Columbus there is the following

passage on which the story is based :
" Egli avea deliberate

di voler salvar quei ceppi per reliquie e memoria del premia de

suoi molti servizi, siccome ;inco face egli, percioccb^ io gli vidi

sempre in camera cotai ferri ; i quali voile che con le sue ossa

fossero sepolti" (cap. Ixxxv. p. 280. Ed. Londra, 1867). Fer-

nando, no doubt, saw tliem in his father's room at Seville after

his arrival in 1500. But I agree with Mr. Harrisse that it is

grossly improbable that the Admiral carried such luggage about

with him, a proceeding most insulting to the King, or that the

irons were carried from Valladolid to Seville in his coftiu.



CHAPTEE XII.

VOYAGES TO THE WESTWARD CONSEQUENT OX
THE ACHIEVEMENT OF COLUMBUS.

I. Cabot. 2. Corteheal. 3. Compaxioxs of Columbus.

The first voyage of Coluinbus caused a verj" complete

revolution in the minds of cosmographers and mariners.

Before that great landmark in the history of the human

race was raised, their ideas were confined to coasting

round the shores of an old world surrounded by the

ocean. After the problem was solved, after the great

achievement was done, and Columbus had thrown a

light across the hitherto unpassed and unpassable ocean,

all was changed. Many men were ready to follow, but

there was only one who could lead.

The first follower of the great discoverer of the Xew
"World was a countryman of his own, another native of

the Ligurian shore. John Cabot, or Zuan Oaboto in the

Venetian dialect, was a Genoese who was naturalised at

Venice in 1476, after a residence of fifteen years. He
was a cosmographer and traveller, having extended his

journeys as far as Arabia. Like all the rest of the world,

John Cabot was astonished at the grand achievement of

his countryman. He went to Lisbon and to Seville,* and

* Letter of Pedro de Ayala to the soTereigns from London, 25th

July 1498. "Calendar of State Papers," Spain, i. 176-77, and Harrisse's

" Cabot," p. 329. This letter was found at Simancas by Bergenrotb

in i860.
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heard the glorious news, with the theories of the Admiral

about the territory of the Grand Khan and the rich island

of Zipangu. It seemed to him to be "a thing more

divine than human " * to have sailed by the west into the

east. He was filled with the desire of sharing in the

work of discovery, under the auspices of some other

government. So he came to England, settled at Bristol

with his wife and three sons in about 1495, and sub-

mitted a scheme for exploration to the government of

Henry VII. On the 5th of March 1496 a patent for

the discovery of unknown lands was granted to John

Cabot jointly with his three sons Lewis, Sebastian, and

Sancius.

Unfortunately no narrative of the voyages of John

Cabot has been preserved, and there is not a scrap of

writing either by him or by his son Sebastian. It is

only possible to piece together a few meagre facts, and

reports at second or third hand, from the writings of

others, in which the Cabots are incidentally referred to.

The actual facts are very few indeed.

John Cabot fitted out one small vessel at Bristol, which

is believed to have been called the Matthew,'^ with a

crew of eighteen persons. There is no evidence that

his son iSebastian accompanied him. The Maitheio sailed

in May, and at five o'clock in the morning of the 24th of

June 1497 land was sighted, and named "Prima Terra

Vista." We learn from a copy of a mappe-monde\ drawn

* Sebastian Cabot, in Eamusio.

t Barrett's " History and Antiquities of Bristol " (1789), p. 172 : quot-

ing from an old manuscript, which is not, however, now forthcoming.

J A map was found by Von Martius in 1843 in the house of a curate

in Bavaria, and deposited in the National Library of Paris in 1844,

which is considered to he a copy of the mappe-monde drawn by

Sebastian Cabot in 1544. It was reproduced by Jomard. On its sides
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by Sebastian Cabot in 1544, that "Prima Terra Vista"

was the northern point of Cape Breton Island. On the

map of Michael Lok, dated 1582, in Hakluyt's "Divers

Voyages," copied from a chart of Verrazzano, the inscrip-

tion, "J. G^abot, 1497,'' is written across the land to a

point named Cape Breton. John Cabot also discovered

an island, named St. John, because it was seen on the

same day, the 24th of June, which is identified with the

Magdalen Islands. He may also have sighted New-

foundland. These are "the Londe and Isles of late

foande by the said John " mentioned in the patent of

1498. An Italian named Lorenzo Pasqualigo, living in

London, in a letter to his brother at Venice, after

Cabot's return, said that Cabot explored the coast for

300 leagues.* But he returned in the end of July,

for he received a grant of ^£10 on Augast lothf ("To

him who found the new He, ^10"), so that there

would have been no time to make this 300 leagues'

cruise, and barely time to return to Bristol, for a little

craft like the MaWieic. Consequently the continent of

America was not then discovered.

are two tables with seventeen legends in Spanish and Latin. There

was a copy of this map, or part of it, prepared by Clement Adams in

1549. which was hanging in the gallery at Whitehall in Hakluyt's

time, now lost. Hakluyt copied the legend on it, which is the same as

Xo. 8 legend on the map at Paris. It mentions the discovery of "Prima
Vista" on -June 24th and of St. John's Isle, but the year is 1494 in

both. This must be a printer's error, iiii. for vii., as Mr. Slajor

Willes (editor of " Eden's Voyages," ed. 1579) mentions another map,

which he calls "Cabot's card or table," in possession of the Earl of

Bedford at Cheynies, proving the existence of the Strait of Anian

between 61^ and 64' X. It also is lost.

* " Calendar of State Papers," Venice, I. 262.

f "Privy Purse Expenses, Henry VII. ," August loth, 1497 ;
quoted

by Mr. Dean in Winsor's "Narrative and Critical History of America."
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The first voyage of John Cabot in 1497 in the Mattheio

may thus be summed up. He sailed from Bristol in

May, reached the north point of Cape Breton, and

landed there on June 24, sighted the Magdalen Islands

and perhaps Newfoundland, and returned to Bristol

in the end of July. Pasqualigo says that Cabot planted

on the beach where he landed the flags of England

and of St. Mark, he being a citizen of Venice, and

a large cross.* On his return he reported, in imitation

of Columbus, that he had reached the territory of the

Grand Khan. He prepared a chart of his discoveries

and also a solid globe, t Great honour was paid to him
;

he di'essed in silk, and was styled the great Admiral
; j

and in December 1497 a pension of ;!£i^20 a year was

granted to him, to be paid out of the customs receipts

of Bristol. §

John Cabot proposed to lead a larger expedition across

the ocean in the following year, and to discover the rich

island of Zipangu, for he adopted all the ideas of

Columbus. On February 3, 1498, a patent was issued
||

authorising John Cabot alone, there being no mention

of the sons this time, to take six ships to the land

discovered by him in 1497, and to enter men. He
appears to have sailed in the summer of 1498. All we

know for certain is that he had not returned in Sep-

tember. On this occasion his son Sebastian probably

* Pasqualigo ubi sup.

f Raimondo de Sonoino (envoy of the Duke of Milan), August 24,

1497. " Calendar of State Paper.s," Venice, i. 260.

J Pasqualigo.

§ Collection of Privy Seals. Record Office. No. 4, copied by Frank-

lin B. Dexter of Yale College, and quoted by Mr. Deane. Winaor's

"Narrative and Critical History of America," iii. 56.

II
First printed by Biddle in his "Memoir of Sebastian Cabot"

(1831), p. 76.
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accompanied him. John Ruysch, the eminent Dutch

geographer, ' whose map," in the Ptolemy of 1508, says

Xordenskiold, " forms an epoch in the development of

cartography," * may possibly have accompanied John

Cabot in his second expedition. He sailed from Eng-

land to the east coast of the new land, saw many islands,

and reached 53°, and the most probable expedition in

which he could have done this was that of John Cabot.

We know from a letter of Pedro de Ayala, the Spanish

envoy in London,t and from Stow's Chronicle,! that the

expedition of Cabot sailed in the summer of 1498, and

that it had not returned in the following September.

But we know nothing more. There is no authentic

account of the proceedings of the expedition, and no

record of its return. As there are no dates respecting

the second voyage of 1498, and no definite facts, it

cannot be said that Cabot discovered the American con-

tinent before Columbus reached Pai-ia in July 1498. We
know nothing more of John Cabot, of where or when

he died, or when his ships came back.

Pedro de Ayala saw the map of -John Cabot, and

without doubt he obtained a copy and sent it to Spain.

There is evidence of this on the famous map which Juan

de la Cosa drew in 1500, and in the instructions to

Alonzo de Ojeda in 1502. On the map of Juan de la

Cosa, Cape E;ace is called ' C. de Tnglaterra," there are

sixteen names apparently translated from names on a

* Facsimile Atlas, p. 67.

+ Pedro de Ayala to Ferdinand and Isabella, -July 25, 1498. " Calen-

dar of State Papers," Spain, i. 176, 177.' This letter was found by
Bergenroth at -Siroancas in i860.

J :>tow's Chronicle (15SC1, year 1498: from Fabyan. Stow gare
the passage from Fabyan to Hakluyt. But there l= no snch passage

in any e-iition of Fabyan's Chronicle.
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map by Cabot, and beyond them to the west is written

" Mar descubierta per Yngleses."

Sebastian, the son of John Cabot, left England, and

held employment under the Spanish government from

1512 to 1547, when he was allowed to come back to

England, a very old man. It is said that Sebastian

commanded an English expedition in 15 17. But this is

impossible. He was then fully occupied in Spain, and

in 1518 he was appointed "chief pilot and examiner,''

residing at Seville. Our only knowledge of the proceed-

ings of the expedition of John Cabot in 1498 comes from

alleged conversations of Sebastian when in Spain, recorded

from memory many years afterwards at second or third

hand. There is not a syllable direct from Sebastian

himself. There is a statement by Peter Martyr in his

Decades, published in 1 5 1 6, who says that he was inti-

mate with Sebastian ; another recorded by Ramusio as

having been made by the gviest of a friend, and which

he wrote down afterwards from recollection ; another

which Ramusio himself had received many years before

from Sebastian in a letter ; and a fourth in G-omara's

History. G-alvano, the Portuguese writer, also says

something about Cabot, but he is evidently quoting from

Gomara.

Peter Martyr's version is that Cabot sailed northwards

in July, until he met large masses of ice, and the days

were very long; that he named the land " Baccalaos,"

because there were so many fish that they sometimes

stopped the ship, which the natives called by that name

;

that he went south as far as the latitude of Gibraltar,

and so far west that Cuba was on his left hand. The

guest of Ramusio's friend, Fracastor, said that he once

had an interview with Sebastian Cabot, at Seville, who
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told^ him that he Tvent with two ships as far north as

56°, then southwards as far as Florida, when his provi-

sions failed. The recollection of Eamusio himself was

that Sebastian wrote to him many years before, saying

that he went to 67' 30' X., and on June 11 he found

the sea still open, and expected to reach Cathay, but was

hindered by a mutiny. The story in Gomara is that

Sebastian Cabot fitted out two ships at his own expense,

and went to the Cape of Labrador in 58° X., though he

himself says much more, where there was much ice and

long days in July. Turning west he refreshed at Bacca-

laos, and then followed the coast as far south as 38° X.

Gralvano gives Cabot's extreme north at 60°.

All these stories are unauthentic and unreliable, and

it will be observed that everything is attributed to

Sebastian, while John Cabot, who commanded both ex-

peditions, is not mentioned. If Sebastian ignored the

position and services of his father in making these state-

ments, and took the credit to himself, his conduct forms

a strong contrast to that of Fernando, the son of

Columbus, whose iUial piety is his best claim to remem-
brance. Baccdlaos is not a native name, and it certainly

was not given by Cabot. Bacallaba (whence Baccalaos)

is the Basque word for stock fish, and the hardy Basque

fishermen possibly frequented the Xewfoundland Banks
long years before the time of Cabot. With regard to

the most northern latitude reached by Cabot there is

no agreement. One gives 67" 30', another 60°, another

58°, another 56°, and Piuysch has 53 . But there is a

general agreement that Cabot went north untU he met
with ice, and that then he sailed southwards untU his

provisions failed and he was forced to return to Bristol

To sum up, all we know with certainty is that an
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expedition commanded by John Cabot left Bristol in

1498. It is probably true that he sailed north until he

met with ice ofE the coast of Labrador, most likely in

53° north, as given by Beneventanus on the authority of

Euysch, and that he then shaped a southerly course

until he was obliged to return. The Gibraltar latitude

would place him near Cape Hatteras.

It is very much to be regretted that there are no

authentic accounts of these interesting voyages of John

Cabot. When his son Sebastian returned to England

he received a pension, and as a very old man he was

Governor of the Muscovy Company. In the time of

Queen Mary he was deprived of half his pension, which

was given to one W. Worthington. This was in 1557,

when his age was about eighty-four. It is suggested

by Biddle that, on Sebastian's death, the time and place

of which are unknown, his maps and papers were de-

livered by Worthington to Philip of Spain, who carried

them off. This would account for the total absence of

all authentic information respecting the expeditions of

John Cabot.

The other voyages which, like those of Cabot, were

the direct consequence of the achievement of Columbus,

appear to have been undertaken by the Portuguese

Government with a less ingenuous object. The English

were under no obligation to recognise the preposterous

claims of Spain founded on the Papal bull. The Portu-

guese were under such obligation, By the Treaty of

Tordesillas, signed on the 7th of June 1494, the Portu-

guese acknowledged the binding character of the bull

on the line being moved so much further west as to fall

370 leagues west of the Cape de Verde Islands. They

were left a fair and wide field for discovery, settlement,
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and commerce in the east. But they were not satisfied,

and sought to enforce their extreme rights on or, if

possible, beyond the dividing line.

The King of Portugal granted a concession for the

discovery of lands to the north-west to Gaspar C'ortereal,

the youngest of three sons of Joao Vaz C'ortereal, who

was captain of the islands of Terceira and St. George in

the Azores. Graspar was about fifty years of age when

he undertook this enterprise, and no particulars of his

previous career have come down to us. He left Lisbon

in a well-equipped vessel, in the summer of 1500 ;* or

he left Terceira with two vessels according to another

account,! and, steering north, sighted the south coast of

Greenland, observing its serrated mountains, but he did

not land. J It was supposed to be a point of Asia.

Many icebergs were met with, and good fresh water was

found on them, where the ice was melted by the sun.

C'ortereal then coasted along the whole eastern side of

Newfoundland, and named it "Terra Verde,'' because

the land was covered with trees suitable for making

masts. It was afterwards called " Terra Corterealis,"

while some map-makers placed that name on the Lab-

rador coast. Cortereal reached 50° X., and returned

with several natives and some white bears. § Only very

meagre accounts of this voyage exist in the chronicle of

Damien de Goes and in Gfalvano.

In the following year a second expedition was fitted

out under the command of Gaspar Cortereal, consisting

of three vessels, to follow up the work achieved in 1 500.

* Damian de Goes,

t Galvano.

t Legend on the Cantino map.

§ Legend on a Portuguese portolano of the sixteenth century,

referred to by Harrisse.
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They probably sailed on the 30th of April 1501.* Two
of the vessels returned on the 9th and nth of October

respectively; the third, with Cortereal on board, never

came back, and his fate remained unknown. His brother

Miguel went in search of him in the following year, but

he, too, was never heard of again.

A few details of the second voyage of Cortereal are

given in two letters written by Pietro Pasqualigo, the

Venetian envoy at Lisbon, on the i8th and igth of

October 1501—one to the Seigneury of Venice, the other

to his brother ; and in a letter written by Alberto Can-

tino, an Italian then at Lisbon, to the Duke of Ferrara,

on the 1 7th of October. Oantino heard the captain of one

of the vessels make his report to the King of Portugal.

The account of the Italian letter-writer was that Corte-

real had discovered a coast line, which he sailed along

for 6po or 700 miles, bearing from Lisbon between west

and north-west, about 3000 miles distant. This would

be the North American coast from about Chesapeake

Bay to Cape Breton. In the southern part there were

delicious fruits of various kinds. Along the coast there

were many large rivers, and at the northern end there

was much fish ; but they could not reach the land dis-

covered during the iirst voyage, which was further north,

by reason of the ice, or more probably the fogs. Corte-

real himself pressed onwards and was lost. The two

* Damian de Goes says May 15th. Pasqualigo and Cantino say

that one vessel returned on October 9th, after an absence of nine

months, which would make January the 9th the date of sailing. But

Mr. Harrisse has discovered documents in the archives of the Torre

do Tombo, including a receipt for biscuits, signed by Cortereal on

April 25, 1501. He no doubt sailed a few days afterwards. As one

point on the land he discovered is named the Cape of the last of April,

he probably sailed on April 30, 1501.



236 THE CANTING HAP.

other vessels brought back seven natives, who were

minutely described by Pasqualigo and Cantino.

But the most important record of the second voyage

of Cortereal consists of a map which Cantino caused to

be prepared by a Portuguese draughtsman at Lisbon in

VI

1502, and sent to the Duke of Ferrara. It is now pre-

served at Modena. and a facsimile has been published by

Mr. Harrisse with his work on the Cortereal voyages.

The Cantino map is a plane chart, with the equator, the

tropic of Cancer, and the^Papal dividing line down the
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Atlantic as a single meridian. It shows the eastern

coasts of Europe and Africa, and the discoveries of Co-

lumbus and his school of pilots, the whole richly painted

and illuminated. But the object of the Cantino map
was to illustrate the discoveries made during the two

voyages of Cortereal. The results of the first voyage

are shown by the southern part of Greenland with Cape

Farewell, called "A ponta d." (Assia 1), and by a line of

coast, much broken by inlets, representing the east coast

of Newfoundland. It is called "Terra del Rey de Por-

tugall," and there is a legend to the effect that it was

discovered by Gaspar de Cortereal, who was lost when

the other vessels returned. A forest of tall trees is

painted on the land. The remarkable point connected

with this discovery is that it is placed just to the east-

ward of the Papal dividing line. This is moving New-

foundland over 300 miles too far east in the Portuguese

interest ; but, as longitudes were observed in those days,

it may have been done without mala fides.

The results of the second voyage of Cortereal are

shown on the Cantino map by a coast bearing from west

to west by north of Portugal, and extending for 600

miles, exactly in accordance with the accounts given by

Pasqualigo and Cantino. It is, no doubt, a copy of the

rough chart drawn by the pilot of one of the vessels, with

twenty-two Portuguese names of rivers and capes, six of

which are unintelligible, doubtless owing to the original

document being injured by damp or rubbing at these

points. There is a " Rio de los Lagartos " (river of

lizards), near where Cabot has a " Cabo de Lizarte " on the

map of Juan de la Cosa. The southern point appears to

be the entrance of the Gulf of Chesapeake, with the

islands on the east side ; and the northern point would
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then be Cape Breton, where the attempt to reach New-

foundland was given up by the two vessels which re-

turned, while C'ortereal himself went on into the fogs

and was lost. The draughtsman placed the West Indian

Islands much too far to the north, and the Cortereal

coast-line is made to run north and south, to the west

of Cuba. Owing to the removal of Newfoundland to

the east, while the ZSTorth American coast receives no

eastward trend, an excessive space is left between them.

This, however, was not due to Cortereal or his pilots,

but to the theories of the draughtsman employed by

Cantino.(i) It was felt that this coast-line examined by

Cortereal in his second voyage was much too far to the

westward to be claimed by Portugal, and accordingly no

legend to that effect appears on this part of the map.

The Spanish voyages to the Xew World undertaken

in the lifetime of Columbus, but in breach of his rights

as Admiral of the Ocean, were for the most part com-

manded by men who had been trained by the Admiral

himself—such as Pinzon, ZSTino, La Cosa, and Ojeda.

The work done by them, and the discoveries made, like

those of Cabot and Cortereal, are the direct outcome of

his genius, and must be included among the results and

consequences of his first voyage across the Atlantic.

When Columbus sent home his report of the discovery

of the Gulf of Paria and the pearl-fishery, accompanied

by an excellent chart. Bishop Fonseca easUy persuaded

King Ferdinand that great gain might accrue from

licensing the voyages of independent adventurers who
would reap the fruits of the Admiral's discoveries. The

breach of faith did not trouble either Ferdinand or Fon-

seca ; and to the latter this perfidy was especially pleasing,

because it gratified his malice.
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Alonzo de Ojeda had returned from Espanola, and

Fonseca tempted him with the prospective wealth of the

pearl-fishery. The daring adventurer readily closed with

so attractive a proposal, and he was furnished with the

Admiral's chart in order to enable him to find his way

to Paria and infringe on the privileges of his old chief.

A worse man to command an expedition could scarcely

have been found. Brave to recklessness, enterprising

and daring, he was an admirable second, and was well

fitted for the conduct of such wild exploits as the capture

of Caonab6. But he had none of the qualities necessary

for a leader. Juan de la Cosa, the able cartographer,

accompanied Ojeda as pilot, and the provision merchant,

Amerigo Vespucci, was also taken on board, probably

as a volunteer. Four vessels were fitted out at the port

of Santa Maria, in the bay of Cadiz, and Fonseca

furnished every assistance in his power.

The expedition of Ojeda sailed from Cadiz on the i8th

or 2oth of May 1499, and, after touching at Gomera,

the adventurers endeavoured to follow the track of the

Admiral across the Atlantic, but with indifferent success.

They struck a bad landfall, and, instead of sighting

Trinidad, they made the coast somewhere near Surinam.

They coasted along, in sight of land, finding the water

quite fresh off the mouths of the Esseqi^ibo and Orinoco,

until they entered the Gulf of Paria, and anchored off

the mouth of the river Guarapiche. Here they found a

pacific race of Indians, with whom they communicated,

and who gave them a delicious fermented liquor made

from fruit. Leaving the gulf by the Boca del Dragon,

Ojeda passed the island of Slargarita and Cape Codera

on the mainland, and came to a port near Puerto Ca-

bello, where there was an encounter with the natives, and
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twenty Spaniards were wounded. The place was named
' Puerto Flechado, ' in memory of the arrow wounds.

The vessels moved to Coro, where they remained twenty

days while the men recovered from their wounds, and

then stretched over to the island of Curacoa, which was

named "Isla de los Gigantes," for some reason not

clearly explained. Eounding Cape San Roman, at the

north end of the peninsula of Paraguana, they entered

a large gulf, where ther saw villages with houses built

out over the sea on stakes, and the communication be-

tween the different habitations effected by canoes. From

this circumstance the name of little Yenice—"Vene-

zuela"—was given to the country and the gulf. The

native name was Coquivacoa.(-> They explored the shores,

and entering a strait at the south end on the 24th of

August, they discovered the great inland gulf of Mara-

caibo, which they named ' San Bartolome.' The Indians

were reported to be more handsome than any that had

been seen in the Xew "World. The furthest western

point reached by the expedition was the Cabo de la

Vela, whence, on August 30th, they commenced their

homeward voyage. Entering the port of Yaquimo, in

Espanola, in September 1499, the presence of Ojeda

caused some trouble and anxiety in a colony where the

mutiny of Pioldan had just been appeased. On the re-

turn voyage Ojeda passed through the Bahama group,

seizing 230 of the wretched islanders as slaves, and

arrived at Cadiz, in the middle of June 1500, where

he sold those who had survived the horrors of the

pa.ssage.

Alonso Xiuo of Moguer, the expert pilot and com-

panion of Columbus in all his voyages, also obtained a

licence, and was fitting out a caravel of 50 tons at
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Palos, witii the pecuniary aid of one Cristoval Guerra,

at the very time when Ojeda was sailing from Cadiz.

Crossing the bar of Saltes, this second interloper fol-

lowed close on the heels of the first, and was a far

better seaman. He reached the Gulf of Paria only fif-

teen days after Ojeda. In passing out of the Boca del

Dragon the caravel was surrounded by a fleet of canoes

manned by warlike Caribs, who were only driven off by

a discharge of lombards. Nino proceeded to the island of

Margarita, and his people were the iirst Spaniards who

ever landed on it. Some pearls were obtained, and the

caravel then sailed across to the mainland at Curiana, now

called Cumana. They were so well received bythe amiable

inhabitants, that Nino and Guerra remained at Cumana

for three months, and saw the process of pearl fishing.

They obtained pearls as well as a few gold ornaments

during their stay. Nifio sailed westward from Cumana

to a place where he heard there was gold, called Cau-

chieto, which he reached on the ist of November 1499.

Here more gold and many line pearls were obtained,

and a further supply was got on the return of the cara-

vel to Cumana ; altogether over one hundred and fifty

marcs of pearls. On the 13th of February 1500 Nino

made sail for Spain, and, after a vo3'age of sixty days,

arrived at Bayona in Galiciti. Nino was arrested on an

accusation of having concealed some of the treasure, but

he was released, and he enjoyed the reputation of having

made the most lucrative voyage to the New Woi'ld up

to that time.

Soon after the departure of Ojeda and Niiio, a licence

for fitting out an expedition was given to Vicente Yanez

Pinzon, another companion of Columbus. Aided by

relations and friends, Pinzon fitted out four caravels, and

Q
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sailed from Palos early in December 1499. After leav-

ing the Cape Verde Islands he sailed for many hundreds

of miles to the south-west until he lost sight of the pole

star. On the 20th of January 1500 he sighted the

Brazilian Cape of San Agustin in 8° 20' 41" S., where

he landed and took possession in the names of the

sovereigns of Spain. Pinzon was the first to cross the

equator and visit land in the Xew World, within the

southern hemisphere. He discovered Brazil three

months before Cabral, whose fleet did not reach this

coast until the following April. Pinzon then followed

the coast northward to the equator, and, landing on a

point of land, some of his people had a fierce encounter

with the natives, in which eight or ten Spaniards were

killed. Forty leagues further north the water was found

to be quite fresh far out at sea. He discovered the

mouth of a mighty river, more than thirty leagues in

width, afterwards named the Amazons.

Pinzon continued his northward course, entered the

Gulf of Paria, passing out by the Boca del Dragon, and

reached Espanola on the 23rd of June 1500, after having

discovered a vast extent of the east coast of the Xew
World. Two of the caravels were lost in a storm, but

the other two arrived safely at Palos on the 30th of Sep-

tember. There was a great mortality in this expedition,

but Pinzon had the glory of having been the first to cross

the equator on the western side of the Atlantic, and of

having discovered Brazil and the mouth of the Amazons.

He brought home 3000 lbs. of dye-wood, and specimens

of plants and animals.

When Pinzon sailed from Palos, two vessels were being

fitted out there by Diego de Lepe for a similar voyage.

Bartolome Roldan, a companion of Columbus in his first
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and second voyages, was pilot. Lepe sailed about a

month after Pinzon, and followed the same course, until

he sighted the Cape of San Agustin. He then doubled

the Cape, and ascertained that the coast continued to run

in a south-westerly direction. He prepared a chart of

his discoveries, but the date of his return is not recorded.

Several unrecorded expeditions appear to have sailed

from the ports of Andalusia at this time, in the hope

of sharing the good fortune of Nino and Guerra. A
comendador, named Alonso Velez de Mendoza, with two

caravels, is supposed to have followed in the track of

Lepe. Cristoval Guerra also made a second voyage with

his brother Luis, who found the means. They sailed

from San Lucar with two caravels, passed through the

Gulf of Paria, and traded for pearls and gold at Cumana.

Las Casas accuses them of having treated the natives

with great cruelty. They brought home dye - wood,

pearls, gold ornaments, and a number of Indians to sell

for slaves, arriving some time in November 1501.

A more important voyage was that undertaken by Rod-

rigo de Bastidas, a native of the Triana suburb of Seville.

Juan de la Oosa was his pilot, and Vasco Nuilez de

Balboa, the future discoverer of the South Sea, was one

of his crew. He sailed from Cadiz with two vessels

in October 1500, and reached the mainland somewhere

near the Gulf of Venezuela. Rounding the Cabo de la

Vela, the most western point hitherto reached by Ojeda,

he passed along the coast by Santa Marta, the mouth of

the Magdalena, and Cartagena, until he reached the

Gulf of Uraba or Darien, which he explored. Proceed-

ing on his course he passed Capes Tiburon and San

Bias in Darien, his furthest point being the port of

Nombre de Dios, or Puerto de Bastimentos, as it was
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named by Columbus. This was a most successful voyage.

Intercourse with the natives was always of a friendly

character, and the whole conduct of the expedition reflects

great credit on Bastidas and La C'osa. The ships, how-

ever, were much injured by the borings of the Teredo

iiavalia, and it was not without difiiculty that they were

got across to Jamaica to refit.

Bastidas reached the western coast of Espafiola, but

encountered a series of storms, and eventually lost his

ships with their valuable cargo. A good deal of gold

and many pearls were, however, saved, with which

Bastidas and his people made their way to San Domingo.

Unfortunately the infamous Bobadilla was in power, and

the shipwrecked navigator did not escape from persecu-

tion and false accusations. But he was fully acquitted

on his return to Spain in September 1502, after an

absence of close upon two years.

During the absence of Bastidas, a licence was granted

to Alonzo de Ojeda to fit out a second expedition, and

to form a settlement in the province of Coquivacoa or

Venezuela, of which he was to be governor. He intended

to have ten ships, but he could only collect funds to fit

out four. Ojeda himself was on board the S'lnta Maria

de la Antigua, with Garcia de Ocampo as master. The

Santa Maria de la Grana/Ja was commanded by Juan de

Vergara, the caravel Magdalena, by a nephew of the

governor named Pedro de Ojeda, and the Santa Ana by

Hernando de Guevara. The expedition sailed from Cadiz

in January 1 502, and reached the Gulf of Paria, where

the ships were hove down and cleaned. Thev then

proceeded on the voyage, and after passing the island of

Margarita the Santa Ana lost sight of the rest of the

squadron. 'Sbxi day Guevara went on to the port near
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Point Codera, which had been mentioned as a rendezvous;

but there being no signs of liis consorts, he thought he

must have passed them in the night. He determined

to wait for them, anchoring under the shelter of two

bare rocks, about three leagues from the land. The rocks

were frequented by hundreds of sea-birds, and some of

the ship's boys, to amuse the captain, who was ill, got

leave to go and hunt the birds, bringing on board forty

very large ones after a quarter of an hour.

Vergara sailed next day, though it was not until two

more days had passed that he at length found Ojeda at

port Codera, but only with his own ship. The other two

were still missing. After about a fortnight of hide-and-

seek the squadron was united. It was then arranged that

villages should be attacked in the "province of Ouriana,

which they named " Val Fermoso," and everything seized

that was likely to be useful to the settlement. They

took hammocks, cotton, and even some girls to be the

slaves of Vergara and his friend Ocampo. Their greatest

want was a supply of provisions, and it was arranged

that Vergara, in the Santa Ana, should be sent to Jamaica

to buy as much food as possible, and return either to the

Gulf of Maracaibo or to the Oabo de la Vela, where the

other three ships would wait for him for two months.

This was in April 1502.

Ojeda, with Ocampo and Guevara, then proceeded to

Curafoa (which they called "Isla de los Gigantes") and

thence to Coquivacoa, but the land looked poor and

unproductive, so they went on to Bahia Honda, in the

Guajira peninsula, which they named " Puerto de Santa

Cruz." Here they found a Spaniard named Juan de

Buenaventura, who had been put on shore at Citarma

(now Santa Marta), in the province of the Sierra Nevada.,
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by Bastidas. He had been a year with the Indians,

learning their language. The port of Santa Cruz is

twenty-five miles to the east of Cabo de la Vela. Hav-

ing fixed upon this place as the site of the new settlement,

thev began to clear the ground of trees and bushes, and

to build forts, after overcoming the resistance of the

natives. These forts, three in number, were placed

under Guevara, Ocampo, and a servant of Ojeda named

Cueva. The lombards were mounted in them, and their

main object was to protect a store-house containing the

provisions, and the box of gold and pearls that had been

collected partly by barter, partly by violence. The supply

of food was running short, and, as Vergara did not return

from Jamaica after a month, the pilot Juan Lopez was

sent in search of him on board the caravel Magdalena.

The people were now weary of the business, half starved,

and discontented. Vergara returned at last and con-

spired with Ocampo against their chief, accusing Ojeda

of keeping most of the treasure for himself, and of having

caused the death of many Spaniards by his cruel treat-

ment of the Indians, which made them hostile.

In June 1502 the malcontents arrested Ojeda and

put him in irons, intending to deliver him to the gover-

nor of Espanola for judgment. Leaving Santa Cruz in

September, the squadron arrived at the port of Hani-

gueyaga in Espanola, and Vergara handed over Ojeda

as a prisoner to the comendador Gtallego. The box of

treasure remained in possession of Vergara. Ojeda was

sent to San Domingo, and the suit between him and

his captains commenced in December. Ojeda appealed

against the sentence to the sovereigns in Council, who
acquitted him and ordered that all his property should

be restored. It is unknown when these adventurers
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returned to Spain, but the expedition was a complete

failure, and showed Ojeda's unfitness for command.

These voyages, undertaken between the years 1499 ^'^'^

1504, completed the discovery of the whole coast of the

continent from Cape San Agustin, 8° south of the line,

to beyond the Gulf of Darien. The discoverers were the

companions of Columbus, men who had been trained

under his eye, and raised to their positions through

his kindly patronage.* One and all followed in his wake,

making for his discovery in the Gulf of Paria, and merely

extending a knowledge of the coast line on either side.

All this was in fact supplementary to the work of the

Admiral himself, and rightly belongs to the record of his

services to geography. To a great extent it preceded the

date of his last voyage, and falls into its place as in some

sort introductory to that final effort. A notice of the

discoveries of Bastidas is especially necessary as a prelude

to the last voyage, because the connection of the Admiral's

work with that of Bastidas completed the fruitless search

for a strait.

NOTES.

<^' The coast-line of North America on the Cantino map.

The Cantino map was drawn to illustrate the discoveries of

Cortereal. The two new coast-lines shown upon it, one heing the

east side of Newfoundland and the other being 600 miles of the

coast of North America, must therefore be assumed to represent

those discoveries, unless some very strong reason can be pro-

duced to the contrary. The 600 miles of coast of North America

on the map fairly agree with the descriptions of the Italian letter-

* "Los mas que despues descubrieron eran criados, pilotos, y
marineros del Almirante." Evidence of Carbajal, Navarrete, ii. 587.
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•writers, as a coast 2800 miles from Lisbon, with a bearing be-

tween west and north-west. Tliis is clear enough. Yet ili'.

Harrisse maintains that this new coast, first .shown on the Can-

tino map, is not intended to repre.sent the discovery of Cortereal.

He thinks that it was a discover}- made between 1500, when
the map of Juan de la Cosa was drawn which iloesinot show it,

and 1502, by some miknown navigator of unknown nationality,

but presumably Siianish. The reason which Mr. Harrisse give^

for believing tliat this coast-line is not intended to show a dis-

cover}' of Cortereal is that it is placed at snch an immense distance

from Newfoundland, and that Cortereal never could have made
such a blunder (Les Corte-Eeo.l, p. 149). But the answer is that

Cortereal was dead long before the map was drawn. The charts

of the pilots were placed in the hands of the draughtsman, and

he alone was responsible for the positions of the coast-lines jior-

trayed on those charts, when he transferred them to his general

map of the worlil. He had to place Ne^^^o^lndland much too

far to the east for political reasons. He placed the Xoitli

American coast too far to the west to comply with his notions

of its position with reference to the West Indian islands, which

are called "the Antilles" for the first time on the Cantino map.

But if he had given an easterly trend to the coast, instead of

,L'i^^ng it a north and south trend, it would not have been veiy

much out. The ilraughtsman's wor-t blunder was in placing Cuba
and the other West Indian islands very much too far north.

The objection of ^Ir Harrisse is thus tuUy met, and there

appears to be no other reason for doubting that this 600 miles

of the coast of North America is intended to represent the 600

miles of coast west of Li~bon, which was explored by Cortereal

in 1502.

I-' On the itnteiiient of Xacai-rete that Ojfihj-found Eiifjlish-

nit'ti nt Coquivo.ron

,

Navanete makes the remarkable statement that Ojeda in

his first voyage found certain Englishmen in the neighbourhood

of Coquivacoa (iii. 41). The only ground for this statement is

a passage in the instructions given to Ojeda before sailing on

his second voyage. He is told to continue his discoveries

towards the part where the English may make discoveries, and
to set up marks ^-ith the royal arms (iii. 86), that the progre-s
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of the English in that direction may he checked. Ayala,

the Spanish amhassador in London, had sent a report of the

despatch of the expedition of Jolm Cabot in 1498, which accounts

for these instructions, given as a precaution in the event of

encroachments on the part of the English. The vast distance

between the land which Cabot intended to seek and the coast

of Venezuela, with the Caribbean Sea and Gulf of Mexico inter-

vening, was not then understood. Of course the English were
never within thousands of miles of Coquivacoa, but it was a

curious mistake for Navarrete to have made. See also Biddle's

"Memoir of Sebastian Cabot," p. 96, and App. B. p. 307.



CHAPTER XIII.

THE LAST VOYAGE OF DISCOVERY.

The mind of Columbus was as bright and imaginative,

his intellect as clear as in the days of his prime, when

he set forth on his last voyage. But his body was worn

out by ince-ssant watching, anxiety, and tropical fevera

He suffered from ophthalmia and gout in its severe.'^t

form. Physically he was quite unfit to endure the hard-

ships of a voyage of discovery, but his ardent spirit could

not be restrained. The self-denying affection of his gal-

lant brother, the Adelantado, is most touching. He did

not wish to enter upon such an undertaking, but he would

not allow the Admiral, in his enfeebled state, to go alone,

TTis little son Fernando was sure to be a comfort to him,

although he was also a cause of deep anxiety in times of

danger and hardship.

Columbus wished to have built new vessels on a design

of his own, but this was impossible owing to want of

funds. He therefore bought four caravels at Seville,

and provisioned them with great care, having suffered

much in previous voyages from the bad condition of

the food supplied by the contractors. The Admiral

hoisted his flag on board the Capitana, a vessel of

seventy tons, and sailed in her with his little son, the

captain being a loyal man named Diego Tristan, and the

master and chief pilot were two brothers, Ambrosio and
2.50
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Juan Sanchez. The surgeon was a Valencian apothecary

named Bernal, an ill-conditioned fellow.

Morales, the royal treasurer, had made a special re-

quest to the Admiral that he would find places in the

expedition for two brothers of his wife, named Porras.

In an evil hour Columbus good-naturedly consented, for

they proved to be mutinous scoundrels. Francisco Porras

was made captain of the Santiago de Palos, and his brother

Diego accompanied him as royal inspector and accountant.

Don Diego Mendez, a very gallant and loyal gentleman,

sailed in the same ship as a volunteer. The worst ship

was the Gallega, of sixty tons, and the Adelantado, an

admirable navigator, went in her. Her captain was

Pedro de Terreros, one of the good men, loyal and true,

who stuck to his beloved chief for better or for worse.

He had been with the Admiral as his steward in the

first, second, and third voyages. Diego de Salcedo, the

Admiral's other servant in the first voyage, was now

zealously assisting Oarbajal in managing his old chief's

affairs in Espanola, and was destined to be of essential

service in the coming time of trouble. The fourth ship,

called the Vucaina, of only fifty tons, was commanded

by a Genoese friend of the Admiral named Bartolome

Pieschi, a most honourable and gallant oificer of ancient

lineage. Altogether there were 143 souls embarked in

the four vessels—25 oflEicers, 13 volunteers, 2 trumpeters,

41 seamen, and 62 boys, including young Fernando.

Among these there were eight Genoese, countrymen of

the Admiral.

On the 3rd of April the expedition left Seville, and

dropped down to San Lucar, proceeding thence to Cadiz.

There the Admiral joined, and when on the point of

sailing he heard that the Portuguese garrison of Arzilla,
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on the coast of ^Morocco, was being closely besieged by

the infidels. He generously resolved to hurry to the

help of the Christians, and sailed from Cadiz with his

four little vessels on the 9th* or iithf of May 1503.

Arriving off Ar2dlla he found that the Moors had raised

the siege. The Portuguese were, however, much grati-

fied at his proffered aid, and he found among the garrison

some relations of his Portuguese wife, Felipa Mofiiz, who

were very hospitable. On the same day he left Arzilla,

and arrived at Grand Canary on the 20th of May, where

he remained for five days, filling up with provisions,

wood, and water. He also took a last opportunity of

writing to his friend. Father Gaspar Gorricio, asking

him to watch over the welfare of his son Diego. At
sunset of the 25th sail was once more made, and a

course was shaped for the Indies. A most delightful

voyage across the Atlantic, running pleasantly before

the trades, brought them to an island called Martinino

on the 15th of Jvme. This island was probably St.

Lucia, and, if so, they anchored in Gros Ilet Bay, well

known in after years as the favourite rendezvous of

Lord Rodney's fleet. The Admiral refreshed his people

here for three days, giving leave for men and boys to go

on shore to wash their clothes. Thence he shaped a

course to Santa Cruz and Puerto Rico, and on the 24th

he steered direct for San Domingo.

Ovando had arrived at San Domingo on the 15th of

the preceding April, and immediately arrested Bobadilla

and the mutineer Roldan, to be sent to Spain for trial.

They were allowed to take their ill-gotten riches with

them. Antonio de Torres expeditiously prepared his

ships for the return voyage ; and he was entrusted with

* Las Casas, iii p. 28. t Porras in Navarrete, i. p. 282.
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the largest nugget of gold that had ever been found. It

weighed 35 lbs. As many as thirty-two vessels were

prepared for the voyage. Bobadilla, Roldan, and the

unfortunate cacique, Guarionex, who had long been a

prisoner, were on board one ship, and it is believed

that upwards of 200,000 castellanos of gold were em-

barked.

The great fleet was ready to sail when the little

squadron of Columbus appeared off the harbour. The

Admiial had no intention of touching at San Domingo
on his way out, but he was compelled to seek assistance

owing to the unseaworthy condition of the Gallega. She

was a wretched sailer, and dangerously crank. Her
captain, Terreros, was sent in a boat to request that

Ovando would allow the Admiral to buy another vessel

out of the great number in the harbour, or to exchange

the Gallega ior one better suited for the perilous service

on which he was engaged. Ovando refused all assistance,

and sent back Terreros with a message that the Admiral

must continue his voyage with the same vessels he had

brought out fi'om Spain. Columbus received this brutal

answer with the patience and equanimity which had

become a part of his nature. But he found himself

obliged to send in Terreros once more, and this time it

was a message of warning. The great expeiience of

those seas possessed by the Admiral, and his unerring

instinct, enabled him to detect the signs of an approach-

ing hurricane. He communicated his forecast to Ovando,

and urged him to detain the fleet in harboui' until the

danger was over. Refused shelter at San Domingo, the

Admiral then sought refuge in the little port of Azua,

to the westward. During the first hours of the hurri-

cane the four little vessels remained at anchor together.



254 EETRIBUTION.

When the force of the wind increased all but the Caxd-

tana were driven out to sea, and the Gallega, in great

danger, was saved through the excellent seamanship of

the Adelantado. When the storm abated they re-

assembled, without the loss of a man, and with slight

damage to sails and rigging. These frail little boats

escaped almost by a miracle. One seaman and two boys

deserted, but otherwise Columbus sailed from the inhos-

pitable shores of the island he had discovered and settled

without any loss.

Very difEerent was the fate of the returning fleet.

Ovando gave no heed to the message of Columbus, and

sent the fleet to sea in disregard of his warning. The

thirty-two vessels sailed from San Domingo on the ist

of July, and they were scarcely out of sight of land when

the full force of the hurricane burst upon them. The

largest ship had not time even to shorten sail, and went

to the bottom with the infamous wretch Bobadilla, the

miscreant Roldan, the ill-fated chief Guarionex, and a

vast amount of treasure, including the famous nugget.

More than twenty vessels met the same fate, the rest

were scattered and disabled. One small caravel, called

the Guchia, was able to continue the voyage, and brought

the news of the catastrophe to Spain. She also brought

some of the property of Columbus, about 4000 dollars,

which his agent Carbajal had succeeded in collecting.

It was the only treasure that was saved. There was

not a man in those days who failed to see the finger of

God in this most striking retribution. The faithful ser-

vant of his Lord was preserved in safety with all hLs

people, and even his treasure. His persecutors, with their

ill-gotten wealth, were destroyed in the same furious hurri-

cane which Columbus and his people rode out in safety.
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Continuing on his adventurous voyage, the Admiral

came in sight of the wooded island of Guanaja, off the

coast of Honduras, on the 30th of July 1502. He gave

it the name of " Isla de los Piiios." While the explorers

were on shore, about to return to the ship, a very large

canoe came in sight, with a great number of oars, and a

sort of cabin built up in the centre, roofed with palm

leaves, so that the women and merchandise were pro-

tected from sea and rain under its shelter. It came

alongside the Capitana, and its crew of twenty -five men

submitted to the Admiral. They had evidently come

from a long distance, and the merchandise included

many things of great interest. There were wooden

swords armed with fish bones, copper axes, and cotton

cloths. The Spaniards here saw for the first time the

nuts of the cocoa plant, and fermented liquor made from

maize. The character of the manufactures indicated

that the merchandise came from a country which had

reached a higher state of civilisation than any that had

yet been discovered. If Columbus had shaped a course

westward, in the direction whence the canoe had come,

he would have discovered Mexico. But he was bent on

the examination of the coast in the opposite direction,

in search of the supposed strait.

Prom the island Columbus shaped a southerly course

to the mainland, and struck it where there was a cape

covered with shady fruit trees, close to the modern town

of Truxillo in Honduras. The natives called the fruit

caxinas, so the Admiral gave that name to the cape.

Communications were opened with friendly natives on the

coast, and the expedition was well supplied with fresh

provisions ; but from the beginning of August to the

middle of September, a period of six weeks, the explorers
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were exposed to the most terrible navigation that any of

them had previously experienced. There was an incessant

downpour of rain, a succession of storms of thunder and

lightning raising a terrific sea, and the wind always foul.

Often they did not make good fifteen miles, and some-

times not a league in the twenty-four hours. It was not

until the 12th of September that the vessels succeeded

in rounding Gape Gracias a Dios, and were able to steer

south along what is now known a.s the ilosquito coast.

Columbus had often experienced bad weather, but

never of so long a duration or so fearful. The vessels

had their sails blown out of the bolt ropes, anchors and

boats were lost, and ropes carried away. The Admiral

was very ill ; but he had a small cabin rigged on deck,

whence he could pUot the ship. His greatest anxiety

was for the safety of young Fernando, and for the effects

of such incessant toil on so young a boy ; but it was a

consolation to see the lad encouraging the others, and

working as if he had been years at sea. His brother

was another source of anxiety. " He was in the ship

that was in the worst condition and the most exposed to

danger," he wrote, " and my grief on this account was

the greater that I brought him with me against his will.

Another anxiety wrung my veiy heart-strings, which

was the thought of my son Diego, whom I had left an

orphan in Spain, and stripped of the honour and property

that were due to him on my account."

When at length they rounded Cape Gracias a Dios

there was a leading wind, and on the 1 5th of September

the Admiral sent boats to a river, which seemed to have

a deep entrance, to take in water. But one boat was

capsized on the bar, the boatswain of the Vhcaina, named
ilartin de Fuentarabia, and a Basque boy named Larreagn
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being drowned. The place was called " Eio del Desastre."

On the 25 th they anchored between the beautiful island

of Quiriviri, which Columbus named " La Huerta," or

the garden, and the mainland, called Cariay. Here the

Admiral rested his people until the 5th of October, held

a survey on all the provisions, condemned what appeared

to be injured, and collected information. He enforced

kindly treatment to the Indians, and won their friendship

and confidence. Sailing southwards, and passing the

sites of Blewfields and Greytown, he reached a place

called Caribiri to the south of the Nicaragua river,

where he met with people wearing gold ornaments. They

spoke of a country called Veragua, whence the gold came

;

and the Admiral, with his mind full of the eastern Indies,

understood that this gold district was not far from the

river Ganges. On 1 7th of October the little squadron

sailed from Caribiri in search of Veragua. Touching at

the mouth of a river called Cubiga, the natives con-

firmed the reports about the riches of Veragua ; but as

the wind was fair for completing the exploration of the

coast in his search for a strait, the Admiral deferred the

investigation of these reports until a later opportunity.

The acquisition of gold took a very secondary place in

the mind of this great man, whose unselfish thoughts

were ever bent on the achievement of discoveries for the

welfare of the human race. His character was noble

and generous, and this appears over and over again,

when he had to make choice between his own interests

and his duty. He continued to examine the coast east-

ward until he reached the harbour of Puerto Bello, but

after leaving that anchorage the wind headed him, and

he was obliged to take shelter in a bay named by him

"Puerto de Bastimentos, " because the extensive culti-

R
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vation of maize indicated the exiistence of abundant

supplies of food. It was the " Xombre de Dios '' of

Nicuesa, so that the whole north coast of the Isthmus of

Panama had been examined, and the question of a strait

was settled. The Admiral had now connected his woik

with that of Bastidas. The coast of the continent was

explored from Cape San Agustin in Brazil to the Bay

of Honduras, and there was no strait.

Unable to proceed further towards Darien, and being

in great danger, Columbus took refuge in a very small

bay to the east of iSTombre de Dios, which he named

"Retrete." Here he refitted and collected fresh pro-

visions, resolving to return westward to the Veragua

province, and investigate its capabilities as a gold-pro-

ducing district. He sailed from Retrete on the 5th of

December, when a time of great suffering commenced.

The provisions brought out from Spain were all consumed

except the biscuit, which was so full of maggots that the

people could only eat it in the dark when they were not

visible. Clothes were nearly worn out, and the men were

in a very unhealthy condition, owing to the want of good

food and incessant rains. The ships were bored through

and through by the Teredo navalis and were scarcely sea-

worthy. After leaving Eetrete they encountered terrible

weather, and Columbus was at the point of death.

' Xever," he wrote, "was the sea seen so high, so terrific.

Mnd so covered with foam. Xot only did the wind oppose

our proceeding onward, but it also rendered it hicrhlv

dangerous to run for any headland, and kept me in that

sea, which seemed to me as a seething caldron on a mighty

fire. Xever did the sky look more fearful, emitting

flashes in such fashion that each time I looked to see

if my ma.sts and sails were not de.stroyed. These flashes
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came with such alarming fury that we all thought the

ship must have been consumed. All this time the waters

from heaven never ceased, not to say that it rained, for

it was like a repetition of the deluge." It is wonderful

that the crazy little vessels could have lived through such

weather. Another danger was added to all the rest. A
column of water, as big round as a wine cask, rose from

the surface of the sea, joined with the clouds, and came

whirling down upon them, so that escape seemed impos-

sible.* The terrified seamen began to repeat passages

from the gospel of St. John, and the waterspout swept

clear of them, leaving them in the belief that they had

been saved by divine favour. Then followed a day or

two of calm, when the voracious sharks were so nume-

rous round the ships that it was feared as an evil omen-

Nevertheless a good many were caught and eaten. The

coast on which they had encountered so many storms and

contrary winds was named " La Costa de los Contrastes."

On the 4th of January 1503 a ship's boy, named Diego

Portugalete, succumbed to the hardships of the voyage,

and there was no help for it but to throw his body

to the sharks.

At length the Admiral led his battered squadron across

the bar of a river which was called Yebra by the natives.

It was named Belem, because they entered it on Epiphany

Sunday, 1503. The river of Veragua was about a league

to the westward, but the bar was too shallow for even

the smallest vessels to cross it. These rivers are on the

north coast of the isthmus, in the province of Veragua,

between the Gulf of Ohiriqui and the river Chagres.

They got into this shelter not a day too soon. On the

24th of January a furious gale raged outside. Theie

* Las Casas, iii. 12.
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was also a fresh in the river and heavy breakers on the

bar. The vessels were driven from their anchors, came

into collision, and the Capitana lost her foremast. But

when the storm had expended its violence and the flood

subsided, the river Belem, protected from the sea outside

by the shallow bar, was like a calm lake. The Adelantado

was sent to communicate with the natives at a large

village on the Veragua river, and entered into friendly

///£ik,^ ^
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relations with a powerful chief named Quibian, who
afterwards visited the Capitana, and was entertained by

the Admiral. But from the first he was not altogether

cordial, and showed some jealousy at this invasion of his

territory.

The natives of the isthmus, comprising the region

between the two oceans, and extending from the lake of

Nicaragua to the Gulf of Darien, were a hardier and

fiercer race than the people hitherto encountered by
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Columbus in the islands. Bancroft, gleaning from various

authorities, describes them as active and jealous of their

independence, always being ready to resist attempts to

penetrate into their country, which consists of deep

ravines, malarious swamps, abrupt heights, rapid streams,

and luxuriant vegetation. In the hills of Veragua and

Ohiriqui dwelt tribes who received the name of " Los

Valientes," from their heroic resistance to the Spaniards.

The Indians of the isthmus are generally well built,

muscular, and of average height. Unlike most other

American races, the Isthmian has a short, rather ilat

nose, dark eyes, excellent teeth, abundant coarse hair,

and skin of a medium bronze tint. They were naked,

except for a cotton cloth round the loins, the chiefs

wearing long mantles. All the Isthmian tribes were fond

of ornaments, and wore necklaces and ear-rings of gold

and silver. On going to war their bodies were painted.

Their arms were beautifully made bows and arrows

pointed with fish bone, spears, and flint-edged clubs.

They cultivated bananas, maize, and pimento, but lived

chiefly by fishing and hunting. Their huts were neatly

constructed, and many were built in the branches of

trees, and approached by bamboo laddei's. Columbus

found some of the tree-top villages on the coast of

Veragua raised to a height to be clear of insects and

reptiles, and of the miasma rising from the swamps.

It was with these Isthmians that the Admiral now

had to do. On the 6th of February 1503 he sent the

Adelantado, with sixty-eight men in boats, to explore the

Veragua River. The chief, Quibian, received him with

courtesy, but was evidently jealous of the invasion.

Having offered to supply guides to show the Adelantado

the way to the gold mines, that officer left a guard with
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the boats, and set out up the banks of the river with

the rest of his men. The explorers were taken through

a dense forest, where the ground seemed impregnated

with gold. Ascending a high hill, they were told that

the country yielded gold as far as they could see ; but

when the Adelantado returned, he ascertained that the

guides had taken him to the territory of a neighbouring

chief, with whom Quibian was at war. On the i6th

Bartolome Columbus set out on another expedition along

the coast, where he found proofs that there was abund-

ance of the precious metal, and much gold was collected

and brought back.

The Admiral was now convinced of the great value of

the province he had discovered. After much consultation

it was decided that a settlement should be established

at the mouth of the Belem, under the command of the

Adelantado, and that the Admiral himself should return

to Spain for supplies and reinforcements. He hoped

that Veragua would escape the fate of Espanola and

Paria, and that, learning from experience, a crowd of

hungry and cruel adventurers would not be allowed to

swarm into the new colony. Columbus believed that

he had reached the Aureus Chersonesus, whence, as

he had read in Josephus, the gold was obtained for

Solomon's temple. As regards latitude he was quite

right.

A small eminence was selected for the site of the

settlement, near the mouth of the river Belem, on the

right bank. All the men that could be spared from the

ships were sent on shore, and they began to build wooden

houses and magazines thatched with palm leaves, each

defended by a stockade. The garrison was to consist of

eighty men, and one of the vessels was to be left with
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them, as well as all the provisions and arms that could

possibly be spared. The work proceeded rapidly, and at

first everything seemed favourable for carrying out the

arrangement that was contemplated.

The natives, and especially Quibian, viewed these

preparations with jealousy, and when they saw that it was

intended to make a permanent settlement, this feeling-

grew into one of active hostility. An extensive conspiracy

was formed, and a scheme was prepared for exterminating

the intruders. The Admiral had been ready to depart

for some time, but the bar was too shallow, and it was

necessary to wait for the rains. Meanwhile Quibian was

busily assembling his fighting men.

Suspicion of native hostility was first aroused in the

mind of Diego Mendez, a valorous and loyal gentleman,

and a most faithful and beloved friend of the Admiral,

for whom he had been acting as secretary. With cool

audacity, he determined to visit the village of Quibian

and make a thorough reconnaissance. On the way he

passed a great number of armed men, and heard that

they were collected to burn the ships and kill all the

Spaniards. He resolved, however, with a single com-

panion named Rodrigo de Escobar, a boy on board the

Vizcaina, to go on to the village. He found thousands of

Indians drawn up in fighting array ; but he boldly pushed

his way up a hill to the chief's house, and, although he

could not obtain an interview with the great man, he saw

and indeed was assaulted by one of his sons, whom he

appeased by presenting him with a comb and looking-

glass, and by making Escobar comb his hair. Eeturning

to the Admiral, Diego Mendez reported the threatening

aspect of affairs, and advised that a sudden attack on

the village should be made, to secure the persons of
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Quibian and his family. Without their chief he thought

the warriors would disperse.

The Adelantado urged that the advice of Mendez

should be taken. He ascended the river Veragua in

boats, with seventy-four armed men, landed at the village,

and went up to the chief's house with Mendez and five

saOors. Quibian came out, and, after a violent struggle,

was overpowered by the Adelantado, bound hand and

foot, and sent down to the boat, while the main body of

the Spaniards came up, and captured every soul in the

house. The Adelantado then returned. But Quibian

was intrusted to the custody of Juan Sanchez, pilot of

the Capitana, who did his duty so carelessly that the

native chief managed to sUp overboard, dive, and reach

the shore in safety. He returned to the village, to find

his house desolate, and his family carried off by the

invaders. Henceforward nothing but the most relentless

hostility could be expected from him.

At this time the rains set in, the depth of the water

on the bar increased, and three caravels succeeded in

crossing it, though not without scraping the sand more

than once. They had been lying in the river for nearly

three months. The Admiral then took an affectionate

leave of his brother, promising to return with all possible

speed, and giving his final instructions.

The Adelantado had scarcely returned to the settle-

ment, when it was furiously attacked by a large force of

natives led by Quibian. The valiant Genoese seized a

lance, placed himself at the head of his men, and fought

stubbornly in the post of greatest danger. Mendez also

organised resistance and was in the thick of the fight.

The Indians were at length driven back into the forest,

and concealed themselves in the dense underwood, with-
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out losing sight of the houses of the settlement. Toi'-

tunately the Admiral had been unable to sail, owing to

contrary winds ; and wishing to fill up with wood and

water, and also to communicate once more with his

brother, he sent in a boat under the command of Diego

Tristan, the captain of the Capitana. Tristan crossed

the bar and proceeded up the river, intending to fill up

with water before communicating with the Adelantado.

Suddenly the boat was surrounded by war canoes, coming

from both banks of the river, and their occupants poured

volleys of arrows into the crew. Tristan fought bravely

against hopeless odds, and fell covered with wounds,

Only one man escaped, a cooper of Seville, named Juan

de Noya. He jumped overboard, swam to the bank, and,

concealing himself among the trees, found his way to

the settlement. The garrison was utterly disheartened,

and, in spite of the inspiriting speeches of the Adelantado

and Mendez, the men clamoured to be allowed to return

on board. But it was very doubtful whether this was now
possible. The houses were abandoned because they were

so near the forest, under cover of which the enemy could

approach, and a bulwark was formed on the sea-shore of

a boat, casks, and planks, behind which they resolved to

defend themselves to the bitter end.

Two days passed away and the boat did not return.

The Admiral became very anxious. Most of the Indian

prisoners had broken out of the hold and jumped over-

board, while those that could not effect their escape

committed suicide. A few more days passed and yet no

tidings. The saddest forebodings filled the mind of

Columbus. It was then that he heard the voice a second

time. On this occasion it was evidently in a dream, and

not in his waking moments. But the impression was so



266 THE VOICE.

vivid that he was able to write the words he heard in his

journal. It was a compassionate voice, and it said, "

fool, and slow to believe and to serve thy God, the God

of all ! From thine infancy He has kept thee under

His constant and watchful care. He gave thee the keys

of those barriers of the ocean sea which were closed with

such mighty chains, and thou wast obeyed through many

lands, and gained an honourable fame throughout

Christendom. Turn to Him and acknowledge thine

error—His mercy is infinite. Thine old age shall not

prevent thee from accomphshing any great undertaking.

Thou criest out for uncertain help. Answer, who has

afflicted thee so much or so often—God or the world ? The

privileges promised by God He never fails in bestowing

;

nor does He declare, after a service has been rendered

Him, that such was not agreeable with His intention,

or that He had regarded the matter in another light

;

nor does He inflict suffering in order to make a show of

His power. His acts answer to His words, and He per-

forms all His promises with interest. I have told thee

what the Creator has done for thee, and what He does for

all men. Even now He partially shows thee the reward

of so many toils and dangers incurred by thee in the

service of others.' The voice paused, while Columbus

remained in a trance, and its last words were, " Fear not,

but trust ! All these tribulations are, with good cause,

recorded on marble !

" He had every reason for

despondency. In sinking ships, without provisions or

boats, he had to cross several thousand miles of ocean,

or die on the passage with his son, and all his people.

But after he heard the voice he took comfort.

There was only one boat left, and the Admual hesi-

tated to risk its loss. At this critical juncture a young
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sailor of Seville, named Pedro de Ledesma, came forward

and volunteered, if the boat would take him near the

surf, to swim to the settlement or perish in the attempt.

Columbus accepted the gallant offer, and Ledesma suc-

ceeded in swimming to shore, and in returning with the

melancholy tidings of the destruction of Tristan and all

his crew, and of the despair of the garrison. It was a

sad but inevitable necessity that for the present the plan

of founding a colony in Yeragua must be abandoned.

After eight days, by using the single boat and two canoes

fastened together, all the stores were brought back, and

the garrison was embarked. The squadron, now reduced

to three caravels, left the Belem, and arrived at Puerto

Bello on the 20th of April 1503. Here it was necessary

to abandon the Vizcaina as quite unseaworthy. Only

two leaky little vessels remained to take them home, the

Capitana and Santiago de Palos. The Admiral appointed

the valiant Diego Mendez to succeed poor Tristan in

command of the Capitana.

Columbus and his brother knew it to be necessary

that they should work as far as possible to the eastward

before leaving the land, otherwise they would be carried

far to leeward by the current, in stretching across to

Espanola. The pilots wanted to shape a course direct

to San Domingo, and much discontent was bi'ed among

the crew at the supposed delay. The Admiral was

unmoved. He passed Eetrete and a cluster of islands

he called " Las Barbas," now known as Las Muletas,

and he did not leave the coast until he was in sight of

Cape Tiburon. Even then he did so too soon, and the

vessels were carried away far to leeward of their intended

port.

The voyage of discovery was over. Great work had
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been done. The important question of the strait was

solved. Columbus or his pupils had examined the shores

of the continent from 8° S. to i6° X., and the strait

must now be sought for beyond those limits. A great

extent of the new coast line had been discovered and

explored, including the rich gold-yielding province of

Veragua. The service had been performed in unsea-

worthy little vessels, in the most fearful weather, and

in the face of appalling hardships. Two men had been

drowned in crossing the bar of a river, a captain and

fourteen men had been massacred by Indians, and six

had died of disease. The rest were worn out by exposure

and want of food. But their troubles were not yet over,

and they had many more hardships and sufferings to

endure before their service was completed.



CHAPTEE XIV.

ABANDONED AT JAMAICA.

On Monday, the ist of May 1503, Columbus lost sight of

that great continent which he had discovered, but which

he was never destined to see again. When we consider

the pain he was suffering and his growing infirmities,

and the fearful weather he encountered ; when we realise

the difficulties and dangers of the voyage in every shape

and form, and the consummate skill with which he met

them ; when we contemplate his watchfulness, and his

ability as a pilot and a seaman, we must come to the con-

clusion that his last voyage of discovery was the most

admirable achievement, though not the most important,

in the life of this wonderful man. If it was second to

the first voyage, it was only second.

The Admiral had left the coast at Cape Tiburon against

his own judgment, and as a concession to the incessant

murmuring of the pilots and crew. The consequence

was that, passing the Tortugas or Caymans, he only

fetched the Jardin de la Eeyna, nearly at the western

end of Cuba. He would have to beat up, against wind

and current, to Espanola, in vessels with hulls literally

honeycombed by the Teredo. Suffering from hunger

and exhausted by fatigue they at length reached Cape

Cruz, where a supply of cassava bread was obtained.

But by no possibility could the sinking hulls beat up to
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windward and reach Espanola. In despair tlie Admiral

shaped a course for Jamaica, reached "Puerto Bueno,'

now called Dry Harbour, on the 23rd of June, and

"Puerto San Gloria," the modern Don Christopher's

Cove, on the next day. The weather was fine, and the

Admiral ran the sinking vessels, side by side, on the

sandy beach. The work of pumping and baling ceased,

and they were soon full of water. They were securely

made fast together, and huts were built on the decks to

house the crew. The cabins under the poops and fore-

castles could still be used.

The shipwrecked explorers were now dependent on sup-

plies from the shore for their existence. Some friendly

natives came, in the first days, with provisions to barter

for any trifles the Spaniards would give them. They

belonged to a small village called Maima, at a short dis-

tance from the ships. Diego Mendez was a supremely

capable man, as well as a knight - errant, and a loyal

gentleman. He undertook to organise a system of

provision supply, by means of conventions with the

principal chiefs throughout the island. He travelled to

the eastern cape, and formed a close friendship with a

powerful chief, who sold him a good canoe, and undertook

to send cassava bread, fish, and game to the ships.

Similar conventions were made with minor chiefs all

along the coast. From that time the natives came every

day with abundant supplies, and the Admiral made

strict rules to prevent their being imposed upon or ill-

treated. But they were content with any trifling little

ornament in exchange for their provisions. Young Fer-

nando was now fifteen years of age, and he took great

interest in the arrangements of the market. The Admiral

purchased ten canoes at Maima for the use of his people.



DIEGO MENDEZ. 271

The great necessity, as well as the great difficulty, was

to devise the means of informing the government at

Espanola of their predicament. The Admiral turned the,

matter over in his mind for a long time, and at last he

sent for Diego Mendez. " My son," he said, "not one

of those whom I have here with me has any idea of the

great danger in. which we stand except myself and you

;

for we are but few in number, and the natives are nume-

rous, and very fickle and capricious. They can easily

destroy us all whensoever they take it into their heads

to do so. I have thought of a remedy. It is that some

one should go to Espanola in the canoe that you have

purchased, buy a vessel and enable us to escape from our

dangerous position. Tell me your opinion ? " Mendez

replied that he saw the danger distinctly, but he doubted

whether any one would be found to cross a stormy sea,

120 miles in width, in a frail canoe. The Admiral,

admitting the risk and peril, denied the impossibility,

and told Mendez that he intrusted the service to him.

Then the gallant sailor said that if these important

services were always given to him there might be a

feeling of jealousy among the others. He therefore

requested that the business might be placed before the

whole of the people, to see if any one would volunteer.

"If all refuse,'' added Mendez, 'I will risk my life in

your service, as I have done many times alreadj'."

The Admiral svibmitted the matter to the people, and

called for volunteers. They were all silent. Then

Mendez spoke out. "I have but one life, and I am

willing to sacrifice it in the service of your lordship, and

for the welfare of all those who are here with you." The

Admiral embraced him, and he at once prepared for the

voyage. Drawing his canoe on shore he fixed a false
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keel on it, nailed some weather-boards round the gunwale,

and gave it a coat of tar. He also fitted it with a mast

and sail, and laid in provisions for two Spaniards and

six Indians. Everything being ready, he bade farewell

to the Admiral and all his shipmates, and made sail for

the eastern point of the island, a distance of seventy-five

miles. Here he was attacked by some hostile natives,

who made him a prisoner and were going to kill him.

Escaping to his canoe, he shoved off and made sail,

returning to the ships. It was then arranged that the

Adelantado, with seventy men, should march to the east

point, and remain as guards until Mendez put to sea.

After waiting for a few days, the sea appeared to be

calm. Diego Mendez was accompanied this time by

Bartolome Fieschi, the Genoese, another loyal and devoted

friend of the Admiral. Mendez was instructed to pro-

ceed at once to Spain and give an account of the voyage

to the sovereigns, while Fieschi was to return from

Espaflola and report the safe arrival of Mendez.

The Admiral wrote a most touching letter to the

sovereigns, dated the 7th of July 1503, which is full of

graphic descriptions and noble thoughts. After alluding

in temperate language to the disgraceful conduct of

Ovando at San Domingo and to the hurricane, he

describes the terrific weather off the Honduras coa.st and

his own serious illness, mentioning his anguish at the

condition of his brother and his little son Fernando ; and

he refers to his own poverty after so many years of

service, not as a personal complaint, but to show the

destitute state in which his beloved son Diego would be left

in the event of his death. He then reports the tidings

he obtained respecting Verajua and its gold, his exami-

nation of the land, the terrible sufferings in the bad
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weathei' off the Veragua coast, and the anchorage at

Belem. The letter describes the exploring work, the

discovery of gold, the attempt to form a settlement, and

the war with Quibian, ending with a reference to his

despondency and despair at the loss of his boat's crew

and the break up of the settlement. The solemn words

he heard in his dream, which renewed his hopes, are

then repeated to the sovereigns, followed by a narrative

of events down to the shipwreck at Jamaica. Some

account is given of the people and products of the newly

discovered country, and especially of the gold mines of

Veragua, with the grounds he has for identifying Veragua

with the Golden Chersonese. The Admiral concludes

his letter with an earnest appeal for his men. " The

people who have sailed with me have passed through

incredible toil and danger, and I beseech your highnesses,

since they are poor, to pay them promptly and to be

gracious to them. " Finally, he refers with grief to the

condition of Espaiiola and Paria, overrun with greedy

adventurers, to his own wrongs, and in making a final

appeal for justice he prays for the prosperity of the

sovereigns. This most interesting letter was accom-

panied by one to Father Gaspar Gorricio, with messages

to young Diego and another to Ovando, requesting him

to send vessels to convey the people to San Domingo.

With these letters Mendez embarked in one canoe

while Fieschi accompanied him in another, each having

five Indians, who went with them voluntarily at the

risk of their own lives. They bade farewell to the good

Adelantado one bright night, and the Indians impelled

the canoes over the smooth sea with their paddles during

the whole of the next day, occasionally jumping over-

board to cool themselves by swimming. On the second

s
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night the Indians were exhausted with fatigue and thirst,

so Mendez and Fieschi hoisted their sails. On the second

day there was no land in sight. The Spaniards took

their spells at the paddles, but all began to suffer

terribly from thirst.

" Water, water, eveiywhere,

Xor any drop to diink."

The calabashes were now all empty. The sun poured

down its scorching heat, and by noon the Indians had

lost all power to work. Mendez and Fieschi kept giving

the poor fellows short drinks from their breakers from

time to time, and so kept them up until the cool of the

evening, when they revived a little. They were making

for a small island called Navasa, about twenty-four miles

from the west point of Espafiola, and they began to

fear they had been taking a wrong course. They were

almost in despair when night overtook them, and they

were still out of sight of land. As the moon rose, Mendez

noticed that he could only see half, when the whole disc

ought to be visible. It was rising behind the islet, and

this blessed sign was their salvation. The Indians were

all given drinks and shown the land. They exerted their

final strength, and soon the canoes reached the shore. It

was a mass of barren rocks, but some rain water was

found in the clefts, and they all obtained welcome rest.

One Indian had died that afternoon. Cape Tiburon, the

western point of Espanola, which the Admiral had named

San Miguel, was in sight, and at sunset they resumed

the voyage, reaching land at davm. Fieschi wished to

return to Jamaica, in obedience to the Admiral's instruc-

tions, but the natives could not be induced to undertake

another such voyage. After resting for two days Diego
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Mendez proceeded to Xaragua, where he found the

Comendador Ovando, and reported what had happened,

and the critical position of the Admiral and his people.

Ovando deliberately put off the despatch of any help.

He was ever in dread that the Admiral's rights might

be restored. He hoped that, if he left him to starve

at Jamaica, he would die, and that all danger from

that quarter would be removed. Mendez found him at

Xaragua engaged in work so diabolical that it requires

the unanimous testimony of all contemporary writers

to make it credible. The chief Behechio had died, and his

sister Anacaona had succeeded him. Ovando announced

his intention of paying her a visit, and she summoned all

the under chiefs of Xaragua to assemble at her residence,

to do honour to the comendador. That officer's plot had

been arranged beforehand. In the midst of festivities

in his honour, he caused the caciques to be seized and

fastened to wooden pillars within the house, which was

then set on fire. They were all burnt alive. An indis-

criminate massacre was then committed, neither age nor

sex being spared. Finally he ordered Anacaona to be

hanged—the good and bountiful princess, who had ever

been a firm friend of the Spaniards, and with whom the

Adelantado had had such pleasant relations. Ovando

then carried desolation into Higuey, the eastern province

of Espanola, and hanged its noble and gallant chief,

Cotabanama. He was rapidly exterminating the native

population. His friend Las Casas admits that he was

unfit to bear rule over natives, but maintains that he

was a good governor of his own countrymen. Yet he

deliberately left 130 Spaniards to starve at Jamaica, in

the expectation that his own private interests might

thereby be advanced.
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The months passed on, and no tidings came to Puerto

la Gloria of Diego ^lendez. Sickness began to appear

among the people, who were crowded in the huts on the

ships' decks, although excellent arrangements were made

by the Admiral for their general comfort, and for exer-

cise on shore. Want of employment, and the long-deferred

hope of relief, were telling upon them, and many were

becoming discontented and demoralised. The two brothers

to whom Columbus had been induced to give appoint-

ments for which they were quite unfit, by the treasurer

ilorales, began to stir up a mutiny. Francisco de Porras

was captain of the Santiago, and Diego was accountant.

They were joined by Juan Sanchez, the pilot who allowed

Quibian to slip through his fingers ; by Pedro de Ledesma,

the intrepid swimmer ; by Juan Barba, the gunner of the

Capitana, and about fifty others. Their intention was

to seize the Admiral's canoes and follow Mendez to

Espafiola.

On the 2nd of January 1504 Porras and his followers

broke out in open mutiny. Porras entered the cabin

where the Admiral was laid up with a severe attack of

gout, made violent complaints, and accused him of never

intending to return to Spain. Columbus reasoned with

him, but he refused to listen, and rushed out of the cabin,

calling upon the mutineers to rally round him. The

Admiral limped out but was induced to return, and the

Adelantado confronted them with a drawn sword, ready

to defend the approach to his brothei-'s cabin with his

life. The loyal men, of course, included all the sick, and

they were too weak to resist the followers of Porras, who
seized what stores they chose to take, and the ten canoes,

and departed in the direction of the east point. They

made several attempts to put to sea, but always returned.
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There was no Diego Mendez among them. At last they

gave up all hope of crossing to Espaiiola, and wandered

over the island, robbing and ill-treating the natives.

The Admiral and his brother consoled the loyal men
who stood by them in their need, gave them hopes of

speedy relief, and attended to the comforts of the sick.

But the misconduct of the mutineers began to tell against

the Admiral's adherents, for the natives did not dis-

tinguish between the two parties, and the cessation of

supplies began to threaten actual starvation. Something

was necessary to avert a famine, and the Admiral's

readiness of resource saved his people. He hit upon a

stratagem which served its purpose admirably. They had

entered upon the month of February, and the Admiral

knew, from the ephemeris of Regiomontanus, that there

would be a total eclipse of the moon at a certain hour.

Young Fernando tells us that his father sent for

the principal caciques of the district, and told them,

through a native who had acquired sufficient knowledge

of Spanish, that he and his people were servants of the

God of Heaven, who would reward the good and punish

the evil. God was angry with the people of the island

for failing to bring provisions according to their agree-

ments, and he would punish them with great evils unless

they fulfilled their promises. As they might not believe

his words, God would show them a sign that very night,

by making the moon dark before them. When the eclipse

commenced the Indians were terrified, and came to the

ships with great lamentations and laden with pro-

visions, entreating the Admiral to pray to his God that

His anger might be averted from them. Columbus waited

tintil the eclipse began to wane, and then told them that

they were forgiven, and that the sign of God's anger
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would disappear. They went away full of awe and

wonder, and from that time the supplies came in with

great regularity.

The month of March arrived, and it was eight months

since the departure of Mendez and Fieschi. Fears began

to be entertained that they had perished in the passage.

Even some of those who had hitherto remained loyal began

to entertain mutinous thoughts, which the Catalonian

apothecary named Bernal, and two seamen, his accom-

plices, named Alonzo de Zamora and Pedro de Yillatoro,

strove to fan into a flame. At this juncture, late one

afternoon towards the end of April, a caravel hove in

sight. All despondency disappeared, and the people

were filled with joyful hope. But she hove to outside the

port. Then a boat was seen to be pulling in, and when

she came near enough a man named Diego de Escobar

was made out in the stern sheets. He came alongside,

handed up a letter from Ovando, and a present of one

bottle of wine and a piece of bacon, and then shoved off,

the boat's crew laying on their oars.

Escobar was a main supporter of Eoldan, and one of

the most infamous miscreants in Espaiiola. He had been

selected for this mission as one of the Admiral's most

bitter enemies. His orders from Ovando were merely

to leave the letter and receive an answer, but to allow

no further communication, and to take no one back with

him. In his letter Ovando condoled with the Admiral

on his sufferings, and regretted that no vessels could be

spared to convey him and his people to San Domingo.

Escobar was evidently sent as a spy, in the hope that he

would find the Admiral dead or in extreme distress, and

to report on the condition of affairs. The Admiral at

least got the news that his faithful friends arrived safely
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at Espanola, so he knew for certain that sooner or later

they would arrange for his relief. Columbus wrote a

dignified answer to Ovando, calling upon him for assist-

ance, and Escobar's caravel departed again that very

night.

The disappointment was very bitter, but the Admiral

consoled his people with the reflection that they were

now certain of the safety of Mendez, and that succour

was only delayed. He also sent a message to the

mutineers with the same assurances, and an appeal to

them to return to their duty. But Porras prevented his

followers from seeing the missive, sent back an insolent

reply, and commenced a march on Maima, with the in-

tention of attacking the ships, and making the Admiral

and his brother prisoners. The Admiral was too ill to

move. He intrusted another mission to his brother,

who, if it failed, was to reduce the mutineers to obedience

by force. Bartolome Columbus was a man rather of

action than of words, and he was justly indignant

against Porras. He collected and armed all the men

who were not disabled from sickness, and advanced be-

yond Maima until he confronted the mutineers. Much

against his will, but in obedience to his brother's instruc-

tions, he sent messengers to propose terms. Porras saw

that his numbers were superior to those of the Adelan-

tado, and he reckoned upon an easy victory. He and six

others swore to keep together and make straight for the

Admiral's faithful brother. They feared him more than

all the rest put together, and his death would secure

their victory. Giving no answer to the messengers,

Porras and his friends made a desperate rush upon the

Adelantado. But he was a match for the whole of them.

The doughty Genoese, with feet firmly planted, dealt
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blows right and left. Sanchez the pilot fell dead at his

feet. Next fell Barba the gunner. Pedro de Ledesma

dropped under the third blow, desperately wounded.

Porras himself aimed a furious stroke at the Adelantado,

which was caught in his shield, and went so deep into the

leather that the mutineer could not free it. Bartolome

quickly closed on his antagonist, threw him to the ground,

and with some help bound him hand and foot. The other

malcontents, seeing the fate of their leaders, fled in all

directions. Porras was brought on board a prisoner.

He ought to have been hanged, but the Admiral's

humanity intervened. Ever loth to proceed to extremi-

ties, he granted this ungrateful miscreant his life. The

defeat of the mutineers took place on the i8th of May,

and on the 20th they sent an abject letter to the Admiral,

praying for forgiveness, and expressing repentance for

their rebellion. With his invariable kindness the

Admiral sent them his pardon, the brothers Porras alone

remaining in custody.

Nothing remained but to wait for the succour which

Mendez and Fieschi were sure to send. Durinff this

period of suspense, one of the Admiral's oldest and most

faithful friends succumbed to the hardships of this severe

service. Pedro de Terreros, who had been captain of

the Gallega, died on the 29th of May 1504. He had

been steward during the lii-.st voyage, and witnessed the

memorable landing at Guanahani; and he had served

with his beloved commander in every subsequent expedi-

tion. While one faithful old friend passed away, another

was hurrying to the rescue. Towards the end of June

1 504 two caravels at length hove in sight. Diego Mendez,

after overcoming the numerous obstacles and delay.s

caused by Ovando, succeeded in freighting a small vessel,
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the command of which he gave to the true and loyal

Diego Salcedo. Servant of the Admiral during the first

voyage, it was Salcedo who told the sailor of Lepe that

Columbus was the first to see the light. Ever faithful

to his beloved master, he had been employed for some

time at San Domingo, as one of the Admiral's agents to

recover the property robbed by Bobadilla. The shame-

ful conduct of Ovando at length aroused the indignation

of the colonists, and he was even attacked from the

pulpit for leaving the great Admiral, the discoverer of the

New World,* and his people to their fate. To save

appearances, he sent a caravel to accompany the vessel

commanded by Salcedo.

At length the long-suffering explorers were rescued.

Many had never expected to leave the island. In nearly

all the lamp of hope had sunk very low, and their joy

was proportionately great. They all embarked in the

two caravels on the 28th of June 1504. It took them

three weeks to beat up to San Domingo against the trade-

wind, and during that time Salcedo gave the Admiral full

particulars of the government of Bspaiiola by Ovando.

He heard with grief and indignation of the murder of the

good and gracious Anacaona, of the cruel burning of the

caciques, of the massacre of the people, and the depopu-

lation of the island. On reaching San Domingo, the

colonists crowded to the beach to greet the illustrious dis-

coverer, saved from so many perils and dangers almost by

a miracle. The force of public opinion obliged Ovando to

receive him with outward courtesy and hospitality, but

the real feeling of the man was shown by the infliction

of many petty annoyances on his noble-minded guest.

*' This appropriate name was first used by the Admiral himself in

1500.
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San Domingo was now a melancholy place for the

Admiral and his brother, and they hurried the prepara-

tions for their departure. ]Most of their people were

sadly in want of clothes and money, and the majority

elected to remain in the colony. They had received no

pay from the government, but their generous leader

distributed money among them from his own slender

stock. On the 1 2th of September, after a residence of a

month at San Domingo, the Admiral sailed for Spain,

with his brother and young son Fernando. On the 19th

they encountered a fearful storm, the mainmast went by

the board, and the little vessel was left at the mercy of

the waves. The Admiral, although suffering tortures

from the gout, showed his accustomed seamanlike qualities

in rigging a jurymast and getting the vessel under con-

trol again. Soon afterwards the mizenmast was carried

away, and there was bad weather for many days. After

fifty-six days the coast of Spain was at length sighted,

and on the 7th of November 1504 the Admiral crossed

the bar of the Guadalquivir and anchored at San Lucar.

Thus ended the naval career of the greatest navigator

in history. His mind was still full of schemes for the

settlement of Yeragua, and the extension of further dis-

covery, but the worn-out body could bear the strain no

longer. He had come home to die. If a few more years

of work had been permitted, the whole magnificence of

his discovery would have been revealed to him. The

errors of astronomers and mathematicians respecting the

length of a degree were still the data on which he based

his speculations. He had no others, and the dark veil

they drew before his eyes could only have been removed

by actual discovery. The revelation of a great South

Sea would probably have torn it away. The absence of
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a strait must even then have revealed to him the insularity

of Cuba and the true course of the Gulf Stream. But
the glass was run out. He knew that he was the

chosen Christopher destined to bear Christ across the

ocean. He knew that he was the discoverer of a New
World, as he had called it in one of his letters, and

that his idea of sailing westward had borne such fruit

that all civilised Europe resounded with it. He knew
that he had done his duty faithfully and loyally as a

Christian man, and with such knowledge he was pre-

pared to die. But while he had breath he was bound to

claim his rights and privileges, not for himself, but for

his dearly loved son who would inherit them. His

duty was done, and done in a way that no other man
could have done it. His brief span of remaining life

must be devoted to his love. Full of such thoughts the

old hero, old before his time, was carried out of the

tempest-tossed vessel and conveyed up the river to Seville.

After the Admiral's return from his last voyage, his

old follower, Vicente Yanez Pinzon, agreed with another

pilot, named Juan Diaz de Soils, to take up the thread

of their great master's discoveries at the island off the

coast of Honduras, which he had named, " Isla de los

Pifios," and to follow up the clue in an opposite direc-

tion. (i) According to Oviedo, they took the young

mutineer, Pedro de Ledesma, with them, and they set

out in the autumn of 1506,* or possibly in a subsequent

year, 1507 or 151 o. Sailing late in the autumn, they

reached the Gulf of Honduras at about Christmas, and

Pinzon therefore gave it the name of Navidad. They

returned after having explored a great part of the coast

* It appears from documents in the collection of NaTarrete that

Pinzon was in Spain during 1505 and until August 23, 1506.
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of Tucatan, and, according to Peter Martyr,* Pinzon

afterwards claimed that he established the insularity

of Cuba. He may have conjectured that Cuba was an

island, but the credit of the actual discovery of that

geographical fact Ls due to the voyage of Sebastian de

Ocampo in 1508.

XOTE.

''I Date of tlic YwoUm voyage of Pinzon and Solis.

With the object of detracting from the credit of Columbus,

viedo tried to make out that " the pilots Vicente Yanez Pinzon,

Juan Diaz de Solis, and Pedro de Ledesma, -n-ith three cara-

vels," discovered the Honduras coast before Pinzon was off the

mouth of the Amazons. The alleged voyage would, therefore,

have been made in 1498. His mention of Ledesma enables us

to detect the misrepresentation. This young native of Seville

was an inexperienced ordinary seaman in his twenty-seventh

year, when he sailed in the last expedition of Columbus in

1503. He was entered as a seaman on board the Vizcaina by

her captain, Bai'tolome Fieschi. If he had sailed with Pinzon

six years before, he would have been a lad in his twenty-first

year. It is not to be believed that he was then in a position

to have his name coupled with those of Pinzon and Solis as a

pilot in command of a caravel, while six years later he was
only an ordinary seaman. But in 1506 or 1507, when Ledesma

was thirty, Pinzon would be likely enough to take a man who
had previously served with the Admiral on the coast for which

he was bound, a~ a pilot. Thus this mention of Ledesma defeats

the object of Oviedo to mislead, and brings us to the truth.

Gomara, as was his wont when there was a chance of injuring

Columbus, adopted this mis-statement of Oviedo. He, however,

oidy ventured upon an insinuation. "But some say that Pinzon

and SoUs had been there three years before." This is certainly

false, for '
' three years before '' Pinzon was engaged on a voyage

in quite a different direction.

* Dec. II. lib. vii.
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These statements may be set aside as attempts to deprive

Cohimbus of his right of priority in discovering the Honduras
coast, which are shown to be false from internal evidence.

They are more completely disproved by a historian whose
perfect fairness and means of obtaining accurate information

cannot be doubted. Las Casas was a contemporary, and had
an intimate knowledge of these events, and an acquaintance

with the actors in them. He alone gives any details of the

voyage of Pinzon and Solis to Honduras, and says that it was
undertaken after the return of the Admiral from his last voyage,

and with the object of following up his discoveries (Lib. ii. cap.

xxxix.). He denounces the conduct of men like Oviedo and
Gomara, who unjustly attempted to detract from the work of

the Admiral, " as if Columbus had not been the first to open

the gates of the ocean, which had been closed for so many thou-

sands of ages, and as if it was not he who showed the light by
which all might see how to discover, . . . and who put the

thread into the hands of the rest, by which they found the clue

to more distant parts."

Herrera copied his account of this voyage of Pinzon and Solis

word for word fi-om Las Casas, adding that it took place in

1506. If so they must have sailed late in tlie autumn of 1506,

for Pinzon was certainly in Spain in August of that year. This

is very likely, as, from his having given the name of Navidad

to the Gulf of Honduras, he does not seem to have reached the

coast until Christmas. However that may be, it is certain,

from the unimpeachable evidence of Las Casas, that this voyage

of Pinzon and Solis was undertaken after, and not before, the

last voyage of Columbus. The evidence of Rodrigo Bastidas

in the trial is equally conclusive. He bore testimony that the

coast discovered by Pinzon and Solis was all one with the

coast which the Admiral discovered first. Bastidas was a

trustworthy honest man, as Las Casas tells us, and was person-

ally acquainted with all the facts.



CHAPTEE XV.

DEATH OF THE ADMIRAL.

The Admiral arrived at Seville in Xovember 1504, and

was very anxious to proceed to court and report himself

to the sovereigns. A litter was even got ready for Viitti

by order of the municipality, but he proved to be much

too 01 to be moved for many months. At Seville he was

attended by both his brothers, and was surrounded by

many warm friends, chief among them being Fray Gaspar

Gorricio, and the Fathers of Las Cuevas. The vast Car-

thusian monastery of Santa Maria de las Cuevas stood on

the right bank of the Guadalquivir, near the north end

of the suburb of Triana. Rich in architecture, in its

library and pictures, it was further enriched in after years

bv the labours of Zurbaran. But its greatest ornaments

were its delicious groves of orange and lemon trees along

the banks of the river ; and here no doubt the illustrious

invalid passed much of his time in conversations with

Gorricio, the Cura of Los Palacios, and other friends.

The faithful Diego ^Nlendez had preceded the Admiral

to Spain, had presented his- letter from Jamaica to the

sovereigns, and was still at court with young Diego.

The Admiral wrote to his son on November 21st express-

ing a wish that he should remain at court and superintend

his affairs ; and in another letter, dated the 28th, he wrote

of his delight at the promised payment of his poor people
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who served in the last voyage, and who had passed

through such fearful dangers and hardships. His chief

hope of support at court was from Dr. Deza, now Bishop

of Palencia, his old and staunch friend ; and he also

anticipated help from the exertions of his agent Carbajal,

of Diego Mendez, and of his son. Writing again on the

ist of December, the Admiral expressed great anxiety

for the health of the Queen. He was sending his brother

the Adelantado and his son Fernando to court, to kiss

hands on their return. "Make much of your brother,"

he wrote to Diego ;
" he has a good disposition, and is now

leaving his boyhood. Ten such brothers would not be

too many. Never have I found better friends, on my
right hand and on my left, than my brothers."

Alas ! the good Queen had breathed her last in Medina

del Campo six days before the date of the Admiral's letter.

Her constitution had been undermined by the strain of

hard and constant physical and mental work exacted by

her position as reigning Queen of Castillo. Before her

death, she was horrified at the news of the atrocities per-

petrated by Ovando, of the burning of caciques, the

murder of Anaoaona, and the massacres of the people in

Xaragua and Higuey. One of her last requests to

Ferdinand was that Ovando might be recalled, and that

order might be taken for the better treatment of the

natives. Ferdinand did not comply with it. Ovando

suited him. He sent plenty of gold. When Ovando

had nearly exterminated the natives of Espanola, Fer-

dinand authorised him to fill their places by kidnapping

the unfortunate inhabitants of the Bahamas. Isabella

died at noon of the 26th of November 1504. Her loss

was deeply felt by the Admiral, for she had upheld him

in his adversity, had adopted his great scheme, and had
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ever been a warm and consistent friend. She had no

more sincere mourner than the illustrious Genoese, whose

grief was deep and genuine.

The Adelantado, with young Fernando and the

Admirar.s agent C'arbajal, left Seville on the 5th of

December, to kiss the King's hand and give an account

of the voyage. Columbus himself was still unable to

move ; but he wrote fiequently to Diego, and in one

letter, dated January 18, 1505, he sent a playful mes-

sage to his old friend the Bishop of Palencia. " I must

lodge with him whether he likes it or not, for we have

to go back to our first brotherly love, and he will not be

able to deny me." Diego Mendez had been at Seville,

and started again for the court on the 3rd of February.

The Admiral was happy in still having tiue and faithful

friends in all ranks of life. He deserved to have them.

Amerigo Yespucci, who came to him at this time,

enjoyed his good will.
'' He always," writes the Admi-

ral, " showed a desire to please me ; he is a very respect-

able man, but fortune has been adveise to him, as it has

been to many others, and his labours have not been so

profitable to him as he might reasonably have expected.

He expresses himself very desirous to serve me, and to

do all he possibly can for me.'' The Admiral sent this

letter to his son, dated February 5, 1504, by Vespucci,

and desired Diego to do what he could to help him and

further his wishes at coiut.

The Admiral had obtained license to ride a mule, and

as the tortures of the gout, aggravated by the cold and

damp of a very severe winter, were less unbearable when
warm weather set in, the journey was commenced in the

middle of ilay 1505. Ferdinand was at Segovia, and

thither the Admiral journeyed by short stages, accom-
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panied and fondly cared for by his brother Bartolome.

The King received him with feigned delight, and listened

to his account of the events of his last voyage, probably

with real interest. But nothing came of the inter-

view, and after a time the Admiral submitted a memorial

for the restitution of his rights. The King's reply was

that a matter of so much gravity and importance should

first be considered by some councillor of experience and

probity. Columbus concurred, and suggested that no one

could be better fitted for such a task than Dr. Deza, who
had just been translated from Palencia to be Archbishop

of Seville. That true friend said that he was willing to

arbitrate respecting the amounts due to the Admiral,

but not on the question of his rights, for concerning

them there could not be any doubt.

The Admiral remained with the court at Segovia from

May to the end of October, and he then followed it to

Salamanca, waiting for a definite reply to his memorial.

Here the severe cold of the early winter brought on fresh

attacks of illness, and he determined to go to Valladolid,

leaving the care of his business in the hands of his two

sons, under the friendly protection of Cardinal Ximenes

de Cisneros. The court was shortly expected at Valla-

dolid also, and in anticipation of the King's arrival the

Admiral addressed a letter to him, praying that his son

Diego might be allowed to take his place, as the recipient

of royal justice. He asked for no favour, only for bare

justice. He also pleaded for the unhappy natives of

Bspafiola. " They were, and are," he wrote, " the wealth

of that country. It is they who dig and produce bread

and other food for the Christians. It is they who extract

gold from the mines, and perform all other services not

only of men but also of beasts of bvwden."
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Soon afterwards the court arrived at Valladolid, but

Ferdinand went on to Laredo, to meet his daughter

Juana, the new Queen of Castille, who was expected with

her husband, the handsome young Philip I. of Austria.

Leaving the port of Weymouth, after a visit to Heniy
VII. at Windsor, they arrived, not at Laredo but at

Coruna, on the 28th of April 1506. The news revived

all the hopes of the Admiral, and he received it with

delight. He trusted in the justice of Isabella's daughter

and her gallant young husband. His illness kept him

confined to his bed in a hired lodging at Valladolid, but

he sent his brother the Adelantado to present himself to

the new sovereigns in the name of the Admiral, and to

deliver to them a letter of congratulation. Las Casas

considered it as certain that if the Admiral and Philip had

both lived , full justice would have been done at last.

Bartolomfe bade farewell to his brother, whom he was

never destined to see again. There remained with the

Admiral his two sons, the ever faithful companions of

his last voyage, !Mendez and Fieschi, and several servants

and mariners, humble but loyal friends, who had con-

tinued true to their old commander, and remained by

him to the end. That end was now near at hand. The

Admiral had written a codicil to his will at Segovia on

the 25th of August 1505. Feeling that he had but a

short time to live, he sent for the notary and several

witnesses, who assembled in his room on the 19th of

May 1506. He was unable to move, but his mind was

as clear as ever when he formally ratified his last will,

and the Segovia codicil.(i) He then became tranquil, and

he was quite at re.st with regard to his temporal affairs.

His mind indeed was buoyant and full of hope from the

result of his brother's mission. He devoted Ms last dav
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on earth to thoughts of eternity. At his own request

he was attired in a Franciscan habit, an order to which

he had been warmly attached since he formed the old

friendships at the convent of La Rabida. A Franciscan

named Gaspar acted as his confessor, and administered

to him the sacraments of the Church. Surrounded by his

HOUSE AT VALLADOLID IN WHICH COIiPMBUS DIED.

weeping sons, and by many faithful and attached friends,

the great man expired peacefully on the eve of Ascension

Day, the 20th of May 1506. His last words were, "In

manas tuas Domine commendo spiritum meum."

The brightest light of that age was put out. The

beacon round which had centred its great aspirations, its
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enterprise and its science, was dimmed for a time, but

only to bum still brighter in the ages to come, as a

glorious example for all future generation& Four cen-

turies, far from having dimmed the memory of the great

discoverer's achievement, have impressed it more deeply

on the minds of men.

After the funeral ceremonies at Valladolid, the

Admiral's bodj', in accordance with his own wish, was

translated to Seville, and deposited id the convent of

Santa Maria de las Cuevas, where he had found such true

friends, and which he had loved so well. We may assume

that the coffin was attended by the Admiral's brothers and

sons, in the long journey from YalladoUd. The remains

of Columbus remained in the chapel called Santa Ana, in

the Carthusian convent at Seville, from 1506 to 1544.

In the latter year the widow of Diego took the bodies of

the Admiral and his eldest son in her own ship to San

Domingo, and, by permission of Charles V., interred them

in the chancel of the cathedral church in that city. There

they remained in peace for 250 years. But when

Espanola was ceded to France by the treaty of Basle, in

1795, the Spanish Admiral, Don Grabiiel de Aristizabal,

resolved that the venerated ashes should not remain in a

foreign land. They were disinterred, put on board the

Spanish Une-of-battle ship San Lorenzo, and conveyed to

Havana, arriving in the harbour on January 25, 1796.

The precious remains were placed in a niche on the right

hand side of the high altar of Havana cathedral. (-.*

Xo monument was erected in the chapel at Las Cuevas,

consequently King Ferdinand never caused the lines to

be engraved on it

—

A CastiUa y a Leon
Xuevo Mundo di6 Colon."
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It was indeed a most unlikely thing for that unsym-

pathetic matter-of-fact personage to do. The lines were

used as a motto encircling the arms of the Admiral's

heirs, and may be seen on the tombstone of his son Fer-

nando, in Seville Cathedral.

There is only one authentic portrait of Columbus.

It was painted when the great discoverer was advanced

in years, and was in the villa at Como of the Italian

historian Paulus Jovius, who made a collection of portraits

of the worthies of his time. This picture is still at Como,

the property of the Nobile Alessandro de Orchi, whose

grandmother was a Giovio ; and it has never left the

family. It is the head of a venerable man with thin

grey hair ; the forehead high, the eyes pensive and

rather melancholy. The face is oblong, without beard

of any kind, and there is a small swelling on the left

side of the nose, which is one indication of the picture

having been painted from life. Over the head are the

words " Colombus Lygur, novi orbis reptor." Only

half the bust is shown, the dress being a gown laced

at the throat. In an edition of a book called "Elogia

Virorum Illustrium," published in 1575, there are

woodcuts of the portraits in the villa of Jovius, including

one of Columbus, but it is quite different from the

original. The engraving in the " Elogia " is half-length,

representing an elderly man with hair inclined to curl,

and a thoughtful, melancholy, but rather pleasing expres-

sion. The dress is a cape and hood fallen back, of some

religious order, one hand drawing in the folds of the

cape, and resting on the other. A copy was made of

the picture of Jovius in about 1550, which is now in the

Uffizi gallery at Florence ; but the artist, though copy-

ing the features exactly, made a much younger man.
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with dark hair. The picture in the National Library at

Madrid is a copy of the Florence picture. The engraving

published by De Bry in 1595 claimed to be from a por-

trait painted by order of Ferdinand, stolen from the hall

of the council of the Indies and brought to the Xether-

ESGEAVING OF C0LU3IBUS IS DE BEY.

lands. It has no resemblance to those taken from the

portrait of Jovius. The De Bry engraving represents a

round face with masses of curls on each side, large eyes

without expression, and a blunt nose : all these features

being entirely different from the descriptions of Las
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Oasas and Oviedo. The picture attributed to Parmigiano

at Naples is generally considered to be merely fanciful.

A portrait which is said to have belonged to the Cuccero

family, was purchased by the Comte Eosselly de Lorgues,

and is attributed by him to Antonio del Eincon, the artist

who painted Ferdinand and Isabella, and who lived be-

tween 1445 and 1500. But the authenticity of its history

is more than doubtful. It is engraved in the Count's

life of Columbus. Another portrait has recently been

brought to light at Venice by the archseologist Antonio

della Rovere, which is said to have been painted by

Lorenzo Lotto, possibly by order of Angelo Trivijiano,

for transmission to Malipieri in 1500, with the letters

and charts of the Admiral.

The portrait at Como alone has any claim to be a like-

ness, so that the only authentic materials for picturing

the appearance of Columbus in our minds are the Como
picture and the detailed descriptions of his features re-

corded by Las Casas and Oviedo.

The character of Columbus was deeply tinged with

religious enthusiasm and strong devotional feeling from

his earliest youth ; and when, probably at a much earlier

age than is generally supposed, he became possessed by

his one grand idea, his religious feelings became entwined

in every worldly thought, and he was impressed with the

belief that he was a humble but specially selected instru-

ment for the fulfilment of an Almighty design foretold

in prophecy. He strove to keep these thoughts in his

memory by day and night, and to bear them in mind, so

that they might influence the transactions of each day.

The Admiral's invariable signature is an indication of the

way religious thoughts pervaded his life. It was an

invocation to Jesus, Maria, and Joseph above the words
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"bearing Chiist," and it is seen at the end of everj-

document under his hand.

ft A S

X M Y
yjo FEEEN'S.

He left instructions for the way it was to be written :

first X, and 8 above it for Chridus, M with A above

it

—

Maria ; and 8 above that

—

Salve ! then Y with S

above it

—

Yosephus : below yjo fekexs, for Ghrutoplter.

Columbus had a very ac'tive and imaginative brain,

the bright thoughts following each other in rapid suc-

cession, and his enthusiastic and impressionable nature

produced visions and day-dreams which often impressed

him with all the force of reality. like Joan of Arc, and

other gifted beings who have been the instruments to

work out great events, Columbus heard voices, which had

the practical effect of rousing him from despondency and

bracing him to his work. He has recorded two occasions

on which this happened, but probably ' the voices " made

themselves heard at other critical turning-points of his

life. Yet there was no danger of his becoming a mere

visionary. HLs clear penetrating intellect saved hiTn

from that ; and it was this unrivalled power, combined

with a brilliant imagination, which constituted his genius.

He prepared himself for his great work by long study, by

the acquisition of vast experience, and by a minute know-

ledge of every detail of his profession. But this would not

have sufficed. He added to these qualifications a master

mind endowed with reasoning powers of a high order

;

and an ingenious, almost subtle, way of seizing upon and
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utilising every point which had a relation to the sub-

ject he was considering. His forecasts amount to pre-

vision. Assuredly the discovery of the New World was

no accident. " His genius and lofty enthusiasm, his

ardent and justified previsions, mark the great Admiral

as one of the lights of the human race."*

Apart from his genius, Columbus was a very simple-

minded man, full of love for his fellow-creatures and a

desire for their welfare. He was absolutely devoid of

any vindictive feeling, although few men ever received

greater provocation. Fonscoa, Roldan, Bobadilla, Porras,

were to him merely obstacles injurious to the public

service, nuisances to be removed if possible. But he

bore them no ill-will : partly from the natural magna-

nimity of his disposition, partly from the influence of

religion on his thoughts and actions. He was naturally

hasty and quick-tempered, but he succeeded almost com-

pletely in restraining this tendency by watchfulness and

self-restraint.

His powerful intellect and habitual attention to details

fitted him for the work of administration, although he

was easily imposed upon by plausible villains like B,oldan

;

and some of his greatest difiiculties were the consequences

of this trustfulness and simplicity. Yet, if he had been

firmly supported from home, the government of Bspanola

by the Admiral and his supremely able brother would

have been a success. The feeling of the age, which in

the time of Columbus was absolutely universal, was that

infidel prisoners of war might be treated and sold as

slaves. Prince Henry and the Portuguese went much

further, and systematically seized upon any natives they

could secure. In acting in the spirit of the age, and

* Colonel Yule, " Marco Polo," Introd. i. 102,
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advising the sale of Caribs and prisoners of war, Columbus

hoped that the slaves themselves might receive benefit

from conversion to Christianity, while the administrative

necessities of the colonv were cared for. He had seen

how Ferdinand and Isabella acted when the people of

^lalaga were sold into slavery, with the full sanction of

the Church. He had never heard any doubt expressed

on the subject, and on this point he was not three cen

tuiies in advance of his contemporaries. Las Casas,

with no responsibility and no administrative anxieties,

advocated ^-iews which were three centuries in advance

of his age. He was in advance of Wilberforce and

Clarkson. But he was not a contemporary of Columbus,

being thirty years his junior. He had not yet raised

his voice when the great discoverer died, and much that

he urged would have found a warm response in the heart

of the AdmiraL

After the revolt of Pioldan, Columbus had allowed a

repartimiento of Indians with great reluctance, and under

extreme pressure, but he imposed various restrictions,

with a view to the prevention of ill-treatment. Apart

from these administrative necessities which were forced

upon him by the exigencies of his position, the relations

of Columbus with the natives were friendly and cordial.

The men taken as interpreters were kindly treated, and

we hear of one at least who had a prosperous career in

after Ufe. The Admiral never allowed the people to be

ill-used when he could prevent it. Guacanagari was his

devoted friend ; and the last letter of Columbus to Fer-

dinand contained an earnest appeal in favour of the

natives. In order to show how far Columbus and his

brother were in advance of their contemporaries as re-

gards the treatment of the Indians, it is only necessary
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to compare their conduct on all occasions with that of

Ovando ; who is a fair average specimen of the colonial

governor of the day.

It was, however, as a navigator that the genius of

Columbus found the most suitable field for its display.

He was a consummate seaman, and without any equal

in that age as a pilot and navigator ; while his sense of

duty and responsibility gave rise to a watchfulness which

was unceasing and untiring. His knowledge of cosmo-

graphy, of all needful calculations, and of the manipulation

of every known instrument was profound ; but he showed

even greater power in his forecasts of weather, in his

reasoning on the effects of winds and currents, and in

the marvellous accuracy of his landfalls, even when

approaching an unknown coast. He had that capacity

for taking trouble without which even genius is but a

doubtful blessing. It was in the preparation of charts

and journals, in the diligence with which he recorded all

useful observations day by day, that Columbus set such

a valuable example. His genius was a gift which is only

produced once in an age. But his reasoning power care-

fully trained and cultivated, his diligence as a student,

his habits of observation, and the regularity of his work,

especially in writing up a journal and taking observations,

are qualities which every seaman might usefully study

and imitate. He has been accused of carelessness and

inaccuracy in his statements : but every instance that

has been put forward can be shown to be consistent with

accuracy. The blunders were not those of the Admiral,

but of his critics. Considering the circumstances under

which many of his letters were written, his careful

accuracy of statement is remarkable. It is another proof

of a mind long trained to orderly and methodical habits.O
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The Admiral was a man of dignified bearing, fascinating

in conversation, and endowed with great eloquence and

power of exposition. He was amiable and of a most

affectionate disposition, and made many and lasting

friendships in all ranks of life. Among his warmest

friends were Queen Isabella, Archbishop Deza, the great

Cardinal Cisneros, the Cura of Los Palacios, and the

Fathers of La Eabida and Las Cuevas. We find his ship-

mates serving under him over and over again. Terreros

his steward, Salcedo his servant, were with him in his first

voyage and in his last. Diego Mendez and Bartolome

Fieschi were ready to risk life and limb in his service, and

attended on him to the end. Several faithful sailors

never left him until the last scene at Valladolid. He
was blessed with two loving and devoted brothers, and

Bartolomfe was his trusty defender and counsellor Ln his

darkest hours of difficulty and distress, his nurse in sick-

ness, and his helpful companion in health. The enduring

affection of these two brothers, from the cradle to the

grave, is most touching. Columbus was happy too in

his sons, who were ever dutiful, and whose welfare and

happiness were his fondest care. He never forgot his

old home and the companions of his childhood; as is

shown by his bequest to the Bank of St. George, and by

the provision for poor relations in his will. The last

words he ever wrote were, " In the city of Genoa I was

bom." 'We reverence and admire his genius, we applaud

his large-hearted magnanimity, we urge the study of his

life on all seamen as a useful example, but his friend-

ships and the warmth of his affections are the qualities

which appeal most to our regard. Columbus was a man
to reverence, but he was still more a man to love.

The work of few men in the world's history has had
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such a lasting influence on the welfare of the human
race as that of Columbus. It created a complete revo-

lution in the thoughts and ideas of the age. It was a land-

mark and a beacon. It divided the old and the new order

of things, and it threw a bright light over the future. In

ten years he discovered the way across the Atlantic, he

explored the G-ulf stream and the regions of the trades, of

the westerlies, and the calms ; he discovered the Bahamas

and the West Indies ; he inspired the work of Cabot

and Cortereal ; and he or his pupils discovered the coasts

of the new continent from 8° S. of the equator to the

Gulf of Honduras. But the greatest achievement was

the first voyage across the ocean. It broke the spell and

opened a new era. All else he did, and all that was

done after his death for the next fifty years, followed as

a natural consequence. The originator and supreme

leader of all, was Christopher Columbus.

NOTES.

(1) The Will of Colmnhus.

Columbus was authorised to establish an entail or mayorazgo

by letters patent dated April 23, 1497. On January 22, 1498,

he accordingly executed a deed of entail in favour of his son

Diego, which, was confirmed by the sovereigns on September

28, 1501. In 1502, before sailing on his last voyage, he

executed a new entail of his goods, which he deposited in the

monastery of Las Cuevas. This document is lost. On August

25, 1505, the Admiral wrote a codicil at Segovia, and two days

before his death, on May 19, 1506, he ratified it before wit-

nesses. Another codicil was executed at VaUadolid.

In the Segovia codicil he appointed his sons to be executors,

and confirmed the entailing deeds, settling his rights, privileges,

and estates on Diego and his heirs male, then on Fernando and

his heirs male, then on his brothers in succession, and failing

all these, on bis nearest relation. If his rents are ever recovered
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in the Indies, his son Fernando to receive one cuento and a half

annnally, his brother Bartolome I50,(X)0 maravedis, his other

brother 100,000 maravedis. His eldest son Diego to inherit all

liis offices and estates, one tenth part to be given to poor relations

who appear to be most in need, and in works of charity. Of

the other nine parts, two to be set apart and divided into thirty-

five parts, of which twenty-seven parts to belong to Fernando,

live to Bartolome, and three to Diego the brother. His eldest son

to maintain a chapel with three priests, to say masses for the

souls of the Admiral, his father, mother, and wife : the chapel,

if possible, to be at Concepcion, in the Vega Real of Espanola.

Diego to pay the debts contained in an accompanying list, and

any others that appear to be honestly due ; and Beatriz Enri-

quez is commended to the care of his son. The creditors in the

list are Genoese and a Jew living at Lisbon.

The other codicil, concerning the authenticity of which there

has been a doubt, is believed to be authentic by Mr Harrisse.

In it Diego and the heirs of the entail are desired always to

maintain a person of the Admiral's family at Genoa, who has a

house and a wife, so that he may live honourably, "that our

lineage may have a root in that city, for from it I came, and in

it I was bom."

'-' Question of the remomd of the Admiral's body.

In the year 1877, during the work of repairing the pavement

of the chancel ot the cathedral of San Domingo, two lead coffins

were discovered, containing the remains of Luis and Cristoval

Colon y Toledo, grandsons of the Admiral. A story was spread

abroad that when the Spaniards removed the ashes to Havana
in 1795, they had mistaken the coffin, and that the real coffin

of the Admiral was still at San Domingo. The clergy of the

cathedral made an attempt to establish their case, by concealing

the leaden inscription on the coffin of Don Luis, because that of

Cristoval was exactly like it as regards the lettering, which was
GeiTuau-Gothic. The Admiral was interred on the gospel side of

the altar. The coffins of his grandsons are on the epistle side.

•" Note on the alleged inaccuracies of Columbus.

There are three passages in the writings of Columbus on

which the charge of habitual carelessness and inaccuracy is
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based. One occurs in a letter written in a vessel of 20 tons in a

furious gale of wind in the Atlantic ; the other in a letter written

from a bed of sickness in the midst of the Jamaica hardships ;

and the third when he was dying. This is a small basis on which
to found a general charge ; yet it can be shown to be without

anything to sustain it, in all three instances.

The first is that he dated his letter " Canaria i^th Febrero

1493,'' when he was off the Azores. The quotation is from a

careless copy of the letter at Simancas. " Stamaria '' was read

by the copying-clerk as " Canaria," and 15 for 18. The correct

version, found by Varnhagen, is " Santa Maria 18 jfeSrero 1493."

Columbus was quite accurate.

The second is that, in the letter from Jamaica (Nav. i. 311), he

said, "Yo vin^ a servir de veinte y ocho anos." Bossi, Navarrete,

and even Major think this is a mistake. All assume that he

intended to say, " I came to serve your Highnesses (of Spain) at

the age of twenty-eight," when he was really at least thirty-

eight or forty when he came to Spain. But he did not say so,

and he did not mean it. He said, " I came to serve at twenty-

eight years," that is, " I left my home and came to serve (in this

business of discovering the Indies) at twenty-eight." He is

not alluding to Spain especially. That is exactly what he did

do. He left his home at the age of twenty-eight, and from that

time until he was wrecked at Jamaica, he was constantly

serving. He is perfectly accurate.

The third is that in a letter to King Ferdinand (Nav. ii. 527)

without date, but written a few months before he died, he said

that in fourteen years he could not get the King of Portugal to

understand what he said. The critics point this out as a gross

blunder, for Columbus was only about ten years in Portugal,

and not fourteen. He came to Portugal in 1474, and left in 1484 ;

but he was at Lisbon again in 148b!, when he no doubt once

more tried to make the King of Portugal understand. Prom

1474 to 1488 is exactly fourteen years. Again he is perfectly

accurate.

The logical conclusion is that true criticism should assume so

able a man as Columbus to be correct, when an apparent diffi-

culty occurs in his writings, and that the blunder is on the side

of the fault-finders,
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THE ADMIRAL'S SO\S.

I.—DIEGO A^'D HIS DESCENT)AXTS.

The two sons of Columbus lived to see the completion

of their father's work by the circumnavigation of the

slobe. The Victoria arrived at San Lucar on the 6th of

September 1522. Diego succeeded to the Admiral's

titles and recovered some of his rights. Fernando de-

voted his life to the study of his father's professional

work, and to the preservation of memorials of his deeds.

Both were tall, handsome young men : Diego being

twenty-eight and Fernando eighteen years of age at the

time of their father's death. Diego succeeded at once to

the title of Admiral of the Ocean Sea, In their uncle

Bartolome they had a wise and experienced counsellor.

He had already made a favourable impression on the

new sovereigns, and Philip I. issued an order that what

was due to the deceased Admiral should be paid to his

heir. But Philip died very suddenly in September 1506,

after a reign, in his wife's name, of little more than four

months. He was the same age as Diego, the recogni-

tion of whose rights would again be dependent on the

will of the faithless old king. Ferdinand was absent at

Xaples until the following year.

Very soon after the young king's death BartolomS

Columbus undertook a journey to Rome, in the hope of
3r4
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inducing the Pope, Julius II., to recommend the pro-

priety of another colonising expedition. His efforts

were fruitless. He appears, however, to have written

an account of "Veragua for one of the canons of the

Lateran, a r6sum6 of which is preserved in the Maglia-

bechiana Library.* Bartolomfe had returned to Spain

in 1508.

The young Admiral continued to urge the restitution

of the rights inherited from his father, with importunate

vigour. He had the advantages of an intimate acquaint-

ance with the court, of youth, health, and popularity.

Once Ferdinand said to him, " Look here. Admiral ! I

would confer it on you, but not if I am only to grant it

for your sons and successors." " Sir," replied Diego,

" is it reasonable that I should be punished for the sins

of heirs who perhaps will never exist 1 " But the old

fox continued to delay and evade a direct answer, until

at length Diego asked for permission to bring a suit

and obtain a decision from a court of justice. The King

was induced to give his consent to such a trial, and

it was a fortunate thing for posterity that this legal

process was sanctioned and recorded. Many most inte-

resting details appeared in the evidence that are not

found elsewhere, including incidents in the Admiral's

career and in those of his companions. It was as a

witness in this trial that the good physician of Palos

related the touching story of the arrival of Columbus at

the convent gate of La Rabida with his little son. Las

Casas expresses indignation at the attempts of the judge

to diminish the glory of the great Admiral's services

;

but the testimony that was collected rather tended to

* Published by Mr. Harrisse in his Bibliotheca Americana Vetnstin-

sima, p. 471.
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make the light of his fame to shine more brightly. The

judgment was in favour of the Admiral and his heirs.

Diego Columbus was a handsome and gallant young

courtier, and he won the love of a lady of very high

rank. Dona Maria de Toledo y Roxas was the daughter

of Don Fernando de Toledo, Lord of Villora, Comen-

dador Mayor of Leon, and Grand Huntsman of Castille.

Her uncle was the second Duke of Alva. Her grand-

mother was Maria Enriquez, sister of King Ferdi-

nand's mother. This near relation of the King was a

young lady of spirit and energy, and devoted her life to

the interests of her husband and children. She never

rested until the influence of her uncle and father had

extorted the long-sought act of Justice from their

cousin the King. There can be little doubt that the

marriage, and not a sense of abstract right, explains

the character of the sentence and its acceptance by

Ferdinand.

On the 9th of August 1508 the young Admiral, Diego

Columbus, was appointed Grovernor of the Indies. A fleet

was equipped at >San Lucar, and in the end of May 1509

he embarked with his wife Maria de Toledo and many
ladies of her household, his uncles Bartolome and Diego,

and his brother Fernando. Arriving at San Domingo
in July, the young Admiral assumed the government of

Espanola, superseding the cruel Ovando, who went home,

and died four days after he landed in Spain. Young Fer-

nando also went back, as captain-general of the return-

ing fleet, as he was desirous of completing his studies.

Juan Ponce de Leon had been made governor of San

Juan or Puerto Piico ; Esquivel, one of the most ruthless

of Ovandos bloodhounds, was sent to reduce Jamaica

;

and in 1 5 1 1 the young Admiral sent Diego Velasquez to
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colonise Cuba, its insular character having been deter-

mined by Ocampo in 1508.

When Diego Columbus arrived in Bspanola, there

were four personages already residing there, one of

whom was destined to record his great father's achieve-

ments, and the other three to complete them. These

were Bartolomo de Las Casas, the defender of the Indians;

Vasco Nunez de Balboa, the discoverer of the South Sea ;

Hernan Cortes, the conqueror of Mexico ; and Francisco

Pizarro, the conqueror of Peru.

Diego did not find the colonists of Espanola much easier

to govern than had his father. They had nearly exter-

minated the native population, the kidnappedvictims from

the Bahamas were rapidly following their predecessors,

and the denunciations of slavery by the Dominican monks

fell on deaf ears. With the approval of Ferdinand, negro

slaves were beginning to replace the Indians, who were

dying by thousands. In October 15 1 1 a Court of Appeal

was instituted for San Domingo, called the Audiencia,

and the new governor met with enemies and fomenters

of trouble among the lawyers, while the conduct of the

treasurer, Miguel Pasamonte, was hostile and insubor

dinate. The young Admiral found it necessary to make

voyages to Spain in 15 12 and 1513, to defend his con-

duct, and again in 15 15. King Ferdinand died on the

23rd of January 15 16, and the government of Spain was

conducted by Cardinal Cisneros until 1520, when Charles

arrived from the Low Countries. Diego Columbus re-

turned to Espanola in September 1520, and commenced

the building of a stone palace of some architectural pre-

tensions, the ruins of which may still be seen. It was

destined to be the abode of his Vice-Queen Maria for

many years, and here most of his children were born.
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Bishop Fonseca continued to hold office, and to mis-

manage the affairs of the Indies. One of his worst

blunders was the selection of Alonzo de Ojeda and Diego

de Nicuesa to colonise the coast of the mainland dis-

covered by Bastidas and the Admiral. The territory of

Ojeda was to extend from Cabo de la Vela to Darien,

to be called " Xueva Andalusia " ; and Nicuesa was to

be governor of a province including Veragua, to which the

name of "Castilla del Oro" was given. Ojeda had already

shown himself to be imfit for separate command, but he

was a favourite of Fonseca. The appointment of Xicuesa

was a slight to the young Admiral whose father had

discovered Veragua, and a great injustice to his uncle

Bartolome, whose claims had been passed over, although

his proved courage and ability pointed him out as the

proper man for the place.

Ojeda was nearly penniless, but he was supplied with

funds by the famous pilot Juan de la Cosa, who was to

accompany him
; and by a lawyer named MartinFernandez

de Enciso, who was to follow with reinforcements. Nicuesa

was accompanied by an officer named Eodrigo de Colme-

nares, as his second in command. The two expeditions

arrived at San Domingo, where it was agreed that the

river Atrato should be the boundary of their respective

jurisdictions. Ojeda sailed from San Domingo with four

vessels and 300 men, on the 12th of November 1509, and

Nicuesa started about ten days afterwards with five

vessels and 650 men.

The hot-headed and incapable Ojeda landed at Cala-

mar, near the present town of Cartagena, and im-

mediately made an unprovoked attack upon an Indian

town, called Turbaco. He was entirely defeated by the

valiant natives ; upwards of seventy Spaniards perished.
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including Juan de la Cosa, and Ojeda himself only

escaped by hiding in the forest, where his people found

him after a long search, half starved, and in a miserable

condition. Meanwhile Nicuesa's squadron arrived, and

the two commanders took their revenge by a horrible

slaughter at Turbaco, men, women, and children being

indiscriminately massacred. The body of Juan de la

Cosa was found, but in a shocking state, owing to the

effect of poisoned ai-rows. The rival governors then

sailed for their respective territories, Ojeda arriving in

the gulf of TJraba or Darien, and founding a town on its

eastern shore, named San Sebastian. Ojeda made no

provision for obtaining food, and famine soon made its

appearance, while the condition of the settlers was aggra-

vated by frequent attacks from the natives, armed with

poisoned arrows. He determined to return to Espafiola

for supplies, leaving Francisco Pizarro as his lieutenant,

with instructions to return himself with the rest of the

people, if they were not relieved within fifty days. Ojeda

quarrelled with the crew of the vessel in which he took

a passage, and was put in irons. The vessel was wrecked

on the coast of Cuba, and the crew succeeded in reaching

Jamaica, whence Ojeda was sent to San Domingo by the

governor Esquivel, where he lived for some time. He

died there in extreme ppverty m 1515.

Pizarro embarked the starving settlers of San Sebas-

tian in two brigantines and sailed for Espafiola, but he

had scarcely left the bay when he encountered Enciso

bringing reinforcements in two small vessels. Soon after

Enciso had left San Domingo, a stowaway was found

headed up in a cask, who had adopted this means of

escaping from his creditors. Enciso was furious, and

threatened to maroon him, but he was pacified after some
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time. The escaped debtor was Vasco Nunez de Balboa,

one of the companions of Bastidas, a soldier aged about

thirty-five, who afterwards proved himself to be a valiant

and most capable leader of men. They all returned to

San Sebastian ; but Enciso's ship, through bad seaman-

ship, was run upon a rock and became a complete wreck,

a great part of the provisions being lost. The people

landed, both the new-comers brought by Enciso, and the

old settlers under Pizarro ; but they found the fort at

San Sebastian destroyed, and themselves exposed to the

hostile attacks of the brave natives. They were in despair.

The lawyer Enciso was incapable and helpless.

Vasco Nunez de Balboa naturally came to the front.

He cheered up the desponding, and provided a remedy for

their misfortune. Using the experience he had gained

in the voyage of Bastidas, he told his comrades that the

natives of the western side of the gulf had no poisoned

arrows, and that they would be comparatively safe on that

side. They crossed the gulf of Uraba, defeated the hostile

natives, got supplies from their villages, and founded a

settlement under the invocation of the well-known image

at Seville, Nuestra Senora de la Antigua. Enciso was

deposed as incompetent, and "Vasco Nunez would have

been made governor if, just at that time, Colmenares,

the lieutenant of Nicuesa, had not arrived with supplies.

Colmenares persuaded the settlers to accept Nicuesa as

successor to Ojeda, and governor of both the provinces.

Nicuesa had, meanwhile, shown greater incapacity

than either Ojeda or Enciso, if that were possible. He
lost his ship and all his provisions by blundering on to

a river bar, suffered fearfully from hardships caused by

want of forethought, and when at last he collected the

remnant of liis people at Nombre de Dios, in December
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1510, there were about seventy left, out of the original

complement of over six hundred. Starvation led to

the cutting of all the bonds of discipline, and Oolme-

nares found his chief at last, being merely one of a little

band of famine-stricken wretches. To such a condition

had his incapacity reduced the well-equipped expedition

which left San Domingo only a year before. In his

adversity he had shown neither temper nor sympathy

for his comrades, and when he reached Darien the

settlers refused to receive him. He sailed away in a

small brigantine, and was never heard of again.

Vasco Nunez de Balboa became the undisputed gover-

nor of Darien. He was a handsome man, cheery and

good - humoured, with great natural ability, patient,

enduring, and full of resource, and endowed with all

the qualities needed in a commander. He sent Enciso

home, accompanied by two leading settlers, named Zam-

udio and Valdivia, who were to give a true account

of the course of events. Enciso had given Vasco Nunez

a very low opinion of lawyers, and he entreated the King

not to allow any more to come to the colony, because

" they are devils and lead the lives of devils, and not

only are they themselves evil, but they give rise to a

thousand lawsuits and quarrels."

But Enciso, although incapable of leading men, was

an author of some merit, and his work on navigation,

entitled " Suma de Geografia," is one of the earliest

books of the kind. Besides tables of the sun's declina-

tion, it contains curious accounts of the various covmtries

of the world, including some notices of Darien or Uraba.

The first act of Vasco Nunez was to fetch the starving

remnant of Nicuesa's people from Nombre de Dios, and

on his way he captured a cacique of the isthmus named
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Careta, who became a firm ally, and whose daughter

he married. The policy of this elected ruler, to

whom chance had offered such grand opportunities, was

humane and prudent. There is more of diplomacy and

negotiation than of massacre and oppression, in the his-

tory of his dealings with the natives. His sympathy

for the sufferings of his own men ensured him just

popularity among the wild and reckless spirits who

formed his colony. He cheerfully shared their hard-

ships, and attended to the comforts of the sick ; while

his measures usually combined energy with prudence.

His chief lieutenants were Colmenares, Pizarro, and

Alonzo Martin. Has alUance with Oareta, the chief of

Cueva, was a wise and statesmanHke measure. His

treatment of the cacique of Coiba secured the little

colony of Darien a most valuable ally. The visit to the

wealthy chief of Comogre, from whose son the first news

of the existence of the great South Sea was received,

added another nation to the list of the allies of Vasco

Xunez. His romantic expedition to Dabaybe was un-

stained by the atrocities which usually marked the pro-

ceedings of Spanish explorers. These achievements quite

established his position as a wise and successful gover-

nor ; and in January 1 5 1 3, before setting out to discover

the South Sea, he wrote a long and very interesting

despatch to King Ferdinand, reporting the course of

events, and very fully explaining the position and needs

of the colony.

In the following September Vasco Xunez de Balboa

set out to complete the work of the great Admiral in

one direction by discovering the South Sea. Columbus

knew it was there, but sought to reach it by a strait.

His successor revealed the dividing isthmus. Vasco
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Nunez went by sea to the territory of Careta, with 190
well-armed men. Eouting the hostile forces of a hill

chief named Quarequa, he obtained guides and ascended

the mountain range until, after a tedious and difficult

journey of twenty-five days, he attained the summit
ridge on the 25th of September 1513, seven years after

the death of Columbus.

Vasco Nunez told his men to rest themselves, while

he walked up to the summit alone. The wide expanse

of ocean was suddenly spread out before him. He fell

on his knees and gave thanks to God, then beckoned to

his followers to come up; and they all sang the "Te
Deum." A great cross was formed out of felled trees,

and set up on high, by piling stones round its base.

Descending the mountain, the discoverer made friends

with a chief named Chiapes, whose territory was on the

southern slope, and he sent forward Francisco Pizarro',

Alonso Martin, and Juan de Escaray, with twelve men,

to find the shortest way to the sea-shore. Alonso Martin,

accompanied by Bias de Atienza, came to a place where

there were two canoes, and as soon as the rising tide

floated them, they got in and called upon their comrades

to bear witness that Martin was the first, and Atienza

the second man that ever embarked on the South Sea.

Martin returned with the news, and Yasco Nunez re-

quested the cacique Chiapes to accompany him with some

of his people, and went down to the beach. Advancing

into the water up to his thighs, with a sword and shield,

he took possession of all that South Sea, and of all that

appertained to it, in the name of the sovereigns of Spain.

He afterwards made an expedition in canoes to explore

the Gulf of San Miguel, and returned to Darien in

January 15 14, after an absence of four months.
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It would have been wise if King Ferdinand had con-

firmed the appointment of Vasco Xufiez de Balboa. But

he had been prejudiced by Enciso and others, and he

selected an arbitrary, ill-tempered old man, a sort of second

Bobadilla, named Pedrarias de Avila, at the recommenda-

tion of Bishop Fonseca. The new governor came out

accompanied by the Bishop Quevedo ; the future historian

Oviedo ; Enciso, burning for vengeance on Vasco Nunez

;

Hernando de Soto, the future discoverer of the Mississippi

;

Belalcazar, the conqueror of Quito ; Pascual de Andagoya,

and other men of note. In the end of July 1 5 1
4 Pedrarias

arrived at Darien. Violent and incapable, he undid all

the good that the wise and conciliatory policy of Vasco

Xunez had wrought on the isthmus. Expeditions were

sent in all directions, led by savage and cruel adventurers,

who spread devastation and ruin wherever they went.

The historian Oviedo is not considered to have been a very

humane man, but the horrors of Darien were too much

for him, and he returned to Spain. In 1 5 1 7 Pedrarias

caused the discoverer of the South Sea to be beheaded,

on false charges, and thus destroyed one of the ablest

leaders in the New World. It was a melancholy fate,

and the more to be regretted because, if the few men
possessed of the good sense and ability of Vasco ISTunez

had been entrusted with power, the history of the native

race might have been different. Ferdinand, guided by

Fonseca, invariably selected the very worst and most

unfit men that could be found in Spain for high com-

mands, such as Margarit, BobadiUa, Ojeda, Xicuesa, and

Pedrarias. Pieally great and able leaders, like Columbus

and Vasco Xunez, were either forced upon him or rejected.

The discovery of the South Sea solved one of the great

problems that presented themselves to Columbus ; the
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passage to the strait far to the south, and the cu'cum-

navigation forming a natural sequence of events. The

arrival of Sebastian del Cano* at San Lucar in 1 5 2 2 , forged

the last link of the chain which had its origin in the

port of Palos in 1492, an interval of only thirty years.

Meanwhile the Admiral's work was extended westward

and northward from his landfall on the Honduras coast.

His own pupil, Vicente Yanez Pinzon, accompanied by

Juan de Solis, had carried on the discovery thence to the

Yucatan coast, in the very year of their old commander's

death ; but it was not until ten years afterwards that

Hernandez de Cordova accidentally hit upon the same

country, near Cape Catoche. His report induced Velas-

quez, the governor of Cuba, to send a small expedition

under Juan de Grijalva from Santiago in May 15 18,

accompanied by the more famous Pedro de Alvarado.

They touched at the Tabasco river, and explored the

Mexican coast as far as Panuco. The conquest of Mexico

by Hernando Cortes followed in 1519, and thus was the

work completed, which the great Admiral left for a suc-

cessor, when he gave up the alluring suggestion of going to

the land whence the richly freighted canoe had come, at

the Isle of Pines. His duty, as he then saw it, called him

to explore the coast in search of a strait, in the opposite

direction.

After the complete failure of Ojeda and Nicuesa, the

government of Veragua was at length offered to the Ade-

lantado Bartolomu Columbus. The young Admiral had

watched the blunders of the incapable adventurers who

unjustly occupied his uncle's rightful place, with anger

and contempt. At length justice was done, but it was

too late. The Adelantado had received a grant of land

* Not Delcano, as the name is sometimes erroneously written.
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around Fort Concepcion, in the Vega Real, and had

resided for some years in Espanola under his nephew's

rule. The island of Mona, between Espanola and Costa

Rica,, was also ceded to him. He died in December

15 14. He had probably just returned to Se^^lle, for his

body was placed, with that of the Admiral, in the chapel

of Santa Ana, in the monastery of Las Cuevas. The

two brothers rested side by side.

Harassing accusations were continuously brought

against the young Admiral, as they had been against

his father, and in 15 19 he was obliged to return to Spain

to disprove them, leaving his wife and children at San

Domingo. He was present at the grand assembly sum-

moned to Barcelona by Charles V., and accompanied the

Emperor to Cologne. He triumphantly disproved all the

slanders against him, and received the title of Viceroy,'

which had been withheld by Ferdinand. In 1523 he

was again in Spain, having first made his will at San

Domingo on the 8th of September. He once more

cleared himself of all charges, and the Emperor held

him in high esteem. The young Admiral started from

Toledo, to be present at the marriage of Charles V. with

Isabella of Portugal, but he was taken seriously iU on

the road, and stopped at the house of a friend named

Alonzo Tellez Pacheco, at Montalban. He died there

on the 2ist of February 1526, and was interred with his

father and uncle, in the monastery of Las Cuevas at

Seville. He survived his father twenty years, and had

governed Espaiiola for eighteen years.

He left four daughters : Felipa, who never married

;

Maria, wife of Luis de Cardona, Marquis of Guadaleste

and Admiral of Aragon; Juana, married in 1537 to

Luis de la Cueva, brother of the Duke of Albuquerque

;
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and Isabel, wife of Jorge de Portugallo, Count of Gelves

;

and three sons. Luis was his heir, Gristoval continued

the line, and Diego died before his father.

The Yice-Queen, Maria de Toledo, was in San Do-

mingo with her children when her husband died. She

did not return to Spain until 1529, when she came to

urge the claims and protect the rights of her son Luis,

who was born in 1522. Courageous and devoted, this

noble lady fought her son's battle during fourteen years.

In 1542 she returned to San Domingo with the bodies

of the great Admiral and of her husband. Dying there

on the nth of May 1549, she was buried in the cathe-

dral by the side of her husband. Her son Luis suc-

ceeded his father in 1526, and, owing to a judgment

pronounced by Cardinal Garcia de Loaysa in 1536, he

had to renounce the Viceroyalty and other great heredi-

tary rights and privileges granted to the Admiral his

grandfather, receiving in their place an annuity of 10,000

ducats, the island of Jamaica in fief, and the dukedom

of Veragua. He retained the title of Admiral of the

Ocean Sea. In 1540 he returned to Espanola with the

title of Captain-General. After occupying that post for

ten years, he went back to Spain in 1551, and was mar-

ried at Valladolid in 1554, when he had two wives still

living at San Domingo. In 1556 Philip II. deprived

him of his Jamaica fief, and reduced his pension. Soon

afterwards his matrimonial irregularities led to a criminal

prosecution, and he was banished to Oran, where he died

in 1572, aged fifty years. His remains were conveyed

to San Domingo, and buried in the cathedral. He left

two legitimate daughters by his first wife, named Maria

and Eelipa. The eldest became a nun. Felipa was

married to her cousin Diego, son of Cristoval and nephew
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of Luis. Diego's father, Cristoval, died in the same year

as his brother Luis, so that Diego became the second

Duke of Veragua. He was the last male of the family

of Columbus. He died in 1578, leaving a daughter named

Maria, who married an obscure Creole in Espafiola.

Diego, the second Duke of Veragua, had a sister

named Francisca, who lived at Panama, and married the

licentiate Diego Ortegon, a judge at Quito. Her daugh-

ter Josefa was the wife of Paz de la Sema, and mother

of Josefa, who, in 1651, married Martin de Larreategui

of Eybar, in Guipuzcoa. The Larreateguis were thus the

nearest heirs of the great Admiral, and to the dukedom

of Veragua.

But from 1578 to 1790, for upwards of two centuries,

there was a usurpation of the title by descendants of the

daughters of Diego Columbus, the second Admiral ; the

Larreateguis having a prior right as descendants of one

of his sons. The rightful heir, when the second Duke

died, appears to have been poor and resident in the Indies,

while the usurpers were powerful noblemen who could

push their claims at court. Cristoval de Cardona, Mar-

quis of Guadaleste and Admiral of Aragon, was recog-

nised as third Duke of Veragua, when Diego Columbus,

the second Duke, died in 1578. He was a son of Maria,

the second daughter of Diego, the second Admiral

When he died in 1583 without children, the title re-

mained in abeyance until the Council of the Indies

adjudged it to Xuno de Portugallo, Count of Gelves, in

1608. He was grandson of Jorge de Portugallo, Count

of Gelves, who married Isabel, fourth daughter of the

second Admiral. ISTuno became fourth Duke of Veragua,

and received possession of the iron box containing all the

title-deeds and other documents deposited at the monas-
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tery of Las Cuevas. The titles of Duke and Admiral

remained in the male line of Portugallos, Counts of

Gelves, for five generations. The heiress Catarina was

Duchess of Yeragua, and she married James Stuart,

second Duke of Berwick and Liria, and died in 1740.

The Stuarts enjoyed the titles for three generations,

although an almost interminable lawsuit had been

brought against them by the rightful heirs.

At length the lawsuit terminated, in 1790, in favour

of Don Mariano Larreategui, descended from Francisca

Columbus, who married Diego Ortegon. He became

Duke of Veragua and Admiral of the Ocean Sea, and

also received the custody of the iron box, containing the

title-deeds and letters of the great Admiral, which are

now in the house of his grandson at Madrid. They were

published by ISTavarrete in 1825.

His Excellency Don Cristoval Colon de la Cerda y
Larreategui, Duke of Veragua and Admiral, ex-Minister

of PubUc Works, and Vice - President of the Inter-

national Congress in 1892 for celebrating the four hun-

dredth anniversary of the discovery of America, is the

heir and direct descendant of the Admiral, Cristoval

Columbus. Born in 1837, he succeeded to the dukedom

on the death of his father in 1866, and has a young son

and heir named Cristoval, born in 1878.

It is pleasant to know thab the great Admiral still has

heirs and representatives who religiously preserve his

archives and revere his memory.



CHAPTER XVII.

THE ADMIRAL'S SONS.

12. FEEXAKDO, A>-D THE OTHER AUTH0RITIEi5 FOE THE

LIFE OF COLUMBUS.

FERNA>rDO, the second son of Christopher Columbus by

Beatriz Arana y Enriquez, was bom at Cordova on the

15th of August 1488, and continued to live with his

mother until he became a Queen's Page, at the age of

ten, in Februarj' 1498. After being at court for four

years, he went to sea with his father, and passed through

aU the teriible hardships and sufferings of the last

voyage, off the coast of Teragua and' at Jamaica. He
performed this service between the ages of fourteen and

sixteen, taking his full share of the work, cheering and

encouraging his shipmates, and making himself useful to

the Admiral, to whom he must have been the greatest

possible comfort. On returning home, his father sent

him from SeviUe with his uncle Bartolome, in June 1505,

to kiss the King's hand and report himself. Diego and

Fernando nursed their father in his last illness, and

attended him on his deathbed. The younger son was

left very weU off, receiving an independent fortune.

But the two brothers were warmly attached to each

other ; and when Diego recovered some of his inherit-

ance, and went out to Espanola as Governor in 1509, he
322
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was accompanied by Fernando, who rejoiced to see one

of the most cherished desires of his father accomplished.

Fernando remained for a few months at San Domingo,

baxos dc Ixabueca
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(From the Weimar Ma2i of 1527, ascribed to Fernando Coliimhus.)

and then returned to Spain with the object of complet-

ing his studies.

Fernando Columbus devoted considerable ability and

learning, combined with great industry and a love of

literature for its own sake, to the grateful task of
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honouring his great father's memory. He acquired a

practical knowledge of navigation as a boy, and he mas-

tered the science of cosmography in after life, becoming

an accomplished mathematician and a draughtsman. The

Weimar map of 1527,* and a chart showing the dividing

line of the Papal Bull, have been attributed to him.

When only twenty-two years of age he wrote a Latin

treatise on circumnavigation, called " Colon de Con-

cordia," which he presented to his father's friend, the

famous Cardinal Ximenes de Cisneros, and received a

grateful letter of acceptance. Fernando was also a poet

and a jurist j but his favourite occupation was the collec-

tion of books for the formation of a large and permanent

library at Seville. He was thus engaged, at intervals,

for more than a quarter of a century, visiting all the

chief book marts of Europe, and, as he always made an

entry of the date and place of purchase, his travels can

be accurately traced by reference to his books.

In 15 12 Fernando Columbus paid the first out of

several visits to Eome, and resided there for a year ; and

in 1 5 1 5, when he was again in Italy, he visited Genoa,

and must have examined all the old haunts of his father

in the city and at Savona with intense interest. In the

following year he was at Eome and Florence, returning;

to Spain on the death of King Ferdinand. Femando's

worth and fine qualities were appreciated by the new
sovereign, Charles V., with whom he appears to have

been a great favourite. He attended the Emperor to

the Low Countries, and was present at the coronation

at Aix-la-Chapelle. At Louvain he made the acquaint-

ance of Erasmus, who presented him with one of hh,

works ; and he formed a friendship with two learned

* Facsimile published by J. G. Kohl, Weimar, i860.
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Flemings, Johan Voesius and Nicolas Cheynaerts, who
afterwards joined him at Seville. Fernando was with

the Emperor at Worms in 1520, and extended his travels

to Genoa and Venice, to Nuremburg, Fi'ankfort, and

Cologne. In June 1522 he went to England with the

Emperor, visiting London, and returning thence to

Spain by sea.

Fernando rested at Seville for about a year, probably

engaged in writing memoirs relating to his father, and

treatises, such as that on the reasons for the belief in a

westerly voyage. But in 1524 he was summoned from

his retirement, and nominated one of the arbitrators to

meet at Badajoz, and adjudicate the respective claims of

Spain and Portugal on the Moluccas. He was the author

of four memoirs on the subject. He spent the autumn

of 1525 at Rome, and during the four succeeding years

he was superintending the building of a handsome house

at Seville, with a fine portico of marbles brought from

Genoa. It was situated in the centre of a beautiful

garden planted with trees and shrubs sent to him from

the Indies. The house, where his splendid library first

found a resting-place, has long since disappeared ; but one

of the trees of the garden remained until quite lately—

a

star appletree {Ghrysophyllum Cainito). A cutting was

taken from it, and is now growing in the garden of Don

Jose M. Asensio, the historian of Columbus. Fernando

was well able to afford the necessary expenditure on his

house, library, and garden, for his two pensions from the

Emperor, added to his revenues from the Indies, brought

him in an income equivalent to ;?^75oo a year at the

present day.

In 1526 Fernando was charged with the presidency of a

commission of cosmographers and pilots to correct marine
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charts, and to construct a mappe monde showing the

countries lately discovered. In the following year he

was requested, during the absence of Sebastian Cabot

in the Paver Plate, to preside over the examinations of

pilots, assisted by Diego Ribero and Alonso de Chaves,

two learned mathematicians and cosmographers.

These useful labours were interrupted, in 1530, by

visits to Perugia and Rome, and to Bologna to be present

at the Emperor's Italian coronation. Fernando resided

for some time at the university of Alcala de Henares,

and, in 1535, made a tour into France, visiting Montpellier

and Lyons. From that time he did not leave his house

at Seville, and in 1537 he founded a school of mathematics

and navigation there, which was called " El Colegio

Imperial." He made his will on July 3rd, 1539, and at

the time of his death, in the same year, he was engaged

on a catalogue of his library.

Fernando Columbus is described as a tall handsome

man, and in his later years he became wevx stout. He
was learned and eloquent, with pleasing manners and

very agreeable in conversation. Xever married, he led

a blameless life, and devoted his time to his library, to

work connected with the public service, and to recording

the deeds and preserving memorials of his beloved and

revered father. The Admiral was happy in both his

sons. Diego fulfilled the wishes nearest to his fathers

heart, by recovering his rights and privileges. Fernando

did more than any other contemporary to make the deeds

of the great discoverer known to posterity. Fernando

was buried in the cathedral of Seville, where his tomb
may still be visited by those who respect true worth and

devoted filial piety.

The library of Fernando Columbus comprised from
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12,000 to 20,000 volumes. By his will he left it to his

nephew Luis ; and, if the legacy was declined, it was

bequeathed to the Chapter of Seville Cathedral. Luis

resigned his right, and the chapter received possession

of the library in 1552. It has since been called "La
Biblioteca Oolombina." For a century and a half it was

shamefully neglected ; and, when a new catalogue was

made in 1684, only about 5000 volumes remained. Its

value is now better understood, and it occupies two long

rooms over the cloister of Seville Cathedral. Next to

the authorship of the Admiral's life, the greatest service

done by Fernando Columbus to posterity is the preserva-

tion of some of the most interesting of his father's books,

containing his marginal notes.

In the inner library there is an ebony table made as

a stand for a glass case containing the most precious

relics of the great Admiral—the books with marginal

notes in his own handwriting. They are four in number.

The first is the closely studied " Imago Mundi " of

Cardinal Petrus de AUiaco or Pierre d' Ailly, with

several interesting marginal notes by the Admiral. The

second is a Latin copy of Marco Polo, printed in 1485,

with marginal notes, which belonged to the Admiral, as

Fernando had another copy in his library. The third is

the " Historia Rerum ubique Gestarum " of Pope Pius II.

(^gSneas Sylvius), printed in 1478. The Admiral quotes

from this work* in his letter from Jamaica, so that he

probably had it with him in his last voyage. In a ily-

leaf the original letter in Latin, from Toscanelli, was

found. The fourth is the manuscript of seventy leaves,

containing the " Profecias de la recuperacion de la santa

* Navarrete, i, p. 307.
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ciuflad d.e Hierusalem y del ihscuhrimiento de las l'ndio.-->,
'

by Columbiis himself.

The existence of these treasures is due to the pious

care of Fernando, who also completed a memoir of his

father in 107 chapters, written at different times, and

often probably with long intervals. Unfortunately the

Spanish original is lost. An Italian translation, by

Alfonso UUoa, was published at Venice in 1571, thirty-

two years after the death of Fernando Columbus, and a

second edition at Milan in 1614. Other editions hare

followed, the latest being that by Dulau, published in

London in 1867. The original title was " Hidvrie del

Sigrurr Don Fernando Colorabo nelle quaJi ^ha particolare

e cera relatione della vita e de i fatti dell Amri(ira(jlio D.

Chridoforo Colombo mw padre." A pamphlet, published

by Mr. Harrisse at Seville, in 1871, raised a doubt as to

the authenticity of the Italian version, which was stoutly

defended by D'Avezac, by Duro in his " Colon y PLuzon "

(1883), and by Dr. Prospero Peragallo, who wrote a con-

siderable book on the subject, published at Genoa in 1884.

The controversy has raged for twenty years. The question

is, however, .settled by an examination of the history bv

Las Casas. The whole of the tirst ten chapters of the

Italian translation will be found, almost word for word,

in fifteen chapters of Las Casas, and Las Casas frequently

quotes Fernando Columbus in other places. As all these

passages agree with the Italian version, both must have

been correctly copied from the original manuscript of

Fernando. It may, therefore, be assumed that the

remainder of the Italian translation is fairly reliable.

There is, however, reason for thinking that Ulloa took

some of the earlier chapters from Las Casas, and not

from the original This work has been the chief source
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whence materials have Iseen obtained for the early life of

Columbus down to 1492, and for some details of the last

voyage. But it must be used with caution, for Fernando

himself raises a warning. He says (cap. iv.) " Di quali

viaggi, e di mnlte altre rose di quel primi di, io non ho

pena notizia
;
perciocch^ egli venne a morte a tempo che

io non aveva tanto ardire o pratica, per la riverenza filiale,

che io ardissi di richiedermi di cotale cose : o, per parlare

piu veramente, allora mi ritrovava io, como giovane,

molto lontano da cotal pensiero." This accounts for such

mistakes as those respecting the Perestrelo connection,

and the command of King Rent's galley.

There were four other historians who were personally

acquainted with Columbus or his sons, and whose works,

together with the writings of the Admiral himself, com-

plete the sources for the life of the great navigator. Of

these, Bartolomfe Las Casas is by far the most important,

from his intimate personal knowledge of many of the

actors in the scenes he describes. Bartolome, when very

young, witnessed the entry of Columbus into Seville,

when he returned from his great discovery. His father

accompanied the Admiral on his second voyage. Las

Casas himself went out with Ovando to Espafiola, where

he took orders, and eventually joined the Dominicans.

He was many years in the Indies, and devoted them to

endeavours to ameliorate the condition of the natives and

to indignant protests against their cruel treatment by

the Spaniards. There was much in common between

Las Casas and Columbus. If Columbus, pressed down

by the heavy responsibilities of oflSce, recommended and

consented to measures which were condemned by Las

Casas, it must be remembered that the good bishop never

himself felt the burden of responsibility. Columbus had
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the same regard for the Indians and admiration for their

simple life and good qualities, the same desire for their

fair treatment, and felt the same indignation at the

cruelty of (Jvando, as was so loudly proclaimed by Las

Casas. The bishop would not only have found a sympa-

thising listener, but also an active supporter, in the

Admiral. Columbus, on the whole, was fortunate in his

historian, for Las Casas was a generous admirer of the

Admiral's genius, as well as an excellent narrator of the

events of his life. He also had the advantage of know-

ing the country, and of being able to describe the scenery.

He thus supplied colouring to his narrative ; and he

never omitted to give the correct pronunciation of native

names. But his greatest advantages were his personal

acquaintance with Columbus, his brothers and sons, with

Dr. Deza, with Vicente Pinzon, Ledesma, Ojeda, Diego

Mendez, Vallejo, and Bastidas; and his access to the

letters and other papers of Columbus. He gives thirty-one

documents, seventeen of which are to be found nowhere

else ; and to him is due the preservation of the precious

abstract of the journal of the first voyaire, and the full

report of the third voyage. Las Casas commenced his

•' Historia de las Indias" in 1527, when he was in

Espanola, and worked at it during many years. Return-

ing finally from the Indies in 1547, he took up his resi-

dence in the monastery of San Gregorio at Talladolid

in 1550, and there he finished his book in 1561. He
died at the great age of ninety-two, in 1566. This most

important historical work remained in manuscript for

more than three centuries after the death of its author.

At length it was printed and published at Madrid, in

five volumes, in the year 1875.

Dr. Andres Bernaldez, the cura of Los Palacios from
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1488 to 1 5 13, and chaplain to Dr. Deza, Archbishop of

Seville, received Columbus as his guest, when he re-

turned to Spain in 1496. The good eura was intrusted

with the care of several documents hj the Admiral, and

he had also seen the letter of Dr. Chanca, relating the

events of the second voyage. Bernaldez was the author

of the " Historia de los Keyes Catolicos," which, like the

work of Las Casas, remained in manuscript for more

than three centuries and a half. At length it was

printed at Granada in 1856, and published, in two

volumes 8vo, at Seville, in 1870. Bernaldez devotes

thirteen chapters to Columbus, and the account of the

second expedition, including the voyage during which

Jamaica was discovered, is particularly valuable.

Gonzalo Fernandez Oviedo was born at Madrid in

August 1478, and became a page to Prince Juan at the

age of twelve. He must have been intimate with both

the Admiral's sons during their life at court, and was

present at the reception of Columbus at Barcelona in

1493. Shortly afterwards he went to Italy, and was

secretary to Gonsalvo de Cordova. When Pedrarias

was sent out as Governor of Darien in 15 13, Oviedo

accompanied him, and was, at different times, a Regidor

of Darien, Governor of Cartagena, and Alcalde of the

fort at San Domingo. Oviedo had a love for writing

and recording events from his youth. He eventually

became Chronicler to Charles V., and, in 1533, he was

appointed Historiographer of the Indies. The " His-

toria General de las Indias," by Oviedo, is incomplete. It

covers the period from 1492 to 1548. The early editions

are rare, but the work was well edited by Don Josfe

Amador de los Rios, in 1 85 1-5 5. Oviedo died atValladolid

in 1557. He had conversed with the sons of Colum-
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bus, with Yicente Tanez Pinzon, Father Boil, Margarit,

and Ovando. The work is valuable in many respects,

though the author sympathises with his countrymen,

and has no feelings for the sufferings of the natives.

^Moreover, he made more than one attempt to depreciate

the Admirar.s services by misrepresenting facts and dates.

Las Casas denounces him for injustice and inaccuracy,

and he was certainly prone to listen to gossip, without

any sense of proportion in regard to the value of diffe-

rent classes of evidence. Yet we have to thank Oviedo

for many details not to be found elsewhere ; and, although

he was the first to tell the fable about an old pilot dying

in the house of Columbus, who told him the way to the

Indies, yet he adds, " For me, I hold the story to be

false."* Gomara and others copied the story from

Oviedo, omitting his belief that it was an invention.

Pedro Martyr d'Anghiera was bom at Arona in 1455,

took orders, and came to Spain in 1487. He was chap-

lain to Queen Isabella, tutor to Prince Juan, and, in 15 1 1,

a member of the Council of the Indies. Martyr loved

to retail the freshest news to friends in Italy ; but, out

of hundreds of letters written between 1488 and 1525,

only a dozen relate to Columbus. The "Opus Epistola-

rum" appeared in 1530. His " De Orbe Xovo," more

generally known as the Decades, is in the form of more

carefully prepared epistles to important correspondents

in Italy, and was printed in 151 1 and 1530. Although

Pedro 3Iartyr narrates events connected with several

periods of the Admiral's active life, his letters contain

little or nothing that may not be found elsewhere. The

ancient letter-writer died at Valladolid in 1526.

There are two Spanish historians whose works were of

* "Para mi yo lo tengo por falso."
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importance in studying the life of Columbus a century

ago, but which have lost their value, owing to the autho-

rities they relied upon having since become more acces-

sible. Francisco Lopez de Gomara, who wrote a " His-

toria de las Indias," flourished a generation after the

Admiral's time, and had great advantages in the collec-

tion of information. His narrative is agreeably written

and well arranged, but he was an unconscientious writer,

and his statements cannot safely be accepted unless they

are corroborated by more reliable authorities. His treat-

ment of the story about the pilot, who had been to the

Indies, dying in the house of Columbus, is a good example

of his method. It is given by Oviedo, with the important

addition that he believed it to be false. Gomara copied

the story from Oviedo, omitting his opinion that it was

false, but admitting that the name of the pilot was

unknown. Others copied from Gomara, until at last one

of them invented a name. This is a good example of

the way in which fables grow.

Antonio de Herrera, the chronicler of the Indies, was

born more than forty years after the Admiral's death.

He held the office of historiographer, with a good salary

and access to all oflacial documents, throughout the reign

of Philip II., and until that of his grandson, Philip IV.

He died in 1625, aged seventy-six. His great work,

" Historia General de las Indias Occidentales," in eight

decades, covers the period from 1492 to 1554. Its pub-

lication, in five folio volumes, was completed in 16 15.

Herrera's narrative is composed in strict chronological

order, so that it is tedious and sometimes confusing.

Since the publication of Las Casas, the work of Herrera

has ceased to be of any value as an authority for the life

of Columbus, for that portion is copied from the bishop's
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history with scarcely any additions. Xeither GomuiM

nor HeiTera were ever in the Indies.

The enormous accumulation of materials for history

in the receptacles for Spanish archives at Simancas and

Seville, attracted the attention of Charles III., the best

of the Bourbon kings of Spain. In 1781 he appointed

the learned Juan Bautista Munoz to investigate the

sources of information, with free access to all the

archives, and to found a more complete and authoritative

history on them than had yet appeared. Munoz col-

lected a mass of documents with excellent judgment,

and completed the first volume of his " Historia del

Xuevo Mundo," which brings the narrative down to the

landing of Bobadilla at San Domingo in 1500. Munoz

was a man endowed with great literary talent and almost

inexhaustible power of work. He possessed critical in-

sight of a very high order, and, through a maze of

contradictory statements, discerned the correct date of

the birth of Columbus, and his true landfall in the

Bahamas. It is a cause of deep regret that his untimely

death, in 1799, in the midst of his labours, deprived the

world of the remainder of his history.

Martin Fernandez de Xavarrete, an accomplished naval

officer, commenced his historical researches in 1789, and

worked for some years in concert with Munoz, both being

assisted by the talented and industrious archivist Tomas

Gonzalez. His labours were interrupted by the French

war, but they were resumed at the peace, and extended

over a period of thirty years. In 1825 he published

four volumes of the collection of voyages and travels

made by the Spaniards at sea.* For the first time the

* '"Coleccion de los Viages y Descubrimientos que hieieron por

mar los Esparioles," torn. L, ii., iii., iv. (Madrid, 1825,)
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actual texts of the Admiral's reports and letters be-

came accessible. Navarrete collected them, with great

labour and care, from the royal archives at Simancas,

and, from the archives of the Dukes of Yeragua and

Infantado, had deciphered and arranged them, and edited

them with admirable skill and judgment, together with

numerous other documents throwing light on the great

events comprised in the life-story of Columbus. Navar-

rete published a fifth volume in 1837. A French edi-

tion of the earlier volumes, with many valuable notes,

appeared in 1828. Navarrete died in 1844. A few

letters of Columbus have since been printed, two in a

volume brought out by the Spanish Government in 1877,

called "Cartas de Indias," one by Mr. Harrisse in his

" Christophe Colomb." The materials published by

Navarrete furnish by far the most important sources

for the Admiral's life, as will be seen by the following

brief abstract of the actual writings of Columbus him-

self, thus brought to light :

—

First Voyage—
Letter to the Escribano de Raoion (Santangel), i8th Feb-

ruary 1493.

Abstract of the Journal, in the handwriting of Las Casas.

Second Voyage—
Memorial to the Sovereigns, 30th January 1494.

Letter to the Sovereigns without date (in "Cartas de

Indias").

Third Voyage—
Report in the handwriting of Las Casas.

Letter to Fonseca as to pay of Coronel and Carbaja],

January 1498.

Deed of Entail, 24th Februaiy 1498.

Letter to Roldan, 20th October 1498.

Safe-conduct for Roldan, 26th October 1498.

Letter to the Nurse of Prince Juan.
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Before Last Voyage—
Letter to the Sovereigns, 1500.

Letter to the Sovereign^, April 4, 1502.

Letter to the Sovereigns, February 6, 1502 (in '• Cartas de

Indias ").

Letter to Pope Alexander VI., February 1502.

Letter to Oderigo, Genoese Ambassador, 21st ilarch 1502.

Letter to the Bank of St. Geor^re, 2nd April 1502.

Jlernorial for his son Diego.

Four letters to Father Gorricio.

Last Voijosje—
Letter to the Sovereigns from Jamaica, 7th July 1503.

Fragment of a letter to Ovando, sent by Escobar.

Letter at Beata, to Ovando.

After Last Voyage—
Eleven letters to his son Diego.

Letter to Oderigo, the Genoese Ambassador, 27th Decem-
ber 1504.

Memorial to the Kincr. in favour of his son Diego, Jannarj'

1505.

Letter to the King, May 1506.

Will—
Codicil "written at Segovia. 1505.

Codicil at Valladolid, 1506.

//( Boohi^
Libro de las Profecias. \ .tu . t>i-i- ^
Tr • 1 ^- i - ,, T ir ,„ I ID the Biblioteca
Marginal -N otes m Imago Mundi, \ r' ^ i,

,r 1 X- X - .ir Ti 1 „ / Colombina at
Marginal Notes in " ilarco Polo,

Marginal Xotes in " .Eneas Sihius, j
Seville.

The important publication of Xavarrete enabled a satis-

factory biography of Columbus to be written, which had

not previously been possible. TVlien Robertson wrote in

1777, his authorities were the Italian version of the

memoir by Fernando, Peter Martyr, Oviedo, and Herxera.

As soon as the work of Xavarrete appeared, Washing-

ton Irving undertook to write a complete life of the

illustrious discoverer of the Xew World. Bom at Xew
York in 1783, tbis charming author had passed some
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time in Spain, had visited Palos and La Kabida, and
had had access to the manuscripts of Las Casas and
Bernaldez. He must have completed his " Life of Colum-
bus " within twelve months, for Navarrete's collection was
published in 1825, and the preface of Washington Irving's

book was dated 1827. The work was published by-

Murray in 1827; another edition in 1838, and was
translated into Spanish by Jose Garcia de Villalta. The
"Vita di Cristoforo Colombo," by Luigi Bossi, appeared

at Milan in 18 18, but that author had not the advan-

tage of access to the documents published by ISTavarrete.

The life of Columbus by Washington Irving is as re-

markable for careful research, and for the soundness of

its judgments, as for the charm of its style. He has

drawn a picture of the great Admiral which is based on

a critical study of his character, and on a careful con-

sideration of the varied motives which influenced his

actions. It is a true and accurate portrait, showing the

man's character as it really was, and it is not likely to be

affected by later criticism. Irving's "Life of Columbus''

will continue to be, as it has been in the past, the most

popular and most widely read biography of the great

Admiral for all English-speaking people. This most

delightful of American authors died at Tarrytown in

1859-

For a critical examination of the numerous biographical

and geographical questions involved in the life-story and

discoveries of Columbus and his companions, all students

are indebted to Humboldt's " Examen Critique de I'His-

toire et de la Geographie du Nouveau Continent," which

was published at Paris in 1836-39.

The French lives of Columbus, by the Marquis de

Belloy and the Oomte Roselly de Lorgues, are more
Y
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eulogistic than critical, and the works of the latter author

were prepared mainly with the object of advocating the

canonisation of the man who bore Christianity across

the Atlantic to the Xew World. Roselly de Lorgues

published his " Christophe Colomb ' in 1864, and the

" Histoire Posthum de Colomb" in 1885, which was

answered by Captain Dm-o of the Spanish navy in his

" Colon y la Historia Postuma.' •' Clu-istophe Colomb,"

by Charles Buet, appeared in 1886.

Mr. R. H. Major, the biographer of Pi-ince Henry the

Xavigator, has the merit of having brought the principal

writings of Columbus, in the work of Xavarrete, within

reach of English readers by his excellent translations.

His " Select Letters of Columbus " formed the volume

printed for the Hakluyt Society in 1847, ^^^ the second

edition appeared in 1870. The 1870 introduction is an

admirable memoir on the life and discoveries of the

Admiral, and contains the most closely reasoned argument

that has been yet written, on the date of his birth. Mr.

Major also made a careful study of the question of the

landfall, and established the exact position off the

south-east cape of Watling Island, where Columbus

anchored. This excellent geographer and most amiable

man, who was for so many years Keeper of the Maps at

the British Museum and Secretary to the Royal Geo-

graphical Society, died in May 1891. The "Landfall of

Columbus," by Admiral Becher, with whom !Mr. Major

is in close agreement, was published in 1856. An official

of the Hydrographer's Department in the English

Admiralty, Becher, both by his occupation and his

previous life at sea, had an excellent training for the work
he undertook. His book is one of considerable merit,

and he gives a translation of the abstract of the journal
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of the first voyage, which is not included in Major's

volume. His account of the life of Columbus, previous

to the first voyage, is a translation from the work of the

Baron de Bonnafoux.

By far the most valuable and important researches

relating to the life of Columbus, since the publication of

Navarrete's work, are those which have been made
during many years, by the eminent American author

and critic Henry Harrisse. His magnificent work,

entitled " Bibliotheca Americana Vetustissima," contain-

ing notices of the earliest books relating to the New
World from 1492 to 1551, was published at New York

in 1866; and Mr. Harrisse had previously published

translations of the letters of Columbus describing his

first voyage, with the original texts. Mr. Harrisse has

since published numerous treatises on various questions

relating to the Admiral's life, and to the authenticity of

the memoir attributed to Fernando, but his great work

is the " Christophe Oolomb " in two large volumes,

published at Paris in 1884. It is based on inedited

documents in the archives of Genoa, Savona, Seville, and

Madrid. It evinces immense research, and a critical

faculty of a very high order. Aided by the recent re-

searches of the Marchese Marcello Staglieno* and others

in the notarial records of Genoa and Savona, Mr. Harrisse

has given a more complete and detailed view of the family

of Columbus at Genoa, and of his early life, than has

ever appeared before. He has also established dates of

the greatest importance, with reference to the birth and

early movements of Columbus and his brothers. With

the same elaboration and exhaustive research Mr. Harrisse

has discussed the previously obscure questions relating

* Giomale Ligurtino.
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to the marriage and life in Portugal, the transactions dur-

ing the residence in Sjjain, and other disputed points ; and

has furnished new particular's respecting the lives of all

the relations of the Admiral. In the course of inquiries

extending over many years, and in the light of new dis-

coveries, Mr. Harrisse has sometimes found it necessary

to alter or modify previously formed opinions, but his

knowledge of all subjects bearing ou the life of the great

Admiral is unrivalled, and the value of his researches

places him in the very first rank as an authority. His

labours, as regards the light they throw on the true history

of Columbus and his discoveries, are second in value only

to those of Xavarrete.

Mr. Justin Winsor, the accomplished librarian of

Harvard College, published a work entitled, " Christopher

Columbus, and how he received and imparted the Spirit

of Discovery," in 1890. His extensive and accurate

knowledge of literature, especially of the literature of the

Columbian period in its relation to navigation and dis-

covery, was sure to result in a valuable addition to the

library of works on Columbus, for their number is now so

great that the name of library is quite applicable. In

his early chapters, ^Ir. ^^'inso^ exhaustively reviews the

authorities for the Admiral's career, and he supplies

the latest information respecting the family and early

life at Genoa, giving full acknowledgments as to the

value of Mr. Harrisse's assistance. His narrative of the

discoveries is based on better-known authorities, and the

work concludes with an interesting chapter on the geo-

graphical results, which very few scholars would have

been competent to compile, and the value of which is

enhanced by numerous illustrations. Mr. Winsor's view

of the character and motives of Columbus is not one which
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is likely to recommend itself to critical students, for it

ignores considerations without which a sound judgment

cannot be formed. But there can be no question of the

value of his work as a comprehensive digest, as well of

former knowledge as of the latest researches and dis-

coveries.

The Italian biographers of Columbus, from Spotorno

to Staglieno, give the best information respecting the

birth and early life of their illustrious compatriot.

Among other valuable memoirs, the Marchese Marcello

Staglieno has published a most interesting pamphlet

on the Admiral's early home—" Sulla casa abitata da

Domenico Colombo" (Geneva, 1885). Cornelio Desi-

moni is another eminent authority ; while Guiseppe

Pescia has very ably contended for his native parish,

comprising Terrarossa, as the hero's birthplace. Pera-

gallo has maintained the authenticity of the life by

Fernando Columbus with considerable warmth, and the

advocate Dondero, in his "L'Onesta di Cristoforo Col-

ombo" (Genova, 1877), defends Columbus from the

imputation of immorality in relation to Beatriz Bnri-

quez. The best Italian lives of Columbus are by Angelo

Sanguineti (1846, 2nd ed. 1891) and Francisco Tarducci

(1885), the former being an excellent biography, critical,

judicious, and very agreeably written.

The most complete and, on the whole, the best life of

the great Admiral that has yet appeared, was published

at Barcelona in 1891, in view of the fourth centenary of

the discovery of America on the 12th of October 1492.

This is a monumental edition, with coloured illustrations

from the works of the best modern Spanish artists, and

with every page enriched by allegorical borders. The

type is clear, the engraving of head-pieces and vignettes
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excellent, and tlie whole work reflects great credit on the

typographical art of Barcelona. The accomplished

author, Don Jos6 Maria Asensio, has bestowed years of

research and of thought on the composition of a work

which should do credit to his country, and he has been re-

warded with complete success. The " Life of Columbus "

by Asensio is, without doubt, the best and most complete

that has yet appeared. Perfect master of his subject,

acquainted alike with the older chronicles and the results

of the latest researches, Asensio bad the further advan-

tage of writing at Seville, within a stone's throw of the

"Biblioteca Colombina.'' In a pleasantly written nar-

rative, he describes the events of the Admiral's life in

full detail, discusses the points in dispute with critical

insight and sagacity, and corrects several misconceptions

of his predecessors. On the other hand he has adopted

an untenable date for the birth of Columbus, and has

reverted to the exploded theory that Cat Island was his

landfall. He, however, furnishes an antidote to the

latter mistake, by printing among the notes and illus-

trations, which conclude each division of his work, an

admirably argued memoir on the true landfall by Don
Juan Ignacio de Armas of Cuba. These comparatively

unimportant errors are more than compensated for bv

the good sense and sound judgment with which all the

various difficulties connected with the Admiral's life are

approached and discussed. Asensio, while far from blind

to the weaknesses and blemishes in the character of

Columbus, fully appreciates his genius, his magnanimity,

and the amiable qualities which so endeared him to his

friends and relations. "Humanity,'' he says, "has

placed his name on the highest column of the temple of

immortaUty; and for close upon four centuries his
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memory has been exalted, praised, and loved by successive

generations." The value of this splendid edition is very

much enhanced by the number of original documents that

are printed at the end of each book. They include the

texts of nearly the whole of the letters and reports con-

tained in Navarrete, besides many others, some of them

being printed for the first time. Such a mass of docu-

mentary illustr.ation necessarily swells the work to con-

siderable dimensions, and the two large volumes of the

" Grisinral Colon, su vida, siis viajes, sus descubrimientos

por Don Jose Maria Asensio'' comprise 1643 pages of

letterpress. This great work very aptly commemorates

the celebration of the fourth centenary of the discovery

of America, while it is not too much to say that it is

an addition of permanent value to the literature of

Europe.

Several other cultured Spaniards have devoted their

time and abilities to the study of portions of the life-story

of Columbus within the last few years. Tomas Rodri-

guez Pinilla, in his "Colon en Espafia " (Madrid, 1884),

has very ably explained the true nature of the con-

ferences at Salamanca in the winter of 1486-87, at which

Columbus assisted ; and the accomplished naval captain,

Don Cesareo Fernandez Duro, in his "Colon y Pinzon,"

and in several parts of the volumes entitled " Disqui-

siciones Nauticas," has thrown light on various ques-

tions relating to the life of the great Admiral. All

Spaniards and Italians unite to do honour to the

memory of the illustrious Genoese navigator, and their

feeling of veneration and love receives an answer of warm

sympathy from every nation throughout the world.
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AMERIGO VESPUCCI AND THE NAME OF AMERICA.

It is the strangest accident in the history of geo-

graphical discovery that the great continent discovered

by Columbus should not have received his name, nor even

the name of any other discoverer, but that it should for

ever be known by the Christian name of a provision

merchant whose short experience of the sea began in

advanced middle life, and who never even commanded an

expedition of discovery.

Amerigo Yespucci came of a respectable Florentine

family, and was bom on the 9th of March 1451. He
was brought up to mercantile pursuits in the house of

the Medici, and came to Spain at the age of forty. There

he obtained employment in the commercial house of the

Italian Juanoto Berardi at Seville, whose business was

to contract for equipping and provisioning ships. Berardi

died in December 1495, and Vespucci had to complete

the engagements of his deceased employer. He was the

contractor for the ships of the second and third voyages

of Columbus. The learned Munoz examined the official

records of expenses incurred in fitting out the vessels.

They show that Vespucci was at Seville or San Lucar

from April 1497 to the end of May 1498. The Admiral

always found him civil and obliging, but his meat soon

turned bad, and his biscuits appear to hkve been
344
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abominable. In 1499 Vespucci went to sea for the first

time at the age of forty-seven—much too old ever to make
a sailor. He was on board one of the vessels of Ojeda's

expedition, probably in the capacity of a merchant or

volunteer. He returned in 1500, and went to Portugal

in the following year. His own account was that he pro-

ceeded to Lisbon at the invitation of the king, conveyed

to him through a countryman named Giuliano Gioeondo.

It would seem, from his conversation with Columbus

afterwards, that the object of his joui'ney was to make

money, and that he failed. After four years, Vespucci

returned to Spain and visited Columbus at Seville in 1505,

on his way to court. In a letter to his son Diego, dated

February 5, 1505, the Admiral wrote—
"Diego Mendez left Seville on the third of this month.

After his departure I spoke with Amerigo Vespucci, the

bearer of this letter, who is on his way to court on

matters relating to navigation. He always showed a

desire to please me, and he is a very respectable man.

Fortune has been advei'se to him, as to many others, and

his labours have not been so profitable as he might

reasonably have expected. He goes for me, and is very

desirous of doing anything that would be useful to me,

and he is in your hands. He sets out with the deter-

mination to do all that he possibly can for me. See in

what way he can be of service, and work for him, as he

will tell you all."

In the same year Vespucci returned to his old trade,

and again obtained a contract to supply provisions for

ships. On March 22, 1508, he was appointed Pilot-Major

of Spain. He was a very clever, plausible man, and he

must have picked up some knowledge of a pilot's duties.

Still this was a strange selection, with such tried and ex-
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perienceJ men as Pinzon, Solis, and Cosa ready to serve.

But appointments made without reference to qualifications

were characteristic of Fonseca, and indeed of Ferdinand.

Vespucci never went to sea until he was fortj'-seven,

and had since made three voyages at the outside.* A
pilot should have learnt his business from his youth

afloat and at sea. Tespucci was a landsman, and no true

pilot. This is all that is certainly known of him, apart

from his own letters. He died on February 22, 15 12.

Vespucci wrote a letter from Lisbon, dated Septem-

ber 4, 1504, to his schoolfellow Piero Soderini, who was

Gonfaloniere of Florence in 1504, describing four voyages

which he alleged that he had made, two with Spaniards

and two with Portuguese. He also wrote a letter to

Lorenzo di Pier Francesco di Medici in March 1503,

describing the third of these voyages along the coast of

Brazil. Except in the case of Coelho, the names of the

commanders of expeditions in which Vespucci claimed to

have served, are carelessly, or perhaps carefully, omitted.

Vespucci stated that his first voyage was undertaken

by order of King Ferdinand, and that it occupied from

May 10, 1497, to October 15, 1498. His story is that

he sailed to the Canaries with four vessels, and thence

steered west and south, making a thousand leagues,

when a landfall was made in latitude 16° N. He saw a

village, with long houses built out over the sea on piles,

like a little Venice. He next came to a place, in 23° X.,

called Parian in the Latin, and Lariah in the earliest

known Italian edition. Thence he sailed 870 leagues

* His supposed voyage with Juan de la Cosa in 1506, referred to

in the letter of Vianello, is not possible. There i.« proof that Vespucci

was in Spain up to the end of August 1506, and the letter is dated

December of the same year.
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north, and came to the finest harbour in the world.

There was an island called Iti inhabited by cannibal

savages, a hundred leagues from the coast. Here the

Spaniards captured 222 slaves, and took them to Cadiz,

where they arrived in October 1498.

No such voyage was undertaken in 1497, and Vespucci

was employed as a provision contractor during the alleged

period of the absence of the ships. As the chief events

in Vespucci's story also happened in the voyage of Ojeda,

it was naturally suspected that the story of this imaginary

voyage was concocted from incidents which really occurred

during the voyage made by Vespucci under the command

of Ojeda in 149 9- 1500. There was the village called

Little Venice by Ojeda. There was the finest harbour in

the world, being Ojeda's idea of the Gulf of Caraico.

There was an encounter with natives, in which exactly

the same number of Spaniards were killed and wounded

as in the encounter during Ojeda's voyage.* There was

the attack on islanders and the capture of over 200

slaves, which was the last event of the voyage of Ojeda.

Vespucci merely altered the latitudes, and made such a

gross blunder respecting the difference between his dead

reckoning and the observed position of his landfall (over

900 miles !) that this alone stamps his tale as apocry-

phal. He also added the impossible additional voyage

northwards for 870 leagues, which would have taken

him overland to British Columbia.

Humboldt, unwilling to believe in a fraud with regard

to the four voyages of Vespucci, and aware of the evidence

that he was in Spain during 1497 and 1498, suggested

an explanation. It was that the dates were the results of

clerical and typographical errors; that the voyage of Ojeda

* Las Casas, i. 392.
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may have been the first voyage of Vespucci ; that the

Florentine provision dealer left Ojeda at Espanola and got

back to Spain in time to go out with Pinzon in 1500, and

that the voyage with Pinzon -was his second voyage. But

no one was allowed to leave Ojeda's ships at Espanola.

Varnhagen took a bolder course in his attempt to

rehabilitate Vespucci. Entirely ignoring the evidence

that he was in Spain all the time, the Brazilian advocate

adopts the story of his client coi. gramJ »<':rieux. His

landfall in latitude 16° would have taken him to Hon-

duras if his run of less than 1000 leagues had not landed

him at the eastern end of Espanola. Varnhagen passe.s

over this somewhat serious obstacle, and takes Vespucci

to Honduras, suggesting a " little Venice " for him on the

coast of Tabasco. Vespucci gives a second latitude of

23°, which takes him to Tampico, on the Gulf of Mexico

;

and assuming that Lariab was the form in which the

name was originally written by Vespucci, it appears that,

although there is no such name, yet the Huasteca Indians

round Tampico have names of places ending in ah. But

it is quite impossible to tell whether Farias or Lariab,

or either, was the word in the original manuscript. Varn-

hagen is unable to follow his client for 870 leagues north-

wards overland from 23° IST., so he makes him steer in

a different direction. By this means Varnhagen takes

Vespucci along the coast of America, round Florida, and

as far as Cape Hatteras, discovering nearly 3000 miles of

new coast-line. The finest harbour in the world is not in

that neighbourhood ; but Iti, where there were cannibals,

and where A'espucci alleged that he carried off 222 slaves,

is identified with Bermuda. It is well known that Ber-

muda was uninhabited before the arrival of Europeans

but that fact is set aside to make the theory complete.
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It was, however, necessary to find an expedition with

which Vespucci could embark in 1497, for he did not

pretend that he commanded one. His admirers have

suggested that he sailed in the expedition of Pinzon and

Solis to Yucatan ; but it ha-s already been shown that

this theory is quite untenable.*

Pinzon and Solis were alive when the lawsuit was in

progress between Diego Columbus and the Crown. The

Crown prosecutor exerted himself to collect proofs that

some of the discoveries were not made by the Admiral

but by other navigators. If Vespvicci had been in an

expedition which discovered thousands of miles of coast-

line between Honduras and Cape Hatteras, a report

must have been made to the king, and that report would

inevitably have been produced at the trial. Pinzon and

Solis, too, must have given evidence. But there is not

a word about it. No stich discoveries are shown in the

map of Juan de la Cosa (1500), who was intimate with

Pinzon and Vespucci. Peter Martyr was intimate with

Vespucci and his nephew, yet thei-e is no sign of the dis-

coveries suggested by Varnhagen, on the map drawn foi'

the Decades, which appeared in 15 11. At least one

copy of Vespucci's storj', which was printed in 1507,

had reached Spain in 15 15, namely, that in the library

of Fernando Columbus. If the first voyage had not

been known to be a fabrication, it would have been

eagerly brought forward as evidence at the trial against

the Admiral. But it is not mentioned. Ponce de Leon

obtained a concession to discover this very coast in 151 1,

on condition that it had not been discovered before. It

is incredible that Pinzon, Solis, and Vespucci would still

* See note nt end of Chapter XIV.
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have kept silence without any conceivable reason. More-

over, it would have been officially known that the coast

referred to by Ponce de Leon had already been explored.

The inevitable conclusion is that no such discovery was

ever made, and that there was no expedition with which

Vespucci could have sailed in 1497. Even if there had

been, it does not follow that he was in it. The evidence

that he was then working as a contractor at Seville

stands in the way.

On these grounds the alleged first voyage of Vespucci

must be pronounced to have been apocryphal Respect-

ing the second voyage with Ojeda there is no doubt.

OJeda gave evidence, in the lawsuit of Diego Columbus,

to the effect that he took with him " Juan de la Cosa

the pilot, Morigo Vespuche, and other pilots." In this

sentence the words " other pilots " are to be coupled

with the pilot Juan de la Cosa, not with " Morigo

Vespuche." For Vespucci went to sea at the age of

forty-seven for the first time, and cannot therefore

have been a pilot. He may have possessed some theo-

retical knowledge of astronom}-, but this would not

constitute a pilot, who must have learnt his business

afloat and at sea. It is, therefore, very unjust on the

part of those writers who try to rehabilitate Vespucci,

to speak of him as the chief pilot and director in any

expedition in which he is alleged to have served. The

whole credit of any discovery belongs to Pinzon, Solis,

Ojeda, Coelho, or whoever the theory places in command,

not to the Florentine merchant. Vespucci was a lands-

man, and had no experience as a sailor, much less as a

pilot, before he sailed with Ojeda.

The evidence against the first voyage throws doubt on

the two which Vespucci asserted that he made from
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Lisbon. The Viscount de Santarem searched all the

Portuguese records in the Torre do Tumbo, from 1495 to

1503, and the name of Vespucci does not once occur.

This makes it very improbable that he was ever in com-

mand of a Portuguese vessel. But it does not preclude

his having sailed in one in some subordinate capacity.

Moreover, while his first voyage must be condemned as

unreal from internal evidence alone, there is much in

the account of his third voyage which bears the stamp

of having been written by an eye-witness. Peter Martyr

had heard that the Florentine contractor made one voyage

with the Portuguese.

In the letter to Medici, describing the Portuguese

voyage of 1501, Vespucci spoke of the Brazilian coast as

"novum mundum appellare licet." This letter hence

received the heading of Nodus Mundus* It was first

published in Latin at Paris in 1503, then in German at

Augsburg in 1504, at Dresden and Strassburg in 1505.

It next appeared at Vicenza in 1507, in the book called

" Paesi novamente Eetrovati," and went through several

other editions.

But it was owing to the publication of the letter to

Soderini, describing the four voyages, that the name

America was first suggested. A copy of this lettei'

in French was sent to Rene II., Duke of Lorraine, from

Lisbon. It was translated into Latin by Jean Basin de

Sandacourt, a canon of a small cathedral town of Lorraine

called St. Di^, at the request of another canon of St. Die

named Walter Lud, who was also the Duke's secretary.

Lud had founded a college at St. Die under the auspices

* It has been erroneously supposed that the expression " New

"World " was first used by Vespucci. It was used by Columbus him-

self in his letter to the nurse of Prince Juan.
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of Duke Pbenc, and had even established a printing-press,

appointing a youth named Ringmann (called Philesius)

as corrector of proofs and teacher of Latin. Walter

Waldseemiiller (called Hylacomylus) came to St. Die in

1504, as teacher of geograph)'.

Walter Lud \Yrote a little book of four leaves, entitled

" Speculi Orbis Declaratio,'' which was printed at Strass-

burg. It is a work of extreme rarity, but there is a

copy in the British Museum. It is from this little book

that we learn that the letters of Vespucci were sent from

Portugal to the Duke of Lorraine in French, and trans-

lated into Latin by Sandacourt. In April 1507 Wald-

seemiiller (or Hylacomylus) produced, from the St. Die

printing-press, a little work entitled " Cosmographise

Introd actio,'' to which was appended the Latin version

of the four voyages of Vespucci. It was in this little

book that the first suggestion of the name of America

appeared. Waldseemiiller wrote :

—

" And the fourth part of the world having been dis-

covered by Americus, may well be called Amerige, which

is as much as to say the land of Americus or America."

In another place, a few pages on, the suggestion is

more fully stated as follows :

—

Nuc5^o &h£pa]tesfuntlatiu»luflTat:e/&alia

qaartapars per Americu Vcfputiu(vt in fequend
bus audietur)inuenta eft/qua non video cur quis

iure veterab Amcrico inuentore {agads ingeni) vi

Aineri* ro Amerigen quaG Amend terra / uuc American!

ca dicendatcu&Europa&Afiaamulieribusfuafor
tita fiiitnomina.Eius Qtu& genos niores ex bis bi
nis Amend nauigadonibus qux fequuntliqaide

intelligidatur.

KACSI3U1E FK03I THE " COSMOGRAPHIJi IXTROIIl-CIIO."
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"But now these parts are more extensively explored,

and, as will be seen in the following letters, another

fourth part has been discovered by Americus Vesputius,

which I see no just reason why any one should forbid to

be named Amerige, which is as much as to say the land

of Americus or America, from its discoverer Americus,

PORTION OP THE HACSLAB GLOBE.

who is a man of shrewd intellect ; for Europe and Asia

have both of them taken a feminine form of name

from the names of women."

A new edition of the " Cosmographise Introductio

"

appeared in September 1507, and another at Strassburg,

in 1 509. A copy of the Strassburg edition was in
,
the
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library of Fernando Columbus, who probably looked

upon the proposal to give the name of America as

intended to apply only to part of the coast of Brazil

discovered by the Portuguese in 1502. In the Pom-

ponius Mela of 1518 there is a letter dated Vienna,

1512, in which the expression occurs "America, dis-

covered by Yesputius," It has recently been shown "

that '\^'aldseemi^l]er made a map of the world and a

globe in 1507, when he wrote the " Cosmographise

Introductio." The map has not been found, but the

globe is that formerly the property of General Hauslab,

and is given by Gallois. Upon it the name of America

is inscribed. This is the first time that the name

appeared on a map. In 1509, the name was placed on

a manuscript map now at Vienna. In 15 11, the follow-

ing passage appeared in an English play, called ' The

New Interlude " :

—

"But this newe laude fouiide lately,

Ben callyd America by cause only

Ainericus dyd first them find." t

In 1515, the name America appeared on Schoner's

globe, and on the gores at Windsor Castle, which were

attributed by Mr. Major to Lionardo da Vinci. The

earliest engraved map bearing the name of America is

the map of the world by Peter Apianus, in an edition of

Solinus of 1 5 20. The name was placed along the coast

of what the Spaniards called TieiTa Firme. It was first

applied to the whole continent by Mercator in 1540.

America was a convenient and euphonious word, and

was gradually adopted by map-makers throughout

Europe ; but it was long before this inappropriate and

* Galloi?. L':Sfjeo(/rapkes ffUernandesdelo. renaissance. Paris, 1890.

f Quoted by Hari-isse,
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intruding name took root in Spain. Las Casas declared

that the continent ought to be called Columba, and

Herrera also raised a protest. But habit and the map
makers eventually overcame justice, even in Spain,

although the continent of Columbus was there always

officially known as the Indies.

Rene II., Duke of Lorraine, died in December 1508.

The printing-press at St. Die was broken up, and the little

knot of professors was dispersed. It would seem that

Waldseemiiller afterwards became better informed, when

he was engaged on the Ptolemy of 15 13. It contains a

map on which there is no name of America, but on the

new continent there is the following inscription ;

—" Hsec

terra, cum adjacentibus insulis, inventa est per Columbum

Januensem, ex mandatis Regis Castilliae." It was too

late. The mischievous suggestion in the " CosmpgraphiEe

Introductio" had taken root, and rapidly bore fruit.

There is no reason for supposing that Vespvicci him-

self connived at the suggestion of the name America,

and it is most probable that he never heard of it. Ves-

pucci merely wrote his romance for the admiration of

his friends at Florence, seeking for credit at home

by magnifying his exploits, as many another has done

before and since. He can have had no other object, nor

could he have foreseen the notoriety his letters acquired.

Nevertheless America is now the name of the great con-

tinent discovered by Columbus.

The Admiral's name is confined to a few localities.

The country of Veragua, all the coast thence to Cabo

de la Vela, and a great inland territory, comprise the

United States of Columbia. The city at the Atlantic

terminus of the Panama railway, where the Admiral

hoped to find a strait, is the city of Colon. British
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Columbia is an extensive province in North America,

and the capital of the United States is situated in the

territory of Columbia ; but the name of the whole conti-

nent was filched from its great discoverer.

That name has a securer abiding-place. Monuments

and columns at CTenoa, Madrid, Barcelona, at Mexico

and other Spanish-American towns, are the outward

evidence of the firm hold that the mighty achievement

of the Admiral has taken on the imagination of man-

kind. The love and reverence that is universally felt

for his noble character will be manifested by the

enthusiastic celebration of the fourth centenary of the

discovery of the Xew World, and the story of his Ufe

will continue to be studied by generations yet unborn.

For it teaches many a lesson of devotion to duty, of

perseverance, of loyalty, and of faith. The great work

of his life has long been completed, but his example

will remain for ever to incite the youths of each

succeeding generation to emulate his example, and to

impress upon them the qualities which enable men to

rise from the humblest rank of life to the height of

worldly ambition. The name of a new continent is a

small thing compared with the enthusiastic veneration

with which the civilised world, for ages to come, will

treat the name of Christopher Columbus, the weaver of

Genoa and Admiral of the Ocean Sea.
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Abac'O, one of the Bahamas, the Yucayoue-
que of the Herrei-a map, 92.

A(;evedo, Pedro de, page on board the
Sfnta Maria, 70.

Acklin Island, one of the Bahamas, 96.

Acosta, his repetition of the pilot fable,

37-
AquI, Bahia de, in Espauola, 1x5.

Adamanaz Island (see Samaiia).
Adelautado, title given to Bartolomtl
Columbus, 173 ; confirmed, 183 (see
Columbus, Bartolnme).

Admiral, Columbus created, 59 (see
Columbus, Christopher),

Adorno Prospero, Doge of Venice, 8,

Kaffaele, Doge when Columbus was
born, ?,.

Affonso V. of Portugal, map constructed
for, 18.

Prince, mai-riage with daughter of
Queen Isabella, 53.

Africa, discoveries of Prince Henry, 18;
voyages of Columbus on coast of, 22, 33
(see Guinea Slave Trade).

Aguado, Juan de, his mission to Espaii-
ola, 178; retiu'u to Spain, 179; dis-

credited, 183.

Agiiilera, graduate of Salamanca, treatise
on the astrolabe, 47.

Aguja, Point, 190.

Alamo, Cristoval de, of Niebla, seaman
in the Santa Marm, left at Navidad, 70.

Alard of Wmchelsea (see Tallarte).

Aicatraz, a bird (booby) seen iu the At-
lantic, 77.

Alexander VI., his Bull, 137, 233, 324.

Alfraganus on the length of a degree, 34 ;

his works taught at Salamanca, 47.

Alhambra, the Court at, 202 ; Columbus
received at, 210 (see Cordova).

Alonzo, Maestre, of Moguer, surgeon of

the Santa Marin, 69.

Alta Vela, rock off south coast of Espan-
ola, 168.

Alva. Duke of, uncle of the wife of Diego
Columbus, 306.

Alvarado, Pedro de, with Grijalva, 317.

Amalfi (see Gioja),

Amana, on the Herrera map of the Ba-
hamas, same as Caicos, 92.

Amazons, mouth of, discovered by Pin-
2on, 242.

Ambrosian Library at Milan, copy of the
first printed edition of the letters of
Columbus at. 132.

America, name proposed by Waldsee-
milUer, 353 ; first appeared on the
Hauslab globe, 354 ;

protests of Las
Casas and Herrera against the name,
355-

Anacaona, sister of Behechio, and wife of
Coanabo, 172, 176; friendly intercourse
with Bartolomd Columbus, 193, 194;
murdered by Ovando, 275, z8r, 287.

Aucona, Portolani drawn at, 9.

Andagnya, Pascual de, came to the Indies
with Pedrarias, 316.

Andrea, San, gate of, at Genoa, 4, 6.

Anne de Beaujeu, Regent of France, 146.

Antigua Island, discovered, 152.

Anti(fua, caravel, in Bobadilla's squadron,
204.

Anbilla, fabulous island in the Atlantic,

9, 20 ; distance from Zipangu, according
to Toscanelli, 32, 73 ; looked out for by
Columbus. 77, 79.

Antilles, name of West Indies, first ap-
peared on the Cantino map, 248,

Antonio of Jaen, seaman of the Santa
Maria., left at Navidad, 70.

Apianus, name of America on the map of,

354.
Araceua Mountains crossed by Colum-

bus, 39.
Arana family, 49.

Beatrix, Enriquez de, her love for
Columbus, 50 (see Enriquez).

Diego de, friend of Columbus. 50, 60

;

in the first voyage, 69; in command at
Navidad, 117, 118; killed by Coanabo,
175-

Pedro de, 50, 61 ; captain of a ship
in the second voyage, 144, 187.

Aranda, Francisco de, seaman in the
S'<iita Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Arcos, Pedro de, seaman of the Pinla,
71-

Arenas, Islas de, same as Ragged Isles,

86, 93 ; Lieut. Murdoch's calculation,
loi, 102.
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Aristazabal, Admiral, removed the body
of Columljus to Havana, 292.

Armas, Don Juan de, his paper on the
landfall, 98.

Arms of Columbus, grant of, 138.

Arzilla, Portuguese attacked, aid offered
by Columbus, 251.

Asensio, Bon Jose Maria, on the date of
the birth of Columbus, 15, 6r, 62, 70

;

believes Oat Island to be the landfall,

94 ;
proved that the letter from Colum-

bus to Santaugel was printed at Seville,

132; letter to Toscanelli, 147; plant
from the garden of Fernando Columbus
in garden of, 325; notice of his great
work on Columbus, 341, 342.

Astrolabe, treatise on, by Andalone di

Negro, 9 ; adaptation for use at sea, 28

;

method of observing, 29; treatise on,
by Aguilera, 47 ; for the first voyage, 73.

Asuncion (see Tobago}.
Atienza, Bias de, one of the first to
reach the South Sea, 313.

Atlantic, fabulous isles of, 9, 20, 21 ; voy-
age of Columbus across, 74-80 ; birds, 77
(see Gulf Stream).

Atrato river, boundary between the teiTi-

torits of Ojeda and Nicuesa, 310.

Attwood Cay (see Samana).
Aureus Chersonesus, supposed to be
Cuba, 166, 262.

Ayala, Juan de, in command of Fort
Conception, 174.

Pedro de, Spanish ambassador in
London, on second voyage of Cabot,
230, 249.

Azay, native name of Guadalupe, 151.

Azores discovered by the Geiioese, 18, 34 ;

shown on the Laurentian map, 18 ; line
of no variation at Flores, 76 ;

position of
Sargasso Sea near, 78; Columbus at,

125-

Azua, Columbus took refuge from the
hurricane at, 253.

BABEQUE Island reported to contain
gold, 112.

Baccalaos, name for Newfoundland, 231

;

origin of the word, 232.

Bacon, Roger, knew the properties of the
loadstone, 28; largely quoted by I>Ailly,
30.

Bahamas {see Guanahani), boatswain-
bird breeds in, 77 ; shown on La Cosa
chart, 90; and on Herrera's map, 91;
position of Guanahani in the group, 91

;

requirements for the island which was
the landfall, 92, 93 ; names from the
buccaneers, 99 ; kidnapping by Ojeda,
240; kidnapping by Ovando, 287, 309.

Balboa, Vasco Nuiiez de, with Bastidas,
243 (see Vasco Nunez).

Ballena, Golfo de la, 190.

Ealiester, Mi'^uel, governor of Fort Con-
ception, 196.

Bank (see St. George).
Baraona, Gabriel, of Belmonte, seaman of
the Santa Marin, left at Navidad, 70.

Barba, Juan, gunner of the Gapitana,
joined the mutiny of Porras at Jamaica,
276 ; killed, 280.

Barco, Juan del, of Avila, seaman of the
Santa Marin, left at Navidad, 70.

Barcelona, reception of Columbus at, by
the sovereigns, 134, 135, 136; monument
to Columbus at, 356.

Basque fishermen at Newfoundland, 232.

Bastidas, Rodi-igo de, expedition
_
and

discoveries of, 243, 244, 247 ; Admiral's
discoveries connected with those of,

258 ; evidence as to the voyage of
Pinzon and Solis, 285.

Bavarello, Giacomo, married Blanchineta
Colombo, 12; acquired the house of

Domeuico Colombo, 13.

Pantaleoue, 12, 61.

Bayona, the Pinta at, 127 ; Niiio arrived
at, 241.

Baza, siege of, 53.
Beaujeu, Anne de, Regent .of France,
Bartolomfi Columbus at court of, 52.

Beccadelli, Antonio("IlPanormita ), on
the compass, 38.

Becher, Admiral, theory of the landfall,

98 ; his mistake about the second island,

100, loi ; his work on the landfall, 338.

Behaim, Martin, account of, 25 ; his

adaptation of the astrolabe for use at

sea, 26, 27 ; description of his globe, 72,

73-

Behechio, chief of Xaragua in Espaiiola,

172 ; intercourse with Bartolorafi Colum-
bus, 193 ; tribute paid by, 195.

Belalcazar, Seb. de, conqueror of Quito,

316.

Belem river, arrival of Columbus at, 259

;

settlement formed, 262 ; abandoned,
267,

Bellay, Marquis de. Life of Columbus, 337.

Beneventanus on Ruysch, 233.

Benincasa, Grazioso, of Ancona, draughts-
man at Genoa, 9, 20, 29.

Benzoni, his disbelief of the pilot fable,

37 ; history of Columbus and the egg,

139. 'i-

Berardi, Jonato, provision contractor at

Seville, 186, 344.
Bermeo, Domingo de, seaman of the
Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Bermejo, Juan Bodriguez, in the Pinta,

71. 87.

Bermuda, discoverer of, 71 ; boatswain-
bird breeds at, 77 ; the place called
" Iti " by Vespucci supposed to be, 348.

Bermudez, Juan, discoverer of Bermuda,
71-

Rodrigo de Triana, in the Pinta, 71

;

reported land in sight, 81, 87.

Diego, seaman of the Pinta, 71.

Bernal, surgeon in the last voyage of
Columbus, 254 ; intended mutiny of,

278.

Bernaldez, Dr. Andres, Cura of Palacios,
on the age of Columbus, 14; his state-

ment that Columbus earned a living by
the sale of books, 41 ; he obtained in-

foi'mation from Dr. Chauca, 143; re-

ceived Columbus as his guest, 181, 182 ;

papers of Columbus left with, 182

;

notice of, 286, 300 ; his chapters relating
to Columbus, 331.

Bianco, Andrea, draughtsman, helped to
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draw the Fra Mauro map, i8 ; Autilia
ou his map, 20.

Biblioteca Colombina, 327.
Bilbao, Pedro, of Larrabezua, seamau 011
board the S'luta Mnrln, 70.

Bird Rock, 102,

Birds in the Atlautic, 77.
Bisagno, Val di, customs of the people, 3.
Blaeu gave the name of San Salvador to
Cat Island in his atlas, 94.

Blewfields, site of, passed by Columbus,
257-

Boatswain-bird (see Rabia de Junco).
Bobadilla, Beatriz (see Moya, Marquesa

de).

Francisco, appointed to supersede
Columbus, 203 ; his character, 204;
arrival at San Domingo, 204 ; outrageous
conduct ;

puts Columbus in chains, 205

;

his folly and insolence, 206, 209 : his re-
call, 212 ; to be sent home, 212, 252 ; his
ill-usage of Bastidas, 244 ; retributive
end, 254.

Boca (see Dragon, Sierpe).
Bohio, news of an island so called, 86.

Bo.l, Fray Bernardo, of Montserrat, first

priest in the Indies, 143 ; in the second
voyage, 149; member of the commission
of government at Isabella, 158, 161

;

Montserrat named from his monastery,
152 ; his truculent advice respectiug
Guacanagari, 154 ; performed the first

mass at Isabella, 155; his misconduct
at Isabella, 160, 170 ; his mutiny and
return to Spain, 162 ; misstatements
of, exposed, 177.

Bojador, Cape, 19.

Bondi, Antonio, neighbour of Domenico
Colombo at Genoa, 4,

Booby (see Alcatraz).
Bossi, Luigi, his Life of Columbus, 237.

Bracelli, Genoese historian, 8,

Brasill or Brazil, fabulous island in the
Atlantic, 9, 20, 21 ; English expedition
in search of, 20; shown on Behaim's
globe, 73.

Brazilian coast visited by Cabral, 184

;

discovered by Piozon, 242 ; voyage of
Lepe along, 243; alleged voyages of
Vespucci on, 354.

Bristol, expedition from, in search of
Brasill, 20 ; trade with Iceland, 22

;

John Cabot settled at, 227.

Briviesca, Jimeno de, a creature of Fon-
seca, kicked by the Admiral, 185.

Buccaneers, names of, given to islands of

the Bahamas, 99.
Buenaventura, Juan de, put on shore by
Bastidas and found by Ojeda, 245.

Buena "Vista, one of the Cape Verde
Islands, Columbus at, in his third

voyage out, 188.

Bueno (Puerto), in Jamaica, 165, 270.

Burgos, reception of Columbus at, by the
sovereigns, 182.

CA.BOT, John, notice of, 226 ; scheme for

a voyage in imitation of Columbus, 227 ;

settled at Bristol, 227 ; first voyage of,

227, 228, 229; second voyage, 229, 230;

fate unknown, 230. {

Cabot, Lewis, 227
Sancius, 227,

Sebastian, 227 ; discovery of his
map, 227 11.

;
probably with his father

settled at Bristol, 229; employment in
Spain, letters and conversations, 231 ;

return to England and death, 233.
Cabezudo, Juan Rodriguez, lent a mule

to Father Perez to go to the Queen at
Granada, 55.

Cabral, Pedro Alvarez, on the Brazilian
coast, 184.

Cabrera, Don Andi-es, friendly to Col-
umbus, 48.

Cabron, Cape in Espai'iola, 195.

Cademartoni, Luchino, Giacomo Colombo
apprenticed to, 13.

Oadena, in the Bahamas, 95.
Cadiz, ships for the second voyage fitted

out at, 141, 148 ; sons of the Admiral at,

146; return of Columbus to, 181; ar-

rival of the Admiral in chains, 210
;

sailing' of Ojeda from, 239, and return,

240 ; Bastidas sailed from, 243 ; second
expedition of Ojeda, 244; Columbus
sailed from, ou the last voyage, 252.

Caicos Island, second island of Navarette,
92, 94, 97.

Calabria, John of, expedition to Naples,
7-

Calamar. Ojeda landed at, 310.

Calms, region of, intense heat, 188,

Calzadilla, Dr., Bishop of Viseu, scheme
of Columbus referred to, 35.

Canciba Isle, 92.

Cano, Sebastian del, first circumnaviga-
tion, 317,

Canoe at Guanahani, 82; in Espahola,
114; at Jamaica, their size, 165; great
trading canoe on the Honduras coast,

255 ; voyage of Mendez in, 272, 274.

Cami, reported name of a king in Cuba,
109.

Canaria, the word Stamaria mistaken
for, in copying a letter of Columbus,

Canary Isles, rediscovery by Genoese, 17 ;

Columbus steered for, on leaving Palos,

74. 76.

Canary, Grand, fleet of Columbus at, 74,
252.

Cantino, Alberto, his letter to the Duke
of Ferrara ou the voyages of Cortereal,

235 ; map of the discoveries of Cortereal
drawn at Lisbon for, 236 ; account of
map, 237, 238, 247', 248.

Cape Breton, the Prima Terra Vista of

Cabot, 22S, 229 ; Cortereal at, 235, 238.

Cape of Good Hope, discovery, 52, 77.

Cape Verde Isles, 18, 28 ; Columbus at, 32 ;

Sargossa Sea near, 78 ; Columbus at,

in third voyage, 188 ; Papal meridian
measured from, 233 ; Pinzon at, 244.

Capitana, the Admiral's ship in the last

voyage, 250, 254, 255 ; lost her foremast,
260, 267.

Capraria, fabulous isle of the Atlantic,
21.

Caravels (see Piiita, Nina).
Carbacho, Pedro, of Caceres, seaman of

Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.
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Carbajal, Alonzo Sanchez de, of Baeza,
member of a commission of govern-
meut at Isabella, i6i ; sent to Espaii-
ola from Gomera, 187 ; copy of docu-
ments of Columbus intrusted to, -zi^ ;

deceived by Roldau, 197; agent of
Columbus .in Espanola, 22.1, 251, 254;
went to courtfrom Seville, 288.

Dr. Bernardo. Bishop of Cartagena.
sent to Rome with news of the discovery
of Columbus, 137,

Careta, chief of Cueva, in Darien, 314,

315-
Caribato, provmce in Espanola, ri8.

Oaribiri, south of the Nicaragua River,

257.
Caribs, 118, 121, 122, 150, 151 ; islands of,

153; to be sold as slaves, 156; origin
doubtful, 171.

Cartagena, Bishop of (see Carbajal).
Carthusian monastery at Seville (see
Santa Maria de las Cuevas).

Casaneuva, name of a corsair under whom
Columbus is erroneously said to have
served, 16.

Casas (see Las Casas).
Castagneti, Bartolomeo. apprentice of
Domenico Colombo, ir.

Castaiieda. Juan. Portuguese governor of
Santa Maria, hi.s inhospitality. 125. 126.

Castellano, Dr. Diego Ortiz, Bishop of
Ceuta, scheme of Columbus referred to,

35; his perfidious advice, 35.
Castilla del Oro, 310.
Castillo, silversmith of Seville, on board
' the Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.
Cat Island, the Guanima of Herrera's
map. 92 ; the landfall according to W.
Irving s theory, 94 ; called San Salvador
in the atlas of Blaeu, 94 ; unlike Guana-
hani, 95, 105.

Catalan chart of 1375, Brazil shown on,
20.

Catay in the letter of Toscanelli, 31, 73.
Catoche, Cape, 317.
C'auchieto. Nino at, 241.
C^xinas, Honduras, 255.
Caymans, 269.

Cavo Moa, in Cuba, 113; new mast for
Nina at, 113.

Ceuta. Bishop of {see Castellano).
CejTe. native name of Dominica. 151.
Charlevoix (see D'Anville).
Chanca, Dr. Diego Alvarez, in the second
voyage with Columbus, account of, 143,
149, 151 ; his letter to the Chapter of
Seville, 157.

Charles V., friend of the sons of Colum-
bus, 318, 324.

Chaucer on the astrolabe, 29.

Chiapes, Darien chief, ally of Vasco
Nunez, 315.

Chios, visited by Columbus, 8; mastich
of. 112.

Chiriqui, 259.
Cibao, gold in, 115, 117, 155: mountains

of, reached by Ojeda, 15= ; expedition
to, 158 ; ascent of mountains of, 159.

Cifuentes, Count of, received Columbus
at Seville, 133.

Cigateo (see Eleuthera).

Ciguey, district in Espanola, flight of
Guarionex to Mayobanex, chief of, 195.

Cipango in the letter of Toscanelli, 32;
distance from AntiUa, 32, 115.

Circumference of the earth, various mea-
surements, 34.

C'iruelo, Pedro, of Salmanca, on Sacro-
bosco, 47.

Cisneros, Cardinal Ximenes de, friendly
to Columbus, 289, 300, 309, 324.

Citarma, 245.

Clarence Harbour, in Long Island (Ba-
hamas), 104, 103.

C'odera, Cape, 239, 245.

Coiba, chief of, ally of Vasco Xuiiez, 314.
Colmeuares, Rodrigo ile. lieutenant of
Xicuesa, 310; at Darien, 312,

Colombo, Amighetto, 3
Antonio, at Quinto, 2.

Bartolomeo, the Adelantado, his
birth, 5; companion of his brother in
his studies, 10: went to Lisbon, 12:

remained at Li.slion when his brother
went to Spain, 36, 51 ; went to England,
51 ; account of, by Las Casas, 51 ; in

London, 52 : question of his having
sailed with Bartholomew Diaz, 62: sent
for to join the Admiral. 141, 146; his

proceedings in England and France.
146 ;

given command of a squadron for
£-pauola, 1-17 ; arrival at Espauolat 161

;

saved the colony, 162 ; attended his

brother during his illness, 170 ; made
Adelantado, 173, 183; at the battle of
Vega Real. 176; left in command at
Espaiiola, 179; his government, 193-197;
founded San Domingo, 193 ; in Xaragua
when BobadiUa arrived, 204; sent home
in chains, 206 ; with his brother on the
last voyage. 224, 250 ; saved the GaUeg",
254 ; the Admiral's anxiety for him, 256;
his transactions with the chief Quibian,
261 ; explored the river Veragua, 261-262;

his capture of Quibian, 264 ; attacked at
Belem, 264 ; defended hisbrother against
the mutineers, 276 ; defeated Porras,
279, 288 ; went to court from Seville,

288 ; attended on his brother to Segovia.
289 ; sent by his brother to welcome
Philip I. at Segovia, 290; adviser to his

nephews. 304; journey to Rome, 304,

305 ; went to Espaiiola with his nephew,
306; tardy offer of the government of
Veragua to, 317; estates, death, 318,

Battistina, sister of Domenico, mar-
ried to Fritallo, 2.

Blanchineta, birth, 6; married to
Bavarello. 12, 13.

Cristoforo, birth at Genoa, 5, 13

;

childhood, 6; description as a boy, 7;
first went to sea, 8; study of maps, 7:
removal of his family to Savona, 10, 11

;

witness to a wUl, guaranteed a debt of
his father, witness to sale of a house,
ii; his knowledge when he left Genoa,
12; left Genoa for Lisbon, 12. 18; dis-

cussion of the date of his birth. 13. 14 :

question of his having studied at Pa-
via, 15; story of his having served with
a corsair, j6; had seen Pessagno's me-
morials in the church of S. Stefano,
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17; called "di Terrarossa," 18; impres-
sion made on liim by maps shuwiug
islands in the Atlantic, 21; his object
in coming to Portugal, 22 ; voyages to
England and Ireland, 22; ijersoual ap-
pearance, 24 ; marriage, 24, 27 ; know-
ledge of navigation, 28,31; studies, 32;
correspondence with Toscanelli, 31, 32

;

voyage to Guinea, 32 ; at La Mina, 33

;

arguments for a western voyage to thy
indies, 35. 36 ; his project submitted tn

the King of Portugal, 35 : goes to Spain,
[6; seeks help at La Rabida. 39, 40;
lospitality of the Duke of Medina Cell
to, 42; arrival at the Spanish court, 42;
his proposal rejected by Talavera, 44,

J
5 ; friendship of Dr. Deza, 46 ; resi-

ence near Salamanca, 46, 47, 48 ; con-
ferences at Salamanca, 47, 48 ; payments
to, 49, 52; at surrender of Malaga, 49;
his love for Beatriz Enriquez, 50; last
visit to Portugal, 51 ; witnessed the re-

turn of Bartholomew Diaz from the
discovery of the Cape of Good Hope,
52 ; at siege of Baza, 53 ; his patience
exhausted, 53; second visit to La Rabida,
53; ordered to come to Granada, 55;
departed when his demands were not
granted, 56; recalled, 59; the conces-
sions to, 59; his aijpearance when he
sailed on his tirst voyage, 64 ; fit-

ting out the expedition at Palos, 64-

74; maps, &c., for his first voyage, 72;
departure from Palos, 73; his t%vo

reckonings, 75, 76; on the variation of
the compass, 76 ; his voyage, 74-79

;

saw a light, 80; absurd charge of un-
fairness, 87 ; landed at Guanahani, 81

;

his voyage through the Bahamas to
Cuba, 84, 86 ; abstract of his journal
by Las Casas, 89 ; his first anchorage
at Cuba, 108; a close observer of nature,
112 ; discovery of Espanola, 114 ; loss of
the Santa Maria, 116; his account of
the natives, 117; study of the weather,
121 ; route homeward selected, 122

;

reckoning, 123 ;
proceedings in the

storm, 123, 124; at the Azores, 125, 126;
in the Tagus, 129; greatness of his

discovery, 128; his journal and letter,

129, 131, 132; reception at Seville, 133,

134, and at Barcelona, 135, 136; grant of

arms to, 138 ; story of the egg, 139

;

aapirations, 140 ;
preparations for his

second voyage, 142; as an administra-
tor, 145; second voyage, 148; his be-

lief in the truthfulness of Guacanagari,
i53i 154 1 foundation of Isabella, 155;
sends out exploring parties, 155; me-
morial respecting slavery, 156, 157; ill-

ness, 158 ; organisation of expeditions,

159, 160, 161 ; third voyage of discovery,

163 ; on south coast of Cuba, 164, 165,

166; serious illness, 166, 169; discovery

of Jamaica, 164 ; conversation with a
cacique of Cuba, 167 ; return to Isabella,

169; battle of Vega Real, 176; return
to Spain, 178, 179; return voyage, 180,

181; guest of Bernaldez, 182; reception
by the sovereigns at Burgos, 182 ; entail

of his estates, 183 ; infirmities, 185

;

third expedition from Spain, 185, 186
;

plan for the third voyage, 187; specula-
tions respecting the Gulf of Paria and
the terrestrial paradise, 190, 191 ; his
consummate seamanahip. 192 ; voyage
to Eapafiola, 192 ; negotiations with
Roldan, 198; restox-ed- peace, 199; exe-
cutes Mujica, 200; outrage by Boba-
diUa, 205 ; sent home in chains, 206, 207 ;

letter to Juana de Torres, 207, 208;
confidence iu his mission, 208; his
"voices," 208, 266, 296; his appeal to
the Queen, 208, 209 ; reception by the
sovereigns at Granada, 210; friendship
with Trivigiauo, 213; scheme for the
recovery of the Holy Sepulchre, work
on the prophecies, 214, 215 ; letter
to the Pope, 215 ; scheme for the dis-
covery of a strait, argument, 216 ; copies
of his grants and privileges deposited
in safe custody, 219; first will, 220;
bequest to the city of Genoa, 200

;

sketch attributed to, 221 ; letter of his
advice to his son Diego, 220, 224 ; last
voyage, 250 ; offered aid to Portuguese
at Ai-zilla, 251 ; warned Ovando of the
coming hurricane, 253 ; discovery of the
coast of Honduras, 255 ; terrible navi-
gation on Honduras coast, 256; anxiety
for his brother and son, 256 ; connected
his discoveries with those of Bastidas,
258 ; sufferings of his people, 258, 259 ;

results of the last voyage, 268; wrecked
at Jamaica, 270; conversation with
Mendez, 271 ; his letter from Jamaica
to the sovereigns, 272, 273 ; use made of
an eclipse, 277 ; mutiny of Porras, 276 ;

pardoned the mutineers, 280; rescued
from Jamaica, 281 ; kindness to his
people ; return to Spain, 282 ; at Seville,

286 ; letters to his son, 288 ; visit of
Vespucci to, 288; journey to Segovia,
289 ; fruitless attempts to obtain justice,

289 ; death at Valladolid, 291 ; inter-

ment of his body, 292, 302; portraits,

293-295 ; character, 295-301 ; signature,

296 ; will, 301 ; alleged inaccuracy of,

303 ; his books, 327 ;
biographers, 328-

343 ; writings, 335 ; places named after
him, 355; monuments, 356.

Colombo, Cristoforo, second son of
Diego, continued the line, 319.

Diego or Giacomo, brother of the
Adiniral, birth, 6 ; apprenticed, 12,

14 ;
joined his brother in Spain, 13, 141

;

accompanied the Admiral on his second
voyage, 142, 149; President of a com-
mission of government, 153, 161; weut
home to answer slanders, 176; at San
Domingo, 192 ; in command when
Bobadilla arrived, 204 ; sent home in
chains. 206 ; took orders, died, 224.

Diego, son of the Admiral, birth,

24; left Lisbon with his father, 35 ; at
La Rabida. 39, 41, 53, 56 ; second mother
in Beatriz Enriquez, 52 ; page to Prince
Juan, 69, 146 ; with his father at Cadiz,

145; pa^e to the Ciueen, 183; annoyed
by malcontents at Granada, 202; with
liis father at Granada, 213; letters of

advice to, from his father, 223, 224, 252

;
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bis father's anxiety for his welfare, 256 ;

at court,, 286; letters from his father,

287, 288 ; marriage, 306 ; lawsuit, 305 ;

made governor of the Indies, 306, 307 :

his palace, 309; return to Sjiain ami
death, 318 ; cbildreu aud descendants,
318-321.

Colombo.Domenico.fatherof theAdmiral.
became a cloth-weaver, z ; settled at
Genoa, 3; bis houses, 4; children, 4,

5, 6 ; removal to Savona, 10 ; return
to Genoa, 12 ; death and character, 13 ;

help from iiis son, 241 ; San Domingo
called after, 192.

Fernando, sou of the Admiral,
his biography of his father, 14, 328 ;

admission of liability to error, 15, 22, 36,

33 ; birth, 50 ; with his father at Cadiz,
145 ; page to the Queen, 183 ; annoyed by
malcontents at Granada, 202 ; with his
father on his last voyage, 224, 2';o, 256

;

at Jamaica. 270, 2£l2 ; at court, 288 ; went
to Espauola with his brother, 306; early
life, 322

;
pursuits, 323 ; first work, 324 ;

travels, 325 ; house and garden at
Seville, 325; public employmeut, .^26:

description of, 326 ; library, 327 ;
" Oos-

mographiie lutroductio" in library of,

354-
Giacomo (see Diego).
Giovanni, house at Terrarossa, 2.

Giovanni Antonio, 2 ; in command
of a caravel in the third voyage of the
Admiral, 187 ; account of, by Las Casas,
188.

Giuvamii Pellegi'ino, birth, ir; wit-
ness to a sale. II ; death, 12.

Luis, son and heir of Diego, created
Duke of Veragua, 319 ; imprisoned, 319.

Mateo, 3.

Colombina Biblioteca at Seville, 32, 62,

21 J. 327.

Oolumbus (see Colombo).
Como, portrait of Columbus at, 293, 295.

Comogre, ally of Vasco Nuiiez, 314.
Compass, first use, 28 ; description, 29

;

origin, 30 ; variation observed by Co-
lumbus, 76.

Concepcion Cay, the second island of W.
Irving, 95.

Puerto de la, in Espauola, 114.

Concessions to Columbus, 59.
Continent of the New World discovered,

190 ; not seen by Cabot on his first

voyage, 228, 230.
Contrastes, La Costa de los, 259.
Coquivacoa, 240 ; intended settlement of
Ojeda, 244, 245 (see Ojeda).

C'ji-dera caravel in third voyage of 'lis-

covery, 163 ; parts company with Nina.
168, and rejoins, i6g.

Cordova, Hernando, &c., on Yucatan
coast, 317.

the court at, 43 : Committee of
Talavera sitting at, 45 ; family of Arana
at, 50; wife and sous of Columbus lett

at, 68; pension from dues in shambles
of, for first sighting land, 87.

C'oro discovered by Ojeda, 240.
Coronel, Pedro Fernandez, member of a
commission of government at Isabella,

161 ; despatched with supplies to Es-
pauola, 186 ; opportune arrival, 197.

Currea da Cunba, 25.

Cortereal, Gaspar, first voyage, 234 ; second
voyage, 234, 235 ; his discoveries shown
on Cantiuo map, 237, 238,

Cortes, Heman, discoverer of Mexico, 309,
317-

Coruiia, arrival of Philip I. and Juaua
at, zoo.

Cosa, Juan de la, pilot of Santofia, owner
of the flagship and pilot in the first

voyage, 66, 6q ; landfall identified by his
map, 89, 91 ; description of his map,
90 ; in the second voyage, 144, 149 ; with
Columbus in his third voyage of dis-
covery, 163; received the map of Cabot
from Ayala, 230 ; with Ojeda, 239 ; with
Eastidas, 243 ; his map drawn before
that of Cant-ino, 248; supplied funds to
Ojeda, 310; death, 311.

Cosco, Leander de, a Catalan, translator
of the first letter of Columbus into
Latin, 132.

" Cosraographite Introductio," 352 (see
"NValdseem lill er).

Cotabanama, chief of Higuey, 172 ; death,
275-

Crato, Prior of, Columbus the guest of,

Crooked Island, same as Isabella, 86, 96,

98, 102.

Cniz, Cape, 269 (see Santa Cruz).
Ctesias, in Strabo, arguments for a west-
ern voyage from, 34.

Cuba, news of, 86 ; arrival of Columbus
at, 87, 108; name of Juana given to, 86

;

reminded the Admiral of hills in Sicily
and at Granada, 108; arstpointreached,
109; men sent into the interior, in;
products, 112; eastern extremity, 113;
discovery of south coast, 164; conversa-
tion of Columbus with a cacique of,

167 ; believed to be a peninsula—ques-
tion of insularity, 216; insularity dis-
covered, 309 ; Diego Velasquez gover-
nor of, 306.

Cuenca, Ojeda bom at, 1^4.
Cueva (see Careta).

Juan de, seaman of the S'liiin

Mari-j, left at !N"avidad, 70 ; servant of
Ojeda, 246.

Cuevas (see Santa Maria de las Cuevas).
Cumana, Nifio at, 241 ; Guerra at, 243,
CuraQoa Island, called by Ojeda Isla de

los Gigante.s, 240, 245.
f'l'iateo of the Herrera map, the little

San Salvador of modem maps, 92.

Curiana, Xifio at, 241 ; attack on, by
Ojeda, 245.

Daeaybe, expedition of Vasco Xuuez to,

314-
D'Ailly, Cardinal Pierre, hiswork entitled
"Imago Mundi " studied by Columbus,
30; marginal note in, referring to the
voyage of Bartholomew Diaz, 52; the
book with Columbus on the first voyage,
72; in the "Biblioteca Colombina,"
327-

D Anville g-ave the name of San Salvailor
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to Cat Island, 95; "Ti-iangulo or Wat-
liug's," on a map lay, drawn for Charle-

\

voix, 98.
3>arien, discovered by Bastidas, 243, 247,

" Ojeda at, 311 (see Ojeda, Euciso,
Niciicuesa, VascoNuiiez).

D'Avezac on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15.

D'Azambuja, Diego, formed settlement
of La Mina, 33.

De Bry, portrait of Columbus in, 294,

Declination, tables of Eegiomontanus,
28.

Degree, length according to Alfraganns,

34 ; measurement of, by order of Alma-
mun, 35.

Desastre, Rio del, 257.
Desimoui, Cornelio, work on Columbus,

34^-

Deza, Dr. Diego de, Piior of San Estevan
at Salamanca, afterwards Bishop of
Palencia and Archbishop of Seville,

friendship for Columbus, 46 ; arranged
the conferences at Salamanca, 47-48,

182; the Admiral's hope of support
from, 287, 289, 300,

Diaz, Bartolonien, his reception at Lisbon
witnessed by Columbus, 52 ; question
relating to his voyage, 62 ; visit to Col-
urab^^s in the Tagus, 126; death, 184.

Miguel, sent to explore the Hayna
goldmine, 178; in charge of St. Domingo
fort when it was seized by Bobadilla,
205.

Diego, Maestre, boatswain of the S'nit<t

Maria, 69.

of Membles and of Mendoza, seamen
left at Navidad, 70.

Dinis, King of Portugal, employed a
Genoese as Admiral of Portugal, 15.

Dominica Island, discovery, 149 ; course
shaped for in third voyage, 188.

Dominican Convent (see Plata, Moiite
de).

Doudero, bis defence of Columbus, 341.

Dorados (see Fish).

Dragon, Boca del, 192 ; Ojeda passed the,

239; Nina attacked while passing, 241

;

Pinzon at, 242,

Dugongs mistaken for mermaids, 120,

Duro, Capt. Cesareo F., works on Colum-
bus, 338, 3^2.

Eclipse of moon, longitude found by
observing, 29; use made of, by Colum-
bus at Jamaica, 277.

Egg, story of Columbus and the, 139, 140.

Elcano, erroneous way of spelling tlie

name of Sebastian del Cano (see Cano),

3^7 "
Eleuthera, iu the Bahamas, the Cigaieo of

the Henera map, 92.

Emanuel, Kins of Portugal, discoveries

under, 183, 184.

Enamorada, Cabo de, in Espanola, 121.

Enciso,-Martin Fernandez de, to follow

Ojeda with reinforcements, 310 ; arrival

at Darien, 311 ; deposed, 312 ; author of

the " Suma de Geografta, ' 313; enmity
against Vasco Nufiez, 316.

Engaiio, Cape, 179.

England, voyage of Columbus to, 22

;

Bartolomii Columbus in, 52, 146.
English expedition in search of Brazil, i8

(see Cabot, Coquivacoa).
Enriquez, Beatrix, second wife of Colum-

bus, 38, 50; question of her marriage
,

60, 61, 62; pension given to, by Colum-
bus, 87, 144 ; her brother, 187 ; young
Diego enjoined to treat her as a mother,
223 ; mentioned in the will of Columbus,
60, 61 (see Arana).

Entail of estates and honours by Coluiu-
bus, 183.

Equator crossed by Pinzon, 242.

Erasmus presented Fernando Columbus
with one of his works, 324.

Escaraz, Juan de, one of the first to reach
the South Sea, 315.

Escobar, Diego de, sent as a spy to
Jamaica by Ovaudo, 378.

Rodrigo, seaman of the 5au((t MarUi,
70; a boy in the last voyage of Colum-
bus, accompanied Mendez to the village
of Quibian, 263.

Escobedo, Rodrigo de, secretary in the
first voyage of Columbus, 69 ; landed at
Guanahani, 80; left at Navidad, 118.

Escribano de Racion (see Santangel),
Espaftola, discovery, 114; Indians of, 117 ;

arrival off, in second voyage, 152 ; south
coast reached on third voyage, 168

;

description, natives, 170, 171 ; chiefs of,

172; settlement by the Admiral, tri-

bute, 177; mission of Aguado to, 178;
Columbus forbidden to touch at, 224 ;

Ojeda at, 240; Pinzon at, 242; Bastida.s

lost his ships at, 244 ; Columbus pleaded
for the natives, 289 ; Audiencia estab-
lished, 308, 309 (see St. Domingo,
Isabella, Navidad, Bobadilla, Ovando,
Roldan).

Esquivel, governor of Jamaica, 310, 311.

Essequibu river, 239.
Eugenins IV,, embassy from the Grand
Khan to, 31.

Evangelista, Isla, western end of Cuba,
167.

Exuma Island, 95 ; "Washington Irving'H

third island. Admiral Becher's third
island, loi.

Faua, city of Cami, in Cuba, log.

Parol, Punto del, name of Columbus for

Cape Morant, 168.

Fayal, Behaim at, 27.

Fertlinand of Aragon, 43 ; at Salamanca,
46 ; siege of Malaga, 49 ; reception of

Columbus at Barcelona. 135, 136 ; pre-

sented a suit of armour to Columbus,
139; his sale of the garrison of Malaga
into slavery, 157 ; at Girona, 182

;

pestered by beggars from Espaiiola.

202 ; his motives for conduct towards
Columbus, 203 ; ashamed of the treat-

ment of Columbus, 210 ;
perceived

the importance of the discoveries of

Columbus, promised restoration of

rights to Columbus, 224; perfidy, 238;

neglected the dying wishes of the

Queen, 287 ; at Segovia, 288 ; never
placed a motto on the tomb of Colum-
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bus, 203 i ^-t Naples, 304 ;

1 Diego Columbus
convei'sation

with J)iego Cofumbus on his rights,

305 ; consented to a lawsuit, 305 ; death,
309; his bad appointments, 316.

Fernandez of Huelva, seaman on board
the Scnita Mari'i, 70.

iif Segovia and of Leon, seamen, 71.

Francisco, seaman of Niii-T, 71.
Fcrrara, Duke of (see Cantino).
Ferrttr. a lapidary, his letter to Columbus,

187. 215.

Fiescbi, Bartolomd, captain of the Vir-.-

c'lina in the last voyage of Columbus,
251 ; companion of Mendez in the canoe
voyage from Jamaica, 27, 280 ; faithful
to the end, 290.

Fish in the Atlantic, 77 (see Tominas,
Dorados).

Flechado, Puerto. 240.
Florence, Portolano Mediceo at, 9: gu-r
mon of Toscanelli in Santa Maria
Is'ovello at, 31 ; birthplace of Vespucci,
186 ; portrait of Columbus at. 293.

Flores, in the Azores, line of no variation,
76, 123.

Fonseca, Juan Rodriguez de. Archdeacon
of Seville, placed at the head of the
home administration of the Indies, 141

;

his character, 141. 142; disgraceful con-
dition of provisions shipped by, 155 :

persistent obstruction by, 183 ; one of
his creatures kicked by the Admiral,
185; his calumnies, 202, 206 ; dissembled
his real feelings when Columbus re-

turned in chains, 210, 212 ; advises a
breach of the Admiral's rights, 238 ; con-
tinued in ofl&ce, 316 ; his bad appoint-
ments, 316.

Fontanabuona, Valley of, 2, 11.

Fontanarossa, Giacomo de, maternal
[

' grandfather of Columbus, 4.

Goagnino, 1 brothers of the mother
Guglielmo, / of Columbus, 4, 10. '

Susanna di, mother of Columbus, 4;
,

her children, 5, 6 ; her consent to sales
1

of property, 10; death, 12, 13.

Foronda, Pedro de, seaman of the yiha.
71.

Fortune Island, 102.

Hill, 105.

Forzio, Genoese historian, 8.

Fox, Capt. G. v., his theory of the land-
faU. 97.

Fracaster, friend of Ramu^io, account of
Sebastian Cabot by a guest in the house
of, 231.

Francisco of Huelva, seaman of Santa.
Maria, 70,

Frederick Barbarossa, Emperor, walls of
Genoa built as a defence against, 4.

Fregossi of Genoa. S, g.

Frigate-b rd (see Rabiforcado).
Frislandia, 23.
Fritallo of Quinto, married to Battistina
Colombo, 2.

Fructuoso on the Perestrelo family, 36,
Fuentarabia, Martin de, drowned, 256.

Galera, C'abo de la, in Trinidad, 189.
Gullega, ship, in the last voyage of Colum- |

bus, 251 ; unseaworthy condition, 253 ; 1

in danger in the hurricane, 254 ; death
of her captain, 280.

GaUegos, Francisco Garcia, of Moguer,
seaman of the Pinta, 71,

Galley, war. description, 7.

Galvano, his account of the voyages of
Cabot, 231, and of Cortereal, 234.

Galway, Irisiiman from, in the first voy-
age. 70. 118.

Gama, Vasco da, voyages, 183.

Garajao bird, a tern, 77.
Garay, Francisco de, sent to explore the
Hayna gold mine, 178.

Garcia, Alonzo, seaman of the Pintn, 71,

Bartolomti, boatswain of the Pinta,
71.

Diego of Jerez, seaman of Saoi-t

Mariu, 70,
de Ocampo {see Ocampo).

Gaspar, Franciscan monk at the death-bed
of Columbus, 291.

Genoa, political situation in the fifteenth
century, i : people, z ; Domenico Col-
ombo settled -at, 3 ; walls, 4 ; house of
Columbus at, 4 ; facilities for the study
of cosmography, 8, 9 ; Columbus born
in, 13; documents intrusted toOderigo,
delivered up to city of, 219; account of
documents in town-hall, 219; bequest
of Columbus to, 220 ; visited by Fer-
nando Columbus, 324 ; statue of Col-
umbus at. 356(see St. George, Bank of).

Genoese (see Portugal, Canary Isles,

Azores) with Cijlumbus, 163, 251.
Geraldiui, acquaintance of Columbus

with, at Seville, di.

Gibbs, G., un Turk s Island as the land-
fall, 93.

Gigantes, Isla de los (see Curai^oa).
Ginestrato, dowry of the mother of Col-
umbus at, 4; sale of, 10.

Gioja, Flavio, of Amalfi, adapted the
compass for use at sea, 28.

Giovio (see Jovius).
Globes (see Behaim, Schoner, Waldsee-
muUer).

Godoy, Francisco de, seaman In the Santa
Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Goes, Damian de, his account of the first

voyage of Cortereal, 234.
Gold reported at Samoete and at Babe-
que, 112; in Espaijola, 115; at Ci''ao,

117; at Samana, 122; sent to the sove-
reigns, 156, 176: discovery of the Hayna
mine, 177 ; Guerra trading for, 243

;

large nugget lost in the hurricane, 252 ;

in Veragua, 257, 272.
Gomara, the historian, bis reception of
the fable told by Oviedo about a pilot
dying in the house of Columbus, 37 ; on
Sebastian Cabot, 231, 232; false state-
ment respecting the voyage of Pinzon
and Solis, 284 ; notice of, 333.

Gomera Isle, ships of Columbus sail from,
75 ; Columbus at, on second voyage,
148; on third voyage, 187; Ojeda at,

239-

Gomez. Diego, at Cape Verde Island.-;.

18; on the importance of observations
with the quadrant, 26.

Gonzalez, Jorge, of Trigueros, a seaman
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ou board the Sonto Maria, left at Navi-
dad, 70.

(lonzalez, Tomaa, archivist, copied the
lettttr nf Columbus to Santaiigel at
Siniancas, 131.

(iorbolan, Genes de, sent to explore in
Espafiola, 155 ; return to Spain, 156.

(,'orda, caravel of Bobadillas squadron,
204 (see Vallejo).

(iorricio, Francisco, the elder Biego Col-
umbus died in house of, 224.

Gaspar, Carthusian monk at Seville,
and friend of Columbus, helped (Jolum-
bus in his work on the pri)phecies, 214,

219; will of CdlumbUK left in charge uf,

220; young Diego to look to Gorricio
for advice, 224, 252 ; witli Columbus at
Seville, 286.

Gracia, Rio, in Espaiiola, 120.

Isla de, iQo,

Gracias a Dios, Cape, 256.

(Granada, siege of, 53, 55 ; fall, 56 ; malcon-
tents from EspaHola at, 202; reception
of Columbus by the sovereigns at, 210

;

residence of Columbus at, 213,

Isle, called " Concepcion " by Colum-
bus, discovery, 192.

Grand Canary (see Canary),
Grande Puerto, in Cuba, 164,

Greenland, 23 ; sighted by Cortereal, 234,

237.
Greytown, site passed by Columbus, 257.
Grijalva, Juan de, voyage, 317.

GrOs Ilet, bay in St. Lucia, rendezvous of
Lord Rodney's fleet, supposed to be the
anchorage of Columbus, 252.

Guacanagari, a chief in Espaflola, Colum-
bus invited to visit his country, 115 ; his
aid after the shipwreck, 117; visit to the
iVmn, 118; attacked and wounded by
Coauabo, 153 ; Columbus believed his
story, 154; came to warn Columbus at
Isabella, 172 ; supported Columbus at
Vega Real, 176 ; friendship for Colum-
bus, 298.

Guadalupe Island discovered, 150; (,'aiib

woman of, married Coanabo, 180 ; A in n.

at, 181.

Guajira peninsula, 245.

Guanahani Island, natives, 81; descrip-
tion, 83 ; natives of, escape from the
Nina, 85; identittcation with Watling
Island, 98 ; most northern island of the
La Cosa mai». 90; on Herrera map, 91

;

requirements for its identification, 92

;

Turk Island theory, 93; Cat Island
theory, 94; Mayaguana theory, 96, 97;
Samana theory, <)7\ Watling Island,

99, 103, 104, 105 ;
guide and interpreter

from, 164, 167, 173. 174-

Guanaja Island; or "Isla de los Piilos,"

on the Honduras coast, discovered by
Columbus, 255.

Guanima, the Cat Island of modern
charts, 92.

Guarapiche I'iver, Ojeda anchored off, 239.

Guardias discovered and named by Col-

umbus, 192,

Guantanamo, in Cuba, Columbus at, 164.

Guarionex, chief of the Vega Real, 172,

173; Guanahani interpreter married to

daughter of, 174 ; insurrection of, 194 ;

generous treatment of, by the Adelan-
tado, 195 ; imprisoned, 195 ; death, 245,
253-

Guatiguana, a subordinate chief of Espa-
fiola, attack on the Spaniards, 172,

Guchia, a caravel with the Admiral's pro-
perty, alone escaped the hurricane, 254.

Guerra, Cristoval, partner in the voyage
of Nii'ia, 241 ; second voyage of, 243.-—~ Luis, 243.

tJuevara, Hernando, disturbance caused
by, in love with Higueymota, daughter
of Anacaona, imprisoned, 199 ; libei'ated
by Biibadilla, 204; commanded one of
Ojeda's ships, 244, 246.

Guinea coast, shown on the map of Tos-
canelli, 31 ; Columbus on, 33; palms of,

108 ; dugongs, 120.

Gulf Stream, argument of Columbus for
a strait, based on the, 216, 283.

Gulf weed, 78 (see Sargasso Sea).
Gutierrez, Pedro, volunteer in first voy-
age of Columbus, 69; saw the light, 86,

87; sent to Guacanagari, 117; left at
Navidad, 118.

Hakluvt's "Divers Voyages," map of
Lok in, 228,

Hamacas used by the natives of Cuba, 112.

Hamigueyaga, port in Espafiola, 246.

Harrisse, Mr., on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15; doubts the story that
Columbus studied at Pavia, 15; his view
respecting the visits to La Rabida, 63 ;

his discovery of a copy of the Columbus
documents at Paris, 219; on the ques-
tion of the chains having been buried
with Columbus, 225; reproduced the
Cantino map, 236 ; views respecting the
(Jantino map, 248 ; on the life of Colum-
bus by his son, 328 ; notice of his works
on Columbus, 339.

Hauslab, General, his globe by Waldsee-
ni Idler, 354.

Havana, Columbus finally interred in
CatheJral of, 292.

Hayna river, in EsjiiLfiola, discovery of
gold mine, 177, 179 ; fort to be built,

181, 193.

Henao, Francisco, of Avila, seaman in
the S'liita Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Henry VII. of England, his rejection of
tlie proposal of BartoloraO Columbus,
52 ; scheme of Cabot submitted to, 227.

Henry, Prince, tlie Navigator, 18 ; his

patronage of the slave trade, 157, 297.

Hereford mappe-monde, 21.

Hermoso, Cabo, 86, 105.

Hernandez, Dr. Garci, physician of Palos,

54, 55 ; his evidence, 63 ; in consultation
with Columbus, 64.

Garci, surgeon of the Finta, 71.

Herrera, Antonio de, historiographer of

the Indies, evidence of his map in find-

ing the landfall of Columbus, 89; ac-

count of his map, 91 ;
position of Turk

Island on his map, 93 ; of Samana, 97 ;

copied the account of the voyage of

Pinzon and Soils from Las Casas, 285 ;

notice of, 333.
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HitjTiez, eastern part of Esiiafiola, 172;
ilesolated by Ovaiido, 275 (see Oota-
bauama).

Higuezmota (see Guevara).
Hojeda (see Ojetla).

Holy Sepulchre, scheme of Columbus for
the recovery of, 140, 214.

Honda, 245.
Honduras coast discovered by Columbus,

255, 258; terrific weather off, 256, 272;
Pinzon and 8olis in bay of, 283 ; dis-

covery falsely claimed for Pinzim and
Solis, 285.

Huelva, the ^[uliartes residing at, 36 ; on
the river dUel, 39, 53 ; sailors recruited
at, 66 ; banishment of Jews, 74.

Huerta, La (see CJuiriviri).

Humboldt, Baron A. von, on the date of
the birth of Columbus, 15; discovery of
the La Cosa map by, 90; believed Cat
Island to be the landfall, 94; bis
"Examen Critique," 37; his theory re-

specting the voyages of Vtspucci, 347.
Hurricanes, destruction of caravels at

Isabella, 179; at San Domingo, destruc-
tion of the fleet, 254, 272.

Hylacomylus (see WaldseemilLler).

Iceland, voyage of Columbus to, 22, 23,

"Imago Mundi," 30, 62 (see D'Ailly).
Inagua Isles, In the landfall theory of

Jfavarette, 94.
Indies, Toscanelli described the trade of,

31, and the best route to, 31, 32 ; argu-
ments of Columbus for a western voyage
to, 33. 34-

Indians of Guanahani, 81 ; as interpre-
ters, 164, 167 ; of Cuba, no, in

;
youths

taken at Rio de Mares, 113 ; of Espan-
ola, 114, 117, 120, 171; at Saraana, 121;
landed at Palos, 128; at Seville, 133 ; at
Barcelona, 135 ; King Ferdinand and
the Prince sponsors to, 137; slaughter
of, in the Vega Real, 176; account of
natives of the isthmus, 261, 265 ; of
Jamaica, 270, 277 ; with Mendez in a
canoe, 273, 274 ; intercession of Colum-
bus for, 289 (see Las Casas, Ovando,
Espanola, Cuba, Jamaica).

Infantado, Duke of, Journal of Columbus
in archives of, 8g.

Ires, Guillemo, of Galway, seaman of
Santa Maria, 70; left at Navidad, 118.

Irons placed on Columbus, 205, 207 ; note
on, 225.

Irving, Washington, on the date of the
birth of Columbus, 15; believed Cat
Island to be the landfall, 94 ; notice
of the work, 337.

Isabella, Queen, notice of, 43; war with
tbe Moors of Granada, 44 ; friendship
of Columbus, 44 ; winter at Salamanca,
46; Columbus in her service, 49; mar-
riage of her daughter at Seville, 53:
letter to, from her confessor. Fray
Perez, 54; resolved to accept the pro-
posal of Columbus, 55, 56, 58 ; her reward
for sighting the land given to Colum-
bus, 87 ; her reception of Columbus at
Barcelona, 135, 136; approval of the
proceedings of Columbus, 170, 173 ; at

Laredo, reception of Columbus at

Burgos on his second return, 182; took
the sons of Columbus as her pages, 183

;

persuaded by her husband to break
faith with the Admiral, 203 ; appeal of
Columbus to, 209; her reception of

Columbus wlien he returned in chains,

210. 211 ; sanctioned the last voyage of
Columbus, 216 ;

promised restoration of

the Admiral's rights, 22:^ ; death, 287 ;

friendship for Columbus, 300.

Isabella Island, the fourth discovered by
Columbus, &5, 102, io3( same as Crooked
Island, Samoete).

town, founding of, 155; return of

Ojedato, 156; discontent of the settlers,

158 ; troubles at, 160 ; arrival of Bar-
tolomti' Columbus at, 161 ; third voyage
of discovery fitted out at, 163; return of
Columbus to, 169; Guacanagari at, 172;

arrival of Torres with supplies, 173;
Caonaba brought prisoner to, 174; the
Admiral leaves for Spain, 179; aban-
doned, 181, 193.

Islands in the Atlantic, fabulous, 9, 19,

20, 21.

Isthmus {see Darien, Indians, Panama),
Iti (see Bermuda),

Jamaica, discovery, 164, 168 ; ships of

Bastidas refit at, 244 ; Vergara sent to,

byOjeda, for supplies, 245; Columbus
wrecked at, 270-281 ; Esquivel made
governor, 306.

Jardin de la Reyna, ofl: Cuba, 165.

Jeffery's Atlas, "Triangulo orWatling"
on, 98.

Jerez, Rodrigo de, seaman of the Santa
Marin, 70; sent on an expedition into

Cuba, nr.
Juan de, purser of the pinta, 71,

Jews, banishment from Huelva, 74,

Jimenes, Francisco, of Seville, seaman
of the Santa Maria, left atNavidad, 70.

Joao I. of Portugal, 24,

Joao II. of Portugal, founded La Mina,
33; plan of Columbus submitted to,

35 ; his perfidy, 35 ;
permits Columbus

to visit Lisbon, 53 ; marriage of his son
with a daughter of Queen Isabella, 53 ;

reception of Columbus on his return,

127; death, 183.

John of Calabria, expedition to Xaples, 7.

Joseph, a learned Jew at Lisbon, asso-
ciated with Behaim, 26 ; scheme of
Columbus submitted to, 35.

Josephus on the gold of Solomon's tem-
ple, 262,

Jovius, Paulus, portrait of Columbus in
the gallery of. at Comq, 293.

Juan, Maestre, asgistaut-surgeon of the
Sant'i Maria, 70.

de SeviUa, seaman of the Pinta, 71.
Prince, heir of Ferdinand and Isa-

bella, birth, 24; Diego Columbus made
page to, 69; with his parents at Bar-
celona, 135, 137; his death a calamity,
146 ; nurse of (see Torres, Juaua de).

Juana, Queen, 182, 290.
name given to Cuba, 87, 164,

Julius II., Pope, 305.
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Kkttell, translator of the journal of
Columbus, believed that Turk's Island
was the landfall, 93.

Khan, the Grand, in letter of Toscanelli,
31; supposed to be in Cuba, 109, 165,
166 ; mention of the Cabot, 227, 229.

Labratjoii, 232, 233.

La Cosa (see Cosa).
Laet, Joannes de, map published at Ley-
den by, on which Cat Island is calleil

San Salvador, 95.
Lajes (see Tallarfce).

Lamartine on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15.

Landfall of Columbus, 90-107; retiuire-

ments for, 92, 93.
Lanzarotelsle, discovered by Genoese. 17.

Laredo, Queen Isabella at, to see lier

daughter Juana sail for Flanders, 182
;

Ferdinand at, to receive Juana, 290.

Larreaga, a Basque boy in the V-izcaina
who was drowned at the Rio del De-
sastre, 256.

Larreategui family, representatives of
Columbus, 320 ; Dukedom of Veragna
in, 321.

Las Casas. Bartolome, Bishop of Chiapa,
10; story of Columbus having joined a
corsair and swam on shore in Portugal,
16 ;

passage respecting voyage of Colum-
bus to Iceland, 22 ; on the personal
appearance of Columbus, 24, 295; on
the Perestrelo connection, 25, 36, 37 ; on
the handwriting and skill aa draughts-
men of the Columbus brothers, 2b;
arguments for a western voyage, 33

;

his account of Bartolomd Colombo,
51 ; use of the term "natural son" in
referringto Fernando Columbus, 6r ; on
pronunciation, 84; his abstract of the
journal of Columbus, 89, 129; meaning
of Cuban words, no; began his work'
at a Dominican convent in Espaifiola,

121 ; witnessed the arrival of Columbus
at Seville, 134 ; defender of the Indians,

134 ; his description of the Admiral's
brother, Diego, 142 ; his father and
uncle sailed with Columbus on second
voyage, 143 ;

gives some names of

the "Windward Islands discovered by
Columbus, 152; raised his voice against
slavery, 157; his first voyage to the
Indies, 212, 309; his opinion of Ovando,
275 ; his account of the voyage of Pin-
zon and Solis, 285; his belief that
Philip I. would have done justice to

the Admiral, 290 ; denunciation of the
slave trade, 298; notice of his work as

a biographer of Columbus, 328, 329,

330.

Latitude, observations for, 30, no (see

Pole Star).
Laurentian map of 1351, Azores shown
on, 18.

Lawsuit of Diego Columbus and the

crown, 385.

Lawyers, low opinion of, entertained by
Vasco Nufiez, 313.

Ledesma, Pedro de, swam on shore

at Belem, 267; joined the mutiny of

Porras, 276; wounded, 280; pilot with
Pinzon and Solis, 283, 284.

Legnuua Insula. 9.

Lemos, Count of, disturbance caused by,
in Galicia, 46.

Lepe, sailors recruited at, C6 ; sailor from,
who saw the light, 80,

Diego de, expedition of, 242, 243.
Leverono, Antonio di, apprentice of
Domenico Columbus, 3.

Leyden (see Laet).
Lingar, plain of, measurement of a degree

on, 35.

Lisbon, Columbus and his brother at, 12 ;

liurial-place of tlie Mooiz family at,

25,35; clebtsof Columbus at, 35; Barto-
lome confers with Lis brother at, ^i

;

Columbus at, on his return, 127 ; Cabot
at, 226; Cortereal sailed from, 234;
Vespucci at, 350, 351,

Logrosan, Martin de, seaman of the"
Nintty 71.

Lok, Michael, his map, indication of
the discovery of Cabot, 228.

London, Bartolome Columbus in, 52.

Long Island called Yvmay on the Her-
rera map, 91 : in Irving's theory, 95

;

identified as Fernandina, 102-104.
Longitude by observing eclipses of the
moon, 27.

Lopez, Juan, pilot with Ojeda, 246.
Loreto. near Ancoua, vow on board the
Nina to go on a pilgrimage to, 123.

Lotto, Lorenzo, said to have painted
Columbus, 295.

Lud, William, founded a college at St.
Di(l, 351. 352-

Ludovico il Moro (see Scillacio).

Lujan, Juan de, exploring Cibao moun-
tains, 159; member of a commission
of government at Isabella, 161.

Luna, Fernan Perez de, notary, in the
third voyage of discovery, 163, 166.

Madeira, voyage of Columbus to, 22;
supposed residence of Columbus at, 37 ;

Columbus touched at, on his third
voyage out, 187.

Madrid, portrait of Columbus at, 294

;

monument of Columbus, 356.

Magdalen Isles, the St. John Isles of
Cabot, 228.

Magdalena, fort in EspaRola, 174.

Maima, in Jamaica, Porras and the
mutineers at, 279.

Major, R. H., on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15 ; on the early use of the
compass, 38 showed tfiat Watling Is-
land was the landfall of Columbus,
98, 100 ; translation of letters of Colum-
bus, 338 ;

globe at Windsor attributed to
Lionardo da Vinci by, 354.

M;-ilaga, siege of, 49.

Maldonado, Dr. Rodrigo, on Talavera's
committee, 45.

Malipieri (see Trivigiano).
Manegueta, 120.

Mango province, 34, 73 ; supposed to be in

Cuba, 166.

Manicotex, brother of Caonabo, at battle
of Vega Real, 176.
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Mappe-moudes, Fra Mauro, i8 ; Here-
ford, 21 ; Ruysch, 20.

Maps, Toscanelli, 31 (see Portolani,
Herrera, La Cosa, Cantinn).

Maracaibo, Gulf of, discovered by Ojeda,
240, 245.

Marchena, Fray Antonio de, at La
Rabida, friendship for Columbus, 40,

-IT, 54; his name confused with Perez,

63 ; in consultation with Columbus,
64 ; received the Admiral on his return,
127.

Marco Polo, 31, 32.

Mnres, Rio de, in Cuba, 109, iii, 112, 113.

Margarit, Moseu Pedro, Aragonese officer,

chosen by King Ferdinand for service
in Espanola, 143 ; in second voyage, 149

;

commendation of, 157 ;
governor of Fort

San Tomas, 157 ; his misconduct and
disobedience of orders, 161, 168, 170

;

mutiny and return to Spain, 162; his
misstatements refuted, 177,

Margarita Island, discovered by Colum-
bus, 192 ;

passed by Ojeda, 239, 244 ;

Xino at, 241.

Mariana, his repetitiou of the pilot fable,

37-

Marieu, province of Espanola, 118, 176.

3Iari(ialante, flag-ship in the second
voyage, 146, 148, 149.

Island, discovery of, 149.

Mariguana, island on the La Cosa chart,
go (see Mayaguana).

Marinus in Ptolemy, arguments based on,

34.

Markland, 23,

Marquez Diego, overseer of the colony,

143 ; lost at Guadalupe, isr.

Martin, Alonzo, lieutenant of Tasco
Nuiiez, 314," 3^5-

Andres, owner of the Gorda, bis
wish to remove the chains of Columbus,
207 ; forwards the Admiral's letters to
Granada, 210.

Martinino Island, visited by Columbus,
252.

Martyr, Peter, account of Sebastian Cabot
by, 231 ; of Columbus, 332.

Masticn at Chios compared with a pro-
duct in Cuba, 112.

Matheos, Heman Perez, his gossip about
the Queen's reward, 88 ; a pilot in the
third voyage of Columbus, 118.

Mattheiv, ship fitted out by John Cabot,
227.

Mauro. Fra, map of, 18.

Maury, Captain, on the Sargasso Sea, 78.
Mayaguana Island on maps of La Cosa
and Herrera, 91 ; landfall according to
Varuhagen, 96, 97, 105.

Mayobanex, chief of Ciguey, imprisoned,
195-

Medel, Alonzo, master of the Xifia in the
third voyage of discovery, 163.

Mediceo (see Portolani).
Medici, patrons of Vespucci, 187, 346.
Medina Cell, Duke of, hospitality to
Columbus, 41 ; letter to the Queen, 42 ;

Alonzo de Ojeda, a page of, 144.
Melocello, Lanzarote, discoverer of Lan-
zarote Island, 17.

Mendez, Diego, volunteer with Columbus
in his last voyage, 251 ; his expedition
to the village of Quibian, 262 : defence
of Belem, 264 ; in command of the Cajn-
tana, 267 ; conversation with Columbus,
271 ; canoe voyage, 272, 280 ; at court,
286, 287 ; with the Admiral at his death,
290.

Mendoza, Cardinal, Archbishop of Toledo,
uncle of the Duke of Medina Celi, 42 ;

Columbus befriended by, 44, 48; re-

ceived Columbus as his guest at Bar-
celona, 136.

Alonzo. Perez de, expedition of, 243.

Juan de, seaman of the Nina, 71.

Mercator first applied the name of
America to the whole continent, 354.

Mermaids or syrens off the coast of
Espafiola, 120.

Mexico, discoverer of, 309, 317.
Milan, Genoa, under protection of Dukes

of, I, 8 (see Ambrosian Library).
Mina, La (see S. Giorgio).
Moconesi. the parish in which Terraroasa

is situated, 2.

Modena, the Cantino map preserved at,

236.

Moguer, on the Tinto, 39, 65 ; sailors re-

cruited at, 65; Francisco Niflo a native
of, 148.

Mona island, 169.

Moniz family, 24; burial-place, 25, 37.
Filippa, wife of Columbus. 24 ; her

family, 24; reasons for the belief that
she was not a Perestrelo, 37 ; relations .

at Arzilla, 252.

Isabel, wife of Bartolomeu Pere-
strelo, 25.

Violante, married to Miguel Muli-
arte, 36; pension. 224.

Munleone, INicolo, Columbus a witness to
will of, II.

Monserrat Island, discovery, 152 (see
Boil).

Montalbau, death of Diego Columbus at,

378.
Diego de, of Jaen, seaman of the

Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.
Monte Cristi, mountains on the north
coast of Espafiola, 119, 120, 153, 154, 155.

Morant, Cape, east end of Jamaica, 165.
Morcilla, Juan, seaman in the Nina, left
at Navidad, 71.

Mosquito coast, 256.

Moya, Marquesa de, friend of Columbus,
48, 58.

Mujica, Adrian de, mutineer in Espafiola,
executed at Coucepciou, 200 ; regret of
the Admiral, 209.

Mulcento, Vico di, at Genoa, 4.

Muliarte, Miguel, married to Violante
Moniz, 36; had left Palos, 39; youhg
Diego with them at Seville, 50.

Munoz, Juan Bautista, author of the
"Historia del Jfuevo Mundo," on the
date of the birth of Columbus, 15; exa-
mination of the Las Casas abstract of
the journal of Columbus, 90 ; believed
Watling Island to be the landfall, q8;
notice of his great but unfinished work,
334-
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Murdoch, Lieut. J. B., his method of find-
ing the landfall, g8, lor, 102.

Naples succession, i; expedition of John
of Calabria to, 7.

Naranjo, Puerto, first anchorage in Cuba,
87, log.

Navarette, Martin Fernandez de, on the
date of the birth of Columbus, 15 ; as to
the first sightings of land, 87 ;

published
the journal of the first voyage of Colum-
bus, 90 ; translation of his work by La
Roquette, 94 ; theory of the landfall,

93 ; theory respecting the latitude ob-
servations of Columbus, no; published
the letter of Columbus describing the
first voyage, nr; his mistake about
Englishmen at Coquivacoa, 248 ; notice
of his great work, 219, 334-336.

Navasa Isle reached by Mendez, 274.
Navidad, settlement in Espafiola, 117,

118; the Admiral anxious to reach, 151

;

disaster at, 153 ; Caonabo confessed the
slaughter of Spaniards at, 175.

name given to the Gulf of Honduras
by Pinzon, 283.

Navigation, instruments for, 25, 26, 27,
28 (see Astrolabe, Compass Declination,
Tables, Charts).

Nearchus, arguments for a western voy-
age from, 34,

Needle variation, 76, 77 (see Compass).
Negro, Andalone di, treatise on the
astrolabe, 9.

Nevis Island discovered, 152.

Newfoundland sighted by Cabot, 228

;

coast examined by Cortereal, 234, 237;
position on the Cantino map, 238, 248.

New World, expression first used by Col-
umbus, 209, 351 n.

Neyva valley, ia Espafiola, men landed
at, 169; the Adelantado met Behechio
in, 194.

Nicaragua river, 257.
Nicolini, Donato, partner of Vespucci,

186.

Nlcuesa, Diego de, 258 ;
governor of Cas-

tiUa del Oro, 310 ; brings help to Ojeda,
^11 ; misfortunes, 312 ; death, 313.

Nina, caravel, her crew and owners, 71,

133; bad sailer, 74 ; ordered to close,

80 ; saw signs of land, 80 ; natives escape
from, 85; course for Samoete, 86; new
mizen-mast, 113; sent ahead to Espa-
ilQla, 114; visit of Guacanagari to, 118;
Admiral went home in, ng ; storm, 123,

124; in the Tagus, 126; at Palos, 127;
letter written on board. 129 ; sailors of,

at Barcelona, 135 ; flag-ship in the third

voyage of discovery, 163 ; consorts part
company, 168 ; return to Spain with
Columbus, 179.

Nifio, Alonzo, son of Francisco, in second
voyage, 148.

Cristoval Perez, master of the Cor-

dera in the third voyage of discovery,

163.

Francisco, seaman, 71; with Colum-
bus in his second voyage, 148 ;

pilot in

the third voyage, 163.

Juan, master and owner of the Niila,

71 ; accompanied Columbus to Seville
on his return, 133.

Niflo, Pero Alonzo, pilot, 71; accompanied
Columbus to Barcelona, 134 ; sent to
Espafiola with orders from the Admiral,
i8i, 193; with Columbus in the third
voyage, 188 1 his own expedition, 240, 241.

Noli, Antonio di, discoverer of Cape
Verde Isles, 18.

Nombre de Dios, 243, 258 ; named by
Nicuesa, 312 ; rescue of Nicuesa's people,
313.

Noronha, Martin de, sent to invite Colum-
bus to visit the King of Portugal, 127.

Norsemen, their discoveries had no influ-

ence on Columbus, 23.

Noya, Juan de, saved from Tristan's
boat, 265.

OcAMPO, Garcia de, serving with Ojeda,
244, 346,

Sebastian de, discovered the insu-
larity of Cuba, 284, 309.

Oderigo, Nicolo, Genoese ambassador,
copies of the grants and privileges of
Columbus sent to, 219, 220 {see Genoa).

Odiel river, 39, 74.
Ojeda, Alonzo de, account of, 144 ; in the
second voyage, 149 : sent in search of a
lost party at Guadalupe, 151 ; sent to
explore the interior of Espafiola, 155;
superseded Margarit at San Tomas,
160, 161 ; besieged by Caonabo, 174

;

his capture of Caonabo, 175; voyage,
230, 239 ; discoveries, 240 ; second
voyage, 244-246 ; arrested by his cap-
tains, 246 ; failure of his expedition,

247, 248 ; made governor of Nueva
Andalusia, 310; defeat by the natives,

316; death, 311 {see Vespucci).
Pedro de, nephew of Alonzo, 244.

Olivellsi, Porto di, at Genoa, house of
Domenico Colombo at, 4 ; sale, n.

Orinoco River, 239.
Orchi Nobile Alessandro de, of Como,
inherited the Giovio portrait of Colum-
bus, 273.

Ortegou, Diego, married Francesca
Colombo, 320,

Ortiz, Juan, seaman of the Niiia, 71.

Ovando, Fray, Nicolas de, sent to Espafiola
to supersede Bobadilla, his character.
212 ; refused permission to the Admiral
to anchor at San Domingo, 252, 278

;

and would give no help, 253 ; warned
of the approaching hurricane, 263 ; his

atrocious cruelties, 275 ; sent a spy to

Jamaica, 278 ; disgraceful conduct in

abandoning Columbus at Jamaica, 281

;

the Queen's horror at his atrocities,

287 ; recall and death, 306.

Oviedo, Gonzalo Fernandez de. historian,

his description of the personal appear-

ance of Columbus, 24 ; his fable about
the pilot who had been to the Indies

before Columbus, 37 ; his account of

the reception of Bartolomd Colum-
bus by Henry VII., 52 ; his story of the

sailor from Lepe seeing the light,

87 ; witnessed reception of Columbus
at Barcelona, 136 ; false statement re-

2 A
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specting the voyages of Pinzon and
Solia to Yucatan, 283, 284; came to the
Indies with Pedrarias, 316; biographer
of Columbus, notice of, 331.

Pacheco, Alonzo Tellez, death of Diego
Columbus in house of, 318.

Palacios (see Bemaldez).
Palencia, Bishop of (see Deza).
Pallavonia, Giovanni, neighbour of Dome-
nico Colombo at Genoa, 4.

Palmas, ships of Columbus anchored off,

75.
Cabo de, in Cuba, 109,

Palos, on the river Tinto, 38 ; Dr. Garci
Hernandez, physician of, 54 ; to supply
two caravels for the expedition of
Columbus, 5o ; description of the town
and chijrch, 64, 65 ; sailors recruited at,

66; expedition fitted out at, 65-72; de-
parture of the expedition from, 74

;

- return to, 127 ; many sailors from, in
the third voyage of discovery, 163 ;

Niilo fitted out his ships at, 241 ; Vicente
Pinzon sailed from, 242.

Panama discovered, 358.
Panuco discovered, 317,

Papal Bull, 137, 233, 237 (see Alexander

Paradise, terrestrial, speculations of
Columbus on, 191.

Faraguaua peninsula, 240.

Pardales (sandpipers), seen in the At-
lantic, 78,

Pareto, Bartolomeo, draughtsman of
Genoa, 9 ; Portolano by him recording
discovery of Lanzarote, 17 ; Atlantic
islands shown, 21, 29.

Parmigiano, portrait of Columbus attri-

buted to, 295.
Pasamoute, Miguel, treasurer in Es-

paiiola, 309.
Paria, Gulf of, 190, 216, 238, 239, 241, 244,

Punta de, 192.

Pasqualigo, Lorenzo, letter on voyage of
Cabot, 228.

Pietro, on voyage of Cortereal, 235-
237.

Pavia University, story that Columbus
studied at, 10, 15, 16 (see Scillacio).

Paz, Puerto de la, in Espaiiola, 115.

Pearls, 192 ; obtained by Niiio, 241

;

Guerra trading for, 243,
Pearl-fishery, 238.

Pedrarias, de Avila, governor of Darieu,
sent to supersede Vasco Nuilez, 316

;

puts Vasco NuDez to death, 316.

Pedro of Talavera, seaman of the Santa
Maria, left at Navidad, 70,

Peflalosa, Francisco de, uncle of Las
Casas, 143.

Peragallo, Dr. Prospero, as to letter from
Columbus to Toscanelli on his return,
147; his work in defence of the authen-
ticity of the "Historie" of Fernando
Columbus, 328.

Pereira, the Constable of Portugal, 24.

Perestrello, Bartolomeu, married Isa-
bella Moniz, 25 ; confusion respecting
the connection of the family with the
wife of Columbus, 36, 37,

Perez, Alonzo, of Huelva, Admiral's ser-
vant on the third voyage, sighted land,
188.

Alonzo, of Osorio, seaman of the
Santa Mario, left at Navidad, 70.

Alvaro, of Osorio, seaman of the
Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70,

Bartolomd, of Rota, pilot of the
San Juan in the third voyage of dis-

covery, 163.

Fray Juan, guardian of La Rabida,

54 ; mission to the Queen, 55 ; his letter

of good news to Columbus, 56 ; his

name confused with that of Marchena
63 ; in consultation with Columbus, 64,

65; his negotiation with the Pinzous,
65 ; exhortation to the crews, 73 ; re-

ceived the Admiral on his return, 127.

Peschel, Oscar, theory of the landfall, 98.

Pescia, Guiseppe, on the birthplace of
Columbus, 341.

Pessagni family, memorials on church of
San Stefano, Genoese Admirals of Por-
tugal, 17.

Pessagno, Emanuele, Admiral of Portu-
gal, 17.

Petrarch, mentioned the rediscovery of
the Canary Isles by Genoese, 18.

Peru, conqueror of, 309.
Philesius (see Ringmann).
Philip I.,fArchduke, marriage with Juaua,

182 ; arrival in Spain, 290 ; his order
for the restoration of the property of
Columbus to his heirs, 304.

Piedad chapel, burial-place of the Moniz
family, 24.

Pilgrimages, vows on board the NiHa
during the storm, 123.

Pilot who was said to have been in the
Indies and to have died in the house of
Columbus, 37 ; qualifications, 346, 350
(see La Cosa, Niiio, Roldan, Ledesma,
Ruiz, Pinzon, Solis, Sarmiento).

Fine apple, 150,

Pinedo Francisco, treasurer under Fon-
seca, 142,

Pinilla, Tomas Rodriguez, his work on
Columbus in Spain, 343.

Finos Bridge, Columbus recalled at, 59.
Isla de los, western end of Cuba,

267.

Isla, on Honduras coast (see Guanaja)
Pinta, caravel, 70, 75, 79, 80, 81, 86, log,

113, 119, 120, 122, 127.

Pinzon family at Falos, 65,

Francisco Martin, 65 ; master of the
Pinta, 71.

Martin Alonzo, 65; agreed to help
the Admiral, 66; commanded the Pinta,
70; said to have advanced funds, 72;
rigged a temporary rudder, 75 : closed
to communicate with the Admiral, 79

;

landed at Guanahani, Si ; information
obtained off Cuba, 109 ; desertion, 113

;

rejoined, 119; natives seized by, 120
his vessel delayed the other, 122 ; re-

turn and death, 127.

Vicente Yanez, 65 ; commanded the
Nina, 71 ; landed at Guanahani, 8x

;

his gossip about the reward for sighting
land, 88 ; his first expedition, 241-242

;
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voyage to Yucatan, 283; the truth re-
specting the date of his Yucatan voy-
age, 284, 285, 317, 349.

Pisa, Juan de, accountant of the colony,
143.

Bemal Diaz de, mutiny at Isabella,
158.

Pizarro, Francisco, conqueror of Peru,
309, 311, 314, 315.

Planas Island, in the Bahamas, 97.
Pliny, arguments for a western voyage
from 34 ; taught at Salamanca, 47

;

mastich described by, 112.

Plannck, printer at Rome (see Cosco).
Plaza, Monte de, in Espaflola, Domini-
can convent where Las Casas began his
work, 121.

Punta de la, Trinidad, 191.

Pole star, height of, with reference to
latitude, 123.

Polo, Marco, quoted by Toscanelli. 73.
Ponce de Leon, Juan, governor of Puerto
Rico, 306; his concession a proof that
the alleged first voyage of Vespucci was
imaginary, 349.

Ponticello Vico Dritto di, at Genoa, house
of Columbus, 4, 6 ; sale of house to Bar-
sello, 13 ; thoughts of, 140, 141.

Porcuna, Hernando de, seaman of the
Nina, left at Navidad, 70.

Porras, Francisco, captain of the Snntiaffo

de Palos in the last voyage of Colum-
bus, 251 ; mutiny at Jamaica, 276 ; de-
feated and taken by the Adelantado,
279, 297.

Portolano Mediceo, 9, 17.

Porbolani at Genoa, 9, 17 (see Benincasa,
Bianco, Pareto), 31.

Porto Santo, voyage of Columbus to, 22
;

grant of, to Perestrello. 25 ; mistakes
respecting the connection of Columbus
with, 36, 37 ; fable about the pilot in
the house of Columbus, 37 ; Columbus
touched at, on third voyage, 187.

Portraits of Columbus, 293-295.
Portugal, Columbus and nia brother in,

12 ; Genoese navigators serving in, 17 ;

object of Columbus in coming to, 22 (see

Joao II.) ; Columbus leaves Portugal,

35; his last visits to, 51, 127; King of,

concession to Cortereal, 234.

Portugallo family, Counts of Gelves, held
Dukedom of Veragua, 320.

Portugalete, Diego, boy in the Capitana,
death, 259.

Portuguese discoveries, 183, 184 ; at Ar-
zilla, 251 (see Cortereal).

Prado, Prior of (see Talavera).
Prieto, Diego, of Palos, brought orders
for Columbus to proceed to Granada,

" Prima Terra Vista," of Cabot, 227.

Prophecies, work of Columbus on the,

214, 215.

Ptolemy quoted respecting Thule, 22

;

arguments for a western voyage from,

34 ; taught at Salamanca, 47 (see Wald-
seemllller).

Puerto de Bastimentos, 243, 257.

Bello, 257, 267.

Bueno, m Jamaica, 165.

Puerto Flechado, name given by Ojeda,
240.

Grande, in Cuba, name given by
Columbus, 164.

Naranjo, point at which Columbus
reached Cuba, 87, 109.

Rico Island (see San Juan), 252.

(iUADHANTS, observations with, 26; me-
thod of using, 26; for the first voyage,
72 ; theory of Navarrete concerning, no,

(.Juarequa, chief in Darien, 315.

CJuerido, Alonzo Gutierez, seaman of the
Niiia, 71.

Quevedo, Bishop, came out with Ped-
rarias, 316.

tjuezzi, home of the mother of Colum-
bus, 3.

Quibian, chief of Veragua, 260 ; captured
by the Adelantado and escaped, 264

;

hostilities, 264, 273.

Quintanilla, Alonzo di, in charge of Col-
umbus at court, 42, 44 ; advocate of the
proposal of Columbus, 48.

Quintero, Cristoval, part owner of the
PiiHa, 70, 75.

Quinto alMare, removal of the Columbus
family to, 2.

Quuriviri Isle, called La Huerta by Col
umbua, 257.

Quisay, in letter of Toscanelli, 32, 73, no.

Rabia de Junco, boatswain-bird, seen
in the Atlantic, 77.

Rabida, Santa Maria de la, 39, 40, 41

;

second visit of Columbus to, 54 ; re-

sided at while equipping the expedi-
tion, 60, 64 ;

question of the two visits

to, 63 ; return of Columbus to, 128

;

affection of the Admiral for, 291.

Rabiforcado bird (frigate-bird or skua),
seen in Atlantic, 77,

Ragged Isles, same as Islas de Arenas,
86, 102, 105,

Ramusio on Sebastian Cabot, 231, 23=.

Rascon, Gomez, part owner of the Piiita,

70, 75.
Redonda, Santa Maria de la, island dis-

covered, 152.

Regiomontanus, the astronomer, 26 ; his

declination tables, 28 ; taught at Sala-
manca, 47 ; his almanac, 277.

Rend I., father of John of Calabria, 7;
story of Columbus having commanded
one of his galleys, 14, 15.

Ren6 II., Duke of Lorraine, letters of
Vespucci sent to, 351 ; death, 355.

Retrete Bay, named by Columbus, 258,

267.

Rincon, Antonio de, portrait of Columbus
attributed to, 295.

Ringmann (Philesius), Latin teacher at

St. Did, 3Sr.

Riquelme, disorderly character, impri-

soned at San Domingo, 200 ; liberated

by Bobadilla, 205.

Robertson on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15 ; his authorities for tlie

life of Columbus, 336.

Roderick the Goth, tradition about
Antilla, 20.
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Rodney, Lord (see Gr6s net Bay).
Rodrigo, a learned Portuguese, asaociated
with Behaira, 26 ; scheme of Columbus
submitted to, 35.

de Triana (see Triana).
Rodriguez, Sebastian, of Lepe, bearer of
a letter from Fray Perez to the Queen,
55.

Roldan, Alonzo Perez, master of the Smt
Jxian in the third voyage of discovery,
163,

Bartolomc, pilot of the A'l/la, 71

;

sailed with Lepe, 242.

Francisco, made Chief Justice of
Eapafiola by Columbus, 179; mutiny,
196; marches into Xaragua, 197; nego-
tiation and agreement with, 199 ; to be
sent home, 213,252; drowned in the hur-
ricane, 25Q, 297.

Roquette, De la, translator of Navaretfce,
believed Cat Island to be the landfall,

94-
Roselly de Lorgues on the date of the
birth of Columbus, 15 ; his portrait of
Columbus, 29s ; his Life of Columbus,
337. 338.

Royllo, fabulous island in the Atlantic,

9, 21.

Ruiz, Sancho, pilot of Columbus on the
first voyage, 69.

Garcia, of Santofia, seaman of the
Santa Mwria, 70.

Rum Cay, 84, icxj, 103, 104 (see Santa
Maria de la Concepcion).

Ruysch, position of Antilla on his map,
20 ;

possibly accompanied John Cabot,
230, 232.

Sabellico, chronicle quoted by Las
Casas for the corsair story, 16.

Sacrobosco, work studied by Columbus,
30, 47-

Salamanca, the sovereigns winter at.

description, 46 ; teaching at, 47 ; resi-

dence of Columbus near, 47 ; confer-
ences at, 48 (see Deza).

Sali;edo, Diego de. Admiral's servant in
the first voyage, 70, 80 ; assisted Car-
bajal in his agency at Espafiola, 251 ;

rescued Columbus from Jamaica, 281.

Saltes, Bar of, 74, 127, 241.

Samana or Attwood's Cay on the La
Cosa and Herrera maps, 92, 97 ; Fox's
landfall theory, 97 ; description, 98, 105.

Peninsula, in Espafiola, 121.

Samoete Island, 86, 96, 98, 102, 104 (see

Isabella).

Santa Isle, 190.

San Agustin, Cape, 242, 243, 247, 25S.

San Andrea, gate at Genoa, 4, 6, 12.

Santangel, Luis, "Escribano deRacion,"
friend of Columbus, 48, 50 ; supplied
funds to the Queen, 59, 72 ; letter from
Columbus to, 129, 131, 132.

Santa Anna Chapel, papers of Columbus
deposited in, 219 ; Columbus buried in,

292 ; the Adelantado buried in, 318.
Santa Anna, Jamaica, 164.

San Bartolomd, name given by Ojeda to
the Gulf of Maracaibo, 240.

San Bias Cape, 243.

St. Brandon, fabulous isle of the Atlantic,

9, 21 ; on the globe of Behaim, 73

;

looked out for by Columbus, 77.

Santa Catalina, in Cuba, 113.

Santa Clara, at Moguer, 123.

San Cristoval at Hayna, 193.

Santa Cruz Island discovered, 152; in-

habited by Caribs, 152.

Cape, in Cuba, 165, 176,

name given to Brazilian coast by
Cabral, 184.

Port, settlement of Ojeda, 246.

St. Die, in Lorraine, college founded at,

by Walter Lud, 331 ;
" Cosmographiae

Introductio" printed at, 352.

San Domingo, founded by order of
Columbus, 184, 193 ;

progress, 200, 201

;

Columbus refused permission to enter,

252 ; hurricane at, destroyed the fleet,

254 ; reception of Columbus at, on
arriving from Jamaica, 281 ; body of
Columbus buried at, 292 ; Diego Colum-
bus governor, 306 ; Audiencia estab-
lished, 309 ; palace built by Diego
Columbus, 309.

San Estevan, at Salamanca (see Sala-
manca).

St. George, church at Palos, 65, 73, 128.

Bank of, at Genoa, i, 6, 219; be-
quest, 220, 300.

Azores, 234.
San Giorgio, fabulous isle of the Atlantic,

21.

San Giorgio da Mina, 33.

San Jorge, Tristan de, seaman of the
Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 71.

Saota Gloria, Jamaica, 164, 270.

St. John feland, discovered by Cabot, 228.

San Juan Bautista Isle (Puerto Rico), dis-

covered, 153 ; Ponce de Leon, governor,
306.

San Juan, caravel, in the third voyage of
discovery, 163, 168, 169.

Santiago, Cape Verde iBle, 18.

Santiago tie Polos, ship in the last voyage
of Columbus, 251, 267, 276.

St. Kitts discovered, 152.

San Lucar, Columbus sailed from, on his
third voyage out, 186 ; Ojeda sailed
from, 213; Guerra, 243; Columbus re-
turned to, 282.

St. Lucia Isle, 252.

Santa Maria de la Antigua Island dis-
covered, 152; ship of Ojeda, 244.

de la Concepcion Island, identified
with Rum Cay, 84, 103 ; second island
discovered by Columbus, 100, 103.

de las Cuevas, Carthusian monastery
at Seville, 214; copy of the Admiral's
privileges deposited at, 219 ; and his
will, 220 ; Fathers of, 286 ; description,
286 ; Diego Columbus buried at, 318.

de Guadalupe, vow taken In the storm
for a pilgrimage to, 103.

de la Granada, a ship in the fleet of
Ojeda, 244.

de Loreto (see Loreto).
Novella, 31 (see Toscanelli).
in the Azores, 125, 126, 131.
port near Cadiz, house of the Duke

of Medina Cell at, 42 ; Ojeda sailed
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from, 239; map drawn by Juau de la
Cosa at, 90.

Santa Maria, flag-ship of Columbus in the
first voyage, her sails and equipment,
66; owner, 66, 6g; shipwreck, 116.

Santa Marta, 293,
San Martin Island sighted, 152.
St. Michael, Azores, 126.
San Miguel, Gulf of, 315.
St. "Nicholas Mole, 114, 164,
San Roman, Cape, 240.

Salvador (see Guanahani), 83, 00, 94.
Sebastian de TJraba founded, 311,

312.

Stefano, church in Genoa, 4, 6, 17.
Santofia, native place of Juan de la Cosa,

66, 69 ; seamen from, 66 (see Villa).
San Theramo, Cape, in Espaftola, 179.

Thomas, fort in Espaftola, 159, 160,
161, 174,

St. Ursula Island discovered, 153.
St. Vincent, Cape, 123, 127, 181.

Sanchez, Ambrosio and Juan, master and
pilot in the last voyage of Columbus,
250 ; Juan joined the mutiny of Porras,
276; allowed Quibian to escape, 264;
killed, 280.

Sandacourt, Canon of St. Did, translated
the letters of Vespucci into Latin, 351.

Sandpipers (see Pardales).
Sanguineti, Angelo, his Life of Columbus,

341-
Saona Island, 169.

Sargasso Sea, 78, 79,
Sarmiento, Cristoval Garcia, pilot of the
Pinta, 70,

Sarzano at Genoa, 6.

Savona, removal of Domenico Columbus
to, 10, II, 12; visited by Fernando Col-
umbus, 324.

Schoner's globe, name of America on, 354.
Scillacio, Nicolo, professor of Pavia, his
silence in his book dedicated to Ludo-
vico il Moro a proof that Columbus was
not at Pavia, 16.

Sebastian of Majorca, seaman of the
Santa Maria, left at Navidad. 70.

Segovia, Columbus at, with the court,

289 ; codicil to the will of the Admiral
written at, 290.

Seven cities, another name for Antilla, 20.

Seville, first arrival of Columbus at, 41

;

the court at, 53 ; reception of the Ad-
miral at, after the first voyage, 128, 133 :

letter of Columbus to Sautangel printed
at, 132 ; exploit of Ojeda at, 144 ; Car-
thusian monastery of Santa Maria de
laa Cuevas at, 214 ; John Cabot at, 226

;

last return of Columbus to, 283 ; house
of Fernando Columbus at, 325.

Sharks, 122, 259.

Sicily, visited by Columbus. 8; hills of
Cuba compared to, by the Admiral, 108.

Sierpe, Boca del, 190.

Sierra Leone, voyage of Columbus to, 31

;

Columbus steers south to the latitude
of, 188.

Siiber, printer at Rome (see Cosco).
Simancas, copy of the letter of Columbus
describing the first voyage at, 131.

Skua (see Rabiforcado).

Slave trade, memorial of Columbus
respecting, 156: sanctioned at Malaga
by the sovereigns, 157 ; Las Casas
raisedhis voice against it, 157 ; prisoners
taken in war sold as slaves, 276, 298

;

African slaves brought to the Indies,
309-

Soderini, Pietro, schoolfellow of Ves-
pucci, 186. 346,

Solis, Juan Diaz de, expedition with
Pinzon, 283, 284, 285, 317.

Martin de, of Valcuerbo, erected a
monument to Columbus, 49.

Solomon's temple, gold for, 262.

Soncino, Raimond de, letter from London
on the voyage of Cabot, 229 ??.

Soria, Juan de, accountant under Fon-
seca, 142.

Soto, Hernando de, came out with
Pedrarias, 316.

South Sea, discovery, 314, 315.
Spotoruo on the date of the birth of
Columbus, 15 ; published the docu-
ments sent by Columbus to Genoa,
219, 341.

Staglieno, Marchese Marcello, his re-

searches, 339, 341.
Stow's Chronicle, sailing of the expedi-
tion of Cabot, 230.

Straho, arguments for a western voyage
from, 34 ; taught at Salamanca, 47.

Strait, argument of Columbus for, 216

;

question settled, 268.

Stuarts, Dukes of Berwick, held the Duke-
dom of Veragua, 321.

Sumeto (see Samoete).
Surinam, 239.

Syrens (see Meimaids).

Tabasco river, discovered by Grijalva,
317-

Tagus, Columbus in the, 126.

Talavera, Friar Hernando de. Prior of
Prada, proposal of Columbus rejected
by, 44, 45 ; ill effects of his report
removed, 48 ; opposed Columbus at
Gi-anada, 56, 57.

Tallarte de Lajds, Englishman, in the
first voyage of Columbus, 69 : suggestion
that he was an Alard of Winchelsea,
6g; left at Navidad, 69, irS.

Tarducci, Francesco, his Life of Colum-
bus. 341.

Tendilla, Count of, friendly to Columbus,
48.

Teneriffe, irruption when the ships of
Columbus were in sight, 75.

Terceira, 234,

Teredo navalis, ravages of, 258, 269,

Tern (see Garajao).
Terrarossa, home of the father of Colum-
bus, 2, 341; Cristoforo and BartolomO
called de Terrarossa, 18.

Terreros, Pedro de. Admiral's steward,
70; in the second voyage, 148; in the
third voyage, 163 ; captain of the
Oallega in the last voyage, 251 ; sent
with messages to Ovando, 253 ; death,
280.

Testigos discovered and named, 192,

Thule, 22.
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Thylde (see William of Worcester).
Tiburou, Cape, west end of Espaftola,

i68, 274.
Cape, in Darien, 243, 276, 269.

Tiuto river, 39.

Tobacco, discovery of, iii, 112.

Tobago island discovered, and called
"Asuncion," igz,

Toledo, Don Fernando, father-in-law of
Diego Columbus, 306.

y Roxas, Do^a Maria de, marriage
with Diego Columbus, 306; urged the
claims of her children, 319.

Archbishop of (see Mendoza).
Toninas (see Fish).
Tordesillas, treaty between Spain and
Portugal regarding the Papal Bull, 233.

Tordoya, Diego de, of Cabeza de Vuca,
seaman of the Santa Maria, left at
Navidad, 70.

Torpa, Diego de, seaman of the Nina, 71.

Torres, Antonio de, sailed with the
Admiral in the second voyage, 142

;

return to Spain, 156, 170 ; arrival at
Isabella with stores, 173 ; sent back to
Spain, 176; in command of Ovando's
fleet. 212.

Juana de, nurse of Prince Juan,
letter of Columbus to, 207-209 ; read by
the Queen, 210 ; copies deposited in safe
custody, 219.

Luis de, interpreter in the first

voyage, 70 ; sent into the interior of
Cuba, III,

Tortuga Island, off Espa&ola, 214.

Tortugas, 269.

Toscanelli, Paolo, astronomer of Flor-
ence, 30 ; his letter to Columbus, 30

;

discovery of his original letter, 30, 327 ;

reliance of Columbus on the map of, 72,

79, 83 ; Grand Khan mentioned, log, .

210 ; letter of Columbus to, on his re-

turn, 134, 147.

Trade winds, Columbus in the region of,

77 ; alarm of the sailors at their con-
stancy, 79 ; return of the Admiral to
Spain, against the, 180, iSi.

Triana, suburb of Seville, entry of Colum-
bus by, 133, 219 ; Bastidas a native of,

243-
Podrigo de, sighted land from the

Pinta, 81, 87.

Triangula in the Bahamas, rocks near
Samaoa, 02, 98.

Tribute in Espai^ola, 1771, paid by Behe-
chio, 195.

Trinidad Island, discovery, 189.

Tristan, Diego, captain in the last voyage,
250 ; boat sent to Belem under, 265

;

killed, 265, 267.

Trivigiano, Angelo, secretary to the
Venetian embassy, friendship for
Columbus, correspondence with Mali-
pieri, 213 ;

possibly had a portrait of
Columbus painted, 295.

Truxillo, in Honduras, 255.

Turbuco, Indians of, defeat Ojeda, 310.

Turk's Island, the landfall of Navarette,
will notmeet the requirements, 93, 94, 105.

Turuqueira Island, name of Guadalupe,
151.

Uffizi Gallery at Florence, portrait of
Columbus, 293.

UUoa, translator of the biography by
Fernando Columbus, 14, 15, 328.

Uraba, Gulf of, reached by Bastidas, 243

;

by Ojeda, 311.

Urgel, Bishop of, Ferdinand and Isa-
bella lodged in his house at Barcelona,
134-

Urniga, Juan de, seaman in the Nina, 71.

Uso di Mare, Antonio, Genoese naviga-
tor, account of St. Brandan, 21.

Valcuebo, near Salamanca, residence of

Columbus at, 47, 48 ; monument, 49.

Valencia de Torre, sovereigns wrote to

Columbus from, 224.

Valientes, Indians of Veragua, 261.

Valladolid, court at, 146 ; Columbus at,

289 ; death of Columbus at, 291.

Vallejo, Alonso, wish to remove the
chains of Columbus, 207.

Francisco Garcia, seaman in the
Pivta, 71 ; gossip about the reward for
sighting land, 87.

Variation {see Compass).
Varnhagen, Baron, his evidence as to the
handwriting of Columbus, 62; his
theory of the landfall, 96, 97 ; his dis-

covery of a manuscript copy of the
Columbus letter describing the first

voyage, 131 ; his theories respecting
Vespucci, 348, 349.

Vasco Nuilez de Balboa with Bastidas,

243. 309 ; with Enciso at Darien, 312
;

governor of Darien, 313 ; his character,

313, 314 ; alliances, 314 ; discovery of
the South Sea, 315 ; death, 316,

Vega Real, in EapaRola, discovery, 159

;

soldiers of Margarit in, 161 ; cruelties

of the Spaniards in, 172 ; Fort Con-
ception built, 174; battle, 176; in-

surrection, 194, 196 ; Admiral in, when
Bobadilla arrived, 204.

Vega, Garcilasso de la, his repetition of
the fable about the pilot who had
reached the Indies before Columbus,
37.

Vela Cabo de la, farthest point of Ojeda,
240, 245; rounded by Bastidas, 243,

Velasquez, Diego de, governor of Cuba,
306. 317-

Velez, Alonzo of Seville, seaman in the
Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Venetian embassy {see Trivigiano).
Venezuela village on piles discovered by

Ojeda, 240; reached by Bastidas, 243;
intended settlement, 244.

Venice, John Cabot, a citizen of, 226,

228 ; Portolani at, 9.

Veragua first heard of, 257; river of,

259 ; Indians, 261 ; river explored by
the Adelantado, 261 ; settlement, 267,

268 ; account of, by Bartolomd Colum-
bus, 305 ; Nicuesa made governor, 310.

Dukes of, 219, 320, 321.

Vergara, Francisco de, of Seville, seaman
in the Santa Maria, left at Navidad, 70.

Juan de, one of Ojeda's captains,

244 ; sent to Jamaica for supplies, 245,

246.
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Vespucci, Amerigo, provision dealer, 186
;

in voyage of Ojeda, 239 ; visit to Colum-
l)us at Seville, 288, 345 ; notice of, 344,

345 ; discussion of his alleged first

voyage, 346-350 ; editions of his letters,

351, 352 ; not responsible for the name
of America, 355.

Vico Britto (see Ponticello).
Villa, Pedro de, of Santofia, seaman in
the first voyage, 71 ; lot for a pilgrimage
to lioreto fell on, 123.

Villar, seaman of the Niila, left at Navi-
dad, 71.

ViUatoro, Pedro de, mutinous sailor at
Jamaica, 278.

Virgin Islands discovered, 153.

Viseu, Bishop of (see Calzadilla).

Vizcaina, ship in the last voyage, 251;
boatswain drowned, 256; abandoned
at Puerto Bello, 267.

Voices heard by Columbus, 208, 266.

Vows for pilgrimages on board the Nina
during the storm, 223.

Waldseemuller, Walter (called Hyla-
comylus), printed his " Cosmographise
lutroductio " at St. Did, and proposed
the name of America, 352; better in-

formed when he edited the Ptolemy
of 1513, 355 ; his map and globe, name
of America first appeared on his globe,

354.
"Waterspout, 259.

Watling, John, the Buccaneer, notice of,

99-
Island, identical with Guanahani,

84. 98, 99, 103. 105-
^, .

Weavers at Genoa, theu: quarter, 4

;

schools for children of, 6 ; Colombos
mentioned as weavers, 4.

Weed (see Sargasso).

Western voyage, argument in favour of
a, to the Indies, 33, 34 (see Indies).

Wineland, 23.

Winsor, Justin, work on Columbus, 340.
Worcester, William of, expedition in
search of Brazil under Thylde, men-
tioned in the Chronicle of, 21.

Worthington, supposed to have given the
papers of Cabot to Philip II., 233.

XA-NTIGUA, in Espaiiola, fort built at, and
named San Tomas, 159.

Xaragua, in Espaiiola, 172 ; settlement
by the Adelantado, 193 ; Roldan in,

197-204 ; Ovando's atrocities in, 275.
Xiinenes (see Cisneros).
Xumeto (see Samoete).

Yagui. river in Espaiiola, 153, 155, 159;
Port Magdalena built on the, 174.

Yaguimo, 240.

Yebra, 259.

Yucatan discovered by Piuzon and Sulis,

284. 317.
Yucayoneque (see Abaco).
Yule, Colonel Sir Henry, description of a

war-galley, 7 ; his estimate of, the char-
acter of Columbus, 297.

Yumay, name for Long Island on the map
of Herrera, 91.

Zaiton, port of, described by Toscanelli,

31. 73. "o-
Zamora, Alonzo de, mutinous sailor at
Jamaica, 278.

Zaragoza, the court at, 49.
Zipango (see Cipango), iuBehaim's globe,

73 ; Columbus believed he had reached,
83 ; mentioned by Cabot, 227.

Zurbaran, painted for the monastery of
Las Cuevas at Seville, 287.

THE END.
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